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IMPORTANT TO TRAVELLERS.

Tux following list, which consists of the Best HoTkL
IN EACH PLACE, has been most carefully compiled for
the information of travellers carrying Paterson’s Guides
to Switzerland and the Rhine provinces.

In other guide books, it is well known that hotel recom-
mendations are given which are to a certain extent
influenced by advertisements; or in other cases where
this is not so, so many hotels are mentioned, that it is
difficult for the tourist to make an intelligent choice.

This list, on the contrary, has been compiled with the
greatest care from the long personal experience of the
editor, ENTIRELY IN THE INTEREST OF TRAVELLERS, and has
- also been submitted for revision to many authorities
eminently capable of judging of its correctness. We have,
therefore, no hesitation in claiming for this list the
absolute confidence of tourists, and we feel assured that it
will add greatly to the usefulness of the guides.

In the few towns where we give the names of more than
one hotel, it is because they are of such equal merit that it
has been impossible to distinguish between thém.

SWITZERLAND AND ITALIAN LAKES.

Airolo . : ! HOTEL POSTA.

Andermatt . ! I HOTEL BELLEVUE,

Basle . 3 » HOTEL TROIS ROIS.

Baveno . : GRAND HOTEL BELLE-
VUE.

Belgirate . b X GRAND HOTEL BEL-
GIRATE.

Bellaggio . X . GRAND HOTEL BEL-
LAGGIO.

Berne . . ] BERNERHOF,

Brunnen . ] A WALDSTATTERHOF,

Cernobbio . . X GRAND HOTEL VILLA

I’ESTE.
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Chamonix

Chiavenna .
Coire §
Constance .
Davos-Dorfli

Davos-am-Platz .
Engelberg

Falls of the Rhine (Neu-

hausen)
Freiburg

Geneva (Quai Mont
Blanc, North Bank)

(South Bank)
Gersau
Giessbach
Glarus :
Grindelwald
Interlaken .
Lausanne y
Lauterbrunnen .
Locarno
Lucerne
Lugano
Macugnaga
Martigny
Meyringen .
Montreux (Tentet)
Murren

Neuchatel .
Neuhausen .
Ouchy .
Pallanza

Pontresina .
Ragatz )

St Moritz Town
St Moritz Baths
Stresa .

Thun .

HOTEL D’ANGLETERRE.

HOTEL CONRADI.

HOTEL STEINBOK:

INSELHOF.

KURHAUS DAVOS
DORFLI.

KURHAUS DAVOS.

HOTEL ZUM TITLIS.

SCHWEIZERHOF.
GRAND HOTEL DE FREI-
- BURG.
(HOTEL BEAU RIVAGE.
(HOTEL DE LA PAIX.
HOTEL METROPOLE.
HOTEL MULLER,
HOTEL GIESSBACH.
GLARNERHOF.
HOTEL DE L'OURS.
HOTEL VICTORIA.
HOTEL GIBBON.
HOTEL STAUBBACH.
GRAND HOTEL.
SCHWEIZERHOF.
HOTEL DU PARC.
HOTEL MONTE ROSA.
HOTEL CLERC,
HOTEL SAUVAGE.
HOTEL DES ALPES.
GRAND HOTEL DE
MURREN.
HOTEL BELLEVUE.
SCHWEIZERHOF.
HOTEL BEAU RIVAGE.
GRAND HOTEL PAL-
LANZA.
KRONENHOF.
QUELLENHOF.
ENGADINER KULM.
HOTEL VICTORITA.
HOTEL DES ISLES BOR-
OMEES.
GRAND
THOUNE.

HOTEL DE
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Treib(Seelisberg, Liake
of Lucerne) . A
Varese 4
Wiesen . 5
Vevey. . S .
Zermatt .

Zurich .

HOTEL SONNENBERG.

GRAND HOTEL VARESE.

HOTEL BELLEVUE,

GRANDHOTELDE VEVEY

HOTELS CERVIN axp
MONTE ROSA.

HOTEL BAUR-AU-LAC.

RHINE PROVINCES.

Aix-la-Chapelle .

Baden-Baden

Bonn .

Carlsruhe

Coblenz

Cologne .

. Dusseldorf .

Ems .

Frankfort ! ]
Freiburg-in-Bresgau .
Heidelberg . c
Homburg

Mayence

Rudesheim .
Strassburg .

Triburg (Black Forest)

Wiesbaden .
Wildbad

QUE.

HOTEL NUELLENS.
{HOTEL DE HOLLANDE.
J HOTEI. DE LEUROPE.

HOTEL DE RUSSIE.
| HOTEL STEPHANIEN-
L BAD. i
HOTEL ROYAL.

HOTEL GERMANTIA,
HOTEL DU GEAN'.
HOTEL DU NORD.
BREIDENBACHERHOF.
HOTEL D’ ANGLETERRE.
HOTEL SCHWAN.
ZAHRINGERHOF.
HOTEL PRINZ CARL.
HOTEL VICTORIA.
HOTEL DE HOLLANDE
HOTEL RHEINSTEIN.
HOTEL DE VILLE DE

PARIS.

BIERINGER’S

FOREST HOTEL.
3HOTEL DE LA ROSE.

3HOTEL GRAND MONAR-

BLACK

HOTEL FOUR SEASONS.
NASSAUERHOF,
HOTEL KLUMPP.
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PREFACE.

Tue publishers of this Guide have made it their en-
deavour to afford travellers in Switzerland a cheap,
concise, and reliable hand-book.

The descriptions of the various routes have been com-
pressed into the smallest possible space consistent with
giving full and accurate details of all the points of
interest that ordinary travellers will wish to see. To
attain this end it has been necessary to pass over with
a mere mention those villages and even towns which
though commercially important, have no iuterest for the
tourist. Much larger space, also, has been devoted to
descriptions of the main routes than of out-of-the-way
tracks, which are but little frequented except by moun-
taineers and hardy pedestrians. At the same time, not-
withstanding the handy size and low price of the Guide,
the tourist will find in it all the necessary informa-
tion the larger and more expensive Swiss hand-books
afford.

The descriptions given have been verified on the
spot, but the publishers will be grateful for any hints
or corrections sent them by travellers. The Guide is
carefully revised annually.

No advertisements are taken for the Guide, and the
recommendations of Hotels, &ec., in the text are solely
guided by the reputation such establishments have for
fair dealing and attention to travellers;.and any well
authenticated complaint of overcharge or incivility will
cause them to be struck out of the Guide.
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INTRODUCTORY INFORMATION.

GENERAL PLAN OF THE GUIDE.

In a country like Switzerland, which is simply a network of rail-
roads, diligence routes, and bridle-paths, it is impossible to de-
seribe the various routes in anything like consecutive order. What
we have aimed at therefore is, as far as possible, to group together
the routes in each district, and have them start from important
centres.

The routes are all plainly indicated on the map of Switzerland at
the end of the book, railway routes being shown by thick blue lines,
diligenco and carriage routes by thin blue lines, and bridle-paths by
dotted blue lines. The page on which the route is described is also
given.

The various objects of interest worth seeing in the towns have
been described in the order in which they can most conveniently be
visited, and to enable the tourist to easily find his way without the
assistanco of a valet-de-place, a walk through each town is shown on
the plans, printed in blue wnk.

It being of great importance to tourists not only to know which
are the best hotels in each town, but to know the class of the hotels
at such towns or villages as they may purpose visiting, our lists of
hotels are printed in three specimens of type. SCHWEIZERHOF
designates, large hotel of tho very highest class ; SCHWEIZERHOF,
good first class hotel ; Schureizerhof, second class hotel or country inn.

TRAVELLING EXPENSES AND HOTELS.

The exact cost of the railway and diligence fares on any proposed
trip can be ascertained before leaving at any of the offices of Messrs
Thos. Cook & Sons, or any of the other leading tourist agencies,
and considerable trouble and expense can be saved by taking tickets
in this way. Round tickets for the moro frequented routes, at
reduced rates, are also supplied at the chief railway stations in
Switzerland.

The average charges in first-class hotels are, for bedroom, 2} frs.
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to5frs. First breakfast (tea, coffee, chocolate, bread, butter, honey),
1fr. to 1} frs. Second breakfast, 2 to 4 frs. ; dinner, 4 to 6 frs. ;
lights, 1 fr. ; service, 1 fr. Pension arrangements can generally
be made from 10 frs. to 15 frs. per day, according to accommodation
required. At second-class hotels : bedroom from 1} to 25 frs. ; early
breakfast, 1 fr. ; second breakfast, 2 to 2} frs. ; dinner, 2} to 3 frs.;
generally no charge for lights or attendance. No rule can be given
for gratuities, which, except at the Schweizerhof at Lucerne, Hotel
Geissbach at Geissbach, and Steinbock Hotel at Coire, are always
expected to a greater or less extent. Tourists leaving their hotel
in the morning are strongly advised to settle their bill over night.
Switzerland is full of excellent pensions, at which the charges vary
from aslow as 4 frs. up to 15 frs. In making a bargain the traveller
should always ascertain whether his room is included in the charge.
Qut of the season many of the hotels give pension from 6 to 10 frs.
per day. The various tourist agencies supply hotel coupons at 8s.
per day, including breakfast (tea, coffee, &c. ), dinner, bedroom, lights,
and attendance, or 10s. with meat breakfast or lunch in addition.
We would particularly recommend tourists intending to purchase
;zir}(l:ular tickets or hotel coupons, to deal only with reliable estab-
ishments.

GENERAL HINTS TO TRAVELLERS.

Passports,.—Though passports are not necessairy, tourists are
recommended to always them. They afford proof of identity
at bankers, poste-restantes, za ; are the means of obtaining admis-
sion to many interesting sights ; and often have proved most useful
in cases of accident or sudden illness.

Railway Travelling.—On all continental lines the exact amount
of the fare is stamped on the tickets. The fare should be tendered
in franes and not in English bank notes or gold, as the rate of
exchange at the railway stations will sometimes be found anything
but satisfactory. .Always count your ckange. In spite of all that
has been said to the contrary, the second class in Switzerland is net
so comfortable as the first, and is always more crowded. However, a
most respectable class of travellers usethe second class, and except for
night travelling, the extra comfort is hardly worth the additional eost.
Always be at the station in time to secure a good seat in the train.
Allluggage in Switzerland is charged for, except such small packages
as can be taken into the carriage. All luggage except that taken
into the carriage must be registered before starting. The trains
seldom wait long enough at the stations to give time for a meal. A
luncheon basket taken into the carriage will often be found a great
boon. Always carry a local railway time table. If Cook’s tickets
are taken, Cook’s ‘“Continental Time Table” will be found useful.
Smoking is permitted in all carriages except those marked Non
fumeurs or Nichiraucker, and compartments reserved for ladies.
W.C. carriages or Cabinets Ambulants are attached to most Swiss
trains. To those who can afford the luxury, the Wagons-lits are
strongly recommended for night travelling. The lights in the Swiss
carriages are generally bad ; a railway reading lamp will help to pass
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away many a tedious hour after dark. A very small pillow covered
with dark silk or cotton will be found an invaluable comfort.

Circular Tickets.—On stopping over at any station the ticket
must be stamped at the ticket office both on arrival and departure.
Always be careful to see that the conductor when collecting the
tickets tears out the proper coupon. . -

Money.—English bank notes and gold can be exchanged every-
where. The rate of exchange is generally 25 frs. to £1, but a little
more than this can be obtained at respectable banks or exchange
offices. English silver is of no use, except at a very low exchange.

Diligences, extra post, carriages, and horses,—Always secure
your places as long before starting as possible. The most desirable
places are the coupé and banquette, the banquette being the most
comfortable in fine weather, and affording the best opportunity for
sseing the country. Allowance for luggage, 33 lbs. on ordinary
routes, 22 Ibs. on high mountain routes.

Seats may be booked by letter enclosing the fare. Children
under seven, half fare. ZKztra Post (under management of the
Government) costs 50 c. per horse per kil, or 80 c. per mile in
addition to the carriage, for which the charges are 2-5 seats, 20 c. per
kil., or 382 c. per m. ; 6 seats, 25 c. per kil., or 40 c. per m. Larger
carriages, 30 c. per kil., or 48 c. per m. There is a carriage tax in
addition of from 2 to 4 frs. These charges include driver’s fee.
Iixtra post can be had at an hour’s notice at the post stations.

Where change of horses is not required, private carriages can bo
hired at 15 to 20 frs. per day, for 1 horse ; 2 &rses, 25-30 frs. Bar-
gain necessary, and written agreement desirable. Always see the
carriage and horses yourself when hiring. Sometimes return carri-
ages can be had at less than these rates. Gratuity to coachman,
1-1% frs. per horse. Horses or mules, 10 to 12 frs. per day, with a
gratuity of 13 to 2 frs, y

Guides.—7 to 8 frs. per day. Guides carry 15 to 20 lbs. of
baggage. If dismissed from home, 6 frs. per day for the return
journey. To those who can afford the expense, the services of a
guide will be found well worth the outlay.

Arrival at Statlons.—Always fix on your hotel before arriving,
and on coming out of the station call at once for the porter of the
hotel you have chosen. He will secure your baggage for you, and
yolu143 will at once be saved the importunities of the other hotel
porters.

MISCELLANEOUS.

Parcels and luggage can be sent through the Swiss Post Offices at
reasonable charges.

‘Washing is done at the hotels on short notice. Have all your
linen plainly marked, and make out a washing list. Carry a packet
of ¢“Persian Insect Powder.” i

Always lock the door of your room at night, and on leaving it when
going out.

Leave your valuables in charge of the landlord, and take a receipt.

tAl_wfs:ys carry wax matches, and put them where you can find them
at night.
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Always check your hotel bills and call for them over night when
you are leaving early in the next morning.

Do not forget the following requisites—soap, matches, sewing
materials, pocket knife with cork-screw and scissors, sticking
plaster, drinking cup, flask, string, and coloured spectacles.

To prevent sun-burn, use glycerine and salad oil.

To keep the feet in good condition, always after walking, wash
with soap and luke warm water, and rub over with Eau de Cologne.

Above all avoid travelling too fast, or being tempted by the brac-
ing mountain air to walk too far, or over fatiguing yourself in any
way. One day’s indiscretion may spoil the pleasure of the whole
trip, and it is infinitely more enjoyable to leisurely visit one dis-
trict, than to rush through the country like so many tourists do,
whose only object seems to be to cover the greatest possible distance
in the least possible time. ~We may alter the popular proverb. and
say, ‘“ What is worth seeing is worth seeing well.” The traveller will
return home with but a faint idea of the beauties he has passed
through if he spends nearly all his time in a railway carriage. His
motto instead should be “ Festina lente.”

We have not space, nor do we consider it necessary, to map out
plans of tours for our readers. If the traveller wishes to avail him-
self of the convenience of the circular tours arranged by the teurist
agencies, he can obtain from them the fullest information when
purchasing his ticket ; but if he wishes to arrange a tour for him-
self, he can easily do so by referring to the large map of Switzer-
land at the end of the book, on which all the various routes are
clearly indicated, with the numbers of the routes in the guide, on
referring to which he will find full information. He can in this
way see what expenditure of time in travelling is necessary. Be-
{ond this the extent of the tour must of course depend on how

ong a stay he wishes to make at the various places he visits.

HISTORY.

The first inhabitants of Switzerland of whom we have any his-
torical record were the Helvetii, a Celtic tribe, and the Rhaeti,
whose origin is unknown ; the former occupying the North-West,
and the latter the South-Eastern portions. It is possible, however,
that the mysterious Lake Dwellers antedated both these tribes. In
58 B.C. the country was invaded by the Romans under Julius
Ceesar, who subdued the Helvetii, founded the towns of Aventicum
(p. 12), Vindonissa (p. 24), and Augusta Rauracorum (f. 4), and
added the western portion of the country te Gallia. In I5 B.C.
they also conquered the Rhaeti, and formed the newly acquired terri-
tory into the province of Rhetia, establishing as its capital the
city of Curia %.hsetorum (Coire, p. 124). After their conquest
both the native races adopted tl?e language and habits of the
Romans, who retained possession of the country for upwards of
four centuries. About the commencement of the 5th cent. an in-
vasion of barbarian tribes swept over the country, the Burgundians
settling in the south-west, tge Alemanai in the north, and the
Ostrogoths in Rheetia. These tribes in turn were subdued by the
Franks during the Merovingian dynasty, under whose rule the
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country gradually became christianized, principally through the
efforts of missionary monks from Ireland, who established the
great monasteries of St Gallen (p. 29), Einsiedeln (p. 37), Dissentts (p.
181), and Pfiffers (p. 33). These monks also taught the people
agriculture, reopened the Roman roads, and in many other ways
hastened forward the spread of civilisation.

On the dissolution of the Carlovingian Empire the country was
again divided, the western portion falling to the share of Burgundy,
while the eastern was united to the Duchy of Swabia. In 1032, partly
by inheritance and partly by conquest, it came into possession of
the German Emperors, and during the two succeeding centuries it
was ruled on their behalf by the Dukes of Zihringen, who, though
constantly at war with the nobles of Burgundy, did much to pro-
mote the prosperity of the towns, especially Berne, Freiburg, and
Burgdorf, which they had founded. On the decline of the German

, Empire the country was distracted by internecine wars which broke
out between the powerful nobles, and which compelled the principal
towns to unite in self defence, and enter into treaties with the
feudal lords of the soil. One of these nobles, Count Rudolf of
Hapsburg, who had been foremost in favouring the independence
of the towns in 1273, succeeded in getting himself proclaimed em-
peror. During his reign he continued his liberal policy, but his
son, Albert 1., who was an unprincipled and grasping monarch,
attempted by a course of oppression, cruelty, and insult, to take
away the indeﬁendence his father had allowed the towns to enjoy,
and to make himself an autocratic sovereign. The three Forest
Cantons of Ur, Schwyz, and Unterwalden, however, which had never
acknowledged more than a nominal rule of the House of Hapsburg,
formed the famous conspiracy of the Griitlz (p. 45), and rising drove
out the Austrians. It was at this period also that we have the
legendary history of William Tell ¢p. 71). Albert was afterwards
assassinated by John of Swabia (p. 23), and a charter of independ-
ence was granted to these cantons by the Emperor Henry VIL,
who wished to weaken the power of the House of Hapsburg. The
Austrians then invaded the country with a large army, but were
utterly routed at the battle of Morgarten (p. 39). Between 1332
and 1353 the Cantons of Lucerne, Glarus, Zug, Ziirich, and Berne
joined the three Forest Cantons, and formed an independent con-
federacy. Subsequent attempts by the Hapsburgs to subdue
the country were unsuccessful, the Swiss being signally victorious
at the battles of Sempach (p. 41), Adfels (p. 85), and Stoss.
The Swiss were next engaged in a war with Charles the Bold of
Burgundy, whom they defeated with great bravery at Grandson
{p. 14), Morat (p. 11), and Nancy. Their last great victory was
over the Swabians at Dornach (p. 4) in 1499.

After this period, which was the most glorious in the history of
the country, the confederacy began to gecline. The enormous
booty captured during the previcus wars had fostered a taste
for luxury and warlike pursuits, which unfortunately led to many
of the Swiss accepting mercenary service abroad. ‘‘The common
people in town and country were drawn away from honest labour
to idleness, lewdness, and warlike undertakings, and reckless and
abandoned habits prevailed everywhere.” New troubles spran
up with the Reformation, during which, bitter struggles too
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place between the Cantons who had adopted the new faith,
and those who remained faithful to the Church of Rome. War
finally broke out, and resulted in the battle of Kappel (p. 50),
in which the Protestants were defeated and their leader and pastor
Zwingli slain. The Protestants, however, afterwards obtained a
decisive victory at Villemergen in 1656. This religious contest
terminated after the Toggenburg war ; and the peace of Aarau, in
1712, established absolute equality between the Cantons,

On the breaking out of the French Revolution in 1798, Switzer-
land was invaded by the republicans, whose forces rendered them-
selves infamous by their atrocious cruelty (p. 67).

In 1803 Napoleon restored the Cantonal system, and in 1815 the
constitution was remodelled at the congress of Vienna. This was
followed by the Revolution of 1830, the changes introduced in
which led to the short civil war, in 1847, of the Sonderbund or
Separate Leagues, which was happily soon terminated by the found-
ing in 1848 of a new Federal Constitution, since which time the
country has enjoyed peace and prosperity.

TABLE OF MONEY, WEIGHTS, AND MEASURES.

| French, Swiss,

American. English. | el liaat I German. l Austrian.
Dols. cents. £onusisds | Frs. centms. | Marks Pf. Florins Ki.
0 1 0 0 0 | 0 5 0 4 0o
0 5 00 2 0 25 0 20 0 10
0 10 (D45 0 50 0 40 0 20
0 20 0 0 9% 1 0 0 80 0 40
0 2 010 1 25 158340, 0 50
0 50 (DA (1) 2 50 2 0 d el
10 | 040 5 0 £ 0 ’ 2 0
4 86 100 25 0 20 0 10,280
WEIGHTS (APPROXIMATE). LINEAR MEASURES.
1 Gramme = 7 oz 1 Centimétre = § inch.
1 Hectogramme = 3% oz 1 Metre = 3 ft. 3} inches.
1 Kilogramme = 2} Ibs. 1 Kilometre = § mile.
51 Kilogrammes = fcwt. 8 Kilometres = miles.
1015 Kilogrammes = 1 ton.
LAND MEASURES. FLUID MEASURES.
1 Centiare = 1} sq. yd. 1 Litre = 1% pints.
1 Are — } acre. 4% Litres = 1 gallon.
1 Hectare = 2} acres. Hectolitre = 22 gallons,
THERMOMETER.
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GUIDE TO SWITZERLAND.

Route 1.
foLE TO BERNE BY HERZOGENBUCHSEE.

66 AL, in 3} to 4% k. ; Fares—10.60, 7.45, 5.30. This is the shortest
and quickest route from Bile to Berne, though the route by the
Miinster-Thal and Bienne is more picturesque (se¢c Route 2{

BALE.

Railway Stations.
and Swiss lines.
StATION, neorth side.

CENTRAL STATION, seuth side of the town. Alsace
Good BUFFET.
Baden lines.

Conveniences for washing., BADEN
Both stations are connected Dy a

junction line (10 min.). Swiss time, 4 min. behind Baden, 26 min. in

advance of French.
Cabs.

Stations to Town, 1-2 pers. 1 fr, 20 c.: 3-4 pers. 1.80. Between Statiens,
1.50 and 2.50. Trunks, 30 c. each,

Quarter hour, 1-2 pers. 80 c.; 3-4 pers.

1.20. Each add. } henr, 40 c.and 60 ¢. 10 p.m. to 6 a.m., first  hour; 2 fr.;

each add. } hour, 1 fr.

Hotels.
oppesite Central Station.

TROIS ROIS, excellent, on the Rhine.
HoTeL EULER. Post, Schiff, on the Rhine; at

HoTrL Sulssg, comfortable,

Klein-Bascl, Hotel Kraft; Hotel Croiz, on the Rhine.
Restaurants. Atboth STATIONS—CENTRAL, best; K1B1GER'S, Barfiisser Platz.

Cafes and Beer Gardens.

Troi1s Rois, on the Rhine; NaTioNaL, on the

Rhine; pu THeATRE; KissriNG KuENTz, 19 Freien St.; WiRrz, near the
bridge; BUrRGVOGTEI Becr Garden and open air Theatre in Kieln-Basel;
SoMMER-CAsINO, St Jacobsstrasse, Music, Mon., Wed., Frid., 7 p.m., Sun.,
6 p.m., 80 c.; MIicnEL'S GARDEN, Music.

Post and Tel. Offices, at Stations and Frelen St.

Eng. Ch. S., at Hotel Trois Reis.

Zoological Garden, outside the Steinenthor, Concerts.

Theatre, In the Theatre Strasse.

RBile or Basel (pop. 61,399),
the capital of the half canton of
Bﬁle-\};lle, was founded by the
Romans in the 4th centy. The
town proper lies on the left bank
of the Rhine, being connected
with KLEIN-BASEL on the right

bank by three bridges. The ALTE
BRUCKE, constructed of wood
with half stone and half wooden
piers, is 680 ft. Jong. Inthe centre
1s an obelisk with a barometer,
thermometer, and a bronze figure
of the LALLENKONIG. The OBERE
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BRUCKE, higher up, is of iren.
The UNTERE BRUCKE, lower
down, was completed in 1882.

The Miinster or Cathedral
(1) is the chief attraction of Béle.
It is a picturesque edifice of red
sandstone, surmounted by two
spires 220 feet high. The original
building, in the Byzantine style,
was built by the Emperor Henry
II. (1010). In the earthquake of
1356 it was almost entirely de-
stroyed. It wasrebuilt in Gothic
style in the 14th centy. The
towers were completed in 1500.
The interior was restored in 1857,
and the exterior is now being
thoroughly repaired. The only
remaining portion of the original
structure is the N. PORTAL or
ST GALLUS' GATEWAY, which is
aderned with figures of Christ in
Judgment, the Evangelists, John
the Baptist, and other saints.
Over the door is a bas-relief of the
Wise and Foolish Virgins, and at
the sides representations of the
works of charity. On the gable
of the W. front are represcuta-
tions of the Virgin and Child, the
Emperor Henry IL and Empress
Kunigunde. At the left side
door is an equestrian fi of St
George and the dragon, and at
the right, one of St Martin.
Between them are four grotesque
figures; Heinrich II. with the
model of the cathedral in his
hand ; his consort Queen Kuni-
gunde ; a figure of Satan; and a
figure of the *‘ Mistress of the
World.” 1In 1431 the GREAT
CounciL met in the Cathedral
to take steps for the reformation
of the church, but being ex-
communicated by Pope Eugene
1V., it was dissolved in 1488 with-
out having attained any result.
(The cathedral is open free from 2 to
4 p.m. on Wed, during summer., At
other times, admission 50 c., by apply-
ing at No. 13 opposite.)

The INTERIOR suffered greatly
from the outrages of the bigots

of the 16th centy., but in its re-
stored state is now one of the
finest Protestant cathedrals in
Europe, The Purpit, dating
from 1486, is beautifully carved.
The large new ORGAN, built in
1858, is supported on a fine rood-
loft built in 1381. 1In the choir,
which is raised over the crypt,
are statues of the Empress Anna,
wife of Rudolf of Hapsburg, and
her son Charles (1281). A tablet
to ERASMUS stands near the font.
The fine stained glass in the
windows is modern.

The Medizevai Collection
(open free, Sundays, 1030 to 1,
other times, &0 c¢.; illustrated
catalogue, 50 ¢., recommended),
occupies three floors of the ad-
joining building. Itisreached by
a winding staircase leading out of
the choir. The first rooms con-
tain a fine collection of iren-

" work, old bindings, gold and

silver reliquaries, embroideries,
and various medixval objects.
The SAAL ¥UR HAUSALTHUMER,
contains a collection of antique
household  furniture, clocks,
hourglasses, &e. At the end of
the room is the DINING-ROOM OF
Lucas ISeLIN, of Bale, with its
fine panelling and antique furni-
ture dating from 1607 ; and the
GorHIO RooM of 1460, Now
ascending to the floor above, we
find a collection of musieal in-
struments, old costumes, and
various interesting relics of old
Bile. Descending again, we
enter the CONCILIUMS SAAL,
where the Great Council held
their sittings. It contains the
fragments of the famous fresco
of the DANCE o¥ DEATH, which
formerly was on the wall of the
Dominican burial ground. A
winding staircase descends from
the Conciliums Saal to the crypt,
in which is the Liillenkonig, a
painted head of iron which was
formerly on the gate tower of
the ALTR-BROckE. By means of
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machinery inside the head, which
is constantly in motion, the face
rolls its eyes and protrudes its
tongue. A legend exists that it
was put on the Bridge to deride
tho inhabitants of Klein-Basel.
A door out of the crypt leads
us to the Cloisters, which
can also be entered from the
street.

The Cloisters, used till re-
cently as family burial - places
extend to the FPfalz, a terrace
78 feet above the Rhine, com-
manding a charming view. Be-
side the cathedral is the
house of ERrasmUs, Passing
along tho Augustiner Strasse,
we come to the Musenm (2).
(Open free, Sun., 10.15 to 12.30; Wed.,
2 to 4; other times, 1 fr. Engravings
open free, 2 to 5 Thur.,, and Sat.)
The Museum is interesting for its
collection of the works of the
younger HOLBEIN, among which
are HIS OWN PORTRAIT and the
portrait of his friend BoONI-
FACE AMBERBACH, who formed
tho greater part of the collec-
tion ; HOLBEIN’S TABLE, painted
with scenes from the life of
a Swiss family; a beauntiful
pen and ink drawing of the
Meyer family; and two pictures
of a school, painted as a sign for
the school door. There are also
many interesting works by other
artists. The Colicction of
Antiquitics contains what re-
mains of the treasure of the cathe-
dral ; coins, medals, vases, casts,
&c. The University Library is
in the same building. It contains
over 200,000 volumes and 5000
MSS. Among the latter are
many interesting records of
reformation times,

A little further on from the
Museum on the opposite side
of tho street is the Umiversity
(3),. an unpretending building
dating from 1460, and famous
for its connection with the great
name of Erasmus. In the Hall

are upwards of 100 portraits of
its famous scholars. Turning
now to the left, past the CHURCH
OF ST MARTIN, in which the
reformer (Ecolampadius (Haus-
chien) first preached the refor-
mation, wo come to the

Rathhaus (4), or Town Hall, in
the Market-place, erected 1508.
On the frieze are the arms of the
three original Swiss cantons—
Uri, Schwyz, and Unterwalden;
beneath them are the arms of
Bale, and below theso, a proces-
sion of children. The interior
is adorned with freseces by Hans
Bach and his son (1609), and
with quaint wood carvings.

Leaving the Rathhaus we
come to the PosT-0FFICE (5),
formerly the Custom House.
Continuing our route we come
to the ARSENAL (6), which con-
tains a small collection of arms
and armour. In the Spalen-
vorstadt is a curious fountain
called the SPALENBRUNNEN (7).
Beyond thisisthe Spalenthor(8),
or St Paul’s Gate (1400), an inter-
esting relic of tho early fortifica-
tions. Two more of these towers
have been restored, the ALBANS-
THOR on the N.," and the St
JOHANNSTHOR on the S. Re-
tracing our steps we return to
the St Peter’s Graben, and going
towards the river passthe PETER’S
PLATZ GARDEN, and the HOSPITAL
(9), which is built on the site of the
former palace of the Margraves
of Baden.

Other buildingsnot on thisronte
aro the BARFUSSER KIRCHE (10),
built in the 14th centy. It is
now used as a warehouse, Near
by is the modern Gothic church
of ST ELIZABETH éll). The in-
terior is fine, and the stained
glass windows, made at Munich,
are well worth seeing. Near it
on the Steinenberg is the KUNs«
THALLE (12), (adm. % fr.), with
garden and restaurant. In the
hall is a small collection of
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modern paintings. At a little
distance out of the town is the
MONUMENT OF ST JacoB by
F. Schlsth, erected to the
memory of the Swiss con-
federates who fell fighting there
against the 'French in 1444,
The Swiss only numbered 1300
against 30,000 of their enemies,
and were almost entirely annihi-
lated. The inscription reads:
“Qur souls to God, our bodies
to the enemy.”

Excursions to Avesr (6 m.),
which occupies the site of the
Roman city of Augusta Raura-
corum, founded in the reign of
Augustus. Great quantities of
Roman remains have been found
here, most of which have been
removed to the Museums of Bile
andSchaffhausen. ToTHE CASTLE
OF ARLESHEIM (4m. ), formerly the
residence of the Bishops of Béle.
Twomilesbeyond Arlesheim is the
BATTLEFIELD OF DORNACH, where
6000 Swiss defeated 15,000 Aus-
trians. A bone-house near by is
filled with the remains of both
armies.

HUNINGEN (3 m.), once a strong
fortress, is now used as an estab-
lishment for fish-culture. Be-
tween 20 and 30 million fish
are annually distributed.

Leaving Bale we travel through
a pleasing but uninteresting
country ; and after passing

LAUFELFINGEN we enter the
Hawenstein Tunnel (1 miles
long), in the construction of which
sixty-three men were buried alive
by a fall of earth. Emerging
from it we have our first glimpse
of the Bernese Alps, and a fine
view of Olten, the old castle
of AARBURG, and ruin of WaRT-
BURG. The train now descends,
and making a half circle, crosses
the Aar, and we arrive at

Olten (245 m., Buffet). (Hotels:
SCBWEIZERHOF, Wyss,) Trains
wait a quarter to half an hour.
Train to Berne on the right.

Herzogenbuchsee (413 m.,
generally 10 min. wait) (Hotel :
Sonne). A branch line runs to
Soleure.

Burgdorf (52 m., Buffet).
(Hotels : Baknkof and Guggis-
berg at the station), is an im-
portant and busy town. In the
old castle of Burgdorf, Pestalozzi
first established his celebrated
school. The streets are quaintly
built with arcades. At Burgdorf
the line from Soleure to Berne
joins in (p. 8). There is also a

ranch line to Langnau (p. 51).
Passing ZOLLIKOFEN (61}) the line
ascends to the UYLER FELD or
drill-field, which commands a
magnificent VIEW OF THE BER-
NESE ALPS. Approaching Berne
we cross over the Aar on a lofty
bridge 540 feet long and 165 high.
Belgw the rails is a carriage-
road.

BERNE.

Arrival. Buffet at the Station.

Cabs. One horse, $ hr., 1-2 pers. 80 c.; 3-4 pers,, 1.20; each add. 3 hr., 40 c.
and 60 c. Two horse, 1.20. Trunks,20c. 10 p.m.to 6 am., double fare.
‘Whole day over 8 hrs., 1-2 pers., 15 fr.; 3-4 pers., 20 fr.

Hotels.

The two largest and finest Hotels are tbe BERNERHOF and
BELLEVUE, both with fine views of the Alps.

SCHWEI1ZERHOF, near the

Station, good; FALKE, quiet and good; Zahringer Hof, Storch, Pfistern,
Affe, Wilder Mann, moderate charges.
Restaurants. SCHWEIZRRnOF, near the Station; CArk CasiNo, with view

of the Alps from the Terrace.
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Cafes and Beer Gardens.

open after 1 p.m. week days, 4 p.m. Sun.

PAvViLIONS ON THE CATHEDRAL TERRACE.

Music. CA¥E DU THEATRE,

CAFE ScBANZLI, over the Railway bridge, Concerts and Summer Theatre
KRoNE, Gerechtigkeitsgasse; BERNA, Schauplatzgasse.

Post and Tel. Office, near the Station, to the right on entering.

Eng. Ch. 8. in the Cathedral, 10.30 a.m. and 4.30 p.m.

Baths, Swimming Bath in the Horrz Prarz; River Baths below the UNTERE
BRUCKE, water very cold; Warm Baths, BuCHLESS, FRICKBAD.

Berne (pop. 45,000), the capi-
tal of Switzerland, is situated
on a lofty promontory 1700
feet above the sea, formed by
the winding Aar, which sur-
rounds it on three sides. Many
of the houses are massive struc-
tures, resting upon arcades, which
are lined with shops, and furnish
covered walks on both sides of the
streets, the latter being adorned
with numerous fountains. The
environs afford fine promenades,
and from the platform on which the
CATHEDRAL stands, the view of the
Bernese Alps s very fine. Six of
the most celebrated peaks are in
view upon clear days. On theeast
is the Wetterhorn, next are the
Schreckhorn, the Finster-Aar-
hern, the Eiger, the Monch, the
Jungfrau, the Gletscherhorn, the
Mittaghorn, and the Bliimlis Alp.

Berne takes its name from the
old German for Bear. It has its
effigy for its arms, and its figureis
perpetually recurring to the eye.
The Bears'-ditck, near the Nydeck
Briicke is a menagerie of these
animals, maintained at the public
charge. The French took away
the bears to Paris, and their
restoration was one of the first
cares of the citizens upon the
return of peace.

Since 1849 Berne has been the
seat of the Swiss government, and
the residence of the foreign
ministers,

Starting from the RAILWAY
STATION and making our way
along the Spitalgasse we pass tho
KArIGTHURM (1) or cago tower,
now used as a prison. Attheend
of the Marktgasse we come to
the old Clock Tower (2) built in

1191. This tower originally
arded the outer wall. The
%:;ge dial shews the day of the
week and month, phases of the
moon, and signs of the zodiac.
Three minutes before every hour
a wooden cock Haps its wingsand
crows, and at this signal a preces-
sion of bears marches round the
figure of a king. 'When they
have passed, the cock then crows
again, the hour being struck
with a hammer by the tigure of
a fool. A bearded figuro at
the same time reverses an
hour glass and also counts
the hours by raising his sceptre
and opening his mouth. The
hour is then again struck on the
large bell in the tower by a stone
figure, and the performance con-
cludes by the cock crowing a
third time. Twrning te the left
up the Kornmarkt we see the
KINDLIFRESSER-BRUNNEN (3) or
ogre fountain. The principal
figure is that of an ogre about to
devour a child, while others
reserved for the same fate peep
out from his pockets. Below
are the ever recurring treop of
bears. Proceeding along the
Kramgasse and the Gerechtig-
keitsgasse, and crossing the
Nydeck Briicke, we come to
the Bears’ Den (4), where the
bears are kept at the cost of
the town. In 1861 an English-
man attempted to walk round
the inner parapet for a wager,
fell in, and was torn to pieces by
one of the bears. Retracing our
steps and turning down the
Johanngasse we come upon the
Miinster (5)(entrance W. door,
50 c.), a small but excellent
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example of Gothic architecture,
built between 1421 and 1573, and
restored in 1850. It was de-
signed by Steinbach, thearchitect
of Strassburg cathedral, its para-
pet and ornamentation being
very similar to those of that
building. A flight of 223 steps
leads to a gallery in the tower
commanding a magnificent view
(adm. 50 c.). The large bell in
the tower weighs 23,700 Ibs. The
fine sculptures on the W. FROXT
represent the last Judgment, on
each side of which are representa-
tions of the Wise and Foolish
Virgins. The interior is plain,
but of excellent proportions.
The fine communion table of
black marble was brought away
from the Cathedral of Lausanne
in 1561. The baptismal font
and the pulpit date from the
15th centy. At the end of the
nave, to the right, is a gaudily-
coloured monument to Berthold
of Zihkvingen. 'To the left of
the nave is a fine marble group of
Christ and the Virgin at the tomb,
by the Bernese artist Lohn, the
designer of the statue of Berthold
V. on the Platz. On the walls
opposite, are several marble
tablets on which are cut the
names of 19 officers, 683 soldiers,
and 2 women who fell at Grau-
holz, 6 m. from Berne, in the
French invasion of 1798. The
fine N. and E. windows date
from the 15th centy., and repre-
sent scenes from our Lord’s pas-
sion, the Eucharist, and some of
the parables. The S. windows are
modern. The carved choir stalls
of 1528 deserve examination. The
ORreaN is played daily at 6.30 p.m.
(adm. 1 fr. ; party, 2 frs.). The
statue in front of the cathedral
is to the memory of RUDOLF VON
ERLACH, the victor of Lanpen.
The Cathedral Terrace (6)
was formerly the burial-ground.
As the sun goes down and the
¢“after-glow” begins to gild the

mountains, the panorama of the
Alps from this point is in-
describably lovely. The bronze
statue in the Platz is that
of BERTHOLD VON ZAHRINGEN,
founder of Berne. There is a
legend that a drunken student
once leapt his horse over the para-
pet here, and though the Eorse
was dashed to pieces, the rider
escaped with a few broken ribs.
Leaving the Terrace we come to
the UNIVERSITY(7), founded 1839,
and the Historieal Musceum (8),
(open Tues. Saty., 3 to 5: Sun.,
10.30 to 12, free; other thmes, 1
pers. 1 fr, each add. pers. 50 e.),
containing a most interesting col-
lection of archeeological and his-
torical remains, among them the
field altar of Charles the Bold
captured at Grandson (see p. 14),
the ancient throne of the magis-
trates of Berne, the armour of
Gustave Von FErlach, curious
figures of William Tell and his
son, carved in the 15th centy.,
a gigantic figure of Christ which
was placed on the Thorthurm in
1496, and taken down in 1870.
There is also a very fine collec-
tion of tapestry of the 15th and
16th centuries, and a number
of banners captured from the
Austrians in 1476 (pp. 12-14).
THE LIBRARY (9) containsa large
collection of works on Swiss
history. Now passing the fine
new KIRCHENFLD BRIDGE, com-
pleted in 1883, and walking along
the Ampthausgasse and into
the Bundegasse, we see the fine
buildings of the FEDERAL COUN-
ci, Hairn (10), completed in
1857, where the sittings of the
legislative assemblies, held in
July, are open to the public
(at other times, adm. 1 fr. 1 to 3 pers.).
There is a2 magnificent view from
the gallery on the roof. A short
distance farther on is the KLEINE
ScHANZE (11), fine PANORAMA by
Imfeld.

The remaining sights of
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Berne worth attention are the
Natural Mistory Muscum (12),
(Tues. and Sat., 2 to 5; Snn., 10.80
to 12.30, frec; other times, 1 pers.,
1 fr, each add. pers. 50 e.),
where is the celebrated black
crystal weighing 270 1bs., found
in the Furca, and the stuffed
skin of the noble St Bernard dog
Barry, whe saved thirty-nine lives
in the St Bernard Pass, and was
finally shet in mistake by a
traveller whom he was trying
to rescue (p. 112). Opposite is
the new Kuxsr Museum (13)
(open daily, 9 to 12 and 2 to 6;

BALE TO BIENNE AND BERNE. 7

adm. 50 c.; Snn,, 10.30 to 12, free),
which contans the Municipal Pic-
ture Gallery. Turning now to
the left and crossing the railway
bridge, we pass the BoTaNIC
GARDEN (14), and reach the
Schiinzli, a terrace commanding
the FINEST VIEW OF THE BERNESE
Arps. There is a café in the
grounds. Beyend the Schinzli
is the large MILITARY DEPOT
of the Canten Berne, crected at
a cost of 44 million francs. It
contains an arsenal and museum
of antiquitics (fee to attendant).

Route II.
BALE TO BIENNE AND BERNE BY THE
MUNSTERTHAL.

Railway to Bicnne, 56 m., 3 to 4 4.; Fares—11.30, 9.90, 5.65.
Bienne to Berne, 21 m., 1 to 1} A.; Fares—3.75, 2.65,1.90,

- Leaving Bile frem the Central
Station, we pass the battleficlds
of St Jacob and Dornach (p. 4).
The first stop of importance
is at Lauten (14 m. nne), a
prettily situated village at the
confluence of the Birs and Liitzel.

Delémont(24m. Ours, Faucon;
Bujfet at the stn.) is a quaint
old town with a chatean once the
residence of the Bishops of Bile.
Delemont is the junction for the
French line to Belfort and Paris.
Twe miles beyond Delemont the
train centers the wild and roman-
tic valley of the Miiusterthal.
The line is carried through the
ravine by a series of viaducts,
tunnels, and gallerics to Miinster
(32 m. Arone, Hirsch). From
Miinster the ascent of the WEISs-
SENSTEIN (4200 ft.) can be made
(see p. 9). Distance, 10 miles;
3% hs.; carriage from Miinster,
20 frs. ; from St Joseph, 15 frs,

A diligence runs from Miinster
to St Joseph, 5 m. The road
passes the Wilhelm Tell Hetel
and ascends on the right to
Grandfelden, 2 m., and Crémine,

m.; then ascends the ravine of
the Rausse for 2 m. to St Joseph.
Carriage-road from St Joseph to
the summit in 2 hs., or path in
15 h, The descent can be made
to Soleure (see p. 8) in about
2 hs, The view from tho sum-
mit is superb.

Leaving Miinster the line tra-
verses another wide gorge to
Soneeboz (47 m. Couronne;
Buffet at stn.), the junction for
La  CHaUX-DE-FoxDs, LocLk,
and NEUCHATEL.

[This llne runs through wild and
beautiful scenery. CuAUX-DE-Foxps
(pop. 22,500) (Fleur de Lis, Lion d’0r),
in a bleak and desolate situation, fs
an Important warchmaking centre.
LocLe (pop. 10,500) (Hotel du Jura)
is also famed for its watches and
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jewellery. Beyond their manufactures
there is little of interest in these
towns. A pleasant excursion from Le
Locle is to the Col des Roches,1 m.,
the Lac des Brenets, 3} m., and the
Saut du Doubs, a pleturesqne water-
fall 80 ft. in height. Twenty-four miles
beyond Locle is NEUCHATEL. Seep.13.]

Resuming our route at Sonce-
boz, we pass through the valley
of Luz, and entera narrew ravine,
one of the most picturesque on the
line. Within a few miles there
are four tunnels, beyond the first
of which is a cascade formed by
the Luz, and on the hill the ruins
of the chateau Rondchatel. We
then cross the ravine of the Luz
over a high bridge, and leaving
it, have a beautiful view of the
plains around Bienne, and in the
distance, in fine weather, of the
whole range of the Alps, from
Unterwalden te Mont Blanc.
Descending through. vineyards,
we soon reach Biemne, 56 m. (pop.
11,600) (BIELERHOF ; Couronne;
Buffet at stn.), prettily situated

on the lower slopes of the Jura.
The old walls surmounted with
watchtowers still exist. In the
MuseuM ScHWAB is an interest-
ing collection of antiquities from
the Lake Villages, old arms, &c
Beautifully shaded avenues en-
circle the town.

The Lake of Bienne is 10
m. long by 3 broad. Its scenery
is rather tame, and it ewes
its chief interest te the ILE ST
PIERRE, for some menths the
residence of Rousseau. The
CHASSERAL, 5279 ft., can be as-
cended by carriage road from
Bienne. Distance 12 m. Inn on
the summit, which commands a
magnificent view.

The railway from Bienne to
Berne crosses the Thitle and the
Aare before arriving at Lyss,
which is the junction for the line
to the 8. to Payerne (see page
12), and N. to Soleure (see below).
At Zollikofen we join the main
line to Berne (see page 5).

RQUTE III.

BALE TO SOLEURE AND BERNE.

Rallway to Soleure by Olten, 463 m.,in 2} h.; Fares 8.10c., 5.65c.,, 4.5¢.
From Solcure to Berne, in 2 A., either by Burgdory (p. 4) or by Lyss (p.11).

The line as far as Olten is
described in Route I. From
Olten the line follows the valley
of the Diinnern to Oensingen, and
then crosses into the valley of
the Aare.

Soleure or Solothurm (pop.
7700, Hot. KRONE, Bargetzi).

There are two stations, Neu-Solo-
thurm on the R. bank of the river, and
Alt-Solothurm on the L. bank, 1 m.
Jarther on. Alight at Neu-Solothurm.

Soleure, the ancient Roman
Salodurum, is the eldest town in
the north-west of Europe, with

the exception of Tréves (see
clock tower below). In the 17th
cent, it was surrounded by
strong fortifications, which took
60 years in building.  Most
of them were removed in 1835
by order of the Federal Council.

The Cathedral of St Ursus,
a large marble building of
Florentine architecture, was built
1762-73. The interior, 195 ft.
long and 135 ft. wide, contains
several pictures and bas reliefs.
In the sacristy are some fine
missals. In frent of the facade
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are two fountains, representing
Moses striking the rock, and
Gideon wringing the fleece. Near
the cathedral is the Arsemal,
a quaint building of 1580, which
contains the finest collection of
ancient weapons and armour in
Switzerland, Among the stan-
dards are many captured from
the Burgundians and Austrians
at Scmpach (p. 41), Grandson
(p. 414), Morat (p. 12), Dornach

Worthy of notice is a mitrail-
leuse of the 15th centy.; an
cxecutioner’s sword, said to have
dealt the death blow to over 100
victims ; a large plaster group
of the reconciliation of the

cantons by Nicholas Von der Flith*

(p- 58). On entering a room on
the second floor, an automaton
figure of a soldier presents arms.

In the Market Place is the
ancient Clock Tower. Tradi-
tion says it was first built by the
Romans 4 centuries before the
Christian era, and that the stones
were cemented with wine and
eggs. The present erection pro-
bably dates from the time of fhe
Burgundian kings. On the
dial is a picture of the old town
of Soleure surrounded by the
signs of the zodiac. Under-
neath are the patrons of the
town, St Ursus and St Victor.
The figures move at the hour like
those in Berne. The whole was re-
stored in 1830. On the tower is
a Latin inscription referring to
the antiquity of the town:
¢ In Celtis nihil est Solodoro anti-

quius, unis
Euceptis Treviris, quorum ego
dacta soror.”

In the Jesuits’ Churck is a cruci-
fizxion by Holbein.

Thé MUSEUM, near the bridge,
contains a fine collection of fossils

and minerals. Near the post
office is the house, 5§ Bieler
Strasse, where the Polish patriot
Kosciusko spent the close of his
life. His heart and viscera are
buried in the little churchyard
of Zuchwyl, about a mile distant.
His body was sent to Cracow and
buried in the cathedral there,
beside his fellow patriots Sobieski
and Poniatowski.  Near the
town traces of the glacial period
have lately been discovered
simjlar to those at Lucerne,
(p. 42).

An interestlng excursion from
Soleure is the ascent of the Wels-
senstein, 4200 ft. The view fromn
the summit, though not so magnificent,
embraces a larger area than even
that from the Rigl. On a clear day we
sce in the far distance the whoie of
the Bernese, Tyrolese, and Pennine
Alps, with the lakes of Neuchatel,
Bienne, and Morat. On the summlt
is the fine Horer and KuUrHAUS
WEISSENSTEIN, very comfortable, and
most reasonable pension. The ascent
can be made by carriage (20 frs., and
8 frs. more if carriage 1s kept over
night. 7} m. in 2} hrs. Time to
walk 8 hrs. A char-a-banc aiso starts
at 5 p.m., retuarning next morning;
ascent 5 frs., descent 3 frs.). The
carriage road leads past the Hermit-
age of St Verena (14 m.) St Verena
was a pions virgin who accom-
panied the Theban legion (p. 96).
Being sorely tempted by the Devil,
he was on the point of carrying her
off when she saved herself by ciinging
to the rock. The marks of her finger
naiis are shown. On the R. Is the dweil-
ing of the Hermit, and on the left a
littie Chapei, hewn in the rock, con-
taining a life-size representation of the
Holy Sepulchre. At the Hermitage a
shorter road can be taken by pedestri-
ans by following a path to the right,
Indicated by sign posts. A stili more
extensive vlew can be had from the
HASENMATT (4750 ft.), 1} m. from the
Hotel. The descent from the Weissen-
stein can be made to Munster in 2
hrs. (p. 7).
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Route IV.

BERNE TO LAUSANNE AND GENEVA BY
FREIBURG.

Railway to Freiburg, 191 m,, 1 . ; Fares—8.75,2.70, 2 fcs. To' Lausanne, 61
m.,, 3to 4 A5 Fares—10.50,7.85, 5.80. To Geneva, 99 m., 4} to 63 A.; Fares—
17.50, 12.35, 9 fes. Passengers for Vevey and Montreux should alight at
Chexbres, and take the omnibus to Vevey, 50 min., 1fec.; thenee train or
steamer to Montreux. Best views on the left. Note.—The trains dack out

of Berne Station.

The line as far as Freiburg
passes through pretty and vary-
ing scenery, with occasional
glimpses of the Bernese Alps.
Shortly before arriving at Frei-
burg we cross the Saarine over
a viaduct 270 ft. high and 1100
ft. long.

Freiburg (20 miles, pop.
12,000 : GRAND HOTEL DE FREI-
BURG, Hotel Monney, Hotel Na-
tional), the capital of the canton,
was founded by Berthold of
Zahringen in 1175. It is most
picturesquely situated on a rocky
eminence overhanging the Saa-
rine. Travellers are strongly re-
commended to break their jour-
ney at Freiburg for a few hours.
The town and its magnificent
suspension bridges are not visible
from the railway. Thetown and
bridges can be seen in 1} to 2
hours, by walking from the sta-
tion through the town, past the
Church of St Nicholas (see be-
low), and crossing the river by
the Suspension Bridge. This
bridge, which has the longest
span in Europe, is 905 ft. long
and 180 ft. above the river. Each
of its four cables, which are 1230
ft. long, containsover 1000 strands
of wire. These cables are secured
to 128 anchors buried deep in the
ground. Tho total cost of the
bridgo was 600,000 frs. The view
of the town as we cross to
the opposite bank is most pic-
turesque, with its many coloured

houses, and ancient towers and
battlements crowning the rocky
slope. We now ascend to the
right, and cross over the Pont
de Gotteron, another fine sus-

- pension bridge, 689 ft. long, and

317 ft. above the bottom of the
gorge. It is hung from rock to
rock without pillars, Now con-
tinuing along the steep bank of
the Saarine, we finally descend
and recross it over a stone bridge,
and then ascend into the town
through a curious street called
the Court Chemin, which passes
up over the face of the rock, the
roofs of some of the houses serv-
ing as pavements for the portion
of the street above them.

The principal objects of inter-
est in the town are the

Church of St Nicholas,
founded in 1285, completed in
1500, and restored in 1856. It
is a plain Gothic edifice, sur-
mounted by a tower 286 ft. high.
Thistower,whichis of delicate and
graceful architecture,was erected
by the municipality in 1492 to
rival that of the cathedral in
Freiburg in Bersgau. On the
portal under the tower is a
curious bas-relief of the Last
Judgment. Below the figure of
our Saviour is that of St
Nicholas. To the left, a fiend is
putting his weight into the scales
1n which the Angel of Judgment
is weighing mankind. Tho in-
terior contains nothing of special
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interest exeept the organ, which
is one of the finest in Europe.
It has 67 stops and 7800 pipes,
some of which are 32 ft. in length.
Performances are given daily,
exeept Saturdays and feast days,
between 8 and 9 .M. Admission
1 fe., but no performance is given
unlesc the total amount taken is
20 fes.

The Rathaus, standing onthe
site of the ancient palace of the
Dukes of Zahringen, dates from
1502. In the square opposite, is
a venerable Lime Tree, 3
in eircumference. Tradition says
that after the victory of Morat in
1476 (see below), a youth of Frei-
burg, though mortally wounded
in the battle, was so anxious to
bring the good news to his towns-
men, that he ran all the way.
Reaching the square, he was so
exhausted by loss of blood that
he could only gasp out the word
‘“‘victory ” before he expired.
‘With him he bore a twig of lime,
which was taken from his dying
hand and planted on the spot.

The large building near the
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Morat Gate is the Jesuits’ College.
The Lycée contains a Museun of
medi®val and antique objects, a
few pictures, weapons, coins, &c.
Diligences for Morat (see below)
run twice daily, in 2} hours;
and for Payerne (p. 12) three times
daily, in 24 hours.

Leaving Freiburg, the first
station of importance is

Romont (36m. Cerf: Couronne).
Braneh line to Bulle (see Route
XLVL). The town, surrounded
by a wall, is picturesquely situated
on a small hill. Conspicuous
from the railway are two eurious
ancient round towers, the origin
of which is not known. The old
castle is supposed to have been
founded by the kings of Bur-
gundy in the 10th eentury. At

-Chexbres (533 m. ) passengers for

Vevey alight (sce p. 93). Omnibus
in 50 min., 1 fe. On emerging
from a tunnel a short distance
from Chexbres, we have abeauti-
ful view of the Lako of Geneva.

Lausanne, 61m. (see p. 92) and
stations to Geneva, 99 m. (see
Route L.).

Roure V.
SOLEURE TO LAUSANNE BY LYSS AND
PAYERNE.

Railway to Lyss, 15 m., § to 13 hrs,; 2.90 c. 1.90 ¢. 1.35¢.
64

Lyss to Lausanne,

m. No first class. 2nd class, 8.10 c.; 3rd class, 5.90 c.

- Leaving Soleure the railway
follows the bank of the Aare to
Busswyl, where we join the line
from Bienne. At Lyss (15 m.),
the line comes in from Bern (see
page 5).

Aarberg (2 m., Krone)is acuri-
ous old town almost surrounded
bg the river Aar. The ancient
chateau was the residence of the
counts of Aarberg, who sold their
\'ég%:ige to the town of Bern in
1351,

Morat (15 m., Conronne, Aigle),
on the Lake of Morat, a small
sheet of water 6 m. long and 23
broad. Steamers to Neuchatel
in 2 hrs. run twice daily from
Morat, passing from Lake Morat
to the Lake of Neuchate} by the
river Broye, and touching at
Cudrefin. A diligence also runs
to Neuchatel twice daily in 2 hrs.
and to Freiburg thrice daily in
2} hrs. In 1476 Morat was the
scene of the bloody BATTLE or



12

MORAT, in which the Swiss again
defeated Charles the Bold four
months after the Battle of
Grandson (see page 14). The
Burgundians were driven into
the lake with a loss of 15,000
men. The bones of the slain
were afterwards collected by the
Swissand placed in a small chapel,
which 300 years afterwards was
destroyed by the Burgundian
Legion of the French army dur-
ing the revolution of 1798. In
1822 the canton gave orders to
have the scattered remains again
collected and buried. An obelisk
65 ft. in height has been erected
on the site (2 m. from the town).

Avenches (34} m., Maison de
la Ville), formerly Aventicum, the
Roman capital of Helvetia.
Founded before the reign of
Julius Ceasar, it numbered a
population of over 60,000 in the
time of Vespasian. Traces of
the walls, which were 14 ft, thick
and 15 ft. high, and which ran
into the lake forming & harbour,
are still to be seen. There are
also remains of an Amphitheatre
and aqueduct. Near the town on
the left of the railway is a Corin-
thian Column 39 ft. high, the

Route 6. —BALE TO NEUCHATEL.

only remaining fragment of a
temple of Apollo. From a stork’s
nest which for centuries has been
built on its capital, it is called
Le Cigognier. The ancient
chateau was built by Count
Wivile in the 7th centy. A
diligence runs to Freiburg twice
daily in 2} hrs., also twice daily
in 14 br. to Cudrefin (see above),
a_ steam-boat landing on Lake
Neuchatel.

Prayerne (41 m., Ours) is an
old walled town founded by
Queen Bertha of Burgundy.
In 1817 the bones of Queen
Bertha, of her husband Rudolf
II., and of her son Conrad,
were found in an ancient sarco-
phagus below the tower  of
the Parish Church where they
are now buried. In the same
church is also shown the Saddle
of the Queen. Bertha was indus-
trious and spun as she rode, her
saddle having a hole for her
distaff.

From Payerne a branch line
goes off to Lstavayer and Yverdon
(see p. 14). At Palézienx (53
m.) the route joins the line from
Freiburg to Lausanne (see

p. 92).

Route VI

BALE TO NEUCHATEL BY BIENNE.

Railway, 82 m. 4-4} hrs.; Fares—14.70, 12.45, 7.55.

Forroute from Béle to Bienne
(62 m.) see Route 1. Douanne
(67 m.) is the starting point for
visiting the Isle of St Peter on
Lake Bienne (see p. 8).

Neuvilie (71) (Faucon, Lion),
a pretty little town on the lake
at the foot of the Chasseral (5,279

ft.) The ascent of the mountain
takes 34 hrs. Inn on the sum-
mit, splendid view. Passing
through a tunnel and reaching
St Bluise (79), the Lake of Neu-
chatel comes in sight, and in
clear weather Mont Blanc can
sometimes be seen.
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NEUCHATEL (82 m.).

Rauwa{ Station, 10 min. from the pler, high above the lake.
a’

and Lavatory.

Buffet

Hotels. BeLLEVUE, on the lake, magnificent view; GrRaxp Hoter MT. BLaNC,

dependance of Hotel Bellcvue.
the town.

Hotel du Lac, near the lake. Faucon in

Omnibuses run between Station and Post Office (80 ¢, box 15 ¢.), also to

the Hotels (75 c. to 1 fe.)

Steamer to Estavayer daily, in 1} hrs,, 2 frs.
d:

aily, in 2 hrs., 2 frs.

Nenehitel (pop. 15,700), the
capital of the canton, is pictur-
esquely built on a steep slope of
the Jura, at the mouth of the
little river Seyon. The modern
portion of the town and the
quay has been built on a strip
of land formed by the alluvial
deposits brought down by the
Seyon, the river having turned
out ef its course through a tunnel
500 ft. long.

The Chateam, commanding a
fine view, is an ancient structure,
formerly the residence of the
Princes of Neuchatel. It is now
the seat of the government of
the canton.

Close to it is the Collegiate
Church or Temple dn Hant,
a Gothic building of the 12th
century. Inthechancelisamonu-
ment with 15stone statueserected
in 1372 by Count Louis of Neu-
chatel. Becfore the church is a
statue of the reformer Farel. In
tho Musée des Beanx Arts, a
handsome modern building, is a
Picture Gallery of modern Swiss
paintings. Many of them are

of considerable merit. (Adm.
50 c., Sun. 1 to 4 free).
Adjoining is tho MUSEE

CHALLANDE, containing a collec-
tion of Alpine animals (adm. 1fe.).

Neuchatel is celebrated for its
educational advantages, French
being here spoken with great
Furity. There are several excel-
ent schools and colleges.

In the principal Cellege (adm.
50 c.; Thurs. 10-12, Sun. 2-4,free)
is a museum of natural history

To Morat (see page 11) twice

founded by Prof. Agassiz, a fine
library, and a collection of relics
from the lake dwellings. Near
the College in the Place Purry
is a statue of David de Purry, a

oor boy of Neuchatel, who by

is industry made 4} millien
francs, which he left to his
native city.

On the Quay, which affords
a charming promenade, is an
indicator pointing out the differ-
ent Alpine peaks visible from
Neuchatel.

Excursions—

To the Chanmeont (3850 ft.,
Hotel du Chawmont near the
summit, best ; Hotel du Chaleazg.
1} m. along the Chaux-de-Fonds
read, then path, 1% hrs. ; Char-a-
bane, 10 frs. there and back.

To the Plerre-i-bet or toad
stone (1 hr.), a curious mass of
granite 62 by 48 ft.. As the
formation of the Jura is entirely
limestene, this rock must have
been brought down from some
distant range by a glacier.

To the Gorge de Seyon (1hr.)
on the Vallengin road, a narrow
cleft in the rock through which
the Seyon issues from the Val de
Ruz.

To the Cremx ‘de Vent (Train
to Nelralgue, } hr., then walk 2

.), a curieus basin in the
mountains, shaped like a horse-
shoe, 4800 ft. above the sea
level, 600 ft. deep, and 3 miles
round. This basin when the
weather is changing becomes
filled with surging masses of
vapour, presenting an extraor-
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dinary appearance. Return te
Neuchatel by descending on the
other side to S! Aubin, thence by
rail (4 hr.)

To the Téte de Rang (4700

Route T.—NEUCHATEL TO LAUSANNE.

Geneveys, thence walk 1} hr.
Magnificent view of the Jura.
To the Gorge de 1a Reuse, 2
wild and romantic glen, well
worth a visit. Train 20 min. to

ft. Inn), rail 1} hr. to Hauts- Boudry (see page 14).
Roure VIL

NEUCHATEL TO LAUSANNE AND GENEVA
BY YVERDON.

(a) Rallway to Lausanne, 50 m.in 2 &.; 8 fes., 5.80 c., 4.20 c.
85m., in 8 to 3} A.; 18.10 c.; 9.40 c.; 6.50 c.

To Geneva
The journey can be plea-

santly varied by taking the steamer on the Lake of Geneva for Geneva at
Ouchy or Morges. See Route 1. Best views on the left.

(b) Steamer on Lake Neuchatel to Estavayer,1} k.; 2 fcs. and thence sail
on the east side of the Lake to Yverdon. For steamer route, see page 15.

a. Leaving Neuchatel (see page
13), we cross the ravine of
Serrieres over a lofty viaduct,
and at Adweernier, the junctien
of the Pontarlier line, we quit
the lake and reach Colombier (5
m., Maison de Ville), once the
residence of the Scotch Marshall
Keith, the general and friend of
Frederick the Great, and gover-
nor of Neuchatel. From Bondry,
the birthplace of DMarat, the
CREUX DE VENT can be ascended
in 3 hrs. (see pages 13 and 15).

[From Boudry we also visit the
Gorges de 1a Reuse, in 2 hrs. there
and return. Crossing the viaduct, we
take a path to the left at the end of
the village of Trois-Rods, whieh brings
us in } hr, to the entrance. A rocky
path leads up the wild and piec-
turesque gorge, the overhanging rocks
frequently meeting over our heads.
Through it the river Reuse rushes
in a series of beantiful cascades. On
the left is the Chalet aux Clées (fee
for use of path). Passing a huge
cavern on the right, we see above us
the Pontarlier raliway. Tourists wish-
ing to return to Neuchatel can ascend
to Champ du Moulin Station in % hr.,
(Hotel du Sentier des Gorges), whence
trains run several times daily.]

At Bevaix (9 m.) the line re-
turns to the shore of the lake.
At Concise (14 m.) immense
quantities of remains of the lake
dwellings have been found. At

Grandson (21 m., Louwis &' Or),
the railway passes through the
grounds of the ancient Chateaun
of the barons of Grandson. The
chateau contains a small museum
of antiquities and natural his-
tory. Thereis a fine view from
the terrace. The old church,
formerly a Benedictine abbey,
dates from the 10th century.
Grandsen, in 1476, was besieged
by Charles the Bold. After he
had treacherously induced the
starving inhabitantste surrender,
under premise of their lives bein,
spared, he hung and drowne:
them by hundreds. Infuriated
by his cruelty, the Swiss army,
though only numbering 20,
against 50,000 Burgundians,
attacked him between Concise
and Ceurcelles, and utterly routed
him, He was compelled to fl
for his life to the mountains wit
only five followers. The Swiss
captured an enormous booty, in-
cluding 600 standards and 121
cannon, It was said that gold
and jewels were dealt out after
the battle by handfuls. Many
of the relics captured here are in
the museum at Berne and Soleure
(pp. 5-8).

Yverden (24 m., HOTEL DE
LONDRES) is prettily situated at
the foot of the lake, at the influx
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of the Thitle. In the ancient
chateau, erected by Conrad of
Zahringen in 1135, Pestalozzi
presided over his celebrated
school. 1t now contains a small
museum of Roman and Celtic
antiquities.

At Cossomay (38 m.) the lino
joins the route from Pontarlier.
For remainder of route to Lau-
sanne and Geneva see Route IX.
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). Route by steamier to Esti-
vayer.  Leaving Neuchatel,
the steamer crosses the lake to
Estavayer (Maison de Ville),
with its interesting old castle of
Chilnaux. From Estavayer the
railway runs into Yverdon (see
above), or connection can be
made with Payerne, and thence
to Lausanne (see p. 92.)

"Route VIIL

PONTARLIER TO NEUCHATEL THROUGH
THE VAL DE TRAVERS.

Railway, 33 m., in 2 to 23 A.; Fares—6.10, 4.70,3.55. Best views on the right.

Pontarlier is on the direct route from Paris to Western Switzerland.

Route

Pontarlier (de la Poste : Na-
tional) is a small town in France
near the Swiss frontier. Luggage
is examined here. Leaving Pon-
tarlier the line crosses the
Doubs, after which we enter the
defile of La Cluse, a natural gate-
way, strongly fortified, com-
manding the passage between
France and Switzerland. To the
right on the summit of the pre-
cipice is the ancient FORT DE
Joux, which was blown up with
dynamite in 1877. Above it, on
the other side, a new fort has
been built. We now reach the
frontier., At Verriéres, the first
Swiss town, the army of Gen.
Bourbaki, numbering 5000 men,
in January 1881, worn out with
cold and hunger, crossed the
frontier and sarrendered to the
Swiss.

Leaving Verriéres we soon
begin to descend into the Wal
de Travers, where the scenery
becomesexceedingly picturesque.
The first portion of the descent
is through the narrow gorge of
La Chazne, so called from a chain
having been stretched across it

Sce

by the Swissto barthe entranceof
the artillery of Charles the Bold
during the wars with Burgundy.
At St Sulpice the river Reuse
rises out of the ground. Its
source is supposed to be Lake
Tallidres, 5 m. distant. Fleurier
(Hot. Couronne) has large watch
factories. ,

Moticrs - Travers (Hot. de
la Ville) was the residence of
Roussean after his expulsion from
Yverdon by the Swiss Govern-
ment. He wrote his celebrated
¢ Lettres de Montagne” here.
A pleasant excursion is to the
Ravine of Raisse (13 h.), a wild
gorge in which are a number of
cascades. Behind the townis a
cavern 3% m. in length. At its
entrance 18 a pretty waterfall.

From Nioralgue we can ascend
theCrenxdn Ventin2hrs.(p.13),
descending on the other side to
Boudry or St Aubin. Passin,
through four tunnels, beautifu
views of the Lake of Neuchatel
and the Alps now open up before
us as we descend to Neuehatel
(p- 13).
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Route 10.—BALE TO SCHAFFHAUSEN.

Rovute IX.
PONTARLIER TO LAUSANNE AND GENEVA.

Railway, express from Paris to Geneva via Pontarlier, 363 m.,in 15} A.;
Fares—70.35 c., 52.30 c. Pontarlier to Lausanne, 45 m,, in 2§ to 3 . ; Fares

—8.50 ¢c., 5.88 c., 4.20 c.

Leaving Pentarlier the Lau-
sanne line quits the Neuchatel
line near the Fort de Joux, in
the defile of La Cluse (p. 15).
At Jougne is the French (gustom
House.
a tunnel we have fine views of
the valley and descend rapidly
to Vallorbes (Hot. de Géneve, at
the station ; de Ville in the town),
where is the Swiss Custom House.
The train backs out of the sta-
tion, and crosses the Orbe over a
fine iren bridge.” At Romain-
motier (fan, Courronne), is one of

After passing through -

the mest ancient churches in
Switzerland. It was built in 753.

Orbe (Inn, Deuxr Poissons) was
the Roman Urlignenum, and
afterwards the capital of Little
Burgundy. Its ancient chatean
was occupied as a royal residenco
by the kings of Burgundy.

At Cossonay Junction (flot.
d’ Angleterre) the line comes in
from Yverdon and Neuchatel

Launsanne (p. 92). For sta-
tions between Lausanne and
Geneva (see Route L.). Geneva
(p. 87).

RouTteE X.
BALE TO SCHAFFHAUSEN AND CONSTANCE.

Railway to Schaffhausen, 60 m.; Fares in frs., 9.50, 6.40, 6.15. To Constance,
91 m. Fares in frs., 1450, 9.65, 6.25. Tourists for the FALLS oF THE
REINE should alight at NEURAUSEN, opposite the Falls.

Steamers on the Rhine from Schaffhausen to Constance, see p. 18.

We leave Bale from the Baden
Station, passing from Switzerland
into Baden and following the
course of the Rhine through a
fertile country.

Bei Rheinfelden (93) is op-
posite Rheinfelden (see p. 23).

Siiekingen (292 m., Lwe) has
an ancient Abbey with two
towers, now a church.

AtXLaufenburg (Hotel Soolbad)
the river is cenfined in a
narrow rocky channel only a
few yards acress. The *last
Lord Montague and his tutor
were drewned here in 1793
while attempting to descend the

rapids in a boat. A strange
coincidence was that his family
seat of Cowdray Park was burnt
on the same day, and stranger
still, that a prephecy existed in
the family for 300 years, that
the line of the Montagues would
end by water and their castle by
fire at the same time. Their
remains rest in the cemetery near
by. Laufenburg has a most
picturesque appearance, with its
old watch towers, fine church,
and ancient chateau of Haps-
burg.
Waldshut (35 m., Hot.
Schatzli at the Station ; Rebstock
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in the town). A branch line
runs to Turgi, Baden, and Zurich
(p. 25). , The town is situated
high above the river.

At Ncuhausen (58} m.) we
alight for the Falls of the Rhine.
Travellers from Switzerland
alight at Dachsen (see p. 27.)

Hotels, SCHWEIZERHOF, mag-
nificent establishment in beauti-
ful grounds, very comfortable
and reasonable prices. New Eng,
Ch. in the Hotel grounds. Finest
view of the Falls. BELLEVUE,
opposite the Station, cemfort-
able, view of the Falls, Hotel
Rheinfall in the village.)

The Falls of the Rhine, the
largest in Europe, are about
850 ft. wide and from 45 to 60
ft. in height. The cataract is
divided by four limestone rocks,
the greatest body of water fall-
ing towards the left bank. At
the foot of the falls is a magni-
ficent basin kept in constant
agitation by the rush of the
waters, About 100,000 galls. of
water pass over the Falls every
second. In June and July they
are much swollen by the melting
of the snows, but in winter and
early spring they often run
very low, as in 1848 and 1858,
when they were crossed by the
natives leaping from rock te
rock. Itisa curious fact that the
first mention in history of the
Falls is found in the life of
Bishop Conrad of Constance,
written in 960, and it is there-
fore supposed they did not exist
long before that period. Some
coins, found in a cave near by,
show that the spot had been
visited by the Romans, and had
the Falls then existed, some allu-
sion to them would almost surely
have been made by some of the
Latin authors. The Falls are
illuminated nightly in summer.

The best way to visit the Falls
is by taking the footpath fromthe
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tion, which skirts the right bank
of the river, and crossing the rail-
way bridge, ascend to the Schloss
Laufen. The distance is about
4 m. The Schless Laufem is
a fine ‘old medieval castle,
erected in 1527. It is now a
hotel and restaurant, both excel-
lent. (Adm. to Castle and Falls
1 fr.) From the Castle we de-
scend to the Kinzle and Fischetz,
two platforms built over the brink
of the Falls, and return by a
path along the river side to the
ferry (50 c., ret. ticket 80 c.), by
which we cross to Chateau Worth,
a small restaurant, and then
ascend the hill to the Schweizer-
hof. A magnificent view of the
Falls is had by taking a boat (pas-
sage perfectly safe) to the centre
rock, on which is a pavilion (1-2
pers. 3 frs., each add. pers. 1 fr.).
The visit to the Falls by the Ferry
and back can be made in 1 h.,
or return by the bridge 1} hrs.

Schaffhausen (60 m., pop. 11,800.
Hor. RHEIN and restaurant at the
Station. Post in the town.)

Warriages, 60 c. the course, or % A.
80 ¢., 3 A 1 fr. For the Falls, 2 m.
Tothe ChateauWorth, 4frs., or Chateau
Laufen, 5 frs. An omnibus runs to
the Falls from the Hot. Couronne,
and several trains run daily in 7 min.

Its ancient wall, turreted
gateways, curious houses with
their oriel windows and carved
and frescoed fagades, give
Schaffhausen an exceedingly
picturesque appearance.

Thee%lATHEDRAL, formerly an
Abbey, erected between 1052-
1100, i1s a Romanesque basilica.
The massive interior has been
greatly spoiled by an attempted
restoration. On an old bell cast
in 1486 is an inscription: Vives
voco, mortuos plango, fulgura
Srango (I call the living, I meurn
the dead, I break the thunder),
alluding to the old practice of
ringing the church bells during

Schweizerhof or the railway sta-« a thunder storm. This bell sug-

B

«
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gested Bchiller’s beautiful ¢‘ Song
of the bell.” Over the- town
rises the fortress of Munoth,
built 1564-90. Tts walls are 16
to 18 ft. thick. The tower which
commands a fine view is ascended
by an inclined spiral plane
;ns)tead of & staircase (adm. 1
%
The early Gothic JOHANN'S
KIRCHE, built in 1121, is one of
the largest churches in Switzer-
land. On the walls are some
ancient frescoes, Concerts are
given on the fine organ, Mon.,
Thur., and Saturday evenings,
ISy

In the IMTHURNEUM, a build-
ing presented to the town by
Herr Imthurn, a Londen banker,
and a native of Schaffhausen, are
a Theatre and Concert rooms.
The TowN LIBRARY contains a
collection of the MSS. of the
Swiss historian Jobann von
Miiller, and a Museum of anti-
quities and natural history.

The large WATERWORKS on
the river supply the factories in
the town with 900 horse power
by means of turbine wheels and
iron cables.

For RAILWAY to Winterthur
and Zurich see Route Xv.

Route 10.—BALE TO SCHAFFIAUSEN.

For route to Constance by
steamer see below.

At Thayiugen (66 m.) the line
enters Baden.

Singen (71 m.) (Inn Krone) is
the junction of the Black Forest
line for Triburg and Offenburg.
Twom. to the N. W, of the Station
is the fortress of HMohentwiel,
situated high up on an isolated
rock (2244 ft.). In the 30 Years
War, under the brave Wurtem-
burg general Wiederhold, it suc-
cessfully sustained five sieges by
theBavarians. AtRadolfzell(77
m., Inn Schiff) a poor town wit.
a fine Gothic church, we reach
the ZELLER or UNTER SEE, an
arm of Lake Constance.

Opposite Reickenau, farther on,
is the Esland of Relchenau, 3
m. long, and connected with the
shore by an embankment. In
the parish church of Mittelzell,
erected in 806, repose the bones
of Charles the Fat, great grand-
son of Charlemagne. The sacristy
contains a few relics. On the
island are also the ruins of the old
castle of Schapfeln. Crossing
the Rhine over a fine iron bridge
we arrive at Cemstance (sece
below).

SCHAFFHAUSEN TO CONSTANCE BY STEAMER,

Omni-

Pier above the bridge.
Fares,

bus from Station, 50 c.
3 frs., 1.95 ¢,

Time up the river, 4 hrs. ;
down, 3 hrs,

Leaving Schaffhausen we pass
on the L. the ancient convents
of Paradies and Catherinenthal.
At Diessenhofen the river is
spanned bi a woeden bridge.
The French army crossed here
before the battle of Hohenlinden,
Stein (11 m. ) is connected with its
superb Burg on the Winterthur
Railway, by anether weoden

bridge (see Route xXvL). The
castle of Hokenklingen on a rocky
height commands a fine view.
The Rathhaus, a curious old
structure, has a small museum of
antiquities. The .Abbey of St
Gleorge is also a fine old building.
Above the island of St Othmar the
river expands into the Zeller or
Unter See, and we pass the
castles of Freudenfels, R., and
Oberstaad and the Abhey of
Oehningen, L., At Wangen,L, is
the castle of Marbach, new a
hydropathic establishment. At

. -
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Berlingen (I/un Krone) the
Unter-Zee attains its greatest
width. To the right is the
Chateau of Lngensberg, built by
Beauharnais, vice-king of Italy.
On a wooded hill, farther on, is
the Chateau of Arenaburg, once
the residence of Queen Hortense
and the late Emp. Napeleon III.
It now belongs to the ex-Empress
Eugenie. Opposite is the Island
of Reichenau (see above).

We now enter the narrow
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channel of the Rhine connecting
the Unter See with Lake Con-
stance. On the R. is Gottlie-
ben (Hot., Krone), with itsancient
castle, built in 1250 by the bis-
hops of Censtance. Here John
Huss and Jerome of Prague
were confined by order of the
Emp. Sigismundand the infamous
Pope John XXIIL, who was
afterwards himself imprisoned in
the same dungeon by the Council
of Constance.

CONSTANCE AND THE LAKE OF CONSTANCE.

Hotels.

INSEL HOTEL, formerly a large Dominican monastery, delightfully

situated on a small island. CONSTANZERHOF, under the same excellent

management, on N. bank of the lake, amid beantiful grounds.

Hecht, Badischer Hof.

Hotel

Carriages, } hr., 60 pf.; 1 hr., 2 marks. Fine Baths on the lake.

THrATRE and CONCERTS.

Steamers ply on the lake in all directions.

restaurants on board,

Constance (pop. 12,000), from
the Reman Constantii, was
founded before the birth of
Christ. The present town and
many of the buildings date from
the 15th centy., when it was a
free town. From 1559 to 1805 it
was subject to the House of Haps-
burg. Since that time it has
belonged to Baden. It formerly
contained 40,000 inhabitants,
though at the time it was trans-
ferred to Badenit had only 5000.
Of late years it has begun again
to regain some of its former

&!;osperity. Its Bishopric, num-
ring a long line of 87 bishops,
was founded in the 7th centy.,

and suppressed in 1827, The
Gothic Cathedral (1) was first
erected on the site of a Scottish
convent. It fell down in 1052,
and was then partially rebuilt in
romanesque style by Bishop
Romauld. The remainder of the
present building was erected be-
tween the 13thand 16th centuries.
The tower was built by Hubsch
iu 1850-7. The spire commands

Consult local tlme tables. Good

a fine view of the lake. On the
massive oak doors of the chief
E?rtal are religfs of our Lord's

asston, carved in 1470 by
Simon Baider. The nave, dating
from the 13th centy., is sup-
ported by sixteen columns, each
of a single block of stone. A few
yardsfrom the principal entrance,
a stone slab marks the place
where Jokn Huss received his
sentence of burning at the stake,
from the Council. The portion
of the stone on which he is said
to have stood is always dry, while
the remainder is quite damp.
The curiously carved choir stalls
belong to the 15th centy. In
the chapel on the E. side is a
sculpture of the Holy Sepulchre.
The sacristy contains the church
treasure and some fine missals,
In front of the high altar, under
a brass tablet, lie the bones of
Robt. Hallam, Bishop of Salis-
bury, president of tEe English
deputation to the Council of
Constance.

In the WESSENBERG HaAUS (2)



20

is a fine library and collection of
pictures left to the town by Herr
Wessenberg. The Gothic CHURCH
OF ST STEPHEN (3) contains some
carvings in wood and stone. In
the market-place is a statue of
¢ Victory ” by Baur, commemor-
ating the part taken by the men
of Constance in the Franco-Ger-
man War. Along the Hussen-
strasse is the lodging where
John Huss was arrested.

tablet with a portrait of the
martyr marks the house. The
Stadt Kanzlel (4), or Town Hall,
has a Dbeautiful renaissance
facade with frescoes of scenes
from the history of Constance,
The Rosgarten Museum (5) con-
tains a fine collection of remains
from the lake dwellings, a natural
liistory collection, and collection of
antiquities of Coustance, among
them the cart in which Huss was
drawn to his execution. In
the Kaufhaus (6), a curious old
building near the lake, erected
in 1378, is the Council Hall in
which the Great Council deposed
Pope John XXIII. and elected
Martin V. On the walls are
modern frescoes of the history
of Constance. Farther on is the
large Dominican Monastery (7),

toute 11.—CONSTANCE TO BREGENZ.

erected in the 13th centy., now
the Insel Hotel (see above). John
Huss was a prisoner here for four
months before his execution.
The cloisters and chapel (used as
the dining-room) are well worth
seeing.

A pleasant excursion from
Constance (43 m., steamer three
times daily ; carriage, 8 marks)
is to the Island of Maimawu, in
the Ueberlinger See. The island
is connected with the mainland
by a long iron bridge. This
beautiful island originally be-
longed to the Abbey of Reich-
enau (p. 18), and then came into
possession of the Knights of the
Teutonic Order. It now belongs
to the Grand Duke of Baden.
The fine chatean, built in 1746,
has frequently been visited by
the Emperor of Germany.

From the ALLMANNSHOHE, %
hr., on the Mainau road, is a fine
view of the town and lake. Pen-
sion and restaurant.

To the ‘“JakoB,” } hr., fine
view. Pension and restaurant
in beautiful pine woods.

A pretty road to the W, leads
past Kreuzlingen to the Rund-
berg or Tabor; fine view (% hr.).

Roure XI.

CONSTANCE TO FRIEDRICHSHAVEN, ROR-
SCHACH, AND BREGENZ.

LAKE OF CONSTANCE.

Steamers, several times daily, see local time tables at the hotels. Fair

restaurants on board the steamers.

Travellers liable to sea sickness

should not venture on the lake in blowy weather.
Railway to Rorschach, 21 m., in 13-2 hrs. Fares, 4.20 c., 3 frs.; 2.15 c.
From Rorschach to Bregenz by St Margarethen in 1 hr., see page 22.

The Lake of Constance, fed

by the waters of the Rhine, is

40 m. long by 73 wide. The
scenery on its banks is pleasing

and peaceful, but tame in com-
ison with the other Swiss lakes.
e south-western shore is Swiss
territory, the northern German,
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and the south-eastern end Aus-
trian.

Leaving Constance the steamer
crosses to Friedrichshaven in 1}
hrs., or vie Meersburg in 2 hrs.

Fricdrichshaven {Konig Von
Wurtemburg, Krone) is the ter-
minus of the Stuttgart railway.
The landing place is a mile from
the railway station, but the
trains run down to the quay to
meet the steamers. The RovaL
CASTLE of the king of Wirtem-
burg (formerly the ancient con-
vent of Shofen) contains a collec-
tion of pictures, and is surrounded
by charming gardens. In the
absence of the royal family the
castle and gardens are shown to
visitors,. The KURSAAL is plea-
santly situated on the lake. In
the old Bellevue Hotel are the
historical collections of the Boden-
see- Verein.

The steamer now crosses the
lake again to Romanshorn (Hot.
Bodan, Rest. at the Railway), the
station for the line to Zurich
(see Route XVIIL ).

Rorschaeh (SEEHOF on the
lake, Anker, Ilirsch, Griner Baum
on the lake.) A curious and
picturesque old town. On the
heights ‘above is the ancient
ABBEY OF MARIENBURG (now a
school), built in 1513, The
Gothic cloisters and vaulted
refectory are worth a visit. Fine
view from the Terrace. Higher
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up is the Castle of St Anna, fine
view. The walk may be ex-
tended to the summit of the hill
(the Rossbukl, 1} hrs. from
Rorschach), which commands a
panorama of the whole of the lake.

For railway to St Gall and
Ziirich see Route XIX.

The steamer now crosses to
Lindan  (BAYRISCHER  HOF,
Hotel Reutmann, on the lake), the
terminus for the railway to
BMunich and Augsburg. -

The town lies on an island in
the lake, connected with the
mainland by a long wooden
bridge and a railway embank-
ment. Near the bridge are the
ruinsof anancienttower, supposed
to'have been built by the Romans.
On the quay is a monument to
Maximilian II. of Bavaria. There
arc pleasant walks in the Linden
Hof. gardens, commanding beauti-
ful views of the lake and moun-
tains,

From Lindau the steamer pro-
ceeds to Bregenz (OESTERREICH
How, Hot. Montford, Hotel Adler).
The upper portion of the town
is built on the site of a Roman
camp. The Scklossberg (1945 ft., %
hr.) commands a fine view of the
lakeand the Alps of Appenzell and
Glirus, The Pfiander (3465 ft.,
path 1} hrs., carriage road 2 hrs.)
commands a still more extensive
panorama. There is a good
HOTEL on the summit.

Roure XII.
RORSCHACH TO COIRE.

Railway, 57 m., In 3-3} hrs,

Leaving Rorschach the line
skirts the lake, passing on the R.
the chateau of Wartegg belong-
ing to the ex-Duchess of Parma,
the ruins of the fortress of

Fares—9.75 c., 6.85 ., 4.90 ¢,

Wanrtensee, and the chateau of
Weinburg, the residence of Prince
Hohenzollern - Sigmarinen, and
reaches the river Rhine at Rhei-
neck (6 m., Hecht). Diligence
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to Heiden, see p. 22. On the
heights above is the Nurkaus
Walzenhausen. AtStMargarethen
(9 m.) a branch line runs to
Bregenz, see page 21.

We now ascend the fertile
valley of the Rhine to Altstiidten
(16 m., pop. 7900, Drei Konige).
To the R. we catch a glimpse
of the Sentis (8215 ft.), and be-
fore us we see the peaks of
Sceseplana (9718 ft.) and Falknis
(84201t.). Oberried(193m.), onthe
R. are the ruins of the castle
of Blatten. SENNWALD (27 m.).
In the church are the remains of
one of the Barons of Hohen Sax,
the former owners of the valley,
who was murdered by his nephew
in the 16th cent. The bedy,
dried like a mummy, is shown in

Route 18.—RORSCHACH TO HEIDEN.

a coffin with a glass lid. This
crime was supposed to have called
down on the family the curse of
the Almighty. The whole of
their immense possessions were
sold a few years later to the
canton of Zirich, and the race
soon after became extinct.
Buchs (31 m., Inn at the Station,
Sonne in the town) is the junction
for the new line to Innsbruck by
the Arlberg, and also the line
from Bregentz. Above the vil-
lage is the Castle of Werdenberg.
Above Seneln (Inn Traube) 18
the ruined castle of Wartau.
From TRUBBACH (39 m.) the pass
of Luzienstetg leads to Ragatz
(see page 34).

Sargans (42 m.). For re-
mainder of route, sce p. 32.

Rovute XIII.

RORSCHACH TO HEIDEN, APPENZELL, AND
WEISSBAD.

Ra.ilwa.y 3} m, to Heiden, on the rack and pinion system,in § hr, Fare—

3 frs., 1 50 ¢. Descent, 2 frs,, 1 fr,

Helden (2465 ft., pop. 3400
FREIHOF, SCHWEIZERHOF, Son-
nenkugel, Lowe, Krone), is a
delightfully situated summer
resort, and much frequented by
Swiss and Germans for the whey
cure. There is a good Kursaal,
with reading, conversation, con-
cert, and card rooms ; Trinkhalle,
&c.  Concerts daily in the Musik
Pavillon. From the Kurgarten
a few steps lead to a plateau
commanding a charming pano-
rama of Lake Constance and the
surrounding country. There is
also a fine view from the Churck
Tower, in which there is a tele-
scope. There are numecrous de-
lightful short excursions in every
direction from the village, which
are fully described in a local

Best views on the left.
g'mde by H. Szadrowzky, price

From Heiden, in 2} hrs., we
walk over the Kaien, 3668 ft.,
having a fine view of Lake Con.
stance, to Trogen (Kroue, Hirsch),
the Capltal of the canton Appen-
zell-auser-Roden. From Trogen
a path leads in 2 hrs. over the
Giibris (4101 ft.) to Gais (Hor.
KROXE, HoT. OcHs, Hot. Hrsch),
an exceedingly pretty village,
and a much frequented whey cure
resort. (Gais can also be reached
by carriage road from Torgen
(5 m.) A chhgence runs dail,
to ST GALLEN in 1-hr 29),
and to Altstidten in 1i hr (see
above). From Gais a carriage
road 3 m. leads through pasture
land to
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Appenzeli  (Hor. HECHT),
another whey cure resort, and
the capital of the Canton Appen-
zell-Intere-Rhoden.

Two miles from Appenzell is
‘Welssbad (KURHAUSWEISSBAD),
also a health resort, and a de-
lightful centre for excursions.

The HERMITAGE OF WILD-
KIRCHLI (4918 ft.), commanding
a lovely view, is reached in 1% hrs.
Guide, 4 frs., unnecessary. The
chapel, which was founded in
1656, and dedicated to St Michael,
is situated in a grotto. From
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the chapel a passage leads through
the rock to the EBENALP, from
which we have an entirely
different view. The summit of
the Alp, 5250 ft., is reached in
25 min. Small Jun.

The Sentis (8215 ft.), the
highest peak in the canton, can
be ascended in 6 hrs. Guide de-
sirable, 10 frs. Very extensive
and beautiful panorama from the
summit.

A diligence runs three times
daily from APPENZELL to ST
GALLEN (see p. 29) in 35 hrs.

RoutE XIV.
BALE TO ZURICH VIA BRUGG.

Railway from Ceatral Station in 2} to 3} 2#s.; Fares—9.40, 6.60,4.75 c. Best

views on the left,

Tho line follows Route I. as
as far as Pratteln (5 m.), and then
crosses the Ergloz to Kaiser
Augst, the Roman Awugusta Rau-
vacorum (p. 4).

Ricinfelden (10§ m., Hor.
DES SALINES ; HoT. DIETSCHY.
On the Baden side of the river,
HortEL BELLEVUE?, formerly an
outpost of the Holy Empire, and
strongly fortified with walls and
gates. A curious covered bridge
crosses the Rhine, which here
dashes furiously over the rocks.
Near the tewn are large salt
works,

At Stein (18} m ) a covered
bridge crosses the river to Sickin-

en %see p. 16). Beyond Efingen
?‘28} m.) the line passes under the
Bitzberg through a tunnel, and
ttlescen s the valley of the Aare
0

Brugg (36 m., Hot. : Rossl,
Rothes Haus), near the conflux of
the Aare, Reuss, and Limmat, is
a picturesque old town, once be-
longing to Rudolph of l{apsburg.

The Schwartze Thurm is an old
Roman tower, restored in the
15th centy. Brugg was the
birthplace of Zimmerman, author
of the celebrated work on Soli-
tude. He was physician to
Frederick the Great.

One m. E. of Bruggis theancient
Abbey of Kinigsfelden, builtin
1310 by Elizabeth, Empress of
Austria, and Agnes, Queen of
Hungary (who took the veil, and

assed fifty years of her life

ere), on the spot where their
husband and father, Albert of
Austria, was assassinated by his
nephew John of Swabia and
three conspirators. The murder
took place in sight of the Im-
perial Castle, only a fragment of
which now remains (p. 3
Though only one of the mur-
derers, Wart, suffered for his
crime, a terrible vengeanco over-
took their unfortunate families
and friends. No less than 1000
innocent victims were put to
death, and the abbey was en-
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dowed with their confiscated
property. Jt was suppressed in
152§. Only a portion of the
original building remains, which
is now used as an hespital and
lunatic asylum. The dwelling
of Queen Agnes contains a small
collection of antiquities. In the
windows of the ckapel is some
tine stained glass, and on the
walls are faded portraits of
the Austrian knights who fell at
Sempach.  (p. 41). The high
altar stands over th spot of the
assassination.

‘We now cross the Reuss near
its junction with the Aare. On
the promentory between the two
rivers once stood the Roman
town VINDONISSA, their most im-
portant settlement in Helvetia.
The' only remains of the town
are traces of an amphitheatre.
Turgt (38 m.) is the junction of
the line from Waldshut (sce
Route XVIL).

Baden (42 m., GRAND
HOTEL, a large -establishment
with baths, pleasantly situated
on the river; HOTEL BAR, new
and comfortable ; HOTEL VESE-
NAHOF, Schweizerhof, Hot. Schiff,
at the baths; in the town, Hot.
Wage) is celebrated for its hot
mineralsprings (116°-122° Fahr.),
which are very efficacious for
cases of gout, rheumatism, and
cutaneous diseases. The baths
were well known to the Romans,
and were visited by the Em-
perors Titus and Vespasian, In
the middle ages it was also one
of the most crowded health re-
sorts in Europe. The principal

bath establishment is the large
Grand Hotel (see above) with
100 baths. On the right bank
of the river are the Ennet-Baden,
frequented by middle class Swiss
and Germans. Thereis alsoafine
establishment where the sick poor
of all nations are received for a
small weekly sum, which includes
board, baths, and excellent medi-
cal advice. In the Bahnhof-
strasse is a fine KURSAAL, sur-
rounded by pleasant gardens, in
whichare several Roman remains,
Restaurant, good music daily.
The ancient ruined Castle of
STEIN, which overlooks the town
and commands a fine view, was
formerly a residence of the Haps-
burg family. In it the disastrous
campaign against the Swiss, which
ended in the battles of Mor-
garten (p. 39) and Sempach

. 41) was planned. It was
taken and burnt by the Swiss in
1415. There are many delight-
ful excursions to be made in the
neighbourhood.

At Wettingen (43 m.), on the
river side, are the large build-
ings of an ancient Cistercian
Abbey, now a seminary. In the
church,built1227, isasarcophagus
in which the murdered remains
of the Emp. Albert (see above)
reposed for fourteen months pre-
vious to their removal to Spires.

Near Dietikon (49 m.) the
French army under Massena
crossed the Limmat, 24th Sept.
1799, before the battle of Zurich.
As we approach Zurich we seo
on the R. the long ridge of the
Uetliberg, with the large hotel on
its summit.

ZURICH.

Railway Stations, Central Station (Restaurant), 3 m. from the lake, Enge
Station, on the W.bank of the lake, for railway along the lake shore.
Selnau Station, for rail up the Uetliberg.

Omnibuses te the hotels from Central Station.

Tramways from Central

Station to Enge Station, and along the Limmatqual and Sonnenquai to

the Riesbach and Aussersikl, See plan.

=N






A

INDEX.

1. Post Office, B 3,
2. Bourse, A 4.
3. Hotel Baurau Lac,A

4

4 S tadt‘ﬁrten, Ag

5 Stadthaus, A 4.

6. Bauschanzli, A 4.

7. Kaufhaus, B 4.

8. Frau Munster, B 4.
9 St. Peter's Kirche,

4
10. Rathhaus, C 4
xx, Museum, C 4.
12, Wasserkirche, B 4.
53. Gréssmunster, B 45
x4. Tonhalle, A 5.
15. Hohe Promenade,B6.
6. Cantonal Schools,C 6.
17 (}:zarsl‘tonal Hospital, D-

18. Polytechnic, D s
x9. Kunster Giitlf, D 5.
20, Promenade Platz,
E-E 3
2x. Arsenal, D 1.
22, (;.;ewerbe Museum,
2.

23. Hotel Bellevue, A 4.
24, Hotel National, D 3.
24. Schweizerhof, C 4.
25. Hotel Bauer, B 4.




P —————

T
TOTCAL L . ag_n.‘:, F
N AROMENADE

LA dePiaTz S o U

e, * NN
Rl \ Q
d
L ” QS

Q0 3
ol T

W
N <S> Sty
ERENNE st i

AN
BN R

IR
WA N
2 X
T &
TR I \
o NG T
{re e TR i
SN

N

&
P
S
a

W

®

ZURICH




A ff

itizéd

}Jy Microf of

if s Dig

a

S e -

-

Univ Cali



Route 14.—BALE TO ZURICH VIA BRUGG. 25

Carriages. i hr., 1.2 pers.,80 ¢, 3-4 pers.,1.20 ¢.; # hr., 1.50 . and 2.20 ¢. ;
1 hr.,, 2,50 c. and 3.60 ¢c. Box,20c. 10 p.m. to 6 a.m., double fares.

Porters (Red caps). Errand in the town, 30 c.; in the suburhs, 40 ¢.; with
50 Ibs. of baggage, 20 e. extra.

Hotels. Hotel BAUR AU LAC (not to be confounded with the Hotel Bauer),
very fine Hotel, beautifully sitnated on the lake, with pleasant gardens.
BELLEVUE, near the new bridge, also on the lake, large and moderately com-
fortable. HoTEL BAUR, on the Bahnhof Strasse, first class, comfortable.
NaTIONAL, first class, comfortable. VicToria, comfortable; these two
are both opposite the station. SCHWERT, near the tower bridge. Good
second class. Zuricherhof, Storch, St Gotthard, Schweizerhof, Limmathof,
Hecht. Goob PENS10Ns, Cygne, at Seefeld, Neptun, Weisses Kreutz. At
Hottingen, Pension d’Angleterre. Also on the Uetliberg (see below).
On the Zurichberg, Pension Beau Sejour, comfortable, fine view.

Restaurants and Cafes. Café National, Café Victoria, opposite the
station, Restaurant and Café Meise, near the Munster Briicke. Tonhalle,
on the lake. Cake and ices at Spriinglts, cor. Bahnhef Strasse, and
Parade-Platz, also excellent chocolate,

Amusements. Theatre. Circus, Races several times a year. Regatia on
the lake In antumn, Concerts every evening, 60 c., at the Tonhalle, on the
lake (see below). Zur Platte, Summer Theatre, Flora Theatre, and
winter garden. Free Concerts, Sundays, at 11 a.m,, in the Stadtgarten.
Organ Concerts in the Grossmiinster and Peterskirche. 1

Baths., Warm and vapour baths at Stockers in the Mihlgarten. Swimming
baths on the lake near the Stadtgarten.

Steamers. Sce Route xx.

Rowing Boats. 1-2 pers,, 50 ¢. per hr.; each add. pers,, 20¢. Boatmen, G0 c.

hr.

per hr.
Post and Telegraph Office in the Bahnhof Strasse. -
Eng. Ch. Ser. in the Church of St Anne.

Ziirich (pop. 25,000), the Bahnhoff Strasse, we pass en

capital of the canten and the
ancient Roman Turicum, is beauti-
fully situated at the nerth end
of Lake Ziirich. Through its
centre runs the Limmat, crossed
by seven bridges, dividing the
toewninto the Grosse Stadt, W.,and
Kleine Stadt, E. The Grosse Stadt
is again divided from the suburbs
by the Sitkl. Zurich is the chief
manufacturing town in Switzer-
land, and next to Lyons the most
impertant centre of silk manu-
facture in Europe. It has a
university and other important
educational establishments. Fine
views of the town are had from
the Hohe Promenade and the
Terrace of the Polytechnicum
(sce below),

In 1799 the French under
Massena reuted the Russians
under Korsakoff, and drove them
back to the Rhine with a loss of
13,000 men.

Starting from the Central
Station and passing dewn the

the R. the Post OFFICE (1),
and near the lake the fine
new BOURSE (2). To the R.
of the Bourse is the Hofel Baur
au Lac (3), and to the L., bor-
dering on the lake, the STADT-
GARTEN (4). Turning up the
Stadthaus quai (5), we see the
BAUSCHANZLI (6), a water-bastion
constructed in 1660. It is now
shaded with trees, and affords a
pleasant resting place. Farther
on is the old KAUFHAUS (7) or
public warehouse, with its curi-
ous overhanging roof, and the
FRAU MUNSTER (8), built in the
13th century.  Crossing the
Miinster Platz we come to the
St PETER’s KIRCHE (9), with its
large electric clock. The dials
are 29 ft. in diamcter. Lavater,
the author of the celebrated work
on physiognomy, was paster of
this church for twenty-three
ears. He was shot in front of
is church after the battle of
Zurich by a French soldier to
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whom he had just given refresh-
ment. A little farther rises the
LINDENHOF, which was the site
of the ancient Roman Camp of
Turicum. 'The imperial palace
of the governors of Zurich also
stood here. Crossing the Markt
Briicke we pass on the right the
RATHHAUS (10), built in 1699.
In front is the Reading-room
Museum (11). Strangers ad-
mitted for one month on presen-
tation by a member. Now pass-
ing along the Rathhaus quai we
come to the BMunster Brucke, at
the end of which is the old
Wasserkirche (12), built in the
15th centy. In it is the TowN
LIBRARY, containing autograph
letters of Lady Jane Grey, Henry
IV. of France, Frederick the
Great, and the reformer Zwingli,
and a Museum of Antiguities, in
which are the first book printed
in Switzerland at Beromiinster
(1480), Zwingli’s Bible with his
MSS. marginal notes, and a fine
relief of portion of Switzerland.
The collection of coins number
10,000. Between the two bridges
is the Swax CoLOXNY.

Above us is the Grossmiinster
(13), a plain Romanesque build=
ing of the 11-12th centuries,
erected on the site of a convent
founded in 697. The hill on
which it is built is supposed to
be a moraine brought down by
the glacier, which, in the ice
period, filled the valley and lake.
At the foot of the hill, Feliz and
his wife Regula, with their friend
Exuperantius, suffered martyr-
dom by order of the Roman
Prefect Decius in the 4th centy.
They were afterwards canon-
ized as patron saints of the
town. Their figures appear in
the arms of Zurich. On the side
of the W. Tower is a large
grotesque sitting statue of Charle-
magne. Intheinteriorisa picture
of the Procession to the Cross,
and several fine stained glass
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windows. In this church Zwingli
preached for twelve years,

Now passing along the Sonnen
Quai, we see fronting us on the
lake the large Tonhalle (14). It
was formerly a in store, but
in 1867, on the occasion of the
great musical festival at Zurich,
it was adapted for a music hall.
The large concert room, with a
fine organ, holds 2000 people.
Excellent concerts are given
nightly,and occasionally matinées
on Sunday. Attached tothe Hall
are a winter garden, covered
pavilion, and shaded walks and
seats.

Turning up the Rami Strasse
we now ascend to the Méhe
Promenade (15), which com-
mands a charming view of the
lake. On it is a monument to
Nageli, the Swiss composer. To
the L. is the old cemetery with
many fine monuments. Continu-
ing along the Rami Strasse and
passing on the L. the handsome
CANTONAL ScHOOLS (16), and to
the R. the large CANTONAL
HosprraL (17), we come to
the Polytechnic (18), erected
1861-4. Itcontainsthe University
of Zurich and the Federal School.
The Terrace commands a fine
view over the town and lake.
The Museum, which is in point
of size the largest in Switzerland,
contains collections of archeology,
minerals, and fossil remains, en-
gineering and architecture, natural
history, and a fine collection of
engravnngs. Beyond the Poly-
technic are the buildings of the
Pfrundhavs and the Burger-asyl,
both retreats for the aged poor
of the town. To the left up the
Kunstler Strasse is the KUNSTER-
6OTLI (19), in which is the

icture gallery of the Artists”
%nion of Zirich, containing
several fine pictures by Swiss
painters. We now return to the
station over the Bahnhof Briicke.
Behind the station is the PRrO-
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MENADE Pratz (20), with shady
walks on the banks of the Lim-
mat and Sihl. In the garden is
a monument to the poet Gessner.
Near the promenade are the
Aguarium and Swiss Geological
Museum. On the opposite
bank of the Sihl are tho large
Barracks (see plan), and the
Arsenal (21), in which is
a fine COLLECTION OF ARMS,
Tell’s cross-bow, and Zwingli’s
sword, armour, and battle-axe.
The GEWERBE MUSEUM (22) (see
plan) contains a permanent in-
dustrial museum, with a library
and reading-room. In the
BoTANIC GARDEN (23) (see plan)
is the Katz, the remains of an
ancient tower, from which is a
fine view of the lake.

Excursions.—The pleasantest
excursion from Ziirich is to the
summit of the Uetliberg (2864
ft.), the long range of hills to the
west of the town. Railway in
4 br. Fares up, 21rs. ; down, 1}
frs. ; return ticket, 3 frs. On
Sundays and holidays, return,
1.50 ., or including dinner at the
Uto-Kulm restaurant, 3.50 c.

Signs on the walls indicate
tho way to the station from the
Bahnhof Strasse.

The Uetliberg is easy of ascent
on foot. The road up the hill
commands lovely viewsalmost the

whole way, and to fair walkers
this is much the most easy way
of ascent. The excursion to the
Uetliberg should on no account
be missed.

On the summit is the fine
HOT. AND PENSION UETLIBERG,
comfortable, and moderate prices.
A short distance from the hotel
is the large restaurant UTo-
KurM. On_the south side is the
Hot and Pens. UTO-STAFFEL,
comfortable and reasonable.
The view, which should be seen
from the Uto-Kulm, is exceed-
ingly extensive and beautiful.
It embraces a magnificent pano-
rama of tho Lakes of Zurich and
the valley of the Limmat.” To
the S. we see the Rigi and Mt.
Pilatus, and beyond, the whole
range of the Appenzell and
Bernese Alps. On the W. we
see the range of the Jura, and in
clear weather a few of the peaks
of the Vosges mountains. To
the N. are the fertile plains of
northern Switzerland, bounded
by the dark line of the Black
Forest. In front of the restau-
rant is a plan showing direction
of the different peaks,

There are charming walks in
all directions from Zurich, not-
ably to the Sonnenberg, Zurichberg,
Trwhtenhauser Mill, the Wald,
and the Sthlwald.

Route XV,

SCHAFFHAUSEN TO WINTERTHUR AND
ZURICH.

Railway, 85 m., 2 . Fares, 6 frs,, 4.20 c., 3 frs. Best views on the right.

Leaving Schaffhausen we cross
the Rhine to Dacksen (3 m., flot.
Witzig at the station). In the
season omnibuses run to the
Falls of the Rhine (see page 17).
Tourists for the Schweizerhof
coming in the contrary direction

must go on to Schaffhausen (p.
17) if they have luggage, as there
is no means of transit across the

Rhine.
Winterthur (19 m.)

Zurich (35 m.), see Route XVvI.

to
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RouteE XVI.
CONSTANCE TO WINTERTHUR AND ZURICH.

Railway, 83 m., 3} hrs. Fares, 8.95 c., 6 frs.,, 4.40 c. Best views on the right.

The route from Constance as
far as Burg and Stein (1734 m.),
passing along the shores of the
Unter See, is described on p. 18.
At Etzweilen, 194 m., the line
turns south and passes through a
rather uninteresting district to

Winterthur (383 m., pop.
1400. Hor. GOLDNER LOWE,
Kirone. Restaurant at the Sta-
tion), a wealthy commercial town,
but containing little to interest
the tourist. e

[From Winterthur a branch line rnns
through the T¢ss-Thal to Riiti, 293
m,, 2-3 hrs.

Sennhof, 5 m., } br. walk to the
old Chateau of Kyburg, which came
into possession of Rudolph of Haps-
burg in 1264, on his succeeding to the
ancient line of the Counts of Kyberg.
Though the Hapsburg family only
held the property about 100 years, the

Emperors of Austria still bear the
title of Counts of Kyberg. The castle
contains a fine picture gallery, a
torture chamber, & chapel with fres-
coed walls, and is handsomecly fur-
nished in medizval style. Itis now
a private residence, but is shown to
visitors.

From Wald, 25 m., the Bachtel (sce
page 31) can be ascended in 1} hrs.
At Riiti we join the line from Ziirich
to Rapperswyl (see Ronte xx.).]

Leaving Wintherthur we follow
the valley of the Tuss, passing
on the L. the castle of Kyberg
(see above). Crossing the Tdss
we enter the valley of the Glatt.

At Effretikon Junction a branch
line runs to Wetziton on the
Zurich. and Rapperswyl line
(see page 31%.

Ziirich, 83 m. (see page 25).

Route XVII,

OLTEN TO WALDSHUT BY AARAU AND
BRUGG.

Railway, 32 m. 2 hrs. Fares,5.50 c., 4 frs., 3.85 ¢. For route from Bale to

Olten, Route 1.

Leaving Olten the line runs
along the picturesque valley of
the Aare to Aaram (8% m. pop.
6000. Hot. Wilder Mann, Storck),
a manufacturing town and the
capital of the Canton Aargau.
The Rathkaus contains the
Cantonal library of 90,000 vols.,
and some fine stained glass of
the 16th centy. from the windows
of the Abbey of Muri (see below).

(From Aaran a line runs to Roth-
kreuz on the St Gotthard line, branch-
ing off at Rapperswy!l Junc., 29 m.
in 13 to 2 hrs. (4.90 c., 3.45 ¢c., 2.45 c.)
The only place of interest on the line
is Murl (18 m. HoT., Lowe, ddler),
with -mineral baths. The ancient
Abbey of Muri i8S now a cantonal
school. 1} hr. above Muri is the
PEexsiox ScELoss HEREBEN, finely sita-
ated on a hill 2600 ft. high, and com-
manding an extensive view. Roth-
Kreuz, see page 50.]
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Wildegg (15 m.) is the station
for thehydropathic establishment
of Brestenberg, on the Lake of
Rawyl (75 m.) Schinznach (17}
m.) for the Baths of Sehinznach
(3m., FINEHOTELANDKURHAUS),a
much frequented watering place.
The springs are sulphurous
(90°), and efficacious for rheu-
matism, gout, and skin diseases.

On the summit of the Wulpens-
burg (1700 ft.,  hr., fine view)
aro the ruins of tho Castle of

29

HMapsbarg, the cradle of the
house of Austria. The castle
was erected in 1020. Nothing
now remains but a portion of one
of the towers (p. 23.)

Brugg (194 m., see pago 23).
Leaving Brugg the line crosses
the Reuss to Turgt (see page 24),
then the Limmat, and following
the course of tho Aare, crosses
the Rhine over an iron bridge to
‘Waldshut (see page 16).

Roure XVIII

ZURICH TO ROMANSHORN, FRIEDRICHS-
HAVEN, AND LINDAU.

Railway, 51 m., in 2 to 3 hrs.; Fares—8.65 c., 6, 5,4.35 frs.
Steamer from Romanshorn to Pliedrmhshnvcn, fn connection with the trains,

in 1 hr., or to Lindau in 14 hr.

For route as far as Winterthur
(16 m.), see p. 28.

Franenfeld (26 m., Falke,
Rest. at the station), the cap1ta1
of the Thurgau, with large cotton
factories. The ancient Chatean
was built by one of the Counts of

Kyberg (p. 28) in the 11th cent.
Weinfelden (374 m.), amid fine
vineyards. Chateau on the L.

Romansthiorn, Friedrichs-
haven, and Lindau, sce Route
XI.

Route XIX.

ZURICH TO ST GALLEN, RORSCHACH, AND
LINDAU.
Railway to S¢ Gallen,52 m., in 8 hrs.: Fares—8.80‘c., 6.20 c.,440c. To

Rorschach, 62 m., In 3 hrs Fares—10.20 ¢., 7.20 c., 510c
Steamboat from Rorschach to Lindau in 1} hrs.

For route as far as Winter-
thur (16 m.), see p. 28.

Wyl (HoT. BAENHOF). Charm-
ing view from the station. Branch
line to Ebnat. Leaving Wyl
the line crosses the Thur and the
valleys of the Glatt and Sitter.

St Gallen, or St Gall (pop.
21,500, Hor. HecHr, Hot. Stieger,
Hot. }Izrsch is the capital of the
canton, an plscopal See, and a
largo centre of Swiss muslin and
cotton manufactorics. It occu-
pies an elevated position (2165
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ft.) in the valley of the
Steinack. The ancient walls and

moat are now converted into
gardens. The Benedictine
Abbey was founded in the be-
ginning of the 7th cent. by St
Gallus, an Irish monk, who left
his monastery in Belfast Lough
with St Columbanus and other
monks, as a missionary on the
Continent. Being seized with
illness, his companions deserted
him in the woods. On his re-
covery he built a small cell, and
set himself to teach the surround-
ing tribes Christianity and
agriculture, in which he suc-
ceeded. The present abbey was
built on the site of his tomb fifty
years after his death, and formed
the nucleus of the present town.
Betweenthe 8th and 10th centuries
the abbey was one of the greatest
seats of learning in Switzerland,
and we owe many of our most
valuable manuscripts of the
classics to the labour of its monks.
After the 10th cent. the abbey
became very wealthy and power-
ful, and assumed the temporal
power over the surrounding
country, which it asserted by
force of arms, the monks them-
selves fighting in the ranks. The
rule of . the abbots at last became
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so oppressive, that in the 15th
cent. the Canton of Appenzell
rose in revolt and threw oft their
yoke, and in the Reformation the
town itself became free. i
the French Revolution the abbey
was finally suppressed, and its
revenues sequestrated. The last
abbot died in 1829 in the convent
of Muri (p. 28).

The interesting LIBRARY con-
tains many fine manuscripts and
missals. (gpen Mon., Wed., Sat.,
9-12 and 2-4.

The ABBEY CHURCH (since 1846
the Cathedral), rebuilt in 1755,
in a roccoco Italian style, has
some fine frescoes on the ceiling,
and carved choir stalls. In the
sacristy are some church treasures
and relics. The Zown Library,
containing several valuable MSS.,
is in the l\%unicipal School. Near
it is a Museum, containing a col-
lection of Natural History and a

lery of paintings.

galme St Gallen we descend to
Rorschach, having views on the L.
of the Lake of Constance. There
are two stations at Rorschach,
the first in the town, and the
second 4 m. further on at the
quay.
Rorschach and Lindau, see
Route XL

Roure XX.
ZURICH TO COIRE.

(a) Steamer to Richterswyl, in 2 hrs, twice daily, and thence railway by
ronte b. to Coire,in 8} hrs; Fares—S8.85 ¢., 6.10 ¢., 4.45 ¢.; or to Rapperswyl,
in 24 hrs., six times daily; Fares—2.50 c., 1.80 ¢. Thence rail (ronte c.) to
Coire, 53 m., in 33-4} hrs.; Fares—7.80 c.. 6.5 ¢., 5.35 ¢c. Smaller steamers
also cross the lake at different points. This Is the most interesting route

in fine weather.

(b.) Rallway by Wadenswyl, in 4-42 hrs.; Fares—5.85 c., 4.10 ¢., 2.95 c.
(c¢.) Railway by Rapperswyl, Utznach, and Sargans, 80 m., In 5-5 hrs.;

Fares—12.30 c., 8.65 c., 6.20 c.

(a.) The Lake of Ziirich is 15
m. long and 2} m. broad. Its
scenery is attractive more for its
peaceful beauty and its rich and

fertile shores than its grandeur.
Its gently sloping banks, covered
with meadows, vineyards, and
orchards, do not rise to a
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height of over 3000 ft., but are
covered with charming villages,
chalets, farms, and quiet retreats.

The principal villages on the S.
W. Bank are RUSHLIKON, above
which is the small Niederbad with
chalybeate springs, THALWYL
(Adler, 1 m. from the lake), with
a fine church, commanding a
lovely view of the lake. At
Olerveden, in the parsonage, La-
vater (p. 25) wrote part of his
celebrated work on physiognomy.

Horgen (Schuwan, Lowe), is the
starting point of the diligence
for Zug (see p. 50). Wadenswyl
(Engel), the largest village on
the lake, is the starting point for
Einsedeln (see p. 37). Rich-
terswyl (Drei Konige, Post), with
large cotton factories. We hero
join the railway route (b) to Coire
(see below).

On the N. E. Bank are Kiiss-
nackt (Sonnc), with a large college
for teachers. Erlenach (2 m.),
beyond which is a huge boulder
stone left by the glaciers. Stafa
(Sonne) is the largest village on
the N. bank. Rapperswyl
(Hots. Cyne and du Lac, on the
lake), is a Eicturesque old walled
town, with an ancient Chatean
restored in 1871. It contains the
Polish National Museum, founded
by Count Plater. On the Terrace
is a monument in memory of the
Polish insurrection. The Terrace
and the Zower both command
fine views of the lake. In the
Parish Church are some valuable
treasures. At Rapperswyl, the
lake is crossed by the SEEDAM, a
viaduct, § m. inlength. Wehere
join the railway route (c) to Coire.

(6.) RaiLway ROUTE, S. E.
Bank.

For route as far as Richters-
wyl (174 m.) see above.

At Pfaffikon (21 m.), a branch
line crosses the lake to Rappers
wyl. At Lachen (25 m., fHot.
Lar) the line lcaves tho lake.
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[From Lachen a route runs to
GrLARrUS (p. 35) through the Waggi-
thal. Carriage road (omnibus daily
in 2 hrs.) to the Kurhaus Waggithal.
From the Kurhaus over the Ober Alp
(5060 ft. and Schwein-Alp (5160 ft.),
passes to the Kurhaus Richisau, takes
4 hrs. Good bridle path. Guide un-
necessary. At Richisau, we join the
route from Schwyz (see p. 40), and
reach Glarus (p. 35) in 4 hrs.]

Crossing a marshy plain to
Zicgelbricke (36 m.), we have
views on the R. of the Glarus
Mts., and on the L. of the Untere
and Obere Buchberg (20201t ),and
the Speer (6420 ft.). At Ziegel-
brucke we join the line from
Rapperswyl (see below).

(c.) RAILWAY BY RAPPERSWYL
AND UTZNACH.

Leaving Ziirich, we travel along
the Winterthur route for 6 m.,
and branch off at Wallisen,
the line following the course of
the Glatt through a flat and un-
interesting country to USTER (14
m.), with a fine church and pie-
turesque old castle, and remark-
able for the relics of the lake
dwellings found in the neighbour-
ing Pfaffikon See, a glimpse of
which we catch 2 m. farther on.
From Weizitkon (18 m.) a branch
line runs N. to Effretikon (p. 28).
At Riite Junction (223 m.) a
branch line runs through the
Tosthal to Wenterthwr (p. 28).
Above Riiti is the BACHTEL
(3760 ft., Inn), commanding a
fine view ; reached by rail to
Hinwell (the station before reach-
ing Riiti) in } hr. Thence 1} hr.
;V?}'ls{.’ or carriage to the summit,

At Rapperswyl (27 m., see
abovek the rail approaches the
lake, the train going on to thequay
to take up steamboat passengers.

At Schmerikon (34 m.) we
leave the lake and cross the broad
plain drained by the LINTH
CaNaAL.  This canal, construeted
at a cost of £60,000, has con-
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verted the district drained by the
Linth, which had been laid waste
by frequent devastating floods,
into a fertile and healthy valley.
On the R., on the Untere Buch-
berg, stands the ancient castle of
Grynaw.

Vtznaeh (36 m., Ocks), a dili-
gence runs four times daily to
‘Wattyl in the Toggenburg.

Ziegelbriicke (42} m., ot
DBerger), is the junction of the
line from Ziirich and Richters-

wy.

Niifels Mollis (44 m.) is the
junction of the line for Glarus
and Linthal (see p. 35).

At Wesen (455 m., Hot. Speer
at the station, Schwert on "the
lake) we reach the Walensee,
94 m. long and 1} broad. This
lake is hemmed in on its N. bank
by frowning precipices 2000 to
3000 ft. in almost perpendicular
height, giving its scenery a
grandeur little inferior to that of
LakeLucerne. Overitseasternend
vise the seven rugged and barren
peaks of the Churfirsten. From
Wesen the ascent of the SPEER
(6417 ft.) can be made in 4 hrs.
Guide unnecessary. Finger-posts
show the path. The summit
commands a magnificent view of
the peaks of Gldrnisch, 9583 ft.,
Tt‘;’dz, 11,890 ft., and the Glarus

A4 ﬁs

eyond Wesen we cross the
Linth Canal and then the Escher
Canal, and travel along the S.
shore of the lake, passing through
numerous tunnels and cuttings.
Murg (51 m., Rossli, Schiffli,
rustic Inns), at the mouth of the
Murgthal, a romantic valley, 10
m. in length.

At Walenstadt (Iot. Chur-
firsten, Inn) we leave the lake,
and ascend the valley of the Seez
to Mels (64 m.), and reach the
valley of the Rhine at

Sargans (65 m., Hot. Thoma,
and Rest. at the station), the
junction of the line from Con-
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stance
p. 22).

RAGATZ (68 m.).

Hotels. QUELLENHOF and HO-
TEL RAGATZ, opposite the Kursaal,
two large and magnificent establish-
ments. HoTer TAMINA SCHWEIZER-
HOF, both first-class and comfortable.
Krone, Bayrischer IMof, Pension
Lattman.

Omnibus from the station, 75 ¢.
Trunk, 25 c.

Visitors’ Tax, 3 frs. per week each

person.
Eng. Ch. Ser. in the Eng. chapel.

and Rorschach (see

Ragatz (1707 ft.), one of the
most delightful stopping-places
in Europe, is situated in the
valley of the rapid Tamina. It
is the most frequented of all the
Swiss watering-places, the visi-
tors amounting to over 60,000
annnally. The warm springs,
97°, which are perfectly clear
and tasteless, are impregnated
with magnesia, carbonate of lime,
and chloride of sodium in minute
quantities, and are efficacious in
cases of paralysis, neuralgia, and
nervous and cutaneous diseases.
The ;vater_s arte;roughlt thmf:ogh
wooden pi m. long, from
Pfatfors (o below). . In the
season the Hotels Quellenhof and
Ragatz (formerly the residence
of the abotts of Pfaffers), are
crowded with visitors. In the
KURGARTEN, opposite the hotels,
a band plays thrice daily. The
Batlhh Mouses, Trinkchalle,
and Kursaal front on the gar-
den. Inthe Kursaal are reading,
conversation, and billiard rooms,
concert hall, ball room, and an
excellent restaurant. On the L.
bank of the river is the Neubad,
or new baths, in connection with
which is a large swimming bath
(84°). Adm., morning, 2 frs.;
afternoon, 1 fr. Ladies’ hours
from 9.30 t0 11.30 A.n, and 4 to
6 p.M. Single baths, 2 frs. and
2.50 ¢, Two other bath houses
the Muklenbad and Helenabad,
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are on the same side of the river.
Half an hour’s walk, are the ruins
of the Castle of Freudenburg, de-
stroyedin1437. Alsohalfanhour’s
walk are the ruins of the fortress
of Wartenstein, erected in 1307,
commanding a magnificent view
of the valley and surrounding
peaks. Above the ruin is the
Lension Wartenstein (good res-
taurant), beautifully situated on
the edge of acliff. Two and a
half m. above Ragatz is

Bad Pfiiffers, lying in the ro-
mantic Gorge of Pfiffers (see
below), a deep fissure in the rocks,
through which the Tamina rushes
in numberless cascades. These
(siprings are said to have been

iscovered by a hunter in 1038.
The first bath house was built
above the springs by abbot
Hugo IL of Pfiffers in 1242.
The holes chiselled in the rock,
which supported this building,
are still to be seen. The only
means of getting the sick into
the baths was by letting them
down by ropes from the cliff
above, and there patients re-
mained for days, eating, drinking,
and sleeping in the water. In
1543 a wolf)lg n gallery was con-
structed along the face of the
Erecipice, and in 1628 the bathing-
ouse was removed to its present
position. The existing bath
house was erected in 1707. The
baths at Pfiffers are now princi-
pally used by the poorer classes
since the conveyance of the water
to Ragatz, and the erection of
the fine hotels there.

The road to Pfiiffers from

Ragatz leads up the narrow
valley, hemmed in by precipices
500 to 800 ft. high. ere is a

carriage road all the way, but
walking is more desirable. The
ravine opens beyond the K urkaus,
at which tickets (1 fr.) may be
obtained. A wooden gallery
leads along the gorge between
overhanging rocks, in about } hr.,
©
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tothesprings. Umbrellas should
be taken as a protection against
the water dripping overhead.

The chasm in some places is
not more than 12 to 14 ft. wide,
and its average width is scarcely
more than 20 to 30 ft., while its
depth varies from 500 to 800 ft.
The walls of the chasm are not
generally vertical,but inclined one
over the other, at a considerable
angle, In some places the one
wall overhangs the other so much
that the sky above it is entirely
excluded, and nowhere in the
gorge does the sun shine, even
in midsummer, for more than 6
hrs. daily; in other places the
size of the upper fissure has been
originally so small, that it has
been entirely closed up by the
accidental fall of rocks and rub-
bish from the heights above.
On this account the whole chasm
is very dark, giving one much
more the feeling of being in a
cave or mine, than by the natural
banks of ariver. Altogetherthe
ravine is very extraordinary, and
is one of the most remarkable of
its kind in Switzerland. Its
greatest rival is the Gorge of
T'rient (see p. 96).

Near the end of the gorge, in a
niche in the rock, is the little
chapel of St Mary Magdalene.
To the right, above the spring, a
cross marks the site of the first
bath-house from which the sick
were let down by ropes.

Visitors to the springs can
return to Ragatz by the VILLAGE
OF PFAFrERS in 1} hrs,, by
taking the winding path to the
right, behind the Kurhaus, pass-
ing a finger post showing the
way to Valens (see below), till we
find ourselves above the ravine
which we cross by a natural
bridge called the Beschluss, and
then ascend a path cut in steps
to the pastures above, where we
find a road leading to the Viilage
of Pfiiffers (Ilot. Lowe, Hot.
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Taube), 2 m. S. of Ragatz. In
the village is the once powerful
BENEDICTINE ABBEY of Pfiffers,
built in 1667 on the site of an
older building which was de-
stroyed by fire. The abbey was
founded in 713, and its abbots,
who were princes of the empire,
continued in an unbroken line for
11 centuries till its suppression
in 1837. It is now a lunatic
asylum. Returning to Ragatz
by the road (2 m.) we pass the
ruins of the Castle of Waitenstein
(see above).

Excarsions from Ragatz can
be made to the

Yasannen-Kopf (6675 ft.),
guide desirable, 6 frs. The path
starts from the Kurhaus at Bad
Pfiffers, and branches off to
Valens (20 m.) at the finger post
(see above), whence we climb over
grassy slopes to the summit in

. Magnificent panorama.

The Piz Alun (4860 ft.) also
commands a fine view. Easy
ascent. From Pfiffers a path
ascends in 13 hours to the hamlet
of St Margarethen, thence to the
summit in 4 hr. by steps in
the rock. Guide desirable from
St Margarethen.

The Guschenkeopf (2635 ft.).
Path on the right on entering
the Tamina Valley on the road to
Pfiffers.

The ascents of the Piz Sol
9340 ft., 5} hrs.) and the Calenda
3213 ft., 5 hrs, ) are both splendid
excursions, but only fit for good
pedestrians. Guide necessary.

To the Grat Lueke, fatiguing,
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but very interesting. Guide
necessary. Path from Valens
(see abov:&to Lasa Alp in 3 hrs.,
then another hour over pastures,
and an hour’s ascent of the Grat
Lucke. The view from the
summit, of the Piz Sol and its
gla.cicr, and the weird and
esolate Wildsee at our feet,
is most imposing.

The Faiknis (8535 ft.), the
peak to the E. of Ragatz can be
ascended in 9 hrs. there and
back. Ratherfatiguing. Guide
necessary.

To the Luziemsteig Pass
(1% hrs.), between the Flascher-
berg and the Falknis. The pass,
which is fortified, ascends frem
Maienfeld, the station beyond

tz, or a short cut can be
made up the hill direct from
Ragatz.  The descent can be
made through the gateway to
Balzars, and thence to the ferry
opposite Trubbach Station (sce
page 22). A bridle path leads
from the Luziensteig nearly to
the summit of the Fldscherberg
(3753 ft.). Fine view.

Leaving Ragatz we cross the
Rhine, and pass Maienfeld,
69 m. (Rossli, Sonne), from which
a road leads over the Luziensteig
(see above). From ELandquart
72% m., Hotels, LANDQUART,
Reudi) a diligence leaves for
Davos and Schuls (see Route
LXIX). Passing Zizers (52 m.),
near which is Molinira, the
summer residence of the Bisbogs
of Coire, we reach Coire (80}
m.), see page 124.
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RouteE XXI.

ZURICH TO GLARUS AND LINTHAL (BATHS
OF STACHELBERG).

Railway to Glarus, 46 m., in 2} hrs. ; Fares, 6.90 c., 4.85 ¢,, 2.90 ¢. Glarus to
Linthal, 104 m., in § hr.; Fares, 1.60 ¢, 115 ¢, 80 c.

From Ziirich to Nafels-
Mollis (41} m.), see Route XX.

At Nafels-Mollis we leave the
main line and enter the valley of
Glarus, hemmed in by precipitous
rocks, and overlooked by the
snowy heights of the Glirnisch
(9583 ft.). Travellers from Con-
stance and Rorschach leave the
main line at Wesen (see p. 82),
the two short branches joining at
Niifels (Hot Zum Linthof). Its
church is the finest in the canton.
Its monastery is one of few in
Switzerland that have escaped
suppression, for which it has only
to thank its extreme 1Eovert;y.
Nifels is celebrated as the scene
of a bloody battle in 1388, be-
tween 500 Swiss and 6000
Austrians, in which the cantons
succeeded in throwing off the
yoke of their oppressors. The
Swiss, entrenched behind some
earthworks thrown across the
valley, being unable to hold their
position owing to the numbers of
the attacking force, took to the
heights above, and obtained some
small reinforcements among the

asants and herdsmen. Then
ining the precipices they poured
down a murderous discharge of
rocks and stones on their enemies,
who had given themselves up to
plunder, and taking advantage of
the confusion into which they
were thrown, rushed down and
charged them eleven times, finally
succeeding in utterly routing
them. The Austrians lost 3000
men. In memory of these eleven
heroic charges, eleven stones
were set up in the same year in

the meadow of the REUTEFELDER,
where they took place. Every
second Thursday in April the
natives hold high festival in the
meadow in commemoration of the
event.

On the opposite bank of the
canal is the little manufacturing
village of Mgllis (Hot, Béir). In
the churchyard are the remains
of the heroes killed at Niifels.

Passing Netstall (44m. ), avillage
much exposed to avalanches, we
arrive at.

Glarus (46 m., GLARNER HoF,
Raben, Restaurant on the Bergle,
fine view), a busy town lying
at the base of the Glirnisch, and
the capital of the canton. In
1861 it was almost entirely burnt
down, 3000 of its inhabitants
being left homeless. The town
is often visited by fierce hurri-
canes called the Féhn winds, and
by an ancient law every fire,
without exception, had to be ex-
tinguished during the continu-
ance of these storms. As its
manufactories began to increase
this was found to be so great an
inconvenience that the law was on
the point of being repealed, but
at a meeting of the canton called
to decide the matter, it was
unanimously resolved to main-
tain it. The very next day a
stray spark famoﬁyby the Fohn
wind, which suddenly came up,
sct the whole town in a blaze.

In the old church, Zuingl (pp.
26, 39, 50) was pastor for six

ears. 'The Protestants and
man Catholics now both wor-
ship in the handsome new church.
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The new Government buildings are
erected on the site of the old
church. The Cantfonral library
contains a small collection of
antiquities and coins.

Approaching Mitlsdi (484 m.)
We)have a fine view of Z4dz (11,887
ft.).

From Schwanden (50 m.,
Rest. at the station) a diligence
runs to Eim (see p. 40). Passing
NIDFURN-HASLEN (51 m.) we see
to the right the fine cascade of
the Leuggelbach, and further on
on the ﬂeft the beautiful fall of
the Diesback. Linththal (53%
m.), the terminus, is # m. from
the town (Hot. Adler, Hot. Bar),
a busy manufacturing centre.

A quarter of a mile from the
station are the Baths eof Stach-
elberg, (fine large HOTEL,
with dependence), beautifully
situated and much frequented in
the season. The waters, which
are very strongly impregnated
with sulphur, are efficacious in
rheumatism and cutaneous dis-
eases. 'The supply is very small,
not exceeding a quart a minute.
The view up the valley is very
fine. On the right is the Ram-
merstock (6975 ft.), and on the left
the Selbsanft (9920 ft.), and be-
ween them 7dz (11,887) and the
Bifertenstock(10,7781t.),separated
by the Biferten Glacier. Delight-
ful walks have been laid out in
the neighbourhood.

Stachelberg is the best centre
for exploring the Todi district.
Good guides are always at hand.
The easiest points of access com-
manding magnificent views are
the Braunwald Alp (4920 ft.)
and the Rammerstock (6975 ft.).
Guide desirable, 7 frs. and 8 frs.
A pleasant walk, 35 min. , is along
the left bank of the river to the
Cascade of the Fatschlbach.
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A most delightful excursion is
to the Pantelbriicke (3212 ft.),
a bridge 160 ft. above the Linth,
situated in wild and remantic
scenery. A carriageroad (1 herse
carr. there and back, 8 frs.; &
day, 12 frs.) leads through Lin-
thal in 4} m. to the HoTEL TODL
Ten min. before arriving at
the hotel we pass the beautiful
fall of the Schreienbackh, 230 ft.
high. The hotel is pleasantly
situated in a green meadow
hemmed in by towering heights.
Beyond it a path crossing the
river leads steeply up for % hr.,
passing a tablet to the memery
of Dr Wislicenus, whe was killed
by falling over a precipice on the
Griinhorn in 1866. Now de-
scending a little we reach in £ hr.
the Pantelbriicke. From the
Pantelbrucke the Ober Sandalp
ﬁz58 ft.) can be ascended in 3%

. The path ascends to the
right, crossing the Limmernbach
and Sandbach, which it follows
on the left bank to the Untere
Sandalp, 1 hr. (4100 ft., Tavern).
‘We now recross the stream and
follow the right bank, crossing
the Biferten Bach, which de-
scends from the Biferten Glacier,
and ascend a steep slope past the
fine waterfall of the Sandbach.

bove us towers a mighty pre-
cipice a mile high. Entering a
little green basin we come in
sight of the snowy peaks of Z6d,
and again crossing the stream
reach (2} hrs.) the Ober Sand-
alp (6358 ft., refreshments and
hay-beds at the chalets). The
view is most magnificent and
well repays the ascent.

The ascent of TODI (11,887 ft.)
should enly be attempted by ex-
perienced mountaineers. 11 hrs.
Guides, 40 frs. each.
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Roure XXII.

STACHELBERG TO ALTORF OVER THE
KLAUSEN PASS.

h Guide un Thence

Bridle Path in 7 hrs. to Untersch

ry.
diligence every morning, 7 m. in 1} hrs. Horse to Unterschachen, 27 frs.;

* to Altorf, 32 frs,

Leaving Stachelberg we follow
the left bank of the Linth tc the
Cascade of the Fiitschbach (35 min. ).
The path then ascends throug
the wood in 1% hrs. to the valley
of Urner Bodan. To the right
are the rugged peaks of the
Jigernsticke and Mdrenburg, and
to 1qeft the Claridenstock(10,348 ft.)
with its glaciers and snow fields.

In 25 min. we pass the tavern
Zur Sonne, and 25 min. more the
hamlet of Spitelruti(Tavern, Zum
Tell). In } hr. we leave the pas-
tures and ascend over a stony
slope in 1% hrs. to the smmmit
of tho Kluusen Pass (6437 ft.),
from which we have a magnifi-
cent view of the glaciers of the
Claridenstock. On the top of
the pass is a little r¢fuge. As we
descend we have a view of the
Grosse Scheerhorn (10,815 ft.).

In } hr. the path divides, and
we take that to the left, passing
the chalets of Balmwand, from
whieh in 4 hr. we ascend rapidly
to the Aecseh (4173 ft., Ian
Staubi). To the left is the fine
Cascade of the Stawubibach.
Following the left bank of the
brawling Schichenbach we pass
(3 hr.) the chapel of St Anna,
and crossing the stream we reach
(3 hr.) Unterschiichen (Hot.
Clausen, comfortable Inn). The
village is beautifully situated at
the entrance to the Brunanithal,
looking up which we see the icy
slopes of the Grosse Ruchen
(10,295 ft.). To the right is the
Schéichenthaler Windgelle (9050
ft.). The carriage road from
Untersehichen deseends through
a pleasant valley to Biirglen, 6 m.
(p. 71), and Altorf (p. 71).

Rouvre XXIII.

WADENSWYL 'TO EINSIEDELN AND
‘SCHWYZ.
Railway to Einsiedeln 21 m., In 1 hr.; Fare, 2 frs,, 1 fr. 20 c.

Diligence from FEinsicdeln to Schwyz, 164 m. in 2§ hrs.; Fare, 83'95 c., Brunnen
on Lake Lucerne, 8 . from Schwyz, can be reached either by diligence or

railway.

The railway commands beauti-
ful views of the lake as it as-
cends. Passing through the pic-
turesque ravine of Schindellegi
(144 m.) we reach

Einsiedeln  (HoT. Prav,
Sonne, Adler), or NOTRE DAME
DES ERMITES, a village censisting

almost entirely of inns fer the
accommodation of the great an-
nual Roman Catholic Pilgrim-
age, on the 14th Sept., when
150,000 pilgrims congregate here.
The origin of the pilgrimage is,
that in the reign of Charlemagne
Count Meinrad of Sulgen, on
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the Neckar, one of the Hohen-
zollern family, wearied with the
vanities of the world, betook
himself to the neighbourhood of
Einsiedeln, then a wilderness, to
spend the close of his life ip
fasting and prayer, and in the
worship of a small image of the
Virgin, given him by St Hilde-
garde, Abbess of the Church of
Notre Dame at Ziirich. In 861
he was murdered in this lonely
spot by two brigands, who
would doubtless have remained
undiscovered, but that two pet
ravens belonging to the hermit
kept hovering over them, follow-
ing them with accusing croaks as
far as Zurich, where the atten-
tion of the people being attracted,
they were arrested and finally
executed. This miracle invested
the spot where the saint had
lived with such an odour of
sanctity that a Benedictine Ab-
bey was afterwards founded on
the site of his cell. On the 14th
Sept. 948, when the Bishop of
Constance was about to dedicate
the Abbey, a vision of the
Saviour, surrounded by angels,
appeared to him at midnight,
the heavenly voices telling him
that the consecration had already
been performed by Christ him-
self. Pope Leo VIIL then issued
a bull accepting the miracle, and
giving a plenary indulgence to
all who should make the pilgrim-
age to the shrine of ‘‘our Lady
of the Hermit.”

The offerings of the pilgrims
made the Abbey, next to that of
St Gallen, (now suppressed, p.
39) the richest in Switzerla.ng.
The order numbers 60 priests,
20 monks, and a large number
of lay brethren. The abbots
were created Princes of the Em-
pire in 1247 by Rudolf of Haps-
burg, which title they still bear
in the Roman Catholic cantons.
The invading French army, dur-
ing the Revolution of 1798, car-
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ried away most of the treasures
of the Abbey to Paris, but the
monks were able to save the
sacred image of the Virgin which
had been worshipped by St
Meinrad.  They took refu
among the mountains of the
Tyrol for several years, return-
ing to the Abbey in 1803. In
1861 they celebrated the thou-
sandth anniversary of the death
of the Saint and the foundation
of the Abbey.
of the pilgrims are of the poorer
classes, who make, for a feeilvi-
carious pilgrimages for their
richer bregchren. L

The principal manufacture of
the village is souvenirs for the
pilgrims, the firm of Benzegar
alone employing 700 workmen.

The Abbey, which has been
several times partly destroyed
by fire, was rebuilt in 1719 in
Italian style. The interior of the
CHURCH is gaudily decorated with
inferior frescoes and pictures.
In the black marble CHAPEL OF
THE VIRGIN, protected by an iron
railing, and illuminated by con-
stantly burning lamps, is the
SHRINE in which is th]ga littt;ie
figure of the Virgin that be-
longed to St Heinrad. It is
richly attired in gold brocade,
and glitters with gold and pre-
cious stones. Round the chapel
are h grotesque votive tab-
lets depicting every conceivable

*ill that human flesh is heir to.

Of the once valuable TREASURES
in the sacristy, nothing remains
since the despoiling of the
abbey in 1798, but a fine mon-
strance.

In the LIBRARY, numbering
26,000 vols., is a fine collection
of MSS. and a Museum of Mine-
rals and Natural History.

In front of the abbeiy; 1s a black
marble Fountain with 14 jets, at
which tradition says our Saviour
drank after he appeared to the
Bishop of Constance. All the

A large number °
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pilgrims, therefore, drink from
it too.

Zwingli, the reformer (pp. 26-
50), was pastor at Einsiedeln from
1515 to 1519, and such is said to
have been the effect of his preach-
ing that even during the pilgrim-
age the abbey was almost de-
serted.

The summit of the Herrenberg
(8650 ft.) commands a fine view
of the surrounding country.

From Einsiedeln the diligence
asses Ihberbruck (3 m.), and
eads up the valley of the Biber

to Rethenthurm (7% m., Ian,
Ochs), the meeting place of the
parliament of the Canton Schwyz,
and so named from a red tower
(still standing), which was part
of the fortifications erected by
the Schwyzers to repel the Aus-
trian invasion. About 2 m. from
the village, on the southern
shore of the little Egeri-See, is
Morgarten, celebrated as being
thescene of the memorable vietory
of the Swiss over the Austrians
in 1315. The Swiss, only number-
ing 1200 against 20,000 Austrians,
adopted their usual tacticsof post-
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ing portions of their little force
on the heights, to hurl down
stones on their foes below, while
the remainder, taking advantage
of the confusion thus caused
among the ranks of the heavily
armé? Austrians, completed the
panic by a number of desperate
charges. The battle did not last
over an hour and a half, but so
complete was the victery of the
Swiss, that tho greater number
of the Austrians who did not
fall on the field were driven into
the lake and drowned. On the
battlctield a small Chapel was
erected in memory of the fight.
A celebration service is still held
annually on the 16th Nov., the
date of the victory. In the
chapel is a picture of the battle.
Passing Sattel (10 m.) we drive
along the fine new Schlagstrasse,
having views of the Rossberg and
the effects of the great landslip
(see p. 49). At Auf der Burg
(143 m.) we come in sight of
Schwyz, and the peak of the
Mythen. ‘
Schwyz (163 m.), on the St
Gotthard railway (see p. 71).
Brunnen, 195 m. (see p. 45).

XXIV.

SCHWYZ TO GLARUS OVER THE PRAGEL.

Diligence from Schwyz to Muottathal, 8 m., twice dally, in 1§ hrs.; Fare, 1.55 ¢,
Bridle Path in 5 hrs, from Muottathal to Vorauen over the Pragel.

From Vorauen, carriage road, 9 m, to Glarus.

Guide desirable over the

Pragel, 18 frs. This route i3 not recommended, as the portion which has to
be walked over is quite uninteresting. The Muoftathal had better be visited
from Schwz aud the pretty Kionthal from Glarus.

From Schwyz the road ascends,
giving us glimpses of the Lake of
Lucerne, and at Iback enters the
ravine of the Muotta. 3 m. we
reach the SuVOROFF BRIDGE,
}vhere the Russians and French,
in 1799, fought for two days. It
is said the stream, almost choked

with the bodies of the slain, was
dyed crimson with their blood.
Passing RIED (5 m.) we see to
tho L. the cascade of the G'stiilt-
Bach. Crossing the Muotta we
then reach Muottathal (8 m.,
Inn Hirsch), with the ancient con-
vent of St Joseph founded in 1280.

'



40

The sisters are very poor, mak-
ing all their own clothing and
doing all their farm work them-
selves.

From Muottathal the path
leads up a steep and uninterest-
ing ascent in 3} hrs. to the
Summit of the Pragel (5100 ft.),
a level marsh with no view. The
descent to Richlsaun (3592 ft.,
Kurhaus Rickisan) takes 1% hrs.
The country now becomes more
fertile and pleasing as we descend
into the pretty valley of the
Klonthal. To the R. we have
a fine view of the icy slopes of
the Glarnisch (9583 ft.). In# hr.
we reach Voramen (Kurhaus
Vorkauen). The Glarnisch can
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be ascended from Vorauen in
7% hrs. Guides, 25 frs. each.
The road from Verauen to
Glarus, through the Klénthal, is
exceedingly picturesque. In 1}
m. we pass the beautiful green
KLONTRALER-SEE, which, on a
still day, mirrers all the peaks
and glaciers of Gldrnisch. A
beat plys down the lake in # hr.
On the right bank near a water-
fall is a rock bearing an in-
scription to the Swiss poet
Gessner, who made this spot one
of his favourite haunts. Below
the lake the valley narrows and
the scenery becomes grander as
we agq;roach Glarus. (See

page 3

XXV.

GLARUS TO COIRE BY THE SERNF-THAL
AND SEGNES PASS.
Railway from Glarus to Schwanden in $ hr., see page 36.

Diligence from Sckuwanden to Elm, 93 m.. twice daily, ascent 22 hrs,, deseent
1% hrs. Fares—2 frs, (a) PATH from Elm over the Segnes Pass to Flims in

8 hrs., rather fatiguing, but sccnery very grand.

Gulde necessary, 20 frs.

From:Flims, p1L1GENCE to Coire, 134 m., thrice daily,in 2} hrs. Fares—5.60,
4.50. (b) Or Pati from Eim over the Panizer Pass to llanz (see p. 130), 9
hrs. Gulde neccssary, 18 frs. Not recommendcd, quite as fatiguing as the
Segnes Pass, and much iecss interesting, From lianz piLicexce to Coire,
204 m.,, thrice daily, in 4 hrs. Fares—7.35 ¢., D frs,

Glarus to Schwanden, 33 m.,
(see page 35).

From Schwanden we drive into
the deep Sernfthal, passing on
the L. (14 m.) a picturesque
little cascade, and ENGI (3 m., /an
Sonne), at the entrance to the
narrow Miihlebach-Thal. In the
slate quarries of the Platten-
berg on the R. many fine speci-
mens of fossil fish have been
found. Elm 39 m., Hot J.
Elmer, snug Inn) was the scene of
the terrible landslip of 11th Sept
1881, when an enormous mass of
rock and earth, 800 ft. high, 302
thick, and 1300 ft. broad, fell

from the Tschingelberg, 1500 ft.,
into the valley below, burying
80 buildings and killing 115
people. The debris covered a
space of over 200 acres. The
village has since been threatened
with another landslip from the
Risikopf, which may fall at any
time, {ut the inhabitants seem
to concern themselves very little
about the risk they run,

To the S. rises the rugged
Tschingelhorner, 9452 ft., through
which is pierced the Martinslock
or ¢ Martin’s Hole,” 8648 ft., (see
P 62%. Through this hole the
sun shines on the church at Elm
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on the 4th and 5th March and
14th and 15 Sept.
(2) The Seznes Pass. The
ath crosses the Sernf and the
minbach, and then ascends the
valley of the Tschingelnbach to
the steep and grassy slopes of
the Tschingeln-Alp, above which
we see to right the Martinloch
(see above), and in 5 hrs. reach
the Snmmit of the Pass, 8613 ft.
The descent, 3 hrs., is over a
rather steep slope of snow down
to the Flimser Firn, a small
glacier which we cross. Passing
a fine cascade, the path improves,
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and we descend over the pastures
and through the woods of the
Flimser Alp to Fiims. For
diligence to Coire see Route
LXVIIL

(b) A steep and rugged path
ascends along the course of the
Sernf in 4% hrs. to the summit of
the Pamixer Pass (7900 ft.),
over which Suvoroff (p. 76) made
his celebrated retreat before the
French in 1799. The descent
to Panix (Tavern) takes 2} hrs.,
and thence to Ilanz, 2 hrs. For
diligence to Ceolre see Route
LXVIIL

XXVIL

BALE TO LUCERNE.

Railway, 59 m., express 2} hrs.,, 10.25, 7.15, 510, Express trains run in
connectlon with stcamers on Lake Lucerne and the St Gotthard raflway.

For description of route as far
as Aarburg (27 m.) see Route I.

Zoftingen (Rossli.) The library
in the Rathaus contains some in-
teresting autographs of the early
reformers, a collection of coins,
and an album of sketches by
Swiss artists. TIn the branches
of some immense old lime trees
near the Schiitzenhaus two ball
rooms have been constructed.
The remains of a Roman bath
have been found at Bleickegat, }
m. from the town. At Nottwyl
(46 m.) we near the LAKE OF
SEMPACH, 5 m. long and 1? wide.

Sempach (/reuz, Adler). The
town is 2 m. from the station.
Near Sempach in 1386 a bloody
battle was fought between the
Swiss confederates and the
Austrians uuder Duke Leopold.
The day was won by the Swiss

through the heroism of their
leader Winkelried. 'The Swiss
forces not being able to break
through the spears of the Austri-
ans, Winkelried, alone, ran for-
wards, and grasping a numnber of
the long lances in his arms
buried them in his body, erying,
¢ Comrades, I will open a path to
freedom. Protect my wife and
children.” The Swiss then rushed
in over his corpse, through the
gap, before the Austrian spear-
men could withdraw their lances,
and gained the day. Duke
Leopold and hundreds of his
nobles were slain, A small
chapel marks the spot where
Leopold fell.

On the left we now see the
Rigi, and on the right Mt Pilatus,
and arrive at Lucerne (see
below).
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Route XXVII

LUCERNE, PILATUS, LAKE OF LUCERNE,
AND THE RIGL

Railway Station on the left bank of the lake.

Steamers leave the qual opposite the Schweizerhof and touch at the quay
opposite the Station.

Cabs, To and from the Station, 1-2 pers., 1 fr.; 3-4 pers.,, 2 frs. By time, § hr.,
1-2 pers., 80 c.; 8-4 pers., 1.20; 1 hr., 2.50 and 3.60. Each box, 30 c. 10
p.m. to 6 a.m., double fare.

Hotels. On the Quai, SCHWEIZERHOF and LUCERNERHOF, under the
excellent management of the Hauser Bros. The largest hotel in Switzer-
land, and one of the best in Europe. Concerts in the garden twice
daily. HOTEL NATIONAL, magnificent large Hotel further on;
excellent. HOTEL BEAU R1VAGE, on the Halden Strasse. HoOTEL CYGNE,
comfortable. ENGLISCRERHOF. Near the station are the HoTELS ST
GorTuARD, comfortable, and Du Lac. Second class hotels are the Waage,
ddler, Engel, des Alpes, de la Poste, Weisses Rossli. There are also
many excellent pensions in Lncerne from 5 to 7 {rs. a day.

Kursaal on the Halden Strasse, Reading, Concert, and Ball rooms, Restau-
rant, Theatre, and Garden. Band plays daily. Adm. per day, 2 frs.; to
concert only, 50 c.; per week, 10 frs., 2 pers, 15 fis. Adm. to Theatre.
5 frs, extra.

Restaurants. St Goitkard near the statlon. Stadhof. Café des Alpes
on the quay. Beauséiour on the Musegg.- Café du Theaire on the Reuss.

Beer. Aiith at the Wiiggis Gate, best. '

Post and Tel. Offices. L. bank near the Jesnits’ Church. Branch and
Poste Restante on the Schweizerhof qnay.

Boats. 75 c. per hr. Boatmen, 75 c. per hr.

. Ch. 8. In the Protestant Church. Presbyterian service in the Maria
Hilf. Church.
Baths on the river and lake. Warm baths at the Lindenkof and L garten,
Meyer’s Diorama of views from the Rigi and Pllatus at the Wiaggis Gate.

Adm., 1 fr. and 1.50 . Very interesting.

Lueerne (pop. 18,000), the
capital of the canton, is most
picturesquely built on both banks
of the Reuss where it issues from
the lake. Its situation is one of
the loveliest in Switzerland.
It is an ancient walled -city,
-deriving its name from a tower,
in which, in ancient days a
light was always kept burning.
The river Reuss is crossed by
four bridges. That nearest the
lake is the handsome New
Bridge (1), leading to the railway
station. Next to it is the old
Kapell Briicke (2), which is
roofed over, and painted with
scenes from the lives of St Leger
and St Maurice, and from Swiss

history.  Between these two
bridges is the old Wasser Thurm
(3), containing the archives of the
town, and which gave the name to
thetown. Lower downistheRenss
Bridge (4), which is modern.
The fourth is the ancient Miihi
Brucke(5), which is covered over,
and painted with the Dance of
Death. v
The Sehwelzerhof Quay (6), is
built on a bay of the lake, which
wasfilled upin 1852. It isdelight-
fully shaded with chestnuts, and
commands charming views of the
lake and surrounding mountains.
In front of the Schweizerhof is
a plate on which a panorama of
the mountains is engraved.
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Starting eastward along the Quay,
we see facing us the Mof Kirche
(3) with its two slender spires,
built in 1506. The church was
completely restored in the 17th
century. The principal object
of interest in it is the magnifi-
cent organ built in 1651, and
cnlarged in 1862. Performances
daily, 6.30 to 7.30 P.M.; admis-
sion, 1 fc. Turning now to the
L., and passing Stauffer Museum,
which contains a collection of
stuffed Swiss animals, we come to
the chief object of interest in
Lucerne, the famous

Lion of Lucerne (8), amagni-
cently conceived and admir-
ably executed work of art. It
is in commemoration of the
death of 26 officers and 760
soldiers of the Swiss Guard, who
fell fighting in defence of the
royal family of France against
the attack of the revolutionists
in 1792. The monument is cut
in high relief on the face of the
living rock, and represents a lion
wounded by a spear and dying,
yet still seeking to protect the
shield of France. The figure is
of immense size, 28 ft. by 18 ft.
The original idea of the monu-
ment was suggested by General
Pfyffer, one of the surviving
Swiss, but it was modelled by
Thorwaldsen. Above the sculp-
ture is inscribed the motto,
¢ telvetiorum Fidet ac Virtuti,”
and below it the names of the
officers who fell and the few
survivors. The rock is overhung
with shrubs and creepers, and a
small spring forms a pool be-
neath, in which is mirrored the
sculpture. In the adjacent
chapel is an altar cloth presented
by the Duchess d’Angouléme.
A short distance beyond the
lion is the Gletscher Garten (9)
(admission 1 fec.), which contains
most interesting remains of the
glacier period. In baring the
side of the hill, thirty-two holes
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of different sizes were found, the
largest 26 ft. wide and 30 ft.
deep. These holes have been

formed by the streams under-

neath the glacier whirling stones
round in them. The action of
the ice is also seen on the sides
of the rocks. A pavilion contains
an elaborate relief of Switzerland,
23 ft. long and 13 ft. wide. In
another is a small collection of
relics from the lake dwellings.

Returning to the Quay, we
next visit the old Rathhaus (10),
which contains some interesting
carvings and portraits, On the
ground floor is a collection of .
pictures, and the Historical and
Art Muscum, containing ancient
relics, old arms, and trophies;
the coat of mail taken from Leo-

old of Austria at the battle of
gempach (p. 41) ; the iron col-
lar destined for the neck of
Gundolingen, the Swiss general,
who was also killed in that battle.
A fresco on the tower represents
his death.

Jesults' Charch (11), ontheop-
posite side of the river, has a
fine interior. Alongside of the
church is the Post Office.

EXCURSIONS.

To the Giitsch, from which
there is a lovely view down the
lake. Fifteen minutes’ walk from
the railway station along the
river brings us to the foot of the
hill, the summit of which isreach-
ed in a few minutes by an inclined
railvay. Good restaurant and
pension, and delightful shady
walks through the woods.

To the Little Rigl, § hr.
Fine view. Pass through the
cathedral yard and follow the
upper road.

To the Lindem, or Lime
trees, 25 min, Turn up the hill
to the left on the road to the
Little Rigi. Fine view.

To Herrgottswald, 5 miles.
Charming walk or drive.
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Ascent of Mount Pillatus.
Mount Pilatus (7000 ft.) takes
its name from the legend that
Pontius Pilate being banished
from Palestine, took refuge in
this mountain after wandering
over Gaul, and at last, in a fit of
remorse, threw himself into the
lake. The views from Pilatus
are finer than even from the
Rigi, and the ascent is quite
easy and safe even for ladies.
Queen Victoria, Princess Louise,
and the Duke of Connaught as-
cended it in 1868. The summit
of the mountain is watched as a
barometer by the Lucerners. If
it is hid by clouds in the morning
the weather will be fine, but if
the summit then, is clear and
sharp, rain will most likely follow.
The ascent is made—

1. From HERGISWYL (p. 57),
which is the most convenient
from Lucerne. Steamer three
times daily, or drive 1 hr.
Carriage, 1-2 pers., 4} frs.; 3-4
pers., 6 frs. Horse from Hergis-
wyl to the Hotel Bellevue, 12 frs.
Chaise-a-porteurs, 20 frs. Guides
unnecessary. A bridle path
leads in 34 hrs. from the landing
to the Hotel Klimsenhorn (5935
ft.). From the Hotel the KLIM-
SENHORN (6266 ft.) is reached in
10 min. A zigzag path also leads
up to the HOTEL BELLEVUE
(681'90 ft.), from which the EseL
6965 ft.) is reached in a few
minutes. The view from the
Esel is 'magnificent, and em-
braces the whole of Lake Lucerne,
the Bernese Alps, and the Rigi.
THE TOMLISHORN (6998 ft.), the
highest peak of Pilatus, isreached
in 1 hr. from the Hot. Klimsen-
horn, but it is rough walking.

2. From ALPNACH-GESTAD Sp.
58), Steamer, four times daily,
in 13 hr. Horse to Hotel Belle-
vue, 15 frs., 4} hrs. This ascent
is the most picturesque.

3. From ALPNACH (p. 58),
bridle path in 5 hrs,
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THE LAKE OF LUCERNE.
Steamers run from the Schwei-
zerhof and Railway Quays several
times daily to

(a.) Fluelen, 2-3 hrs.; 4.50 c.,
2.30 c.

. (b.) Kussnackt, 1 hr., 2 frs. and
fi

r.
(c.) Alpnach-Gestad., 1-13 hr.
2.40.. 190, 3 :

The Lake of Lucerne or Vier-
waldstitter See (Lake of the four
Cantons) is the loveliest lake in
Switzerland, and derives addi-
tional interest from its being the
scene of s0 many romantic
passages in the life of William
Tell. The carriage road along
the north shore of the lake has
now been completed, and tourists
can drive from Lucerne round
the Rigi all the way to Fluelen.
This is a most delightful and
picturesque excursion.

(a.) Leaving Lucerne we have
behind us a most picturesque
panorama of the town and the
frowning slopes of Pilatus; on
the L. is the Rigi, and on the R.
the Burgenstock, and beyond, the
lofty peaks of the Bernese Alps
soon come into view. Passing
the promontory of Meggenhorn
we see the old castle of Hapsburg
(p. 46). To the N. and S.
tﬁe bays of Alpnach and Kuss-
nacht open out. Crossing the
latter we see on the promon-
tory before the handsome new
Schloss Hertenstein, now a pension,
and a little farther on, the ruins
of the old castle. The first stop
is at

Weggls (Liwe, Bellevue, Hot.
Pens Weber), beautifully situ-
ated at the foot of the Rigi.
Guides and horses can be had
here for the ascent (3% hrs.).

Yitznau (Hot. Rigi-bakn, Hot.
Rigt) is the terminus of the
Rigi Railway (see p. 47).
Above the village is a stalactite
grotto 330 yds. in length, but
difficult of approach. Guide re-
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quired. Beyond Vitznau the
lake is narrowed by two rocky

romontories called the Nasen
fnoses), and entering the BuocH-
SER SEE we touch at Bueehs
(Krone) and

Beckenried (Sonne, Mond,
Nidwaldner Hof). Opposite is
Gersau (Hor. MULLER, excel-
lent ; Gersauer Hof.), one of the
most delightful stopping places
on the lake. Its mild climate
attracts large numbers of visitors
in spring and autumn. Gersau
was for upwards of 400 years an
independent community till an-
nexed by the French in 1798. On
the Town Hall is the following in-
seription :—‘“ Received into the
Confederacy, 1315 ; purchased its
freedom, 1390; assigned to the
Canton of Schwyz, 1818,

The roads round Gersau have
been laid out as a * Terrain
Kurort” by Dr Oertel, the dif-
ferent levels all being indicated,
so that patients can take the
prescribed amount of exercise.

The little chapel beyond
Gersau is called Kindlimord (in-
fanticide), from the legend that
a poor fiddler, reduced to the
last straits of poverty, killed his

starving child by dashing it on
the rock on which the chapel is
built. The spot is marked by a

black cross. Thereis a charming
walk (5 m.) from Gersau to
Brunnen, along the shore of the
lake. The Rigi Scheidegg (p. 49)
can be ascended from Gersau by a
bridle path in 85 hrs. The steamer
now crosses to Treib or Scelis-
berg, which is the landing place
for the KURIAUS-SONNENBERG,
a fine hotel, situated on the
heights of the Sonnenberg. The
hotel is well sheltered, and com-
mands a magnificent view. Con-
certs, post and telegraph offico,
electrical and other baths, whey
cure, Massage treatment, and
Eng. Ch. servico in the hotel.
As we now recross to Brunnen
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we have a fine view of the two
sharp peaks of the Mythen.

Brunnen (WALDSTATTER HoF,
excellent ; Adler, Rissli), a curi-
ous old village, most pictur-
esquely situated, and one of the
pleasantest places on the lake
for a stay. On the old Rathaus
are some curious frescoes, On
the Brandli, high above the
village, is the fine KURHAUS
AXENSTEIN, surrounded by
beautiful grounds, and command-
ing a magnificent view. A little
below the Kurhaus Axenstein is
the HOTEL AXENFELS, also a
very large and fine hotel, delight-
fully situated. Omnibuses run
to both hotels from the station
and steamer landing.

From the GUTScH, a small hill
behind the village, there is a
lovely view of the Lake and the
valley of Schwyz.

The Stoos (4242 ft.) (KURr-
HAUS ST008, comfortable), a spur
of the Frohnalpstock is reached
by a bridle path leading past the
village of Morschach, # hr., and
thence to the summit in 2 hrs.
Finger posts indicate the way.

“ ¥rom Brunnen (74 m., carriage
8 frs. and pour-boire), a most
picturesque road called the
Axenstrasse runs along the
bank of the lake to Fluelen. It
has been for the most part cut
out of the face of the rock, and
passes under the Azenberg
through a tunnel with open-
ings, through which are lovely
glimpses of the Lake.

Leaving Brunnen the scenery
becomes wilder, and the shores
of the lake more precipitous as
we enter the Bay of Url
Off the promontory to the right
is the Mythenstein, a rock 80 ft.
high, bearing on the S. side
an inscription in large gilt
letters :—* Dem  Singer Tells
Friederich Schiller die Ur Kantone,
1869.” (To the singer of Tell
from the old Cantons.) On the
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XN. side is another inscription
commemorating the accidental
death of a young Swiss officer
here, Beyond this rock is a
beautiful green meadow called
the Griitli. Here at midnight
of the 7th Nov. 1307, thirty
patriotic Swiss from the three
surrounding cantons met and
formed a solemn league, to free
their country from the oppres-
sion of the Austrians.

Issuing from the rock in the
meadow are three springs, which
tradition says, gushed forth when
the oath was sworn, from the
spot on which stood the three
leaders, Walter Furst, Arnold,
and Stauffacher. In 1859 the
Swiss Society for Public Benefi®
raised a subscription among the
youths of Switzerland to buy the
meadow and present it to the
nation. Across the lake on the
face of the Frohnalpstock may be
seen a cleft from which an enor-
mous block of stone fell into the
lake, raising a swell which carried
away five houses in Sisikon, and
drowned nine persons. Touching
at SISIKON we afterwards reach
the landing of Tell's Platte
(Restaurant : Hotel zur Tells
Platte higher up). A short walk
from the landing is the rocky
ledge on which is Tell's Chapel.
Tradition says this was the rock
on to which Tell sprang when he
escaped from the boat in which
Gessler was carrying him prisoner
(p. 71). The earliest history of
'Fell is found in the MS. of the
Weisses Buck at Sarnen (p. 58).
The old chapel built in 1368 was
taken down in 1879, as the
walls were crumbling away. It
was rebuilt in its original form
in 1880. The walls of the
chapel are frescoed with scenes
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from Swiss history by Swiss
artists.

Tho last landing-place is
Flitelen (Kreutz, Tell). The
station for the St Gotthard rail-
way is opposite the landing-place
(see p. 71).

(.) LUCERNE TO KUSSNACHT
AND IMMENSEE, 8 m. in 1 hr. ;
Fares—2 fes., 1 fe.

Leaving Lucerne (p. 42) and
rounding the promontory of
Meggenhorn and entering the
Lake of Kiissnacht, we see on
the left the fine new chateau of
New Hapsburg. Behind it is the
tower of the ancient castle of
Hapsburg, built in 1242 by Count
Rugolph, and laid in ruins by the
confederates in 1352.

The first stop is at Hinter-
Meggen (PENSION GOTTLIEBEN,
comfortable). We now cross teo
Greppen under the Rigi, and
reach H

Kiissnacht (Hor. DU Lag,
Schwartzer Adler). An omnibus
runs to Immensee (2 m.) in con-
nection with the steamers on
Lake Zug (p. 50). Leaving
Kiissnacht we pass on the right
(3 m.) a fragment of a wall said
to be the ruins of Gessler’s
Castle (p. 71). A little farther
on we pass through the Hihle
Gasse, or hollow way, where
Tell shot Gessler after his escape
at Tell’s Chapel. The spot, 4 m.
from Immensee, is marked by
Tell’s Chapel. A frescoe of
the event is on the outer wall.
Tourists can either return to
Lucerne from the station Ime
mensee Kiissnaeht (p. 71), or
go on } m. to Iinmensee (p. 50).

(¢) LUCERNE TO ALPNACH
GESTAD, see Route XXXI.
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THE RIGI

The summit of the Rigi is reached by rail either from Virzyau on Lake
Lucerne, or from ARTH-GOLDAU near Lake Zug. The former is the most
convenient route for travellers coming from Lucerne, and the latter froin
Zurich. For the R16G1-SCHEIDEGG a branch line goes off at Rigl-Kaltbad, a
station on the Vitznau line. A mule track also leads to the summit from
Weggis (p. 44). The railways are open from Ist June to Ist October.
Travellers making the ascent should Invariably bring warm wraps with
them,

Hotels. The hotels on the Rigi are fine large establlshments, and during
summer are crowded not only by tourists who make the ascent simply to
see the magnlficent view, but by many persons who take advantage of the
glorious scenery and invigorating mountain air to make a prolonged stay.
Tourists intending to stay over night at any of the Rigi hotels should
invariably telegraph or write for their rooms in advance.

On the Rigi-Kulm, the highest point, are SCHREIBER'S RIGI KULM
HOTELS, large and comfortable. —On the Rigi-Staffel, where the
two routes meet, are the HoTEL RiGI-SrAr¥rEL, best. Holel Stafiel
Kulm, and Hotel Rigi-bahn, only tolerable. At the junction of the Vitznan
and Rigi-Scheidegg lines is the fine RIGI-KALTBAD HOTEL, comfortable,
and much frequented by persons making a prolonged stay, The Hotel
Bellevue, moderate. On the Rigi-Scheldegg Raliway are the HoTeL Ricl-
First, and at the terminus is the fine HOTEL RIGI-SCHEIDEGG, very
eomfortable, moderate charges. Recommended for a prolonged visit.

The Rigi (5900 ft.) is a group of
mountainsdividing theLakeof Lu-
cerne fromLake Zug and thesmall
Lowerzer See. From the Lakes
of Lucerne and Zug the rugged
sides rise precipitously from the
water, but slope more gradually
towards the Lowerzer See. From
the summit the view en a clear
day comprises a magnificent pano-
rama of ever 300 miles in circum-
ference. Asearlyas the beginning
oflast century,hotels were ereeted
on the Rigi for the accommoda-
tion of the numerous pilgrims
whe flocked there to pray at the
shrine of St Marie zum Schnee,
or St Mary of the Snow, which
was erected in 1690, and which
was supposed te have miraculous
powers of healing.

The view from the Kulm is the
most extensive to the north and
west, and that from the Sehel-
dege to the south and east, while
the views of the Bernese Alps are
equally fine from both summits,
Tourists should by no means
omit seeing both views, as though
the outlook from the Kulm is

the more extensive, nothing can
exeeed the beauty of the view of
the Urner See and its surround-
ing heights as seen from the
Seheidegg.

After enjoying the grand pane-
rama as a whole, the scene should
be viewed in detail threugh J.
Waldis’ powerful telescope.
Waldis will point out at the same
time all the different peaks and
glaciers.

Route from Vitznau. This
route affords mueh finer views
than the Arth-Geldau route,
which runs for the greater part
of the distance in a valley., Fares
for the ascent frem Vitznau to
the Kealtbad, 4} frs.; to the
Staffel, 6 frs, ; and to the Kulm,
7 frs, :gin;e, 1 lixb 2]% min. De-
scent, 18. ; s, Iu,
free ; each additional 100 %a??
fr. For route frem Lucerne to
Vitznau by steamer, see page 44.

The line, which is run on the
“rack and pinion” system,
attains & maximum gradient of
1 in 4. The speed of running
doces not exceed 4 miles per hour,
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Between the main railsis a heavy
notched rail which is gripped by
powerful cogwheels under the
engine. Both engines and car-
riage have enormously powerful
breaks which can instantaneously
stop the train if required.

Leaving Vitznau, as the train
creeps straight up the steep
slope, the view of the lake begins
to expand, and far above us we
see the Hotel Rigi-Kaltbad.
Turning abruptly, the line runs
parallel with the mountain side,
through a short tunnel, and then
crosses the deep ravine of
Schaurtobel over a light iron
bridge, the view from which is
very fine. The train now stops
a few minutes at Fredbergen to
water, and again at Romati-
Felsenthor. Next we come to the

Kaltbad (4728 ft.) (KURHAUS
KALTBAD, a much frequented
health resort, delightfully situ-
ated and sheltered from the
cold N. and E. winds ; Bellevue
at the station). -Immediately
behind the Kurhaus is St Michaels
Chapel. A spring issuing from
a rock is called Schwesternborn,
from a legend that three beauti-
ful sisters were brought here by
an angel to find refuge from the
unwelcome addresses of an
Austrian bailiff in the time of
Tell. The chapel is hung with
votive offerings of quaint pic-
tures. On the left wallis amarble
tablet erected to the memory of
Mary Stanley by her brother the
late Dean of Westminster.

Ten minutes walk from the
Hotel is the Kiinzll, where from
a projecting rock.is a grand
view, especially beautiful at
sunset.

(For line to the Scheidegg, see
page 49.)

Staffelkshe is the next station.
Just after leaving Staffelhshe as
we emerge from the cutting, a
magnificent panorama of the
country lying to the north and
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west breaks upon us, the sides o

the mountain descending almost
vertically to the plain, Eight
minutes farther on is Rigi
Staffel, where the line from Arth
joins in (see page 49).

The peak to the S W.
(12 min. to summit from the
station) is the Rigl Reothstock
(5456 ft.), which commands the
finest view of Lake Lucerne.
From the Kulm, portion of the
lake is hidden by the intervening
peaks,

Rigi Kulm is the terminus,
and the highest point on the
Rigi.

The sunrise from the Kulm
(5906 ft.) is but seldom seen in
all its beauty, but once so seen
is a sight never to be forgotten.
An alpine horn is blown half an
hour before sunrise, and the
traveller will do well to heed at
once its warning notes, as the
first breaking of the dawn is not
the least lovely part of the en-
chanting scene.

At rare intervals the curious
phenomenon of the spectre of -
the Rigi is seen. On the mist
rising from the valley beneath,
the sun throws in clear outline
the shadows of the mountain,
and those who may be on its
summit. Sometimes the shadows
are encircled with a halo of pris-
matie colours.

To the south we see the whole
range of the Bernese Alps, with
the towering heights of the Jung-
frau, Silberhorn, Eiger, Monch,
Wellhorn, the three peaks of the
‘Wetterhorn, and highest of all
the Finsteraarhorn (14,000 ft.).
Then comes the Unterwalden
range with its loftiest peak of
Titlis. Farther to the left are
the Uri-Rothstock and the
Blackenstock, with their glaciers,
the pyramid of the Bristenstock,
then the double peak of the
Scheerhorn, and behind, Tadi.

To the east, in the distance
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are the snowy heights of the
Gldrnisch, and necarer, like gig-
antic sentinels, are the sharp and
solitary peaks of the Mythen,
while beyond, Sentis, in the
Canton Appenzell, just shows
above the horizon.  Sloping
down to the little Lowerzer See
is the ROSSBERG, on whose side
is clearly secen the awful scar
left by the great landslip. The
Rossberg is formed like the Rigi
of a hard conglomerate of small
flints and limestone bound to-
gether with a natural cement ;
through this, run strata of softer
rock. On the evening of the
22d Sept. 1806, through the
undermining of the softer strata
by heavy rains, without a
moment’s warning, a hugo por-
tion of the mountain side, 2
miles long, 1000 ft. wide, and
100 ft. thick, fell from a height
of 3000 ft. into the valley be-
low, burying 4 villages and
450 persons. The Lowerzer See,
one fourth of which was filled
up, rose 80 ft. sweeping into
the lake the houses on its bank
with their inhabitants. Some of
the debris was precipitated
a distanco of over 5 miles. The
cffects of the landslip are best
seen from the Rigi Scheidegg.

Turning now to the north and
west, Lake Zug les at our feet,
and stretching far away to the
mountainsof the Black Forest, are
the fertile plains of the Canton of
Luzerne, dotted with the smaller
lakes of Sempach, Baldegg, and
Hallwyl. Still farther to the
west, right below us, is the Bayof
Kussnacht, and beyond, the town
of Lucerne, totheleft of which rise
the frowning heights of Pilatus.

2. Route from Arth-Goldau.
Arth-Goldau is reached by rail
either from Lucerne (1 hr., see
p- 71) or Zurich (see p. 50).
Connection is also made at Arth
with the steamers on Lake Zug
(see page 50).

49

The Arth-Goldau Railway is
run on the same system as the
Rigirailway. Time, 1 hr. 16 min.;
fare, 8 frs. ascent. Return ticket,
11 frs. Descent, 4 frs. Ascend-
ing the valley lying between the
Kulm and the Scheidegg, and
stopping at the small stations
Krabel (2507 ft.) and Fruteli (3780
ft.), we arrive at Klésterli
(Hotels Schwert, Sonne), where is
the shrine of St Maria zum
Schnee already alluded to. The
chapel is still much visited by
pilgrims on 5th August and 6th
September. From Klosterli a
short path leads to the Rigi-
First, a station on the Rigi-
Scheidegg line (sce below). At
Rigi-Staffel the Rigi railway is
joined. See above.

3. Route from Rigl-Kaltbad
to the Rigi-Scheidegg., 40 min.
Fare, 2.50. Return ticket, 3.60.
This railway is built on the or-
dinary railway system, having
small engines with powerful
breaks. The line winds round
the Erecipitous sides of the Roth-
stock and Scheidegg, affording
lovely views of the lakes and
mountains. The first stop is at
Rigi-First,where is the fine R1c1-
FirsT HOTEL. At Unterstelten is
the small Hotel Rigi-Unterstetten.
Passing through the Weisseneck
Tunnel and over a viaduct we
reach the Scheidegg, and shortly
after the terminus at the Rigi-
Sehcidegg Motel, a most de-
lightful stopping-place, and well
recommended,

A pleasant excursion combin-
ing these three routes may be
made by going first to the sum-
mit of the Aulm, then returning
to the Kaltbad and taking the
line for the Ri i-Scheidegg. Re-
turn from the Rigi-Scheidegg tc
the Rigi-First station, and walk
down the mountain to Klosterls,
10 min., whence taxe the Arth-
Rigi line to Arth-Goldau, p. 71,
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Route XXVIIIL.
ZURICH TO ZUG AND LUCERNE.

Railway to Zug, 24} m., 1-1} hrs. Fares, 4.5 c., 2.85 ¢, 2.5 c.
4 Fares, 7 frs., 4.90 c., 3.50 c.

1 m,, 13-24 hrs.

To Lucerne,
Best views on the left,

Another ronte is by rail or steamer to Horgen or Wédensweil, and thence to

Zug by omnibus, see below.

A. RaiL ROUTE.

At Altstetten (2% m.) we leave
the Bile line and pass through
the Reppisch-Thal, having a fine
view of the Uetleberg (p. 27) on
our left. Emerging from a
tunnel under the Ettenberg we
come in sight of the Bernese
Alps, the Rigi, and Mt. Pilatus.
From Metmenstetten an omnibus
(1 hr.) runs to Hausen, where is
the hydropathic establishment of
Albisbrunn. - 13 m. from Hausen
on the road to Baar (p. 51)is a
monument marking the spot
where Zwingli fell in battle, fight-
ing against the Roman Catholic
cantons, Oct. 11, 1531. He died
in the small church of Kappel
uear by.

Zng (24} m., pop. 5000, Hor.
HinscH, Zuricherhof, Liwe, Ocks),
on the Lake of Zug, is the capital
of the canton. In the Arsenal is
a collection of ancient arms and
standards. One of the latter is
stained with the blood of the stand-

bearer, Peter Collins, who
was killed at the battle of Arbedo
between the Swiss and Milanese
(p-74). In the church of St Oswald
are some pictures and church
treasures. Outside of the town is
the church of St Michael. In the
mortuary chapel attached, are
a large number of skulls which
have been labelled with the
names and dates of the birth
and death of the deceased. The
new Government Building is a
handsome renaissance edifice.

On the W. side, on the Zugcr-

berg (3220 ft.), are the handsome
KURHAUS FELSENBERG and KUR-
HAUS SCHONFELS, surrounded b
beautiful grounds and command-
ing lovely views. Omnibus twice
daily from the station, 2} frs.
At Menzingen, 43 m. E., 1s the
hydropathic establishment of
SCHONBRUXN, comfortable.

[Steamers run on the Lake
of Zug, in connection with the
trains, to ARTH (see p. 71) stop-
ping at Walckwyl and Immensee.
Fare, 1.60 c., 90 c.

The Lake of Zug, 9 m. leng
by 2} wide, is most picturesquely
situated at the foot of the N.
slope of the Rigi. From Im-
mensee omnibuses run to Kuss-
nacht, on Lake Lucerne, 23 m. (see
p. 46) thrice daily. From ARTH,
at the foot of the lake (ot
Adler, du Rigt), a branch railway
runs to Arth Geldam for the
railway up the Rigi (see p. 49).]

The trains back out of Zug
station, so tourists should change
their seats accordingly. Cham
({nn Rabe) is a large centre for
the manufacture of condensed
milk. The church has a fine
slender spire. Rothkreuz (31
m., small yestaurant at the station)
is the junction for the St Gotthard
line (p. 70) and the line to darau
(p- 28). Approaching Luecerne
we skirt the little Rothsee, 13 m.
long, and crossing the Reuss join
the line from Bile, Lucerme,
see p. 42.
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B. ZuricH T0 ZuGg BY HORGEN.

Railway, 11 m., § hr., orsteamer, 13 hr. to ZZorgen. Omnibusto Zug (12} m.),
at 8.50 a.m., in 2} hrs, Fare, 2.80 ¢, Carriage, 1 horse, 10 frs.; 2 horses, 16 frs.

To Horgen (see p. 31), pedes-
trians should take the road over
the Horger Egg to the Sikl
Briicke (see below). It saves 2
miles, and the views are finer.

Leaving Horgen the road as-
cends in zig-zags, passing the
Kwrkaus Bokken, formerly an old
chateau. At HAURUTHI we join
the road from Wia',denswlyl (p. 31).
At HirzeL (43 m., frn Zum
Morgenthal) we reach the top of

Route

the ascent” and then descend
into the valley of the Sil. In
6% m. we cross the curious
covered SIHL BRUCKE (Fun Krone).
At Baar (Lindenhof) (see p. 50)
is a bone house, where the natives
deposit in piles, the skulls of
their deceased friends. In the
village is a cotton mill with
70,000 spindles and 640 windows.
Zug, 123 m., see above

XXIX.

LUCERNE TO BERNE BY THE EMMENTHAL.

Railway, 59 m., 2}-8} hrs,; Fares, 11 frs.,7.50c., 5.50 c. Best views onthe left,

Leaving Lucerne (p. 42) the
train passes through a long
tunnel, § m. under the Zimmm-eﬁg
into the broad valley of the
Kleine Iimme. To the L. is Mt.
Pilatus.

Malters, 73 m. (lan, Kreus),
-with a fine church.

[24 m. south of Malters is Schwar-
zenberg (2760 ft., WE1sSEs KREUZ,
Kurhaus Matt), a pleasant summer
resort; omnibus four times daily.
2 m. higher up the hill (3494 ft.) is
a comfortable inn, Kurhaus Eigenthal.
From Maliters also, a road (6% m.),
leads over the Bramegg Pass to Entle-
buch (see below). 3} m. on the road
is the Kvrnaus FARNBUHLER, com-
fortable, fine views, with a mineral
spring containing iron and soda.]

Passing Schackern and crossing
the Emmet, we see on the L.
the old monastery of Werthenstein,
now an asylum for the deaf and
dumb, At Wohlhausen we
enter the fertile valley of the
Entlebuch. Entlebuch (Fot. du
Port).

[The Napr (4620 ft., Inn) can be
ascended in 2} hrs. On the slope, 2
brs. from Entlebunch, is the Kurnavus
MENZBURG. Splendid view, 8 m.
S. of Entlebuch are the baths of
Schimberger (4680 ft., KurmAUs
SCUIMBERGER), with sulphur springs.
Carriage road for 6 m, (2 pers., 10
frs.), then bridle path to the baths,
Horsc all the way, 10 frs, The hotel
commands a charming view, and is
surronnded by pleasant grounds.

Schitpfhelm (7, Adler). 13
m. to the E., is the Kwrhaus
Heilig-Kreuz, a summer resort.
Langnau, 26 m., pop. 7200 (Hot.
Emmenthal), is a prosperous vil-
age in the Emmenthal, a fer-
tile valley, 25 m. long by 12 wide.
Its pasturage is very rich, no less
than 5000 tons of cheese being
annually exported. A branch
line runs to Burgdorf (p. 4).

At Gimlingen, 54 m., the line
from Thun joins in. Passengers
for Thun change here. Berne
(p. 5).
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Route

XXX.

BERNE TO THUN AND INTERLAKEN.

Railway te Thun, 1 hr., 3.35 c, 2.35 ¢., 1.70 c.

Interlaken, 2 hrs.

Steamers from Thun to

Passengers for Interlaken keep thelr places to Scherz-

lingen, the landing place for the Steamers, § m. from Thun. Through

tickets to Interlaken, 640 c., 5.35 c., 3.20 c,
available for the saloon on the boat.

Leaving Bern we pass through
a fertile but uninteresting valley

Second class tickets are

to Thun, the Bernese Alps being
in view most of the distance. =

THUN, pop. 5200. Hotels—GRAND HOTEL DE THUN, magnificent and
very comfortable hotel, beautifully situated on the Aare, recommended for a

prolonged stay, BELLEVUE, large and comfortable.
Good second class, Falke, on the Aare.

the town.

HOTEL BAUMGARTEN.
Freienhef, near the quay. Kreuz, In

Cafes, Café du Casino, Café Freienhof. Boats, 2 frs. per hr. with boat-
man, 50 ¢. without. Eng. Chapel in the Hotel Bellevue garden.

Thun, beautifully situated on
both banks of the river Aare, at
its exit from the lake, is one of
the most picturesque towns in
Switzerlan(g. Besides the large
number of tourists who pass
through to and from Interlaken,
many English and American
families pass the entire summer
at Thun. Indeed, there is no
place in Switzerland that affords
more attractions as a summer
resort. The most prominent ob-
jects are the Church and ancient
Chatean. A covered flight of
218 steps leads up to them from
the town. The church was built
in 1738, after the burning of an
ancient building of the 10th
cent.,” the only remaining por-
tion of which is the tower and
the passage below it. On the
walls of this passage are some
ancient frescoes, recently dis-
covered under-a coat of white-
wash. The view from the
Churchyard, of the town, lake,
and mountains is very striking
and beautiful.  Alongside the
Church is the square turreted
Chateau, built in 1264 by the
Counts of Kyberg (p. 28), on their
inheriting sovereign rights over

Thun, from Berthold V. of
Zshringen. The lower walls of
the castle are 15 ft. thick.
The old banqueting hall is now
divided into two storeys, and is
much dilapidated. The kitchen
fire-place, capable of roasting
an ox whole, still remains. The
gortion of the building to the

. is now the municipal offices.
On the walls are the arms of all
the Mayors of Thun, from 1375 to
1830. e Staadthausisa curious
medizeval building, containing
the town librzu;f and some his-"
torical relics. To the S. of the
railway station is the large
Federal Military College, and
manufactory of ammunition. The
Keramic Museum contains a fine
collection of Thun majolica on
sale. In the Café Maulbeerbokm
the Emp, Nap. IIL lived for
several years, while servir:g in
the Swiss army. The Federal
Stables were established to im-
prove the breed of horses. The
foals are called to feed by beat
of drum.

Pleasant walks are along the
Promenade Schabis, on the bank
of the Aare.

To the

handsome Chateau
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Skadau of Mons. Rougemont of
Berne, on the lake (} m.) near
Scherzlingen. The gardens are
open to visitors on Sunday.

To the Promenade of Bichi-
matt, with shady walks and lovely
views. Near the Bichimatt is
the Chartreuse (visitors admitted),
an ancient Gothic chateau, built
in the 13th cent. by the warrior-
poet Von Stritlingen, whose
tomb is in the Bichikdlzli, in
the grounds. This walk can be
pleasantly continued by following
the path ascending through the
pretty ravine of the Kokleren to
the beautifully wooded Grusis-
berg. 'The finest point of view
on the Grusisberg is the Raben-
fluk or ‘raven’s rock ” (3850 ft.),
on which is a pavilion. The walks
through the Grusisberg woods
are charming, and the giﬂ'erent
directions are all indicated by
finger-posts.

To the Pavillon St Jacques,
fine view, 10 min. ascent behind
the Hotel Bellevue.

A delightful walk is also past
the Chartreuse, to the fine new
Chateau of Hiinegg, with beauti-
ful grounds (adm. by applying to
the gardener), and on to the
villages of Hilterfingen and Ober-
hofer. (1 hr.), where there is a
steamboat landing.

Thun is almost unrivalled as a
centre for making delightful
Excursions. Among them are
those to the

Nicsen (7760 ft.). Steaniboatto
Azgz'ez (p- 54). Thence drive to

manas (3% m.).

Mail-carriage, with 3 seats, daily.
One horse carriage, 4 frs. A mail
carriage also runs from Thun to
Brodhiist, (p. 81), 1 m. from Wimmis,
twice daily, in 1 hr. Bridie path from
Wimmis in 4§ hrs. The ascent can
also be made from Heustrich-Bad
(p. 79) in 4 hrs,, or Frutigen in 5 hrs,
(p- 79). Horse from either of these
starting points, 17 frs. If kept all night
(ur Y, as the d t (3 hrs.)
is casier made on foot), 25 frs. Gnide
(unnecessary), 8 frs. Chairs, 12 frs.
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cach porter. The path from Wimmis
is the best, but thc route can be
pleasantly varied by ascending from
Wimnis, and descending to Heustrich-
Bad (p. 79), from which an omnibus
runs daily to Thun. Tourists intend-
ing to continue their journey over
the Gemmi Pass (Route Lx111.) should
descend to Frutigen (p. 79). Tourists
ascending in the morning should
start from Wimmis, in the afternoon
from Heustrich-Bad.

Whmmis (Inn, Lowe)is a pretty
village, with an ancient castle,
once belonging to the Barons of
Weissenberg ; now a school. The
summit of the Niesem (7760 ft.)
commands a magnificent view of
the Berneso Oberland, rivalling
that from the Faulhorn, and
even finer than the more distant
prospect from the Rigi. It also
embraces a panorama of the
higher peaks of the Mout Blanc
and Jura ranges. There is
fairly comfortable Izn on the
summit. The different peaks
visible are indicated in Dill’s
panorama at the Inn.

To the summit of the Steeke
horn (7200£t., magnificent view).
Post-wagon to Blumenstein, see
below, thence 4 hrs.; or from
Amsoldigen, 3% m.. ascent 45 hrs. ;
or from Erlenbach, 105 m., ascent
4% hrs. All these ascents are
difficult, especially the latter,

which is exceedingly so. Guide
necessary.
To Gurnigel Bad, 4 hrs,

drive, 1 horse carriage, 25 frs.,
2 horse, 50 frs., but bargain can
sometimes be made for less. Or
mountain path, 34 hrs. walk,
guide necessary. Gurnigel is a
beautiful health resort, much
frequented by Swissand Germans.

The fine KURHAUS GUR-
NIGEL, 500 beds, kept by the
Hauser Bros., 1s delightfully
situated amid lovely woods and
gardens, Asit is purely a health
resort, the fare is plain but good,
and prices exceedingly moderate.
A continual round of amuse-
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ments during the season (June
to Sept.) is provided for visitors.
Gurnigel can also be reached
from Berne by diligence twice
daily in 5 hrs. (7 frs.; coupé,
8.50 c.)

To the Baths of Welssenburg,
141 m. (p. 82).

To St Beatemberg (p. 57).
Steamers to Merlingen.

To the Baths of Blumene-
steln (6 m., post-wagon, 1.30 ¢.).
Comfortable Hotel. =~ Moderate
prices. A picturesque village,
at which is the pretty cascade of
the Fallbach.

THUN TO INTERLAKEN.
Steamers, 4 times daily in 2 hrs,, starting from the quay at Thun, and

stopping at Scherzlingen to embark railway passengers from Berne.

From

Dirlingen, at the head of the lake, trains run in 10 min. to Interlaken. Fares,

Thun to Interlaken, 2.95 ¢.

A new road resembling the Axensirasse (p. 45)

has been constructed along the N. shere of the lake to Interlaken. Carriages
at moderate rates. The drive Is most picturesque all the way, recommended.

The Lake of Thun is a beauti-
ful sheet of water, 11 m. long
by 2 m. broad, and surrounded
on all sides by precipitons moun-
tains. Leaving Scherzlingen we
enter the lake and see on the L.
the Clateaw Clartreuse (p. 53), ana
on the R. the Chateaun Schadaun
(p. 53). On the R. also we see
the peaks of the Stockhorn and
Niesen, and farther on the three
peaks of the Blumlis Alp.

Now passing on the L. the
Clatea  Hunegg 53), the
steamer touches at Oberhofen
(Pens. Zimmermann, Pens. Moy),
with a picturesque chateau of
the 14th cent., for some time
the residence of Walter von
Eschenbach, one of the murderers
of the Emp. Albert (p. 23).
It has been recently restored
and now belongs to the Countess
Pourtalés.

Gunten (Pens. du Lac, Pens.
Graber), 20 min. from Gunten,
is the picturesque gorge of
Guntenschlucht.

‘We now cross over to Splez
(Spiezerhof, on the lake, Pens.

Sclhonegg on the hill, ' m. from
the landing), with an ancient
castle, said to have been originally
built by the Romans. It was
enlarged in 1250 by the Barons
of Strittlingen. From 1518 to
1880 it belonged to the family of
Von Erlach. It was then sold
to Prince Charles of Prussia.
Leaving Spiez the peaks of the
Jungfrau, Ménch, Eiger, Schieck-
korn, and Wetterhorn come into
view on the right.

Fanlensee, on the hill above
is the FAULENSEE BAD, a large
pension.

We now cross over to MerHn-
gen (Inn, Lowe), beyond which
the promontory of the Nase,
a spur of the Beatenlurg, juts
out. From Mecrlingen a steep
path leads in 1} hrs. to the
village of St Beatenberg (p. 57).

Farther on, in the face of the
Beatenberg, is the Beatenhéhle
or cave of St Beatus (p 57).
The steamer ends the voyage at
Darlingen, whence the railway
takes us in 10 m. to

INTERLAKEN.

Omnibus to all the Hotels, 1 fr.
add. hr., 3 frs.
Hotels,

Carriages, 1 horse, first hr., 5 frs., each
Per day, 1 horse, 15 frs.; 2 horse, 30 frs.
On the Hoheweg, with view of the Jungfrau, are the HOTEL VIC-

TORIA, very comfortable; HOTEL RITSCHARD ; HOTEL JUNGFRAU,

also comfortable.

These hotels are magnificent large establishments of

the very first class. HoOTRLS SWEIZERHO¥, BELVEDELF, DE SALPES. BEAU

>
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RIVAGE, all first-class. On the Rugen, abont the same distance from the
statlen, is the HOTEL JUNGFRAUBLICK, very fine hotel, exceedingly
comfortable, in Dbeautiful gardens with splendid view of the Jungfrau
Near the Hoheweg, on the Matten road, Is the HoTEL WYDER, large and
comfortable, Seeond-class—Ilot. Interlaken, Hot. Oberland, Hot. du Lac,
Deutscher Hof. At UNTERSEEN, Hot. Unterseen, Hot. Beau Site.

Casino on the Hoheweg, in pleasant gardens, with reading, conversation, bil-
liard, and ball rooms. Concerts daily, 7.30 to 8.30 A.x., 3.30 to 5 p.., and
8 to 10 p.y. Children's dances at 3 p 1., and reunions dansantes in the
evening. Jeu de Courses, & mild form of gambling. Whey eure. Admls-
slon, 50 ¢. per day, 2 frs. per week. Families of 2 to 3 persons, 4 frs. per
week, or 12 frs, per mo. Large families, 6 frs. and I8 frs.

Restaurants and Cafés. Indermiihie, near the Caslno. Oberlander,
RESTAURANT, TRINKHALLE, and Café Unspunnen in the Rugen Park.

Eng. Ch. Ser. in the old monastery at the East end of the Hiheweg. Presby-

terian scrvice in the Schloss,

Interlaken (pop. 4200), tho
most frequented of all the Swiss
resorts, is beautifully situated
on a narrow plain 3} m. long b;
2 m. wide, called the Bidelz,
separating the lakes of Thun
and Breinz. To the south opens
the lovely valley of the Liitschine,
through which we see the dazzling
slopes of the Jungfran (13,670
ft. ), almost from base to summit.
Sixty years ago Interlaken was
only a tiny hamlet with one poor
little inn, while now it is the
rendezvous of over 60,000 visitors a
year, and no place in Switzerland,
except perhaps Geneva, has so
many large and comfortable ho-
tels. The principal street is the
Hoheweg, a long avenue beauti-
fully shaded with walnut trees,
one side of which is lined with
fine hotels, and on the other is
a broad green meadow. Con-
nected with Interlaken are the
hamlets of Aarmiikle and Unter-
seen, Interlaken is often very
warm in midsummer, but in
spring and autumn the climate
is delightful. A most pictur-
esque feature is the wooden
houses, many of which are decor-
ated with fine carvings. At the
E. end of the Hiheweg are the
ancient MONASTERY AND NUNNERY
OF INTERLAKEN, built in 1130.
The monastery is now used as a
hospital and government offices.
The nunnery, connected with the

monastery by an underground
passage, 1s now a prison.  Both
monastery and nunnery were
suppressed in 1528 on account of
the bad reputation their inmates
had acquired. The Schloss was
added to the monastery in 1750.
The monastery church has been
divided up ; the choir being used
for the English Church service,
and the nave for the Roman
Catholic. The Scoteh Presby-
terian and French Protestant
services are held in the Schloss.

‘Walks from Interlaken,

To #he Kleine Rugen, a
beautifully wooded park on a
hill to the-S., planted with
specimens of all the Swiss trees
by the botanist Kastofer of Berne.
Following the Matten road and
passing the entrance gates of
tho Hotel Jungfraublick, we
turn to the R. into a shaded
avenue, and reach (1} br.) the
TRINKHALLE (good restaurant).
From the terrace we have a
lovely view of the Jungfrou and
Monch. A path to the R., a
little before coming to the Trink-
halle, leads in } hr. to Rugenléhe
(2425 ft.), the highest point in
the park, commanding fine views
of the lakes of Thun and Brienz,
the valley of Bideli, and the
Jungfran. Leaving the-Trink-
halle, the road winds round the
hill past the Waldgletscher Pa-
vilion and the Kastoferstein, a
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stone bearing an inscription to
Kastofer (see above), back in %
hr. to the Hotel Jungfraublick.

The Helmweh-Fluh, 2220 ft,,
is reached by passing the Trink-
kalle (see above), and taking the
gfrth to the R., which descends

irectly into the Wagneren-
Schluckt, or that to the L., which
leads to the Café Unspunnen (10
min. ), from which we turn to the
R. along the main road into
Wagneren-Schlucht. Theshortest
way from Interlaken (} m.) is by
the road passing the station, or
that leading through Aarmiihle
(see map). From the Wagneren-
Schlucht, a path leads in 20 m.
to-the Restaurant near the sum-
mit. The view is finest from the
pavilion a little farther up.

The Castle of Unspunnen is
reached in 4 hr. either by the
road through the Wagneren-
Schlucht (best), or by the road to
Wilderswyl.  Tourists visiting
the Rugen Park can reach it in
10 min. from the Café Unspun-
nen (see above). This ancient
ruin was one of the fortresses of
Berthold, the founder of Berne ;
it is also supposed to have been
the residence of Byron’s Manfred.

The Mohbiahl (2090 ft., 4 hr.)
is reached by crossing the Aare
over the bridge at the E. end of
the Hoheweg, and ing the
path to the left. The pavilion
commands a fine view of the
valley. This walk may be con-
tinued by ascending still farther
to the Unter-Bleicki, and then fol-
lowing the path to the W. and
descending to the pavilion on the
Lusthiikl, and recrossing the
Aare behind the Kursaal ('i}_; hrs.
in all).

The ruins of the Castie of
Weissenau (3 hr.) are on a
small island in the Aare at its
entrance into Lake Thun.

There is a pretty walk along
the banks of the Aare to the
village of Goldswyl (2 m.), near

which is the little Faulensee.
From the Turmberg, 4 hr.
ascent from Goldswyl, is a fine
panorama of the Lakes of Thun
and Brienz and the valley be-
tween. One m. on the road past
Goldswyl is the village of Rime
Kenberg, with the ruins of a
chateau built in 1182, amid
which a pretty church has been
erected.

The ascent of the Marder
(5220 ft., 3 hrs.), though ap-
parently easy is dangerous,owing
to the slippery short grass, and
should not be attempted without
a guide. Several fatal accidents
have occurred to both gentle-
men and ladies.

Longer Exeursions.

To the Schynige Platte (7
m., gg hrs.), carriage to Gsteig
(p. 60). Thence the horse can
be ridden to the summit, or a
horse may be taken from Inter-
laken, Charge for either, 17
frs. Boy, who will carry light
luggage, 2 frs. The Schynige
Platte (6800 ft.) commands
one of the finest views in the
Oberland. On the summit is
the comfortable HOTEL ALPEN-
ROSE. Close to the hotel is a
shining slate rock which gives
the name to the mountain. To
the S. we have a splendid view
of nearly all the peaks of the
Bernese Alps, Grindlewald gla-
ciers, and far below, the valley
of Lauterbrunnen and the
silvery Staubbach. To the N.
we look down on the Lakes of
Brienz and Thun and the Inter-
laken Valley. The most exten-
sive view is from the Daubenkorn,
} br. from the hotel.

The descent ean be made in
24 hrs. to Zweiliitschinen (p. 60).
Guide necessary, 6 frs. About
3 m. from the hotel on the Iselten
Alp is a beautiful meadow which
supports over 600 head of cattle.

rom the Schynige Platte a

. E -
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bridle path leads in 3} hrs. to
the Faulhorn (p. 63). Horse,
14 frs. Guide unnecessary.

The Breitlaucnen-Alp (4700
ft., good Inn and Pension) com-
mands a magnificent view of the
lakes and valley. Reached from
Gsteig by the path to the
Schynige Platte (see above).

St Beatenberg (2} hrs,, Dr
MuLreEr's KURHAUS, comfort-
able. Hor. DEs Arpes, Hor.
ALPENROSE ; HoT. BELLEVUE).
Eng. Ch. Ser. at the Bellevue.
Omnibus daily at 3 p.M., 5 frs.
returning, 4 frs.; 1 horse car-
riage, 17 frs. ; 2 horse, 28 frs.
St Beatenberg (3760 ft.) is a well
frequented health resort on the
Sundgraben, overlooking Lake
Thun and commanding fine views
of the Bernese Alps. Near the
Kurhaus Muller a path descends
1 1} hrs. to the Beatenhéhle,
or Cave of St Beatus. It can
also be reached from Merlingen
(p. 54), 4 m., or from Interlaken,
5m. These two paths fatiguing.
Row-boat from Neuhaus prefer-
able. The cave can be reached
in 15 min. from the shore. Ac-
cording to tradition, this cave
was the abode of St Beatus, a
British missionary who converted

.
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the inhabitants of this district to
Christianity. On taking posses-
sion of the cave he found it the
lair of a dragon, whose residence
there was made so uncomfortable
by the decvotions of the saint
that it left in haste. When
St Beatus wished to cross the
lake, he simply placed his cloak
on the water and was wafted
over on it. He died in the 2nd
centy. at the age of 90. A small
stream issues from the cave.
Occasionally thisstream suddenly
rises and fills it, and then rushes
out with noise like thunder. Be-
low the cave is a pretty cascade.

The Abendberg (3750 ft., Hot.

Bellevue). Bridle path in 2 hrs.
Horse, frs. Fine view of
Lake Thun.

The Saxetenthal is a pretty
valley, 8 m. long, diverging to
the right from the Liitschinenthal
at Mulinen. Near the head of
the valley is the village of Saxe-
tenthal, 1 m. from which are the
picturesque cascades of Weiss-
bach and Giirben. No hotel
accommodation.

A delightful excursion by
steamer on the Lake of Brienz
is to the Geissbaeh (p. 59).

XXXI

LUCERNE TO BRIENZ AND MEYRINGEN BY
. . THE BRUNIG PASS; AND TO INTER-
LAKEN BY THE LAKE OF BRIENZ

Steamboat to Alpnach-Gestadt 3 times daily In 1} hrs, (11 m.),

Diligence to Brienz in conneetion with the steamers, 25 m., in 6 hrs.; and to
Meyringen, 24 m., onece daily, in 6 hrs, Steamer from Brienz to Interlaken
on artival of diligence. Fares—Lucerne to Brienz and Meyringen, 10.90
frs.; coupé, 12.90 frs. To Interlaken, 13.85 fre.; coupé, 16.40 frs. Places in

the coupé or bangnette should be sceured well beforehand.
weather the banquette is the pleasantest.

In fine
One horse carniage from Alp-

nach-Gestadt to Brienz, 25 frs.; 2 horse, 40 frs.

Leaving Lucerne, the steamer
rounds the promontory of Spis-
senegg to Mergiswyl (Rossli,
plain), at the base of Mt. Pilatus.

For ascent of Mt. Pilatus see p.

44. We then cross over to

Stausstad (Hotel Winkelried).
On the point to the left of the



58

village is an old square watch
tower, erected in 1306.

From Stansstad tho ascent of
the Biirgenstoek ismade, 1horse
carriage, 6 frs. ; 2 horse, 12 frs.
Near the summit, commanding a
magnificent view, is the fine
HoTeL BURGENSTOCK, comfort-
able and moderate charges. The
hotel can be secen from the
steamer. Two . m. inland is
STANS (see p. 67). At Stansstad
the lake is narrowed by an em-
bankment to a space of a few
yards, crossed by a bridge
through which the steamer enters
the Lake of Alpnack.

At  Alpnach-Gestad (Hotel
Pilatus) we find the diligences
in waiting. One and a half miles
from the landing is the village of
Alpnach (K7rone¢). The church
at Alpnach was erected from the
proceeds obtained from eutting
down the pine forests lining the
sides of Pilatus. To bring the
logs down to the lake, an im-
mense wooden slide 8 miles leng
was constructed. In itsbuilding,
the wood of over 30,000. trees
was used. Its summit was 2700
ft. above the sea, and immense
logs only took 6 minutes to slide
down the whole distance to the
lake.

Sarnen (43 m., Obwaldner
Ilof). The old Rathhaus con-
tains portraits of the magistrates
of Obwalden, from 1381 to 1824 ;
a portrait of St Nicholas von
der Flie, see below; a plan in
relief of Unterwalden ; and the
famous Weisses Buch or * White
Book,” 1467, which contains the
earliest history of the Swiss con-
federation and the story of
‘William Tell, The bridge cross-
ing the river is 300 years old.

To the east of Sarnen is the
romantic MELCHTHAL, 12 miles in
length. In the valley 3 miles
from Sarnen is the Rauft, a gorge
in the reck where Nicolas von der
Ftiie, or ““Nicolas of the Rock,”

Route 31.—LUCERNE TO BRIENZ.

Swiss patriot, after fighting
many years for his country, re-
tired and became’a hermit (p. 67).
Tradition says he lived therc
without food, except when he
partook of the sacrament, for 19
years. After his death he was
canonized.

Leaving Sarnen we travel
along the bank of the Sarner
See, 4 miles long.

At Sachseln, in the church
built 1663, ‘arc the bones of St
Nicholas, decorated with military
orders, and which are exhibited
to visitors.

At Giswyl (Hione) we pass on
the left the ruins of the old
chateau of the Rudenz family,
and commence the ascent of the
Kaiser Stubl, and at DBurglen
reach the LAKE OF LUNGERN.
This lake was drained of more
than half its area into the
Sarner See by a tunnel, the
entrance of which can be seen
from the road. Befere us tho
three peaks of the Wetterhorn
are visible, and to the right the
bare summit of the Giswylerstoek.

We now descend to Lungern
(Léwe, comfortable Inn), prettily
situated in a deep basin, hemmed
in with precipitous rocks. The
diligence stops here 1 hour.
Table d’héte at the Lowe. Tra-
vellers for Meyringen here
change their diligence.

Leaving Lungern we commence
the ascent of the Britmig Fass,
(3600 ft.), the read winding in
zig-zag curves through a dense
forest. About £ of a mile beyond
the summit ef the pass the road
to Meyringen turns off.

In the pass is the Hotel Briinig,
plain_ but comfortable.

The descent of the pass has
been cut fer most of the wa
out of the face of the rock whic
in some glaces overhangs the
road. Pedestrians will find a
path near the village of Briinigen,
by taking which they can aveid

~
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the twistings of the road. The
scenery opened up as we descend
is very fine. Far below us is the
level valley of Meyringen, with
Meyringen at its head. In
the distance is seen to the south
the fall of Reickenback (p. 64), and
opposite is that of Olisckibach.

Brienz (Bar), on the lake of
Brienz, is the steamer landing
for the Giessbach and Interlaken.
Tourists are here warned against
the interested advice of diivers
over the Briinig lo press on to
Interlaken without spending the
night at Giessback. The illumi-
nation of the Falls s a sight the
traveller should by no means miss
seeing.

The lake of Brienz is 83 m.
long by 1} broad and from 500
to 850 feet deep.

The Giessbach. HoOTEL
GiessBACH, kept by the Hauser
Bros., one of the best hotels in
Switzerland. Most comfortable,
and moderate charges. The

hetel is lighted by electricity. -

Attached to the hotel is a fine
Pension, and a Hydropathic
Establishment.) Only a small
portion of the lower fall 8 visible
from the lake. Giessbach is one
of the loveliest spots in Switzer-

land, and not enly a charming
place for a short visit, but also
for a prolonged stay. The hotel
is reached from the landing by
an ingenious tramway worked by
water power. The former hetel
was burnt down in 1883, but a
finer building has been erected
in its place. The ZTerrace on
which the hotel stands commands
a complete view of the Falls, as
well as a charming look-out over
the lake. The falls consist of
seven cascades, the highest of
which is 1148 ft. above the lake.
Three bridges affording splendid
views of the falls cross at different
heilfhts, the centre one passing
under one of the cascades. The
falls are illuminated nightly at
9.30 p.M. by electricity and
coloured lights, and the effect is
magical. Paths have been cut
all through the woods and to the
summits of the surrounding hills,
affording, delightful walks. A
pleasant 20 min. stroll is to the
summit of the Rawuft, which
commands a fine view of the
Lakes of Brienz and Thun.

At Bénigen, the landing at the
foot of the lake, we take the
train, 12 min., to Interlaken
(see p. 55).

Route XXXIIL
INTERLAKEN TO LAUTERBRUNNEN.

Diligence twice daily in 1§ hrs.; Fare, 2.75 ¢. Carriage, 1 horse, 9 frs.; 2 horses,
17 frs; there and back, with 2 hrs. wait, 11 frs. and 20 frs.; longer

walt, 15 frs. and 30 frs.

The following excursions to
Lauterbrunnen, Miirren, and
Grindelwald are among the
most beautiful and interesting
in Switzerland, and the visitor
to Interlaken should by all means
gpend at least two days making
them, even though he may have

to give up some other portion of
his contemplated trip.

Crossing the level plain the
valley soon begins to open up
before us. To the right, after
passing the Rugen Park (p. 55),
at the foot of the Abdenberg, are
seen the ruins of the old Castle
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of Unspunnen, the fortress of
Berthold, the founder of Berne.
Is is also reputed to have been
the residence of Manfred. At
Gsteig the ascent of the Sckynige
Platte begins (see p. 56). We
now ascend the Gorge of the
Liitschine, and the lofty peaks of
the Monch and Eiger appear to
the left of the Jungfrau. On the
right we pass the Bdsestein, a
rock on which is an inseription,
¢ Here was the noble Von Ro-
thenflue slain by his own brother.
The unnatural murderer, over-
come with remorse and despair,
brought to a close in a far off
land his once mighty race.”

At Zwelliitschinen (53 m.)
the road divides, that to the left
following the Black Liitschine to
Grindelwald (see page 62), and
that to the right going along the
valley of the White Liitschine to
Lauterbrunnen. Above, to the
right, is the frowning rock of
Eisenfluk, which can be ascended
in 1 hr. Path to the right. From

Route 33. ~-LAUTERBRUNNEN TO MURREN.

Zweiliitschinen, Miirren can be
reached in 3} hrs. by the Eicen-
fluh. The road affords mag-
nificent views. Guide, 7 frs.,
desirable.

Lauterbrunnen (2615 ft.), or
‘¢ Nothing but springs.” (HorT.
STAUBBACH, opposite the falls ;
Hot. STEINBOCE.) On the right
is the Staubbach or dust stream,
which falls 980 ft. from a pro-
jecting rock. The fall, which is
S| in volume, is swayed to
and fro by the wind, and almost
lost in feathery spray. It should
be seen in the light of the morn-
ing sun, when it glitters like a
veil of finest silvery gauze. The
best view is from the flag near
the hotel Staubbach.

Half an hour’s walk up the
valley on the left is the Triim-
melbach, a beautiful waterfall
hid in a rift in the rocky side of
the Jungfran, (Adm. 50 c¢.) A
?:ug shows the entrance to the

RouTteE XXXIIIL

LAUTERBRUNNEN TO MURREN AND THE
SCHMADRIBACH.

Miirren can be reached from Lauterbrunnen either by a bridle-path leading
up the mountain to the right (2} hrs.), or by carriage-road, 3} miles to
Stechelberg, and thence by foot-path (not accessible by horse), up the
Sefinen-Thal in 2 hrs. Pedestrians are strongly recommended to ascend to
Murren by the first way, and return by the latter. The whole excursion

takes 5-6 hrs.

To visit the Schmadribach takes 3-4 hrs. more.

The

whole excursion can be made in one day by good walkers.

Horse to Miirren and back, 12 frs. Chair, 4 porters necessary, 24 frs. If
carriages be taken from Interlaken, the horses can be ridden to Murren
and back for 5 frs. each. For ladies, chairs are much to be preferred to

horseback.

The path to Miirren leaves the
road near the Steinbock Hotel,
and winds steeply up the hill
through the wood. In about an
hour the Staubback is crossed.
(Small inn.) Half-an-hour after-

wards a saw-mill is passed, and
we emerge from the wood, the
path becoming more level. The
view from here, and from the
different openings in the wood
as we ascend, of the Jungfrau,

e
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Silberhorn, Eiger, Monch, with
the rugged Schwartz Monch in
the foreground, is sublime and
magnificent beyond all descrip-
tion.

Miirren (5348 ft., GRAND
HoreL pE MURREN, fine large
hotel ; HOTEL DES ALPES; both
hotels command magnificent
views), is a small Alpine village,
situated on the brow of the
precipitous cliffs descending into
the valley of Lauterbrunnen.
Before us to the extreme L.
is the Wengern Alp, up which
we see the zig-zag path leading
to Grindelwald, and near the
summit, the Hotel Jungfrau.
Beyond is the Wetterhorn
(12,170 ft.), and nearer, the
slopes of the Jungfrau (13,670
ft.), with its two glaciers. The
summit of the Jungfrau is just
hid by the dazling Silberhorn
(l?,ng ft.). Prominent to the
R. are the Ebrefluk (13,100 ft.),
Mittaghorn, Grosshorn (12,300
ft.), and Breithorn, and lower
down we see in the distance the
fall of Schmadriback. A still
more extensive view may be had
from the ALLMENDHUBEL, £
hour’s walk above.

From Miirren the ascent of
the Schilthorn (9748 ft.) is
made in 4 hrs, ; guide, 7 frs.
The ascent is quite easy, and the
view of the Bernese Alps from
the summit is the finest 1o Switz-
erland. On the way is a tablet
to the memory of Mrs Arbuthuot,
who was killed here by lightning
in 1865, while on her wedding
tour. The first three fourths of
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the distance can be made on
horseback.

Leaving Miirren to descend on
the other side (time to Stechel-
berg, 1} hrs.; Stechelberg to
Miirren, 1 hr.), we follow a path
crossing the little Murrenbach,
down to the hamlet of Gimmel-
wald, and then descend into the
Sefinen-Thal. Crossing the bridge
over the Liitschine, the path
ascends till we come to an amphi-
theatre worn away in the side
of the mountain. Here facing
us are the beautiful Falls of
Sefinen.

A short distance beyond, the
path divides, that to the R. lead-
ing to Tracksellauen and the Falls
of the Sckmadriback, and that
to the L. descends to Steckelberg.

[Following the path to the R.,
50 min. b; us to Trach-
sellanen (Hot. Schmadribach.
An hour from here we come in
sight, at the Léger Sennbhiitte, of
the Fall of Schmadribach, a
magnificent cascade, 200 ft. in
height, issuing from the Breit-
horn Glacier.

The Obere Stelnberg (5794
ft.), reached in 1% hrs. from
Trachsellauen, commands a mag
nificent view of the mountains
and glaciers at the head of the
valley. Guide desirable, 1} frs.
Returning, a path leads down
from Trachsellaven to Stechel-
berg in about an hour. ]

At Steehelberg, small Inn, we
come upon the carriage road to
Lauterbrunnen. About half way
we pass the Falls of Triimmel-
bach (see p. 60).
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Route 3. —LAUTERBRUNNEN TO GRINDELWALD.

RouTe XXXIV.

LAUTERBRUNNEN TO GRINDELWALD,

OVER THE WENGERN ALP ; OR BY CARRIAGE ROAD, VIA
ZWEILUTCHSINEN.

1. Over the Wengern Alp, 6 hrs., horse, 20 frs. To the Wengern Alp, 12

frs.

To the Little Scheideck, 14 frs.

Reverse way, Grindelwald to the

Little Scheideck, 12 frs.  Guide unnccessary. It is better to use the horse
for the ascent only either way. The descent is easier to walk than ride.

Crossing the Liitschine near the
Hotel Staubbach, and turning to
the L. we find a little path going
in zig-zags steeply up the hill. In
4 hrs. we reach a pavilion (small
Inn), and looking down have a
beautiful view of the valley;
1 hr. farther on the path divides,
R. leading to the Pens. Wengern.
Keeping to the L. we pass the
Pens. Mittaghorn and Pens. Al-
penrose, and then, near the rugged
Tschuggen, passing through a
wood, we cross the grassy slopes
of the Wengern Alp to the
HoTEL JUNGFRAU (comfortable).
Here we have the tinest view of
Jungfrau (13,670 ft.). In sum-
mer between 11 and 2 o’clock, the
AVALANCHES may be seen and
heard as they thunder down the
precipitous side of the mountain
into the ZTriimleten Thgl below.
About 1 hr. farther on we come to
the top of the pass at the Little
Scheldeek (Hotel Bellevue), from
which we have a ificent view
of the valley of Grindelwald and
its surrounding glacier fields.
Grindelwald (see below).

2. By ecarriage road. We
return on our way as far as
Zweiliitschinen (see page 60),
and then follow up the valley of
the Black Liitschine. On our
left we pass an immense block of
stone which fell down from the
cliff above in 1881, destroying the
chalet, the ruins of which are seen
alongside. As the road begins

to ascend, we see the sharp peak
of the Schreckhorn, and then the
Eiger and Jungfrau to the right,
and the Weiterkorn to the left.

Grindelw ald (3468 it., HOTKL
DE L’OURS, best, large, and com-
fortable ; Hotel du Grand Eiger ;
Hotel du Glacier; Hotel de
Burgener). Grindelwald, beauti-
fully situated at the base of the
Eiger, Mettenberg, and Wetter-
horn, derives its principal interest
from its two glaciers.

The Lower Glacier (horse
3 frs., guide 3 frs., unnecessary),
lying between the Eiger and the
Mettenberg, a spurof the Schreck-
horn, is the most accéssible. Path
easy to follow. Time, 1br. An
ice grotto (adm. 50 c.) has been
cut in the glacier. Looking up
to the right, far above, we see a
hole in the precipitous face of the
Eiger. Through it, at noon,
twice a year (Jan. and Nov.) the
sun shines on the church at
Grindelwald. The local legend
is that, once upon a time, a lake
filled the basin now occupied by
the upper porticn of the glacier,
and as its outlet into the valley
was very narrow it constantly
overflowed, causing disastrous
inundations. The inhabitants
of Grindelwald invoked their
patron saint St Martin, who put
his back against the Mettenberg
and his staff against the Eiger,
and then gave a mighty heave
and “o-ced the mountains apart,
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and driving his stick through the
Eiger. From the grotto a short
path of 50 yards leads to the
edge of the Gorge of the
Liitschine, 890 feet deep. If
large stones are thrown into the
gorge they produce a noise like a
cannon shot on reaching the
bottom. The changes in this
glacier have been very remark-
able. 300 years ago an easy path
led through its present bed into
the Valais beyond. In the
17th century the glacier increased
enormously, and rushing down
into the Grindelwald Valley
carried away many dwellings and
the church of St Petrenella, the
bell of which, cast in 1044, is still
hung in the belfry of the church
in Grindelwald. Of late years
the glacier has receded, leaving
bare the gorge of the Lutschine.
Its former extent can be traced
by the barren district it laid
waste. Now descending, and
taking the path into the valley, to
the left we reach the bottom of
the Gerge (adm. 50 c.). On its
precipitous sides are seen sections
of many of the glacier mills
formed by loose stones whirling
round in the meltingice. In the
gorge a small cannon (50 ¢. an
explosion) is fired off, produeing
an echo of thunder. om the
gorge we return to Grindelwald
in 4 an hour.

The Eismeer, or sea of ice on
the lower glacier, is a most
interesting excursion. Guide to
Biregg and on to the Eismeer,
7 frs. If the glacier is cressed
to Zisenberg, 10 frs. Horse to
Biregg, 10 frs. Uncomfortable
ride.  Chaise-a-porteurs much
preferable. A path ascends to
the left of the glacier under the
precipices of the Mettenburg to
Biregg (5410 ft.) in 2 hrs., where
there is a small Jan with beds.
From Baregg a flight of steps
(1 fr.) descends on to the glacier.
The Eismeer can be crossed to
Ziisenberg (6050 ft.), a little green
spot on which is a chalet amid
a wilderness of ice, snow, and
barren rocks. The passage of
the Eismeer is perfectly safe with
a guide, but should not be
attempted without. Guide to
Biregg not necessary. Guides
can generally be had at Biregg
for crossing the glacier. The
whole excursion can be made
from Grindelwald in 5 hrs.

The Upper Glacier (1} hrs,,
horse, 8 frs.) isreached by a rather
fatiguing path. An artificial
ice grotte has been made here.
The path tothe Great Scheideck is
followed for 1 hour to the Hotel
Wetterhorn. A path then leads
to the right across the Liitschine
and over the meraine to the
glacier in § hr!

ASCENT OF THE FAULHORN.

The summit of the Faulhern
(8805 ft.) commands one of the
finest views of the Bernese Alps.
Guide from Grindelwald, 10 frs. ;
horse, 17 frs. ; chairs, 6 frs. each
porter, 3 are necessary. The as-
cent from Grindelwald takes 43
hrs., descent, 3 hrs. Descent to
the Great Scheideck (sce p. 64),
3 hrs. The ascent can also be

made from the Schynige Platte
(see p. 56). Herse from Inter-
laken, 35 frs., or return by
Grindelwald, 45 frs. An ascent
in 6 hours can also be made from
the Giessbach (see p. 59).
Guide necessary, 6 frs. There
is a comfortable INN on the
summit.
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Route 35.—MEYRINGEN TO GRINDELWALD.

]:;VOUTE XXXY.

MEYRINGEN TO GRINDELWALD BY THE
GREAT SCHEIDECK.

20 miles,
way.

Meyringen (HOTEL DU SAvU-
VAGE, large and comfortable, nice
garden ; HOTEL REICHE\BACH,
excellent ; Krone). Eng. Ch. Ser
in the Hotel du Sauvage. Meyrin-
gen is beautifully situated in the
Va,lley of Hasli, and is becoming
a very favourite resort. The
climate is delightful, and lovely
views extend in every direction.
The pretty FALL OF ALPBACH
is illuminated nightly by the
proprietor of the Hotel du
Sauvage.

From Meyringen we ascend
to the HOTEL REICHENBACH.
From the hotel a path leads in
3 hr. to the lower Falls of
Relehenbach, which are illumi-
nated nightly. The Falls of
Reichenbach are- a series of beau-
tiful cascades 2000 ft. in height,
unsurpassed by any in Switzer-
land. A belvedere (50 ¢.) com-
mands a magnificent view of the
Upper Falls.
is best viewed from a belvedere
lower down (25 c¢.). We next
reach the little inn Zur Zuwirgi,
where a path leads to the R.
towards a narrow gorge (25 c.),

Time abont 7 hrs. Horse, 25 fis.
including ascent of the Faulhorn, 21 fis.

The Central Fall.

Guide (unnecessary), 12 frs.;
There is a bridle-path all the

in which the Reickenback is pre-
cipitated inte a rocky basin.
Now continuing to ascend be-
side the torrent of the Reichen-
bach we reach in 1% hours the
Baths of Resenlaui (4363 ft.,
Inn). Beyond the baths a path
to the L. leads in 2 brs. to the
GLACIER OF ROSENLAUI, so called
from the beauty of its colouring.
The path is rough and fatigu-
i In about 3 hours more we
ascend to the Great Scheideck
(6434 ft., Steinbock Inn), before
reaching which we pass over a
narrow ridge of rock only a few
{'dl‘ds wide, though over a mile
ong. From the Great Scheideck
we have a lovely view of the
valley of Grindelwald and its
surrounding heights.

We now descend in about 2}
hours to Grindelwald, passing on
our left the precipices of the
Wetterhorn (12,170 t.), overhang-
ing our way, from which, in four
directions, avalanches fall in
spring and early summer; and
also on the left the Upper Glacier
(see page 63). Grindelwald (see
p- 62). ;
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Route XXXVL

THE RHONE GLACIER AND GRIMSEL
HOSPICE TO MEYRINGEN.

Time from the Rhone Glacier to the Grimsel Hospice, 11 hrs. Grimsel Hospice
to ITm Hof, about 53-6 hrs. Diligence from 1m Hof to Meyringen, 3% m., in

IGhr! S181 1)

Carriage from Innere Urweid to Meyringen, 63 m., one horse

10 frs.,two horse 15 frs. Horse from the Rhone Glacier to Grimsel, 6 frs.;
to Grimsel Hospice, 10 frs.; to Handeck, 15 frs.; to Meyringen, 80 frs.
Diligence twice daily In summer from the Rhone Glacier to Andermatt and

Goeschenen,
Geeschenen and Andermatt.

Reverse way, diligence twice daily to the Rhone Glacier from
This route is better taken in the way de-

scribed below instead of the reverse direction, as the path is downhill, with
the exception of the ascent from Im Hof, 33 m. .

From the Rhene Glacier (see
page 77) a bridle path leads over
the summit of the pass in 13 hrs.,
passing the Maienwand, a grassy
slope covered with Alpine flowers,
The Grimsel Mosplee (good
Inn) was formerly a refuge for
travellers crossing the pass.
Situated more than 6000 ft. above
the sea, its surroundings are
most wild and dreary. On all
sides it is hemmed in with bleak
and barren rocks in the midst of
ice and snow. The enly sign of
green is a little poer pasturage
beyond the small lake, where the
cows of the hospice graze for a
month or twe in summer. The
high peak to tho W., seen from
the Hospice, is the dgassiz Horn
(13,120 ft.). By mounting the
Nollen, a rocky eminence near
by, the peak of the Finsteraar-
horn (14,026 ft.) comes in sight.
The Aare rises in the two
large Ober and Unter Aare
Gluciers seen to the W. The
latter, about 8 m. long, and from
1to 2 m, wide, is the easiest of
access, A mule path leads to
the base in 14 hrs. The surface
of the glacier is smooth and free
from crevasses, and can easily be
crossed with a guide. The Ober
Aare glacier is reached in 2} hrs.
more. lts surface is broken with

tremendous crevasses. From the
observations of Professors Agassiz
and Hugi, the forward motien
of these glaciers has been proved
to be about 8 to 9 inches per day.

The KLEINE SEIDELHORN (9057
ft.) can be ascended without
difficulty from the Grimsel in 2%
hrs. Guide necessary, 4 frs. The
view embraces the surrounding
lofty peaks of the Finsteraarhorn
(14,026 ft.), Schreckhorn (13,386
ft.), [Iviescherhorn (12,600 ft.),
the Galenstack (11,800 ft., which
gives birth to the Rhone Glacier),
the range of the Up}]}er Valais,
and in a clear day the distant
Matterhorn (14,705 ft.) and Weiss-
horn (14,803 ft.). The appear-
ance of the Aare Gluciers from
this point is also very fine. This
ascent is strongly recommended,
even for ladies.

Beyond the Grimsel the seenery
continues very bleak and wild,
only twe habitations being passed
between the Hospice and Han-
deck (13 hrs.). A short distance
before arriving at Handeck the
path crosses the Bise Seite, a
smooth rounded slope of granite,
on the surface of which we see
the lines and furrows worn by the
glacier which formerly covered
it. On the rock is an autograph
cut by Prof. Agassiz. On the
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other side of the valley is the little
fall of the Gelmerbach. About 1%
m. beyond Handeck (Inn) a path
leads by a chalet to the R. on to
a platform (50 c.), from which we
see the Fali of Handeck on
the Aare. Next to the Falls of
the Rhine this fall is the finest in
Switzerland, both in its rush and
volume of water, and the weird
and wild solitude of its surround-
ings. The fall descends over
200 ft. in an almost unbroken
sheet of water, which is lost in
spray in the abyss inte which it
falls, Its beauty is greatly en-
hanced by the stream of the
Erlenbach throwin% its waters
into it at right angles, both cas-
cades joining into one before they
disappear in the cloud of spray
at the foot. An almost finer
view of the falls can be had from
a rocky ledge (50 c.), 5 min.
from the inn. A small bridge
here crosses above the fall, only
a few feet from the water.
Beyond the -falls we descend
through a wild and narrow val-
ley, its scarred and rugged sides
showing the effects of many a
flood and avalanche, to Guttans
nen (13} hrs, 3840 ft., Hot. Bir),
lying in a hollow surrounded by
jaggedrocksand precipitous cliffs.

Route 31.—LUCERNE TO ENGELBERG.

From Guttannen we descend to
Inncere Urweid (1 hr., Zun),
where the bridle-path ends.
From Innere Urweid a carriage
roads descends to km Meof (3 m.,
Hotel Im Hof), where the routes
to Engleherg by the Joch Pass
(p. 68) and to Wasen over the
Susten (p. 69) diverge.

[From Im Hof a glacier ex-
cursion can be made up the UR-
BACHTAL. A path ascends in 4
hrs. to the Alp dchritten (4940
ft., small Inn), and in 1 hr
more to the JMatten Alp (6102
ft.), at the base of the Gawmii
Glacier. The walk may be eon-
tinued to the Grimsel by ascend-
ing to the Urnenalp (7213 ft.,
small Inn), and thence over the
Gauli Glacter. Guide required.
The walk is fatiguing, but the
scenery is magnificent. ]

From Im Hof the road ascends
to Kirchel (2 m.). At the
summit is a finger-post showing
the path to the FINSTERAAR
ScHLUCHT (40 min. there and
back), a narrow chasm worn in
the rock by the River Aare,
with perpendicular cliffs 300 ft. in
height. In another mile we de-
scend to Meyringen, se¢ page
64 .

Route XXXVII.

LUCERNE TO ENGELBERG AND ALTORF
BY THE SURENEN.

Steamboat from Lucerne to Stansstad, 4 times daily, in £ hr. Fare, 1.40 c.
and 80 c. (see p. 57). Diligence from Stansstad to Engelberg (33 m.),
twice daily,in 3} hrs. Fare, 4.60 c.; conpé, 6.40 c. 1 horse carriage,
15 frs.; 2 horse, 25 frs. It isas well for walkers to dismiss the carriage at
Grafenort (9 m.), as the road thence to Engelberg is so stecp, they can
walk quite as fast. 1 horse carriage to Grafenort, 10 frs; 2 horse, 17 frs.
Engelberg can also be reached from the Lake of Lucerne, from Beckenried
(p. 44) or Buochs (p. 44). Post omnibus from Beckenried to Stans (see
below), daily, in 1 hr., from Buochs in } hr. 1 horse carriage from
Beckenried to Engelberg, 18 frs.; 2 horse, 30 frs. From Buochs, 15 frs.
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and 25 frs. These latter routes to Engelberg are the most convenient for
tourists coming from the east end of the lake.

From Engelberg to Altorf over the Surenen Pass, steep bridle-path, 8 hrs.
Guide desirable in doubtful weather, 12-14 frs.

Two miles from Stansstadt is

stans (ZLngel, Krone), prettily
situated a.mig large orchards, at
the entrance of the Engelberg
valley, through which it receives
in Nev., Dec., and Jan. but one
hour of sunshine daily. Beside
the church is a handsome monu-
ment to WINKELRIED who
sacrificed his life at Sempach

(p- 413. On the fountain in
the Market Place is also a
bust of the patriot. His house,

of which only a portion of
the original building remains, is
shown. In the Arsenal is his
coat of mail. In the RATHHAUS
are portraits of the Mayors of
Stans from 1521, and a picture
by the blind artist Wiirsch who
perished in the massacre of
1798. Here Nicholas von der
Fluh (p. 58) reconciled the
confederates in 1481. In the
CHURCH are painted figures of
him and his grandson. On
the wall of a vine house in the
churchyard is a fablet to the me-
mory of 386 of the inhabitants of
the half canton of Nidwalden,
who were cruelly massacred by
the French republican army in
1798. Six hundred houses round
Stans were burnt, and the bodies
of 102 women and 25 children
were found among the dead.
Sixty-three persons who were at-
tending mass in the church were
slain round the altar. In thesac-
risty isshown thebullet with which
the priest waskilled. From Stans
the Stanserhorn (6231ft.) can be
asconded in 3} hrs.,, and the
Buochser Horn (5934 ft.) in 3 hrs.
Near the summit of the Stanser-
horn is the Kurkaus Wiesenberg.

Leaving Stans we pass up the
valley of the da, between the
Stanserhorn on the R., and the
Buochser Horn on the L., and at

the head of the valley we see the
snowy peak of Titlis. Near the
hamlet of Thalwyl we cross the
river and see high above us to
L. the Huwrkaus zum Engel, a
health resort. 1In the little
church at WOLFENSCHIESSEN (6
m.) are the sword, rosary, and
tomb of the hermit Scheubert,
son-in-law of Nicholas von der
Fluh (p. 58), who lived for many
years in a wood near by. The
little hermitage, brought from
the wood, is beside the church,
From GRAFENORT the road
ascends steeply for 3% miles,
when a beautiful view of the
Engelberger Thal breaks upon us.
To the left rise the icy slopes of
Zutlis (30,630 ft.), and the Great
and Zattle Spannort (10,520 ft.),
and to the right the Lngelberg
Rothstock (9250 ft.), and the Ure-
Rothstock (9620 ft.). Two miles
farther we reach
Engelberg(HoT. SONNENBERG,
beautifully situated, first class
and comfortable; Hor. zuMm
TrrLIs, Iove}‘l}' view, also first
class ; Pens Muller, comfortable ;
Eugel, Hot. Engelberg). Eng. Ch.
Ser. in the Hot. zum Titlis.
Engelberg (3315 ft.), delight-
fully situated, and sheltered
from the cold north winds, is a
frequented health resort on ac-
count of its fine air and whey
cure. The BENEDICTINE ABBEY
was built in 1729 on the site of
an older building, founded in
1120 and destroyed thrice by
fire, The abbey was named at
the time of its foundation b,
Pope Calixtus IL, Mons Angel-
orum, from a legend that the
site was miraculously chosen by
angels. Since that time it has
always remained under the di-
rect control of the Popes. In
the church are several paintings
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by Swiss artists. The fine library
contains many early Swiss prints
and some fine missals. Admis-
sion to the abbey on presentation
of visiting card to the abbot.
Pleasant excursions can be
made, following the path to
the Surenen Pass, to the water-
fall of TATsHBACH (1} hrs.,
horse, 4 frs.)) To the HOR-
BISTHAL (1} hrs., horse, 5 frs.),
in which is curious rocky amphi-
theatre called End der Well,
or ““end of the world.” To
the OBERSCHWAND (4300 ft.,
Inn, 1} m., borse, 5 frs,), fine
view of the valley. To the
WanearLp (4113 ft., 1 hr.), fine
view of the Engelberger-Roth-
stock and Uri-Rothstock. To
the FURRENALP (6070 ft., 23 hrs.),
grand view of Zitlis. For the
higher ascents of Titlis, Engel-
berger - Rothstock, Urt- Rothstock,
and the Spannort, guides are
necessary, and are all more or

less trying.

For route from Engelberg over

Route 38. —MEYRINGEN TO ENGELBERG.

the Joch Pass to Meyringen, see
below.

Leaving Engelberg the bridle-
path passes the Cascade of
Tatschback (13 hrs.), and the
Herrenruti, the dairy farm of the
monastery. From here in 83 hrs.
we ascend to the summit of the
Surenen Pass (7560 ft.), the
latter portion of the path being
over snow that does not melt
till July. During the ascent we
have magnificent views of all the
surrounding lofty peaks and
glaciers. The summit of the
Pass, called the Surenen Eck, is a
narrow rocky ridge only 5 ft.
wide. The descent to Altorf (3
hrs.) is very steep, and should
not be attempted without a

guide.

[One and three quarter hrs. be-
fore reaching Altorf the path
divides, the right leading in 2
hrs. past the pretty cascade of
Waldnachtbach to ERSTFELD, on
the St Gotthard line (see p. 72).]

Altorf, see p. 71.

Route XXXVIIIL

MEYRINGEN TO ENGELBERG OVER THE
JOCH PASS.

Carriage road to Imhof, 1} hrs,

From Imhof, bridle-path, in 8 hrs. Horse,

30 frs.; guide, 14 frs. (not necessary). Tourists wishing to break the
journey can sleep at the Inn (comfortable) on the Engstlen-Alp.

F615'0m Méyringen to Imhof, see

5 Leaving Imhof we follow the
road to Susten as far as Wyler
(2 m.), where the bridle-path
branches off to the L.

Another path also leads up
from the Susten road, branching
off at Miiklethal, 25 min. farther
on, ard joining the first path at
the Gentelalp. This path is } hr
longer.

From Wyler we ascend in 1 hr.
to the hamlet of Lauenen (3800
ft.), and reach the Gentelalp.
The path now follows the Gentel-
bach for 3 m. to where the path
from Miihlethal crosses the stream
and joinsin (Auberge). Oneand a
quarter hrs. more, still following
the Gentelbach, brings us to the
hamlet of Schwarzwaldhiitten (Au-
berge). We now skirt on the R.
the precipices of the Gadmer-
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Fluh, from which fall a number
of small cascades. Passing the
pretty waterfall of the Gentel-
bach, now called the Engstlenbach,
we cross the stream and reach
the Engstien-Alp (6030 ft.), 43
hrs. from Imhof, where is the com-
fortable ENGSTLEN INN, beauti-
fully situated in a green pasture
amid pine woods. The Wunder-
brunnen, near the Inn, is an in-
termittent spring, supplied by the
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melting snows, which is full up to
early afternoon and then entirely
disappears.

Leaving the Alp we pass the
Engstlen-See,13 m. long (excellent
trout fishing), and reachin 13 hrs.
the summit of the Joch Fass
(7240 ft.). The path now de-
scends in % hr. to the Jm zum
Alpenclub, and in 1} hrs. more we
reach Engelberg (sce p. 67).

Roure XXXIX.

MEYRINGEN TO WASEN OVER THE
SUSTEN PASS.

Diligence from Meyringen to Imhof (34 m.), 1 fr. From Imlof, rough carriage

road to Stein, 5 hrs. Thence Bridle-Path to Wasen In 5 hrs.  Carriages
not used. orse, 35 frs. Guide unnecessary, as attendant comes with the
horse. This road was made in 1811, at the time that the Valais was nnder
Freneh government, to enable the inhabitants of the Canton Berne to
send their produnee into Italy by the St Gotthard, withount paying the
Freneh custom dues then levied on the Simplon. When the Valais was
restored to Swltzerland the road was no longer used, and now has fallen

ont of repair.

From Meyringen to Imhof, 1
hr., see p. 65. Passing Miihles-
talden (1} hrs. from Imhof) the
Triftthal opens to the R., up
which we catch a glimpse of the
Trifit Glacter. Skirting the frown-
ing precipices of the Gadmer-
Fluh we reach Gadmen (3960
ft., Inn, 3 hrs.), in a fertile little
valley. Passing the hamlet of
Obermatt, the path ascends by
zigzags through a wood, and
then over wild and barren rocks
with a deep ravine below, to
Stein (6122 ft., Inn, 5 hrs.), at
the base of the immense STEIN

GLACIER. Behind the Inn is a
curious cascade falling from an
apparently solitary rock. The
path now ascends, affording firie
views of the glacier on the R.
to the smmmit of the pass at
Susten Scheideck (7420 ft., 6}
hrs.). We now descend in wind-
ings, passing on the R. the
Kalchthal, o wild gorge into
which avalanches frequently fall
from the heights above, to Melen,
9 hrs. (Iaz.) Continuing our °
descent we cross the St Gotthard
Railway and reach Wasen, 10
hrs. (see p. 73).
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Routre XL.

LUCERNE TO CHIASSO BY THE ST
GOTTHARD RAILWAY.

Railway, 144 m. Express, 73 hrs. Stopping trains, 9} hrs. Fares—30.75 e.,
21.50 ¢.,15 40 e. To Bellinzona,109 m., 5 hrs. and 73 hrs. Fares—24.60c.,
17.20 ., 12.30 c. To Lugano, 128 m., 6 hrs. and 83 hrs. Fares—29.30 c.,
20.50 ¢.,14.65 c. To AMzilan, 176 m., 9% hrs. and 12} hrs. Fares—36.65e.,
25.25 c.,18.5 e, The line from Zurich joins in at Rothkreutz. No 3rd
class on the Express trains., Best views on the right as far as the viaduct
over the Reuss heyond Amsteg, then on the left to the tunnel, and then on
the right.

The St Gotthard Line, the greatest feat in railway engineering yet accom-
plished, was opened on 22nd May 1882, having taken ten years to com-
plete, The average cost per mile was £63,360, the total cost amounting to
£9,560,000. To commence the work Italy contributed a subsidy of
£1,800,000; Germany, £800,000; and Switzerland, £800,000. These sub-
sidies were afterwards raised to £5,000,000, the balance being provided by
shares and debentures. The highest point on the line is in the great
tunnel 3787 ft., 3150 ft. lower than the summit of the pass, and 6076 ft.
helow the Kastelhorn under which it passes. At scveral portions of the
line where the gradient wus too steep to admit of the laying of the rails, the
higher level is reached by circular ascending funnels bored into the moun-
tain side, the exit being in some cases almost dircetly above the entrance.
There are altogether 56 tunnels on the line.

The great Tunnel, the longest in the world, Is 93 m. long, 1§ m. longer than
the Mont Cenis Tunnel. The boring, which took 73 years, was carried on
slmultaneously from either end, from 2500 to 3000 men being kept con-
stantly at work. The rock is chiefly hard granite, and had to be pierced by
drills, pointed with diamonds, worked by compressed air. These drills, 26
in number, bored holes 4 fect in length which were filled with dynamite.
Each explosion brought down about 100 cubic feet of rock. The com-
pressed air was furnished by water power from the Reuss and Tincio, and
conducted through pipes to the drills. During the boring seventy of the
workmen lost their lives. The work was commenced in June 1872, and
on the 29th February 1880, the fifth Sunday of the month, the wall
dividing the two galleries, which met to almost an inch, was finally
pierced. The funnel is lined throughout with solid masonry and laid with
a double line of rails. A current of fresh air, which a short distance from
the entrances is of & uniform temperature of 70°, is kept constantly
passing through. The total costof the tunnel was over 2§ millions sterling.
Lights at intervals of 1100 yds. are always kept burning. The contractor,
Mons. Louis Favre, died suddenly in the tunnel of apoplexy in July 1879,
only eight months hefore the completion of his gigantie undertaking.
The trains take 20 min. in passing through the tunnel.

The route over the St Gotthard
is, with perhaps the one excep-
tion of the railway over the
Semmering, in Austria, the most
picturesque line in Europe, and
if possible should certainly be
travelled over by daylight.
Tourists from Lucerne who are
not presscd for time should take

the steamer on the lake of
Lucerne, and join the railway at
Fluelen. See route 27.

From Lucerne to Rothlreutz
(11 m.), see p. 50. Here the
line from Aarax (p. 28) and

Ziirick (p. 50) joins in. As we
approach Immensee we come in

sight of LAKE Zve (p. 50). At
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Tmmensce Kussnacht (16 m.),
the St Gotthard line begins.
It is intended to continue it to
TLucerne along the N. bank of
the Lake of Lucerne to save mak-
ing the detour by Rothkreuz.
We now skirt the wooded and
precipitous sides of the Riar, and
see on the summit the Rigi Kulm
Hotel. Arth Goldamu (21 m., see
pp- 49, 50) is the station for the
Arth-Rigi railway. Leaving Arth
we pass. throngh the scene of
desolation left by the great
GOLDAU LANDSLIP (sce p. 49).
In front of us we see the
sharp peaks of the Mythen.
We now approach the little
Lowerzer See, 21 m. long. On
the small island of Schwanau in
the lake is a ruined castle. The
local tradition is that in 1308 a
wicked baron of Sehwanau ear-
ried off a beautiful peasant girl,
whom he ravished and kept im-
prisoned in the castle. Her
enraged relatives and friends
stormed the castle, burnt it to
the ground, and killed the baron.
Every year since, on the anniver-
sary of his death, a thunder-
clap is heard among the ruins,
followed by shrieks in the old
tower, from whieh the ghost of
the baron is seen flying, pursued
by a maiden in white, till with a
€ll of terror he plunges into the
ake and disappears.

Stelnen (24} m.) was the birth-
place of Werner Stauffacher,
one of three heroes of Griitli
(p- 45). A little chapel was
erected in 1400 on the site of his
house. 26 m. Sehwyz-Scewen is
the station for Sehwyz, about 1
m. distant (pop. 6500, Flot. Rossli,
Hot. Hediger). Schwyz, a pietur-
esque littge town lying at tho
base of the Mythen, is the capital
of the eanton. The church of St
Martin with its marble columns
is one of the finest in Switzerland.
The Staadthaus contains the por-
traits of the magistrates from
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1534, some trophies and stand-
ards, and the originals of some
of the ancient treaties made
between the eonfederates. From
Schwyz the GREAT MYTHEN
(6244 ft.) ean be ascended in
3% hrs. Guide, 4 frs. (unneces-
sary). Horse, 10 frs. Inn near
the summit. Magnificent view.
(Route from Schwyz to Glarus
over the Pragel, see p. 39.)

Brunuen (284 m.), on the lako
of Lucerne, see p. 45. Tho
station is about } m. from the
lake. Beyond Brunnen we pass
through a tunnel, and find the
Bay of Uri (p. 45) immediately
below us. Passing through seve-
ral more small tunnels, and the
tunnel of Oelberg, 1} m. long, we
reach Slsikom, 32} m., beyond
which, after emerging from the
Stutzeck tunnel, we pass Tell’s
Platte. 'Tell’s chapel (p. 46) is
not visible.

Fluelen (36 m.), the landing
place of the steamers on Lake
Lncerne (see p. 46).

Altorf (38 m., ADLER, SCHLUS-
SEL, both comfortable). The
town is 1 m. from the station.
Altorf is eelebrated as the sccne
of the well-known story in the
life of William Tell. In 1307
the tyrant Gessler, governor
under the Austrians of the can-
ton of Uri, in order to break the
national spirit, hung his hat on
a lime in the market-place, and
ordered every passer-by to bow
to it. Tell alone refused. The .
governor having heard of his
skill as a marksman, ordered’
him, under penalty of instant
death, to place his only son
against the tres and shoot an
apple from his head with his
eross-bow.  Tell, knowing his
skill, complied ; but at the same
time secreted a second arrow for
the heart of the tyrant if the first
one killed his child. This being
discovered, Tell was put in irons
and hurried into a boat to be
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taken to Gessler’s castle at Kuss-
nacht. A violent storm sud-
denly arose, and none of his
guards being able to manage the
boat, Tell’s chains were loosed
and the helm handed over to
him. He steered for shore, and
on approaching the rock at Tell’s
Platte (p. 46), he suddenly
sprang ashore, shoving the boat
back into the lake as he leaped,
and so made his escape. Shortly
afterwards he waylaid Gessler at
Kussnacht (p. 46), and shot
him through the heart. The
first history of Tell is found in
the Weisses Buch, in the Rath-
haus at Saarnen (p. 58).

The spot where Tell stood is
marked by a colossal statue of the
hero in plaster, erected by the
riflemen of Zrich in 1860. The
tree under which the boy stooed
was blown down in 1567. The
fountain, with the bust of the ma-

gistrate Beseler, who erected it -

the same year, 1s said to occupy
the spot. The same distinction
has been claimed for the old
tower a short distance farther
away, but which is known teo
have existed before the time of
Tell.

In the church are three pictures
by Vandyke, Holbein, and Car-
acce. There are charming views
from the Cupuckin Monast
and the Pavillon Waldeck above
the town.

About 1 mile to the S.E. is the
_ village of BURGLEN (Inn, Tell),

the birth-place and home of Tell.
* A little chapel, with frescoes of

events in the life of Tell, was’

erected on the site of his house
in 1522. Near the bridge over
the Schachenbach is the spot
where Tell was drowned trying
to save the life of a child who
was being swept down the stream
during a flood.

For route from Altorf to En-
gelberg, see p. 67, and to Stach-
elberg, see p. 37.

Route 10.—LUCERNE TO CHIASSO.

Leaving Altorf we cross the
rapid Schachenbach, where Tell
was drowned (see above). Up
the valley of the Teifthal we
see thelittle village of Schaddorf:
On the first Sunday in May the
open-air Parliament of Uri takes
place in a meadow near the
village. Every male over twenty
has a vote, and the magis-
trates and other officers are
chosen by show of hands. As
we approach Erstfeld we see,
towering above us on the left,
the two peaks of the Windgellen
(10,460 and 9850 ft.) and the
Hoke Faulen (8210 ft.), and on
the right the precipices of the
Gitschen (8330 ft.), while at the
head of the valley is the Bisten-
stock (10,090 ft.).

Erstfeld (41} m.) is a large
railway depot, where heavier lo-
comotives are put on for the
ascent to Goschenen. The val-
ley now becomes narrower, and
the scenery wilder, as we ascend
to Amsteg. On a rock to the
right are the ruins of Zwing-Uri,
one of Gessler’s castles. The
VILLAGE (Inns, Post, Hivsch), 1
m. from the station, is prettily
situated at the entrance to the
Maderaner Thal, a picturesque
ravine, 8 m. in length, hemmed
by lofty mountains. [Bridle-
path, 3% brs. to the Hotel Alpei-
club, at the foot of the HUFI
GLACIER. Horse, 12 frs. Guide
unnecessary. Picturesque retuwrn
route to Amsteg by the Staffeln,
the heights to the N. of the val-
ley commanding fine views. 5}

Guide necessary, 6-7 frs.]

Leaving Amsteg we pass
through a tunnel and cross the
Karstelenbach, having a fine view
to the L. up the Maderaner
Thal, then two more tunnels and
we cross the Reuss over a fine
iron wiaduct, 256 ft. high, com-
manding magnificent views up
and down the valley. The views
now are finest on the left. We
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follow the left bank of the Reuss
through a series of cuttings and
tunnels to Gurtunellem, 50 m.
From Gurtnellen commences the
wonderful series of spiral tunnels
and cuttings by which we aseend
to Goschenen. The line so turns
and twists that the travel-
ler becomes quite bewildered.
About 1 m. from Gurtnellen we
pass through the first spiral
tunnel, and emerge at a point
farther back but higher up, and
then cross the line we have lately
passed over, and after several
small tunnels we see Wasen, and
two turns of the line high above
us on_our right. 'We then cross
the Reuss and pass through
the second spiral tunmel, and
again crossing the river, reach
Wasen (55 m., Hot. des Alpes,
Hot. Ocks), a large village. For
Route from Meyringen, over the
Susten Pass, to Wasen, see p. 69.

Leaving Wasen, we ascend
through the third spiral tunnel,
emerging from which we have a
fine view of Wasen and the
windings of the line below.

At Goschienen (59 m., 3640
ft., Rest. at the station, Hot.
Goschenen, Hot. Rossli), is the
entrance to the Great Tunnecl
(for deseription see p. 70). Dili-
gences aro in waiting for the
Lurka Pass (p. 77), Andermatt
(p. 76), and Coire (p. 129). For
carriage road over the St Gott-
hard Pass, see Route 41.

On emerging from the tunnel
we reach Alroio, 693 m., 3756
ft. (Hor. Posta, Hot.” Airolo), in
the valley of the Tincio. From
Airolo we descend into the ravine
of Stalvedro, at the entrance to
which is a ruined tower, built by
the kings of Lombardy in the
eighth century.

assing Ambri-Peotta (73 m.),
to the left of which lies the large
villageof QUINTO, and Rodi-Fiesso
(76 m.), the valley narrows, and
wo enter the gorge of Dazie
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Grande, one of the most pic-
turesque ravines in Switzerland,
through which the Ticino, con-
fined in a deep and rocky chan-
nel, rushes down in a series of
beautiful cascades. The finest
view is from the bridge crossing
the river before entering the
first spiral tunnel (see plan).
Emerging from this tunnel we
again cross the Ticino, and de-
scend through the second spiral
tunnel to Faildo (81 m., Hot.
Angelo, Hot. Prince de Galles).
To the right is the cascade of
Priumogna.

The little village of Mairengo,
near Faido, was the home of the
celebrated New York restaurant
keelper Delmonico, whose family
still retain their little inheritance
there.

The villages and scenery have
now quite an Italian aspect as
we descend the picturesque Valle
Levanting. From the rocky
sides of the valley fall several
pretty cascades, that of Cribiasca,
on the right, near Lm-orgo(85§
m.), being the finest. Below La-
vorgo we reach the picturesque
ravine of Biaschina, where the
Ticino forms a fine cascade, and
passing through thelast two spiral
tunnels, and crossing the Ticino,
reach

Glornico (90 m., Inns: Cerwvo,
Corona). The village is 1 m.
from the station. The romanesque
church of St NVickolo da Mira is
built on the ruins of an ancient
heathen temple. Here in 1478
a small body of 600 Swiss routed
a large army of Milanese. The
b;vﬁss had 1des;l:ended infao the
valloy on a plundering expedition,
and being pursued by the Mil-
anese, laid the low lying lands
under water to stop their ad-
vance. During the night the
water became thickly covered
with ice, whiech the Italians
attempted to ecross. 'This gave
the Swiss, accustomed as they
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were to travel over ice and snow,
an immense advantage. They
turned and fiercely attacked their
enemies, at the same time burl-
ing down rocks on them from
above, utterly routing them and
killing over 2000. A pile of the
stones which were thrown dewn
marks the site of the battle-field.
On the R. is the pretty cascade
of Cramosina. Below Bodio (94
m.) the valley expands, and the
vegetation becomes much more
luxurious.

Biasea (98 m., Hot. Unione,
De la Gare). On a height is the
Chapel of St Petronella, on the
ascent to which are a series of
oratories. Abeve it is the pretty
cascade of St Petronella. Passing
Osogna (101} m.), with the falls
of Boggera to the L., and Castione
(1074 m.), we reach the junction
of the Moésa and Ticino at AR-
BEDO, famous as the scene of a
battle in 1422 between 3000 Swiss
and 24,000 Milanese, in which
the Swiss were defeated with a
loss of half their number. Near
the Church of St Paolo are three
mounds, under which are buried
2000 of the slain of both armies.

We now approach Bellinzona,
and have a fine view of this pic-
turesque town, with its lofty
battlements aud castles.

Bellinzona (HHot. Posta, Hot.
de la Ville) was the scene of re-
peated struggles between the
Swiss and 1talians; till the former
finally obtained the supremacy
in the 16th cent. The three pic-
turesque castles were built in
1445 by the Viconti family, but
afterwards became the residences
of the three Swiss bailiffs, who
despotically governed the district.
From the largest, the Castello
Grande, there is a magnificent
view.

Bellinzona is not a desirable
stopping-place, and travellers for
Lake Maggiore should go on to
ZLocarno (see p. 146).
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From Bellinzona the line ascends
steeply up the Monte Cenere,
affording lovely views of the
valley. Passing Rivera-Bironico
(1184 m.), Taverne (1243 m.), and
through the Massagno Tunnel,
a ificent view of Lugano and
the lake breaks upon us.

LUGANO.

Railway Station, §
the town; footpath, 4+ m,

Hotels. HOTEL DU PARC, with
dependance, ViLLa BEAUSEJOUR. Fine
large hotel, with beautiful gardens
overlooking the lake. Very comfort-
able, Desirable winter residence. Ho-
TKL WASHINGTON, opposite the landing.
Hot. Lugano, Hot. Swisse. PENs.
BELLEVUE, { m. from the town. Gar-
denjand fine view.

Post and Telegraph Office in a
side street to the R. of the Hotel
Washington.

Boats, with boatmen, 2 frs. for
first hour; 1.50 c. for each add. hour.

Ch. Ser. at the Hotel du

m, above

Parc.

Lugane is beautifully situated
on the N, shore of Lake Lugano.
The climate is mild yet bracing,
and there are charming execur-
sions in all directions, making it
a delightful stopping-place at all
seasons of the year. To theS.
rises Monte Salvatore (2980 ft.),
seeO below. ety =

pposite the landing is the
Palag:)s Civico, now the Hotel
Washington. On the quay, which,
shaded with trees, affords a plea-
sant promenade, is a statue of Tell.
In the church of ST MARIA DEGLT
ANGELI, alongside the Hotel du
Parec, is a very curious old FRESCO
of the Crucifixion by Limi. Half
a mile from the Hotel du Pare
are the gardens of the Parc Ciani.
Adm. 1 fr.

Exeursions, to Monte Sale
vatore (2980 ft.), 2 hrs. Horse,
9 frs. Guide, 4 frs., unnecessary.
Half a mile along the S. Martino
road from the Hotel du Pare a
paved lane leads to the R. under
therailway, passing the Villa Mar-
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e of Paczallo
(20 min. ), from which we catch a
glimpse of Monte Rosa to the W.
in the distance. The bridle-path
here diverges to the L., and
passes through the gateway of
the fourth house. Keep now
always to the . On the summit
is a pilgrimage chapel and small
inn. The view embraces, on the
'W., the chain of the Valais Alps,
with the peaks of Monte Rosa and
the Matterhorn. To the S. and E.
stretehes the Lake of Lugano,
with Monte Generoso beyond (see
below). The highest peak seen
to the E. is Mente Legnone
(8570 ft.). To the N. are the
twin peaks of Camoghé (7300 ft.).
Monte €aprino, opposite Lu-
ano on the otherside from Monte
alvatore, is a favourite resort for
the Luganese. On the hill-side
are a number of small grottoes,
which have been made inte wine
cellars, At several of them wine
is sold, which is generally ice cold
and most refreshing.
Monte Bre, to the E. of Lu-
gano, 2} hrs., commands a beauti-
ful view of the lake.

chino, to the villag
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Monie Generoso (see below).
For steamers on the lake, see

Route LXxXX.

Leaving Lugano we skirt the
‘W. shore of the lake to Melide,
where we cross it over a long
stone embankment to Maroggia
(134 m.).

Mendrisio (139 m., HoTern
MENDRISIO, Angelo). From Men-
drisic we make the ascent of
Monte Genereso. Mule, 6 frs. ;
small earriage, 10 frs.; return
fare, 16 frs. Guide unnecessary.
In 2} hrs. we reach the fine Ho-
TEL GENEROSO (4000 ft.), and in
13 hrs. more, the summit. Monte
Generoso (5560 ft. ) is the Rigi of
Italy, and commands a superb
view of all the Italian lakes and
the plains lying between, as well
as distant panoramas of the Swiss
and Italian Alps.

Chiasso (144 m., Restaurant at
the station) is the frontier town
and custom house. Wait of half
to three quarters of an hour.
Como (sce p. 148) is reached in
8 min.

Chiasso to Milan, 1} hrs.

Route XLIL

GOSCHENEN TO AIROLO OVER THE ST
GOTTHARD PASS BY ROAD. :

22 m. The diligenee now runs only as far as FHospenthal (5% m.),

four times daily, in 1} hrs.; Fares, 2,50 e, and 2.70 e,
to the Hospice, 40 frs.; to Airelo, 70 frs.

Two-horse carriage
Travellers who have time and

can spare the expense will be well repaid for driving over the St Gotthard.
The Pass is one of the finest in Switzerland.

From Géschenen the road
runs through a ravine called the
SCHOLLENEN, over which the
rocks ascend perpendicularly to
a great height, while the Reuss
is heard rushing through its
narrow channel at a considerable
depth below. The road passes

by a huge block of granite, dis-
lodged from the cliffs, called the
TEUFELSSTEIN, frem a tradition
that it was thrown down by Satan,
Parts of the road about here are
roofed over with stone, and niches
are cut in the rock to protect
travellers from the avalanches,
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which descend in the spring.
The most dangerous place is
guarded by a gallery 60 yards
long, at the end of which is the
Bull's Head of Uri We re-
peatedly cross and recross the
river by a zig-zag route over many
bridges, and presently arrive at
The Devil’s Bridge, constructed
originally, it is stated, in 1118, by
Giraldus, Abbet of Einsiedeln.
The span of the arch is 26 feet,
and its height from the surface
of the water to the keystone
about 70 ; but as the arch spans
a cataract almost vertical in its
descent, the bridge thus acquires
an elevation of nearly 200 feet.
The whole scene is full of savage
grandeur. The granite rocks
rise sheer and unbroken from the
water's edge, and present a
stern and sterile aspect, which
artists of many countries have
in vain striven adequately to
delineate.

Below the bridge is the
CAscADE OF THE REUss, 100 ft.
in height. The construction of
this portion of the road was one of
immense difficulty. The work-
men had first to be let doewn
from above by ropes to blast a
foothold out of the roek.

On the 25th September 1799,
the Russian army under the
command of Suvoroff, entered
the village of Andermatt. The
French, forced to retire before
the Russians, destroyed most of
the Devil's Bridge, by which
means the communication, for a
time, was effectually cut off.
The Russians nevertheless re-
stored the communication across
the chasm by means of beams of
wood, lashed together with the
gfﬁcers’ SflSheS; but in thus
orcing the passage, several
hundreds were plunged headlong
into the gulf. *‘Our army,” says
the general, in his despateh,
‘‘ penetrated the dark mountain
cavern of Urseren, and made
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themselves masters of a bridge
which conneects two mountains,
and justly bears the name of the
Devil's Bridge. Though the
enemy had destroyed it, the
progress of our victorious soldiers
was not impeded. Planks were
tied together with the officers’
sashes, and along that bridge they
threw themselves from the pre-
cipices into tremendous abysses,
and, falling in with the enemy
defeated them wherever they
met. It now remained for our
troops to climb a mountain, the
summit of which is covered with
eternal snow, ice, and clay, by
which numbers of men and horses
were impelled down the yawning
caverns, where some found their
graves, and others escaped with
the greatest difficulty.” ‘“It is
beyond the power of language,”
he concludes, ‘‘to paint this
awful spectacle in all its horrors.”

Beyond the Devil’s Bridge the
road passes through the Urmer=
loch or Hole of Uri, a tunnecl
60 yds. long. Before the con-
struction of the tunnel the road
passed round the rock over a plat-
form of boards hung from above
by chains. We now enter the
peaceful valley of Urseren, 4, 356ft.

Andermatt (4 m., Horer
BELLEVUE, DU ST GOTHARD,
Drei  Krone, Oberali). It is
celebrated for -the honey and
cheese produced in the neigh-
bourhood, and for the trout
caught in the Oberalp See. Near
the church is a bone-house con-
taining a number of skulls with
inscriptions. In the distance to
the left we see the Glacier of St
Anna.

Mospenthal (53 m., HoTeL
MEYERHOF). For route over the
FURka, see p. 77. From this
point the road leaves the valley
of Urseren, and proceeds by
zig-zags to make the ascent to
the summit of the St Gothard.
Before reaching the Pass we
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finally cross the Reuss, near its
source in a small lake called the
Lucendro, } m. below,  m. to
the right. The bridge marks the
boundary between the cantons of
Uri and Ticino. The Summit
of the Pass (6936 ft., 133 m,) is
at the disused HoSPICE, Hotel du
Monte Prosa alongside. There
was a hospice here as early as the
13th century. Inthel7thcentury
a larger one was constructed, but
was swept away by an avalanche
in 1775 ; it was succeeded by a
third, which is still used, though
the large building now called the
hospice is of a much more recent
date. This last is fitted up as an
inn, under the control of a priest,
and contains 15 beds. During
the winter months the snow is
sometimes driven into masses 40
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ft. high, and avalanches are not
infrequent.

Before the construction of the
railway over 16,000 travellers
and 9000 horses crossed the pass,
annually, and no year passed
without some lives being lost.

The road descends to Airolo in
twenty-eight winding terraces.
Near the first, on a rock is cut the
words — Suwarrow Victor, com-
memorating the campaign of 1799
(see above). Half way down we
pass through the Val Tremola,
a dark and dismal gorge, 1} m.
long, into which avalanches con-
tinually fall in winter and spring.
A pretty mineral called Tre-
molite is found in large quantities
here. Specimens may be picked
up at the side of the road.

Airolo (22 m.), see p. 73.

Route XLIIL

GOSCHENEN TO THE RHONE GLACIER AND
BRIEG OVER THE FURCA PASS.

Distance. Goschenen to Rhone Glacier, 25 m.; to Brieg, 56 m.

Diligence twice daily to the Rhone Glacier, in 6} hrs. (10 frs.; coupé, 12 frs.).
To Brieg onco daily, in 12 hrs. (from Brieg, 14 hrs.), (22.50 c.; coupé, 27 frs.).
Diligence stops at the Rhone Glacier Hotel for dinner.

Goschenen to Mospenthal,
where the route leaves the St
Gothard road, see p. 76. Passing
under the shadow of the Spitzberg
(10,000 £t.), the road commences
to ascend in long rzig-zags at
Realp (93 m., Hot. des Alpes,
Poste in the Old Hospice). At
Tlefenbach-Schirmhaus (Inn),
the diligence makes ahalt. Three

uarters of a mile from here is
the TIEFEN GLACIER, where the
large crystals in the Berne
museum were found (p. 7). The
road still ascending, we see on
the R. the Siedeln Glacier, the
stream issuing from it forming
a fine waterfall, Soon after wo

reach the summit of the Furea
£8000 ft., Hot. de lo Furca, fair),
rom which we have a magnificent
view of the peaks of the Bernese
Alps. Now descending in long
windings, overhanging the Rhone
Glacier, we pass the BELLEVUE
INN (comfortable, } m. from the
glacier), and crossing the Rhone
reach the RHONE GLACIER HOTEL
at Gletsch.

The magnificent Rhone
Glacler, which extends for 15
miles like a frozen cataract, lies
at tho base of the lofty peaks
of the Gerstenhorner (10,450 ft.),
and Gelmerkorner (10,500 ft.) on
the W., and the Galenstock
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(11,800 ft.), Rhonestock (11,820
ft.), and Dammastock (12,000
ft.), on the E.

The glacier, which like all the
other Swiss glaciers has greatly
decreased of late years, gives
birth to the Rhone, which de-
scends 5750 ft. in its course of
500 miles to the sea. An ice
cave (50 c.) has been cut in the
Glacier.

From Gletsch the road descends
in long windings to Oberwald
(3% m., Hot. Furca), in the green
valley of the Upper Valais (2}
m.). FartheronisObergestelen,
where a road to the Grimsel leads
to the R. At Ulrichen (13 m.,
Hot. zum Griesgletscher, plain), a
path leaves for the Falls of Tosa
and Domo d'Ossola (see Route
LXIV).

Miinster (2} m., Inn, Goldener
Kreuz, fair), is the largest village
in the valley. Passing Nieder-
wald (4% m., Inn), we reach (4}
m.) Flesch or Viesch (Hot. du
Glacier ; Hot des Alpes, both fair),
a pretty village at the junction
of the Fieschbach and Rhone.

From Fiesch the ascent of the
Eggischhorn (9650 ft.) is made,
an easy and most interesting ex-
cursion. Two-thirds of the way
upis the HOTEL JUNGFRAU, com-
fortable. A bridle-path leads to
within half an hour of the summit.
Horse or mule to the Hotel, 10
frs. ; beyond, 5 frs. more. Guide
not necessary, but desirable for
the latter portion of the ascent.
Charge from Hotel Jungfrau to
summit, 4 frs. Time to the
Hot. Jungfrau, 2% hrs., thence to
the summit, 13 hrs. From Fiesch
the path leads over the the bridge
and up the mountzin to the R.

The view from the summit on
a clear day embraces a magnifi-
cent panorama of the numberless
peaks of the Bernese Oberland
to the N. W., and the Meonte
Rosa range to the S. W. Below
us is the immense Aletsch
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Glacler, 16 m. long and 1}
wide, the largest glacier in Swit-
zerland. Towering over all is
the Grosse Aletsehhorn (13,773
ft., the second highest peak of
the Bernese Alps. To the R., in
the hollow, is the Marjelen See,
formed by the melting of the
glaciers. Great masses of ice
often break off from the glacier,
and float on its surface like
miniature icebergs. The FIEs-
CHER GLACIER to the R. of the
Marjelen See has diminished very
much in size, but is interesting
from its beautiful colouring. It
can be reached from Fiesch in
2% hrs., steep climbing, guide
necessary.

A magnificent excursion to the
Aletsch Glacler rejoining the
main road to Brieg at Mérel (see
below) can be made from the
Hotel Jungfrau over the Betten
Alp, where there is a small lake,
on to the Rieder Alp, comfortable
Inn, thence down to Morel ; time,
4 hrs. To visit the Glacier itself
a path from the Rieder Alp must
be taken over the Furcamountain,
crossing the glacier to the Bell-
alp, where there is a comfortable
HOTEL. - Time from the Rieder
Alp te the Bellalp, 33 hrs. Guide
from the Hotel Jungfrau to the
Bellalp, 8 frs. Horse, 20 frs.
Bridle-path all the way except
crossing the glacier.

[A path from Fiesch leads
through the BINNEN THAL and
over the Albrun Pass to Ander-
matten, or Premia, in the Val
Formosa (Ssee p- 120). Time, 12
hrs. ; guide, 13 frs. This route
is one of the most picturesque in
Switzerland. A bridle-path leads
in 3 hrs. to the village of BINN
(4720 ft. ; Hot. OFENHORN, very
comfortable), in the Binnen Thal.
From Binn the Bettliiorn (9730
ft.) can be ascended in 6 hrs.
Guide, 8 frs. Ascent not diffi-
cult, view magnificent.

From Binn a path leads along

.
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the river Binna te Lmfeld (5144
ft.) in 2 hr., where the path be-
comes much reugher (guide ne-
cessary). Passing through awood
we reach in 2 hrs, the last habi-
tations at Auf den Platt (6925
ft.), from which we ascend to
the summit of the Albrun Pass
(7900 £t.), in 1 hr. Now descend-
ing in 1 hr. te the Beuls Alp the
path divides, the L. leading ever
the Forno and acress the Col de
Vanin, passing the Lake ef Le-
bendun (see below), and descend-
ing to ANDERMATTEN, 3% hrs, (see
p- 120). The R. hand path leads
dewn the valley past the Lake ef
Codelago through the Val Devero
in 4 hrs. to PREMIA (see p. 120).

The Tosa FALLS can be reached
by taking the path to the L. at
the Lake of Lebendun (see above),
crossing the Nufelgiw Pass at
the foot of pertion of the glacier
of the Ofenhorn, and descending
the valley te Auf der Fluh at
the Falls, see p. 120.]

Leaving Fiesch the read de-
scends te Lax (Kreuz),and thence
through beautiful scenery, with
the Weisshorn in the distance, te
Morel(see above)(Hot. des Alpes).
Passing Naters (4 m.), with its
ruined castles of Supersaxr and
Weingarten, we reach Brieg (see

2 1210).

Route XLIIL
THUN TO LEUK BY THE GEMMI PASS.

Steamer to Spiez from Thun or Interlaken, 4 times dally.

Diligence from Spiez to Frutigen, 9% m., in

2} brs., 4 times daily, 2.75 c.

From Frutigen to Kanderstag,9% m.,in 2} hrs. (descent, 2 hrs.) twice

daily, 8 frs.

Also omnibus from Thun to Heustrich-Bad (see below), daily, 2.50 e. 1 horse
carrlage, Spiez to Frutigen, 10 frs, ; 2 horse, 18 frs. To Kanderstag,18
frs. and 85 frs. From Thun to Frutigen, 13 frs. and 25 frs.; to Kanderstag
20 frs. and 40 frs. Good Bridle-Path from Kanderstag to the Baths of
Leuk, 16 m. From the baths to Leuk, good carriage road, 93 m. (station,
104), omnibus several tlmes daily, in 2 hrs.; ascent, 3} hrs., 5 frs.; coupé
6} frs. 1 horse carriage, 13 frs.; 2 horse, 25 frs.

The Gemmi is one ef the most
interesting and best frequented
asses in Switzerland. = Frem
un to Spiez by steamer, see p.
54. From Spiez the road ascends
gently to 2loos where the read
freom Thun jeins in. Befere us
we see the peak of the NIESEN
(p. 53). At Spiezwyler (Inn, de
LOurs, 1% m.), we join the read
from Wimmis (p. 53). We new
skirt the Kander to £mdthal (4%
m.), near which on the epposite
bank of the river is Menstrichs
Bad, a health resert, much fre-
quented fer its sulphur and salt
baths. For ascent of the NI1ESEN,

see p. 53. From Miilinen (5
m., flot. Bir), a road leads in
1} m. to the pretty village of
AEscHI (Hot. Blimbhsalp). De-
lightful air and fine view of the
lake. Passing Reichenbach (6
m., Inn Bér), we have fine views
of the Blimlis Alp, and next
reach

Frutigen (2720 ft.), (Hor.
BELLEVUE, Helvetia), a pretty
village on the stligenbach.
Fine view of the valley from the
church. Fer ascent of the Niesen,
see p. 53.

Passing the ancient castle of
Tellenburg on: the right, we pre-
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ceed up the beautiful Kander
Thal te Bunderbach 12} m.),
Inn, Altels),  m. fartheron, ata
little tavern, a path to the right
leads in a few minutes to the
Blaue See, a beautifully situ-
ated little lake, remarkable for
the lovely blue colour and tran-
sparency of its water. There is
8 Pension on the lake. From
the lake another path leads in
10 min. to the main road higher
up. To the right en a crag
are the ruins of the Felsenburg
tower.

Kandersteg (3839 ft., 19 m.,
Hor BAiR, HorerL GEMMI, Hot.
Victoria), beautifully situated at
the foot of the pass. A day can
be pleasantly spent at Kanderstag
making excursions in the neigh-
bourhoed.

The GASTERNTHAL (2 hr.) is
a wild and picturesque ravine,
through which the Kander,
hemmed in by frowning pre-
cipices, rushes down in a series
of beautiful cascades. The en-
trance is behind the Hotel Bir.

A path to the left near the
Hot. Victoria leads to the
(EscHINEN THAL (13 hrs., guide,
4 frs., unnecessary ; horse, 8 frs.).
In the valley is the Oeschinen
See, a lake 1 mile long, enclosed
by precipices, from which fall
three pretty cascades. The lake
is at the foot of the Blimlisalp
(12,040 ft.). A path leads round
the left bank of the lake in
about 2 m. to the foot of the
Blimlisalp Glacier.

From Kanderstag a bridle - path
leads up the Gasternthal and over
the Lotschen Pass to GAMPEL or
TURTMAN on the Martigny-Brieg line
in 104 hrs. Guide (necessary) to
Kippel, 15 {rs.; to Gampel, 20 frs.
The scenery in the pass is very mag-
nificent, but the route is ardnous and
shounld not be undertaken except by
good walkers and in settled weather.

The ascent by the bridle-path
over the Gemmi commences
from Kanderstag, winding for
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13 hrs. at the foot of the Gelli-
horn. In another hour we

the chalets of Spitalmatt (6250
ft.), on our right. To the left
we see the ZAGEN GLACIER com-
ing down from the Balmhorn
(12,180 ft.), and embedded be-
tween the Altels (11,920 ft.) on
the left, and the Rinderhorn
(11,370 ft.) on the right. A
rocky path now leads to the
Schwarenbach Inn (67,750 ft.),
3 hrs. from Kanderstag, the
scene of Werner’s gloomy tragedy
of the ¢24th of February,” and
Dumas’ novel on the same story,
viz., the murder of the land-
lord’s daughter by twe Italians,
which, however, has no found-
ation in fact.

In } hr. we reach the DAUBEN
SEE, a lake 1} m. long, entirely
fed by the melting snows, and
frozen more than half the year.
Passing the lake through a scene
of weird and desolate grandeur,
we attain the Smmmit of the
Gemmi Pass (7550 ft.), at
the base of the precipice of
the Daubenhorn (9450 ft.). Be-
yond is the Waildstrubel (10,670
ft.), with the Lammern Glacier
descending from its heights. A
little above us to the left is the
small Hot. Wildstrubel, which
commands a magnificent view
of the Valais Alps and Rhone
Valley, with the peaks of the
Mischabel, Weisshorn, Matter-
horn, and Monte Rosa. Imme-
diately below us, far down, are
the Baths of Teuk.

In a few minutes we find our-
selves on the brink of a giddy
precipice, 1660 ft. high, down
which a remarkable path has
been made. The zig-zags have
been cut out of the face of the
rock, and carried over ledges
that overhang the road below.
The sharp turns and steepest
parts are protected by parapets.
In 1861 a young French lady, the
Countess d’Herlincourt, who was
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on her wedding tour, suddenly
overcome with faintness, slipped
from hersaddle, fell overthe preei-
pice and was dashed to pieces on
the rocks below. A white cross
on the rock marks the spot.
Since this sad event it has been
rohibited to ride down on horse-
ack, but the descent on foot is
perfectly safe even to nervous
persons. Leuker-Bad (4640 ft.,
HoreL DEs ALPES, MalsoN
BLANCHE, HOTEL BELLEVUE,
Hotel Union, Hot. Fréres Brun-
ner, Hotel de France), a little
village much frequented by Swiss
and French for its Thermal
springs, which are very efficacious
for cutaneous diseases. The pa-
tients sit together in a e
bath for several hours with o
their heads and hands out of the
water. Small tables float on the
bath, on which the bathers can
enjoy their coffee or read their
books and newspapers. The
strictest rules of decorum are
observed, as the bathers are sub-
ject to a heavy fine for trans-
gressing.—‘“ Rule 7. No person
is allowed to enter the baths
without being decently clad in a
long gown of thick material, un-
der a penalty of 2 frs. !” Tourists
are admitted to see the bathing
from 5 to 10 A.M. and 2 to5 p.M.
The charge for a bath is 2 frs.
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A pleasant walk is from the
Kur Promenade through the
wood to the precipice of WAND-
FLUH (1} m.). , Up the face of
the rock are a series of ladders,
by which the peasants from the
village of Albinen descend to the
baths. None but those having
verysteady nerves should attempt
to seale them,

The TORRENHORN (9860 ft.) can
be aseended without difficulty in
4} hrs. Bridle-path almost to
thesummit. Horse,15frs. Guide
desirable, 10 frs. The Torrenhorn
commands a magnificent view of
both the Bernese and Valais
Alps.

The carriage road to Leuk
descends on the right bank of
the Dala to Inden (3 m., Inn).
[From here a bridle-path leads to
the left, rejoining the road at the
bridge over the Dala. 1} m.
farther down the road, the path
again diverges to the right at a
small chapel. Pedestrians can
considerably shorten the distance
to Leuk by taking this route.]

From Inden the road erosses
the Dala over a lofty bridge 170
ft. in height, and descends to
Leuk in windings, affording
beautiful views of the Rhone
Valley.

Leuk (95 m.). The station is
a mile further on, see p. 121.

Route XLIV.

'THUN TO SION BY THE SIMMENTHAL
AND RAWYL.

Dﬂlfence onee dally in 8 hrs. to Lenk (833 m.), 9.25 e. 1 horse earriage, 35

1rs.; 2 horse, 60 frs. Bridle-path in 10 lws. to Sion. Guide, desirable, 20
frs. Also diligence thrice daily to Zwelsimmen (253 m.) in 5} hrs., 6.95 c.
1 horse carriage, 28 frs.; 2 horse, 50 frs.

This route 1s more fatiguing and much less interestlng than the route over the
Gemmi, to which tourists are strongly advised to give the preference.

The route keeps in view of the is the ancient tower of Strdtt-
lake for 3 miles, when the road ligen.
from Spiez joingin. Tothe right Brothiisi (6 m., Inn Hirsch)
»
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lies opposite Wimmis. For
ascent of the NIESEN see p. 53.
On the hill is the pieturesque
castle of Wimmis. We now enter
the Simmenthal, a rich pastoral
valley, through :a narrow defile
called Port. :

Welssenburg (145 m., Hot.
Weissenburg), 1} m. up the gorge
to the left is the Welssenberg-
Bad, a much frequented health
resort, delightfully situated in
the midst of pine woods. The
waters and air are specially bene-
ficial in bronchial affections.
Two fine HOTELS have been built
by the Messrs Hauser, which are
replete with every comfort. The
old baths (Pensiorn) % m. farther
on are now only frequented by
peasants and the poorer class of
patients.

Passing through the defile of
Enge we reach Beltigen (21 m.,
Inn Bir), a prosperous village at
the base of the steep Mittagfiuk
(6200 ft.). A diligence runsag ily
in 6 hrs. to BULLE (see Route
XLVIL).

Zweissimmen (25} m., Hot.
Krone, Simmenthal), the prin-
cipal village in the valley, pic-
turesquely situated at the con-
fluence of the Grande and Petite
Stmme.. One m. above the village
is the castle of Blankenburg,
commanding a fine view. (For
roustg. )to Saanen and Aigle, see
p. 8.

Lenk (33% m., Inn Hirsck), a
little village which was almost
entirely destroyed by firein 1878.
Half m. from the village is the
KurnAUS LENK with sulphur
baths. Leaving Lenk we enter
the Rawyl, having on our left the
snowy peaks of the Wildstrubel
(10,670 ft.). For the first 3 m.

Route 44.—THUN TO SION.

we have a carriage road. At the
commencement of the bridle-path
we pass the fine Falls of the
Iftigenbach. The path leads
steeply up the right into the
wooded valley of the Iffigenbach
to Iffigen, 2 hrs. (Tavern). Afinger
post here indicates the path
which mounts the pass in zig-
zags. Passing in 13 hrs. the
little Rawyl Sece, and the cross
marking the boundary between
the cantons of Berne and Valais,
‘we reach the Summit of the
Rawyl(79401t.), 4} hrs. Beyond
the summit the path becomes
much rougher, and the descent
should not to be attempted by
the inexperienced without a
guide. Passing a small lake we
have a fine viewof a portion of
the Valais Alps. The path now
descends in windings to a bridge,
(5% bhrs.), then ascends a little,
leaving on the left the chalets of
Rawvin. After passing Ravin the
ascent becomes steeper in order
to avoid the difficult pass of the
Kindle. The descent to Ayenmt,
8 hrs., is exceedingly rough and
fatiguing. This portion of the
descent can be shortened by 1
br., by passing over the KANDLE
(see above), which is a narrow
path along the artificial bank of
a water course cut in the face of
the rock. This path is in some
places only a foot wide and over-
hangs a precipice, in one place
passing over anabyss by a narrow
plank. Though the most diffi-
cult portion is passed over in 10
min., only those with very steady
nerves should attempt it.

From Ayent the path improves,
and we descend to Sion in 2 hrs.
Sionm, 103 hrs. (see p. 121).



Route 45, —THUN TO SAANEN AND AIGLE.

8

ROUTE XLV.

THUN TO SAANEN AND AIGLE OVER THE
COL DE PILLON.

Diligence to Saanen, 34} m., twice daily in 8} hrs. Fare, 9.30 c.
Diligence from Saanen to Gsteig, 29 m., twice daily, in 8 hrs. Fare, 6.8 c.

From Thun to Zwelsimmen,

25% m., see Route XLIV.

rom Zweisimmen the road
ascends for 5 miles, crossing a
succession of deep ravines. At
the summit of the pass (fnn) we
have fino views on the left, in the
distance, of the Gelten Glacier,
under the Wildhorn, the Sanetsch-
horn, 9680 ft., the Sanetsch Gla-
cier, then the Diablerets, 10,040
ft., and nearer, the rugged Gum-
fluk, 8070 ft., and the Riblehorn,
7570 ft.

As we descend we have fine
views of the pretty and fertile
valleys of Saanen and Gsteig.

Saanen or Gesseney, 341 m.,
(Graxp HoreL Loais). rom
Saanen a diligence runs daily to
Bulle (p. 84) in 5 brs., and to
Chateaw d&’'Oex (p. 85) twice daily
in 1} hrs. Saanen is one of the
principal centres for the export
of the famed Gruy?res cheese.

From Saanen the road leads
through the Saanenthal, passing
GsTAD (2 m., Inn, Bar), to
Gstelg (7 m., Hotel Bar), pic-
turesquely situated at the foot
of the Oldenhorn, 10,200 ft., and
Saanetschhorn, 9680 ft.

[From Gsteig a fatiguing bridle-
path leads over the Sanetsch Pass

to Sion (p. 121) in 8 hrs. The
pass commands a series of beau-
tiful but hardly grand views.
There is no hotel accommodation
on the road.

From Gsteig we ascend through
the Reusthal to the summit of
the Col de Pillon (12 m.), 5890
ft. We have fine views down
the valley as we descend to Les
Plans (15 m., Hot. DEs Dia-
BLERETS, Hot. Bellevue), beauti-
fully situated in view of the
Creux de Champs, a curious
amphitheatre surrounded by the
precipices and glaciers of the
Driablerets, 10,040 ft. The Creux
de Champs can beseen in 3 hrs.,
there and back. At itshead are
several fine waterfalls. From
Les Plans we descend to Vers
V'Eglise (163 m., Hot. Monsejour),
and 4% m. farther on join the
road from Chateau d'Oex. To
the S. we have a view of the
Dent du Midi, 10,450 ft. Pass-
ing Sepey (22 m., Hot. des Alpes,
Hot. Mont d'Or), we descend
through a wooded valley, and
approaching Aigle, pass the -
large HOTEL DES BAINS, on the
opposite side of the river Grande-

u.-
Algle, 29 m., see p. 95.
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Route 46.—ROMONT T0O BULLE.

Route XLVL

ROMONT TO BULLE, CHATEAU D’OEX, AND
AIGLE.
Railway, 12 m., in 40 min. from Romont to Bulle.

Diligence from Bulle twice daily in 3 hrs. to Chédteau d'Oez.18 m.; Fares,
4.85 c. and 6.30 c. Chdteau d' Oex to Aigle, 23} m., once daily, in 53 his.;

Fare, 885 c.

Romont, see p. 11. Bulle
(Hot. des Alpes at the station,
Hot. Cheval Blanc in the town)
is a flourishing little town, and a
large market for the cattle and
dairy products of the Gruytre
valley. The ancient Chdteau, with
walls of immense thickness, was
built in 1220 by Bishop Boni-
face of Lausanne.

Bulle is the starting-point to
make the ascent of the Moléson,
6570 ft., 4 hrs., guide, 8 fe., un-
necessary, unless descent is made
to Albeuve (see below). The
ascent is perfectly safe. Ten
minutes’ walk along the Vevey
road brings us to a path leading
to the left by a saw-mill, as-
cending in windings through a
fir-wood, crossing the rivulet of
La Tréme, and in 1 hr. reaching
a plateau, on which is the ancient
Carthusian monastery of PART
Dievu, founded in 1307 by the
widow of one of the counts of
Gruyere. In 4 hr. more we pass
the Gros Chalet Neuf, and in 1
hr. reach the little inn of Gros
. Dlaine. Passing the chalet of
Bonne Fontaine, ¥ hr. more, the
path becomes much steeper, and
we attain the summit in 4 hr.
From the Moléson we have a

ificent panorama of the
lakes of Geneva, Neuchatel, Ma-
rat, and Bienne, and the whole
ranges of the Jura and Savoy
mountains. Only a few peaks of
the Bernese Alps, and none of
the Valais chain, however, are
visible.

For route from Bulle to Bolti-
gen, see page 85.

Leaving Bulle, we cross the
Tréme, past Tour de Tréme (3 m.),
with an ancient tower, formerly
a stronghold of the counts of
Gruyére, to ZEpagny, 13 m.
Above Epagny is Gruyeére ([nx,
Fleurde Las). Theancient CASTLE
was the principal residence of the
warlike counts of Gruydtre. It
was purchased in 1848 by Mons.
Bovey of Geneva, and thoroughly
restored. The great hall is de-
corated with frescoes of scenes
from the history of the district.
Travellers are shown over the
castle. Fee to attendant.

Albeuve (6} m., Inn, Auge)
was totally destroyed by fire in
1876, but has since been rebuilt.
A short distance from Albeuve is
a remarkable opening in the
Grosses-frasses Mountain, which
the natives believe is bottomless.
Objects thrown into it produce
extraordinary echoes. A pistol
shot reverberates for over 10
minutes. From Albeuve the
MoOLESON (see above) can be
ascended in 4 hrs. The climb is
more fatiguing than from Bulle,
and a guide should be taken.

Montboven (83 m., Hot. duJa
man). [FromMontbovon, abridle-
path leads over the JaMAN Pass
1n 6 hrs. to Montreux (see p. 94).
Guide unnecessary. Horse to
Montreux or Vevey, 20 frs. ; or
to the summit only, 10 frs. The
pass is exceedingly picturesque,
and affords beautiful views along
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the whole route, especially on
reaching the Sumumit of the
pass (4974 ft.).]

Leaving Montbovon, we enter
the picturesqueravine of La Tine,
and passing the pretty villages
of La Tine, ROSSIERES (Pens.
Grand Chalet, Pens. Dubois,
Eng. Ch. Ser.), and Les Moulins,
where the read branches off to
Aigle (see below), we reach
Chiitean  d'0ex (Hor. BER-
THOD, Hor. DE L'Ours, PENS.
Rosar, Vallad’ Oex, Eng. Ch. Ser. ),
a frequented summer resort, de-
lightfully situated in a rich pas-
toral district. = MONT CRay,
commanding a view of the Mont
Blane chain, can be ascended in
2% hrs.

RovuTE

BOLTIGEN
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To reach Aigle we take the
road branching off at Les Moulins
on the Bulle road, 1§ m. from
Chiteau d’Oex (see above), and
ascend the valley of Tourneresse
in leng windings to L’ErIvaz, 5}
m. from Aigle. Two miles frem
Etivaz we reach the SUMMIT of
the pass (5070 ft.) Descending
to LEs Mosses (11 m.), we have
a fine view of the Dent du Midi.
We now descend the valley of
the Raverette to La Comballaz
(132 m., Hor. COURONNE), a
health resort much frequented
for its bracing air and mineral
spring. At Le Sepey (161 m.),
we join the road from G'sterg (see
g._ 83).  Algle (231 m.), see p.

5.

XLVIL
TO BULLE.

Diligence daily, 24 m., in 6} hrs.; Fare, 7.90 c.

Passing Reidenbach (3 m.), the
road ascends to the R. in zig-zags
to the pass of KircHMo0s (6 m.,
4940 ft.). The whole ascent
commands lovely views of the
surrounding peaks, and the
valleys of Lenk and the Simmen-
thal below us, which increase in
magnificence as we approach the
summit.

The descent to Bellegarde
3 m.) is exceedingly grand and
picturesque. The road in many

places is hewn out of the face of
the precipices, and overhangs the
ravines below at giddy heights.
Passing the little village of Wie-
belsried, we reach

Bellegarde, or Jaun (9 m.,
Inn de la Cascade). Opposite the
inn is a beautiful caseade, 90 ft.
in height. A steep footpath
leads to the top of the falls. The

stream, the source of which is
unknown, issues from a cleft in
the mountain side, and again dis-
appears some distance below the
falls, and joins the Jogne by a
subterranean channel. Above
the village are the ruins of an an-
cient chateau ' destroyed by the
men of Thun in 1407. We next
pass through the pastoral valley
of Bellegarde and the picturesque
Gorge of Tzntre to Charmey
(165 m., Hotel Tanne), a quiet and
pretty summer resort. From the
l;;ici:uresque little church on a

noll there is a fine view of the
valley. On some of the houses
are frescoes of various episcdes
in the village histery, among
themn that of a duel between two
of the Swiss gnards of Louis XV.,
who fought for the hand of a
maiden of Charmey. Both ecom-
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batants were killed, but the fair
cause of the fight consoled herself
with another husband immedi-
ately afterwards. Leaving Char-
mey, we cross in 2 min. the
ravine of the Jawroz over a fine
iron bridge 860 ft. in length, and

Route 48.—BEX TO SION.

then the Jaun, and following the
valley of the lower Gruyére
reach Broc (21 m.), with an an-
cient fortress. 'We now join the
road from Chéteau d’Oex at
Tour de Tréme (22} m.), and
reach Bulle (23 m.), see p. 84.

Route XLVIIL
BEX TO SION OVER THE COL DE CHEVILLE.

Time, 11 lrs. G
8irs. From Gryon,

e Road as far as Gryon, 7 m.,ascent, 12 frs; descent,
ridle-Path, 83 hrs., to Couthey, a villagen the Rhone

valley, } m. from the carriage road (24 m.), to Sion. Guide from Gryon,
desirable, 12 frs. Horse or mule, 20 irs. or 7 frs., to the summit only,
which is as far as necessary, as the descent is uncomfortable for riding.

Bex (see p. 95). From Bex
the road ascends in windings,
with a fine view of the Dent de
Midi (10,450 ft.), to Gryem, 7
m. (Pens. Morel, Pens. Danssay.)
The bridle-path leads to the
right, and we have in view be-
fore us the four peaks of the
Diablerets (10,040 ft.). To the
right we see the peaks of Ar-
gentine (7985 ft.), and the Grand
Muveran (10,040 ft.). In 1hr. we
pass the hamletof Sergnement, and
crossing the Awancon, reach in
ghr. more the chalets of Soulalex.
The path now rapidly ascends in
windings in 1} hrs. to the hamlet
of ANZEINDAZ (Inn, with a few
beds). To the right is the small
glacier of Paneyrossaz and the
peak of the Téte de Gros Jean
(8300 ft.). To the left are the
Jagged peaks of the Diablerets.
The path is now more level
to the summit of the Col de
Chevllie (6675 ft.), where we
have a fine view of the Valais
Alps. The path, whichncw be-
comes indistinct, descends steep-
ly in § hr. past a cascade to the
chalets of Cheville (Zavern), and
thence winds down in } hr. more
to the Lac DE DERBORENCE in a
gloomy ravine called by the

natives the Vestibule of MHell.
Two terrible landslips occurred
here in 1714 and 1749, the first
burying 55 chalets and 15 per-
sons. The second dammed up
the course of the Lizerne and
formed the lake.  Frequent
smaller landslips are constantly
taking place, hardly an hour
passing without the sound of
falling rocks being heard. Skirt-
ing the lake and passing through
a scene of the utmost desolation
we crossin 1 hr. the Lizerne, and
descend the gloomy RAVINE OF
LizErNE. The path overhangd
ing sheer precipices of over 10
ft., is in many places cut out of the
face of the rock, the dangerous
points being protected by a stone
wall. At the end of the gorge
we reach the CHAPELLE ST BER-
NARD (14 hrs.), where a beauti-
ful view of the Rhone valley
breaks upon us. The path now
descends rapidly in 20 min. to
Avent, and thence to Couthey
(Inn), a village in the Rhone
Valley among large vineyards.
Half a mile more brings us to the
bridge over the Morge, where we
join the high road (2} m.) to
Slon, see page 121.
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Route 60. —VISP

A recurrence of this catastrophe
is prevented by a series of con-
duits, which confine the river,
and give its waters sufficient force
to carry away the ice as quickly
as it is formed.

From Mauvoisin the path
descends to the river, and
traverses the former bed of the
lake, ascending in 1} hrs. to the
chalets of Petite Chermontane and
Vingt-huit. 1n % hr. we cross
the end of the Glacier du Mont
Durand, and reach Chermon-
tane (7315 ft., beds in the
chalets). The peaks overshadow-
ing the valley looking from left
to right are the Pointe d’'Otemma
(11,135 ft.), Mont Gelé (11,540
ft. ), Mont Avril (10,960 ft.), the
Grand Combin (14,165 ft.), the

T0 ZERMATT. 115

Tour de Boussine (12,590 ft.).
From Chermontane the Summit
of the Col. de Fenétre (9140 ft.)
is reached in 1} hrs.

““The col is enclosed by ridges
of the most fantastic and savage
grandeur, which descend from
the mountains on either side ; on
the N.E. from Mont Combin,
rising to a height of (14,165 ft.),
and on the S.E. from Mont Gele,
(11,539 ft. high), and almost too
steep to bear snow, presenting a
perfect ridge of pyramidal
aiguilles  stretching  towards
Valpellina.”— Prof. Forbes.

The descent to Valpellina
(3100 ft., Hot. des Mines) takes

hrs.  Good carriage road
through a beautiful valley to
Aosta (9 m.), see p. 112.

Route LX.
VISP TO ZERMATT.

Bridle path (4 hrs.) to St Niklaus.

Horse or mule to Stalden, 6 frs.; to

St Niklaus, 12 frs. Porters to St Niklans, 6 frs., or to Zermatt, 12 frs.

Luggage, whieh is delivered the

followlng day, can be sent by post.

Carriage road from St Niklaus to Zermatt, 12 m. One horse carriage

for 3 persons, 15 frs.

Post-car with seats for 2 passengers runs daily,

starting from St Niklaus at 12; bat if there happens to be mueh luggage
going, passengers are not taken. Fare, 4 frs.

The bridle path follows the
course of the Visp to Stalden
(2736 ft., 6 m., Hot. Stalder), at
the junction of the Saasthal
(p- 119) and the Nickolai-Thal,
up which latter we ascend to

St Nlklaus (3820 ft., GRAND
Hor. ST NICHOLAS, Hot. Loch-
matter), the principal town in the
valley.

From St Niklaus the carriage
road ascends-on the right bank
of the Visp past huge blocks of
stone, which were thrown down
by the earthquake of 1855.
In 2 m. we pass a cascade
on the right, and reach the
little vx]la.ge of Herbrigen (2}

m.). In 2} m. more we come
in sight of the Weisskorn (14,800
ft.) and the Bies Glacier on the
right, and on the left the
Misabel (14,940 ft.), with the
Testi Glacier. Before us are the
Breithorn (13,685 ft.) and the
Kieine Matterkorn (12,752 ft.).
Between Randa (6 m., Hot.
Weisshorn) and Tesch (83 m.), we
ga,ss through the debris brought
own by an ice avalanche in
1849. Though this avalanche did
not strike any of the villages in
its direct fall of 1500 ft., the wind
raised by it was so stronff as to
throw down several of the houses
at Randa, some of the timbers
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being blown a distance of half a
mile. On the right we now
come in sight of the Hoklickt
Glacier, the lofty peak of the
Matterhorn (14,705 ft.), and the
immense Gorner Glacier, and
reach .

Zermatt (5315 ft., HOTELS DU
MoxnT CERVIN, DU MONT ROSE,
and ZERMATTER HOF, all most
comfortable, under the excellent
management of Herr Seiler. Fot.
de la Poste. ENg. CH. SER. in the
chapel near the Hot. Cervin).

Zermatt, one of the most fre-
quented Alpine villages in Switz-
erland, takes the first rank for
the magnificence of its glaciers,
which exceed in [grandeur either
those of the Bernese Oberland
or at Chamonix. Another of
its great attractions is the lofty
isolated peak of the MATTER-
HORN. Indeed, in no other ac-
cessible place in Switzerland
does the traveller find himself so
thoroughly in the heart of the
regions of eternal ice and snow,
which in their treacherous beauty
have brought death to many a
hardy mountaineer; the little
churchyards of the Parish Church
and the English Chapel bearing
witness to the number of victims
who have paid with their lives
the penalty of their hazardous
ventures. Zermatt is also, how-
ever, the centre for a number of
delightful and perfectly safe ex-
cursions. An excellent relief
map of the surrounding district,
which tourists should consult, is
in the Zermatter Hof.

Chief among these excursions
is that to the

Riffelberg and Gorner Grat
(excellent HOTEL on the Riffel-
Alp, and smaller hotel on the
Riffelberg (8400 ft.)., 20 min.

Route 60.—VISP TO ZERMATT.

higherup.) Porter,5frs. Guide
unnecessary.  Ascent, 3 hrs.;
descent, 2 hrs. From the Riffel-
berg to the Gorner Grat, 1} hrs.;
descent, 1 hr.

The view, especially from the
Gorner Grat, is most sublime and
magnificent ; on all sides we are
surrounded by snow and ice,
while over all tower the giant
peaks of the Matterkorn (14,705
ft.), - the Weisshorn (14,803 ft.),
the Rotkhorn (13,805 ft.), the
Gabelkorn {13,633 ft.), the Mischa-
bel {14,940 ft.), and the highest
point of Monte Rosa (15,217 ft.).
Below us is the immense ice-sea
of the Gorner Glacier.

From Zermatt we can reach
the Gorner Glacierin 1 br. by
following the left bank of the
Visp to where the stream issues
from the ice. We can return to
Zermatt by crossing the wooden
bridge, and following a path
which soon joins the path to the
Riffelberg (see above).

To the Schwarz-Sec (8392 ft.),
and Mornli (9492ft.). Mule-path
all the way, 3 hrs. Guide, 6
frs. An exceedingly interesting
excursion. From the Hornli we
have a most magnificent view of
the Matterhorn.

To the Findelen Glacier, 3
hrs. Guide, 5 frs., unnecessary,
unless a walk over the glacier is
conteruplated.

To the Staffelalp (7045 ft.),
ascent, 2 ars.; descent, 13 hrs. ;
guide unnecessary. The summit
commands a fine view of the Mat-
terhorn and the Zmutt Glacier.
Most of the other excursions
and ascents from Zermatt re-
quire guides, who will
supply all the necessary informa-
tion that our limited space pre-
vents us from giving here.
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inthian architecture, but at the
same time a blemish on the build-
ing itself. The cathedral de-
rives its chief interest as being
the church in which Calvin
preached. The canopy is the
same under which he stood, and
his chair in the pulpit still re-
mains. The interior is gothic,
and contains several monuments.
The most noteworthy is that of
the Duke du Rohan, head of the
Protestant faction under Louis
XIIL., and a Roman Catholic
bishop, who are buried in a com-
mon grave. At the W. of the
Cathedral, 11 Rue des Chanoines,
is the house where Calvin dwelt
from 1543 till his death in 1564,
(9. He was buried in the
cemetery of Plain Palais, but in
obedience to his strongly ex-
pressed desire, ‘“Let no stone
mark my resting-place,” the ex-
act position of his grave remains
uncertain. It is possible that a
small stone on the S.W. side
having on it the initials J. C.,
may mark the place. In this
cemetery also rest the remains of
Sir Humphrey Davy, who died
in Geneva in 1829.

Resuming our route we pass
on the left the Arsenal (10), (open
Thursday, 1 to 4 p.M.), contain-
ing a collection of old arms, and
opposite is the HMotel de Ville
(11), in which is a curious inclined
plane, taking the place of a stair-
case, up which the councillors
rode or were carried on litters to
the upper storey. At 40 Grande
Rue is the house where Roussean
was born. We now arrive at the
Terrace of La Treille, which is
beautifully shaded with trees.
Beyond the terrace is the Bo.
tani¢ Garden, laid out by the
botanist De Candolle in 1816.
It was on this spot that the hor-
riblemassacres of 1794 took place.
To the left is the Athenée (12),
the facade of which is adorned
with bustsof celebrated Gencvese.
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It contains an art library, an art
exhibition, and industrial mus-
eum (Thursday, 1 to 3 P.M. free,
other times, 1 fr.).

The University Buildings
(13) are on the Bastion Prome-
nade. In it are the Library,
Archwological Museum, and Na-
tural History Museum. The
Public Library, open daily, con-
tains 100,000 volumes and many
interesting MSS. ,including nearly
400 letters of Calvin; some wax
tablets, on which are written
some of the household accounts
of Philip le Bel ; homilies of St
Augustus, written in the 6th cent.
on papyrus; a picture of Ser-
vetus, who was burnt by Calvin
for doubting the doctrine of the
Trinity. It bears the label,
‘“Burnt at Geneva to the honour
and glory of God.” The Arche-
ological Museum (open Thurs.,
1 to 4) contains a collection of
antiquities mostly found in the
neighbourhood. = The Natural
History Museum (open week-days,
1to 4; Sund., 11 to 4; free, ex-
cept Tues. and Sat.) contains a
collection of shells, botanical ob-
jects, and Swiss animals, among
them a trout taken from the lake
which weighed 43 lbs. To the N.
W. of the University is the
Llectoral Palace, a large building
used for exhibitionsand concerts.
Passing into the Place Neuve,
we see the handsome New
Theatre (14), which was built at
a cost of three and a half
million francs out of the legacy
left by the Duke of Brunswick.
Close to the theatre is the Rath
Musenm (13), called after its
founder (open week-days, 1 to
4, free, except Tues. and Sat.,
50 ¢. ; Sun., free, 11 to 4). It
contains a fine collection of pic-
tures, which are well worth
secing.

Turning down the Rue de Ter-
rasseinto the Grande Rue, we find
the Musée Fol (16) (open daily,
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50 c.), which contains a fine col-
lection of Greek, Etruscan, and
Medizval antiquities.

‘We now turn towards the river,
crossing it at the Place de Bel
Air, and make our way to the
Roman Catholic Cathedral of

Votre Dame (17). The house
near by, inscribed as being
the House of Rousseau, is not
entitled to that honour. The
cathedral, which is not of great
interest, is opposite the rail-
way station, and those travel-
lers wishing to return to the
lake can proceed up the Quai
des Bergues after crossing the
river.

EXCURSIONS

To Ferney (4% m., Tyuite, Hot.

France). An omnibus (50 c.)
runs hourly in summer from the
PL Cornavin near the station,
by the road to Gex, passing over
a height which commands one of
the best views of Mont Blanc.
At Ferney, Voltaire resided
from 1759 to 1777. His chateau,
though much altered, still con-
tains a few reminiscences of him.

In the garden is shown the
bercearw under which he used to
dictate his letters to his secre-
tary. The theatre, formerly on
the left side of the court, has
been pulled down; the Church,
upon which is the inscription,
““Deo erexit Voltaire,” is now a
store-house.

At Prégny, on the road from
Geneva to Ferney, is the splendid
villa of Baron Adolf Rothschild,
with fine grounds and a pavilion,
from which there is a superb view
of Mont Blanc. Admission on
Tuesdays and Fridays by ticket,
to be had at the large hotels at
Geneva, gratis.

La Jonetion, where the waters
of the Aarve and Rhone meet,
is a pleasant walk of half an
hour. The best view is had by
following the Rhone, crossing a
suspension bridge over the Arve
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and ascending a path through a
wood which brings us to a cliff
overhanging the rivers (restau-
rant). e effect of the white
water of the Arve and the dee
blue current of the Rhone, whie
meet, but do not mingle for miles,
isvery curious. There isanother
road to the Jonction along the
left bank of the Rhone passing
the gas works, and Les Delices, 3
country house of Voltaire’s.
Mont Saléve is a high ridge
of limestone rock in Savoy, the
summit of which c«()}mmandsha
magnificent view of Geneva, the
lake, and the Mont Blanc and
Jura es. The mountain is
ascended to two points, the Petit
Saléve (2960 ft.) and the Grand
Saléve (4290 ft.), from which is
much the finer view. The highest
point is to the W., called Les
Pitons (4330 ft.), on which is a
stone tower.
The carriage road goes as far
as Monnetier (8 m., Hot. de la
Reconnaisance), from which the
Petit Saléve is ascended in § hr.,
and the Grand Saléve in 1} hrs.
Omnibus to Monnetier, 2 frs.,
from the Grand Quai at 8.30,
11.30, and 6.30; donkeys for the
ascent at Monnetier, 1 fr. per
hour. A shorter route to the
Grand Saléve (3 hrs.) is by tram-
way to Carouge. Road to Crevin
to the left as far as the railway
under which we , following
the road first to the left and then
to ‘the right by a footpath up
the Grande Gorge. 3
The range of Les Voirons, seen
to the N.-E., also commands a
magnificent view. Tramway, #
hr. to Annemasse, thence % hr.
to Bonrs. Carriage from Bons
to the summitin 3 hrs. To walk,
2% hrs. In summer an omnibus
runs from Bons to the summit
3 times weekly.
The Perte du Rhone, 1 hr.
by rail to Bellegarde, where
formerly the whole river, when
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lew, disappeared in a cleft in
the rocks for a distance of over
100 yards, has noew lest much of
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its interest. Extensive blasting
has lately been going on, and the
river is now always visible.

Roure L.

GENEVA TO MARTIGNY BY LAUSANNE.
LAKE OF GENEVA.

Railway to Lausanne, 1} to 2 hrs. ; Fares—6.55, 4.50, 3.20 frs. To Vevey, 23

to 34 hrs.; Fares—8.50, 5.90, 4.20 frs.

—14, 9.80, 7.5 frs.
versa.

To Martigny, 43 to 6 hrs.; Fares

Return tickets are available by the steamers, and vice

Steamers several times daily to Ouchy (for Lansanne), 8 hrs. ; Fares—5 frs
and 2 frs. Vevey, 33to4 hrs.; Fares—6.50 and 2.70 frs. Villeneuve,4} hrs. ;

Fares—17.50 and 3 frs.

Bowveret, 5 hrs.; Fares—7.50 and 3 frs.

Return.

tickets at a fare and a half are available for two days only. Good restan-

rant on board.

For service along the southern bank, see page 97.

Steamers also cross the lake from Nyon to Thonen, For sailings see local

time-tables.

The Lake of Geneva, 50 m.
long and 1} to 8% m. broad, con-
tains an area of about 260 sq.
miles. Its depth varies from 300
to 1000 ft. Through it runs the
river Rhone. At irregular pe-
riods the lake rises several feet,
and again rapidly subsides. This
rise is supposed to be owing to
atmospheric pressure. In the
early summer months it also
rises 5 or 6 ft. from the melting
of the snows. A curious fact is,
that in summer the temperature
of the water is nearly 30 deg.
colder at the bottem of the lake
than on its surface. The lake is
never frozen over. The first
stopping-place is Versoiz (Lion
d&'Or), formerly belonging to
France. Here the Duc de Choi-
seul, minister of Louis XV., de-
signed the foundation of a city
to rival Geneva, but his scheme
got no farther than the mapping
out of the streets,

Coppet (Croix Blanche) de-
rives its interest from the chafeau,
formerly the residence of Mme.
de Stidel and her father, the
minister Neckar. It is a large
plain building, erected on an

eminence above the town. The
site was formerly occupied by a
feudal castle which was burnt
by the Bernese, who besieged it
in 1536. Theinkstand and desk,
and portrait by David of Mme.
de Staél, are shown to visiters.
In a little chapel in the grounds
are the tombs of herself and her
father.

Nyon (Beaurivage, Ange). The
ancient castle, with its fine
tower, built in the 12th centurg,
was formerly of great strength.
Its walls are 10 feet in thickness.
A little beyond Nyen, on a pro-
montory, is the Chdtean of
Prangins, formerly the residence
of Joseph Bonaparte.

From Nyon an interesting ex-
cursion can be made to the sum-
mit of the DOLE (5500 ft.). Dili-
gence runs to St Cergues in 2§ hrs.
(Hot. de la Poste, Hot. Observa-
toire, with a fine view), carriage
12 frs. From St Cergues to the
summit, 24 hrs. Guide unneces-
sary. Magnificent view.

Rolle (Téte Noire) was the
birthplace of La Ilarpe, tutor of
the Emp. Alexander I.  An obe-
lisk is erected to his memeory on
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an island in the lake. Three
miles above the village is the
Signal de Bougy (2900 ft.), which
commands a fine view of the lake
and Mt. Blanc.

Morgues (Hot. des Alpes), with
a harbour and ancient chateau,
now an arsenal. On the heights
above the village is the pictur-
esque old Chdtean of Vuflens,
built by Queen Bertha, wife of
Rudolf IL, in the 10th century

Ouchy is the landing-place for
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Lausanne, which is reached by
an inclined railway in 10 min.
Trains every } hr. Porters in
attendance: small packages, 10
c 2 large, 20 c. ; and if over 100

HOTELS—*TO the right, bor-
dering on the lake, is the fine
HOTEL BEAU RIVAGE, with beau-
tiful gardens. Pension in win-
ter. Comfortable second class,
Hot. d’ Angleterre, opposﬂ:e the
landing.

LAUSANNE
Hotels—HoTeL RicHMONT, large fine hotel, very comfortable, beantifnl gar-

den and view.

Pension at very reasonable prices in winter.

HoTEL

GiBBON, also first-class and eomfortable; fine view; pension in winter.
In the garden Gibbon wrote the last ehapters of his “ Decline and Fall of

the Roman Empire.” FAvUcoxN,

priees.

Bellevue, Beau Site, smaller, moderate
Good Pensions are the Campart, Beausejour, and Victoria.

Good Restaurant at the railway station.
Omnibus from station, 50 ¢. Trunk, 50 e. Hotel omnibuses, 1 fr. Carriages

2 frs. the eourse.

Eng. Ch. Ser.—Episcopal, Avenue de Grancy.

Wesleyan, Rue du Valentin.

Post-Office at the S, end of the Grand Pont.

dn Midi, near the Hot. Richmont.

Presbyterian, Rue Rumine.
Telegraph office in the Rne

Amusements—THEATRE open in winter and spring, good plays and well
frequented. CoxcErTs—Wednesdays, 8.30 to 5.30 p.m. in the Jardin de

v Abbaye de U'Are, 1 fr.
50 c.

Club, Reunions thrice weekly.

Lausanne (pop. 30,000) is
most picturesquely situated on
the slopes of Mt. Jorat, and
commands delightful views of
the lake and surrounding moun-
tains. The interior of the town,
especially the older portion, is
irre; and broken—a laby-
rinth of crooked, steep, and nar-
row streets. The newer portion
of the town to the E., however,
is well built, and the handsome
Avenue Théatre is lined with
handsome buildings. The two
quarters of the town are con-
nected by a fine viaduct called
the Grand Pont, or Pont de
Pickard, after its builder.

Lausanne, offering as it does

Thursdays, 8 p,m., promenade, Derriére Bourg,
Sundays, 10 45 a.m., on the Promenade de Montbenon, free.
days, 10 p.m., in the garden of the Casino Theatre.
Church of St Franeels, Moundays, 4 p.m., 1 fr.

Sun-
Organ concert in the
Excellent Lawn Tennis

a bracing and healthy climate,
delightful situation, exceptional
educational advantages, and
cheap living, has become a fa-
vourite residence for English and
Americans. Over 4000 English-
speaking people winter here each
year.

The Cathedral (ring the bell
at the W. portal. Adm., 1 {fr.;
tower, 20 c.) was built i in 1215
and consecrated bi Pope Gregory
X. in presence of the Emp. Rudelf
of Hapsburg. It is a plain but
pure and massive example of
pointed Gothic arclntecture 333
ft. in length, and 61 it. in
breadth. The S. porch is decor-
ated with fine medizeval sculp-
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ture. The INTERIOR is exceed-
ing plain, but of excellent pro-
portions. In the left transept
is a beautiful marble monument
by Bartolini to Harriet Stratford-
Canning, first wife of Lord Strat-
ford de Redcliffe. Fromthetower,
162 ft. high, is a'splendid view of
the lake and the Savoy Alps.

Beside the Cathedral is the
picturesque Castle, erected in
the 13th cent., and formerly
the residence of the bishops of
Lausanne. It is now the Can-
tonal Council Hall. In the Collége
close by is theCantonal Musenm
pVed. and Sat., 10-4 ; Sun., 11-2

ree ; other times, 50 c.), which
contains a collection of Natural
History, Roman remains, and
relics from the lake-dwellings.
In the Place de la Riponne below,
is the Musée Arlaud, opposite
the corn market. It contains
a small collection of pictures,
among them several important
works by Gleyre, who is generally
considered the first ameng Swiss
artists.

The house which was inhabited
by Gibbon, and in which he com-
pleted the later volumes of the
““Decline and Fall of the Roman
Empire,” stood in the lower part
of the town. Both the house and
garden are entirely changed. The
site of the summer-house, where
the great historian used to write,
is now occupied by part of the
Hotel Gibbon. It was in the gar-
den of the hotel that the historian
experienced that tender melan-
choly which he so affectingly con-
fesses in his autobiography :—*“It
was on the day, or rather night of
the 27th of June 1787, between
the hours of 11 and 12, that I
wrote the last lines of the last
page in a summer-house in my
garden. After laying down my
pen, I took several turns in a ber-
cean, or covered walk of acacias,
which commands a prospect of the
country, the lake, and the moun-
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tains. Theair was temperate, the
sky was serene, the silver orb of
the moon was reflected from the
waters, and all nature was silent.
T will not dissemble the first emo-
tiens of joy on the recovery of my
freedom, and perhaps the estab-
lishment of my fame. But my
pride was soon humbled, and a
sober melancholy was spread over
my mind by the idea that I had
taken an everlasting leave of an
old and agreeable companion, and
that whatever might be the future
fate of my history, the life of the
historian must be short and pre-
carious.”

The Blind Asylum was found-
ed by Mons Haldimald, a Swiss,
who made a large fortune in
England. It is under the care
of the celebrated occulist, Dr
Dufour, whose advice is sougflt by
patients from all parts of Europe.

To the W. of the town is the
fine new building of the IPalais de
Justice, completed in 1885, Itis
the seat of the Federal courts.

The Lunatic Asylum and the
HosPITAL, worth a visit, are the
largest in Switzerland.

The Montbenon, an eminence
to the W.,laid out in shady walks,
affords a delightful promenade
with fine views of the lake.
It is also used as a drilling
ground for the treeps stationed
at Lausanne.

The Signal (2126 ft.), half an
hour’s walk, commands a fine
view of the lake, but Mt. Blanc
is hid by the nearer hills

VEVEY (pop. 8000). Rallway
Statlen to the N. of the town,
omnibus to Chexbres Railway
Station, see p. 11.

Steamboat Piers. At Corsier
for the Grand Hotel. At Vevey
Marché for the town, and at

Vevey la. Tour for the Hotel du
Lac and Hotel Monnet. Frem
October to May the steamboats
only land at Vevey Marché.
Hotels. GRAND HOTEL DE
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VEVEY, very fine hotel, most
comfortable, beautiful gardens,
swimming-bath and bydropathic
treatment. HOTEL MONNET] or
DES TROIS COURONNES, excel-
lent, fine gardens. HOTEL DU
LAC, comfortable and well man-
aged, also fine gardens. These
three hotels are of the very
highest class, beautifully situ-
ated on the lake. Pension from
October to May at moderate
prices. Good second class Hotel
d’ Angleterre, Hotel Mooser, and
Hotel de Leman.

Baths on the lake.
Telegraph Oflice,
TAncien Post.

Eng. Ch. Ser. in the Church
of St Clair.

An Electric Railicay now runs
from the Grand Hotel to the
Castle of Chillon.

¥Yevey, beautifully situated at
the mouth of the little Veveyse,
has been immortalized by Rous-
seau, who has laid here the scene
of his * Nouvelle Heloise.” Like
Lausanne, numbersof Englishand
Americans take advan of lts
delightful climate and ¢
situation to make it a wmtcr re—
sidence.

Opposite the Quai Vevey
Marché is the fine Chdteau &’ Aile,
residence of Mr Couvreu. The
gardens, with a fine collection of
exotic plants, are open to the
public, fee 1 fr. In the Church
of St Martin, erected in 1498,
lie the bomes of Ludlow and
Broughton, two of the judges
of Charles I., who died here in
exile. It was Broughton who
read the sentence of death to his

sovereign. The site of
Lud]aw;y house is now occupied
by the Hotel du Lac.

The Café Clef on the Grande
Place was formerly Rousseau’s
favourite inn. Near the station
is the new Russian Chapel, with
its gilded dome. The interior is
richly decorated.

Post and
Place de
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The Chdtean of Hauterille is a
delightful walk of 2 m. to the
N.E. Farther on is the old
Chateau of Blonay, which has
belonged to the lonay family
for centuries. Both chateaux are
surrounded by beautiful grounds,
and command charming views,

The  district  surroundi
Lausanne and Vevey is almost
entirely covered with vineyards,
which are supposed to have been
first planted by the Romans, and
great care is exercised in the
cultivation and improvement of
the grape. At Vevey is a
very ancient society for this
purpose. In extraordi wine
years they celebrate a festlval
called La Fétedes Vi Sgnerons
last took place in 1 60, when /00
people took part, the ballet
master of the opera in Paris being
employed to drill them in their
dances.

Clarens (3} m. from Vevey) is
a charmingly situated village,
made famous by Rousseau and
Byron. (Hor. Roy, Hotr. ROTH,
both good). The villages of
Clarens, Charnex, Vernex, Terri-
tet, Glion, and Veytaux, lying
along the border of the lake, are
collectively called Montreux.
An immense number of hotels
and pensions have been erect-
ed at Montreux, of which
we have not space to give
a detailed list. The pension
at most of them is remarkably
cheap, varying from 4 to 8 frs.

a day. The largest Hotels are
the HoOTEL NaTioNAL, HOTEL

BEAU RivaGe, HOoTEL MONNEY
at Vernex. HOTEL DES ALPES,
HoreL MoNT FLEURY at Territet.
Hoter RIGHI-VAUDOIS, HOTEL
VicToRIA at Glion.

At Verney Montreuz is a fine
new KUrsaaL, where the band
plays daily.

From Territet an inclined rail-
way runs to Gliom on the hill
behind. Fine view.
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At Territet-Chillon (I/ot. des
Alpes, 3 m. from the pier) is the
massive and gloomy Castle of
Chillon, standing on an isolated
rock reached from the shore by a
bridge. This mediseval fortress is
one of the most striking features
in the scenery of the Lake of
Geneva. Amadeus IV., Count of
Savoy, built the castle in 1238,
It was at once the defence of his
state, an arsenal, and a point
from which to undertake new
conquests. After two centuries
and a half, when the fortune of
war had subjected the Valais
to the Bernese rule, the castle
served as the residence of
tho Bailiffs of Vevey. In 1733
it was converted into a state
prison, and served as such till
the revolution of 1778. 1t is now
an arsenal, and in part a prison.

It was in a dungeon of this
castle that Bonnivard, the heroic
defender of Genevan liberty, was
imprisoned by the tyranny of the
Duke of Savey, and languished
six years, chained to a pillar.
The ring of iron to which he was
fastened is still seen,—the pillar
frayed with the grating of his
chain, and the floor worn by the
movement of his feet.

Bonnivard was the son of Louis
Bonnivard, Lord of Lune, and
possessor of the rich priory of St
Victor, near Geneva. His im-
prisonment in the castle lasted
from 1530 to 1536, when he was
liberated by the Swiss forces
under Nogelin. He spent the
remainder of his life at Geneva
in comfort, dying in 1570 at the
age of 74.

“Chillon! thy prisen {s 2 hely place,
And él;g sad flocr an altar; for 'twas

Until his very steps have left a trace
Worn, as if the cold pavement were a

8
By Bom’ﬂvard! may none these marks
F eﬂ;:.ce 1 f
or they appeal from tyranny te
God.x R
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The Bonnivard, whose suffer-
ings here are so graphicall,
described by Byron, v%;s, excep{
the name, entirely a mythical
character, as the poet was not
aware, at the time he wrote his
Eoem, of the history of the Swiss

ero.

Besides the dungeon of Bonni-
vard there are other cells darker
and deeper still, where wretched
grisoners were doomed to a living

eath, having no communication
with the outer world except
through a hole in their prison
vaulting.

About a mile from the castle,
nearer Villeneuve, is a little
island, almost level with the
water, on which a lady planted
some poplars 100 years ago. It
is mentioned by Byron in his
¢ Prisoner of Chillon :"—

“ And then there was a little isle

Which in my very face did smile,
The only one in view;

A small green isle, it scem'd no more,

Secarce broader than my dungeon

oor:
But iIn it there were three tall trees,
And o'er it blew the mountain breeze,
And by it there were waters flowing,
And on it there were young flowers
growing,
Of gentle breath and hue.”

Villeneuve (Hot. de Port, de
Ville), the railway station for
Martigny and Brieg.

Leaving Villeneuve by rail we
pass along the level valley to
Aigle (pop. 3500, GRAND ﬁor
DES BAINS, beautiful gardens,
loasant stopping place, pension ;

EAU  SITE, MoN SEJOUR,
VicToRIA, all with gardens and
baths. Second class, Du AMidz,
Du Nord. Eng. Ch. Ser. at the
Hot. des Bains.) Aigle is aquaint
little town with an old chateau
(see Routes XLV. and LXXXV).

Bex. (GRAND HOT. DES
SALINES, 13 m. from the station,
fine hotel, delightfully situated in
charming grounds. Salt and
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fresh water baths, Agreeable
stopping place, pension. GRAND
HoT. DES BAINS, beautiful
garden, very comfortable. BEL-
LEVUE. Hor. ET VILLA DES
BaiNs, moderate prices. Eng.
Ch. near the Grand Hot. des
Bains.) Bex is much resorted to
for its salt baths, the mildness of
its climate, and its beautiful
surroundings. Three miles from
Bex are the large Salt Mines of
Devien and Bevieux, an interesting
excursion.

St Maurice (Hot. et Pens.
Grisogona). Here the line from
Bouzeret joins in (see Route LI.).
St Maurice, which is a picturesque
old town, derives its name from
the legend that the Theban
Legion under St Maurice were
put to death here by the Emp.
Maximilian in 302 for refusing
to renounce Christianity. The
ABBEY, now an Augustinian mon-
astery, is the oldest in Switzer-
land, having been founded in
the 4th century by St Theodore,
and afterwards endowed by King
Sigismund of Burgundy.

The Treasury (shown by special
permission) contains several most
interesting works of ancient and
medizval art, among them
Queen Bertha's chalice, pre-
sented by her in 950 ; an
ancient Greek vase of agate; a
vase of saracenic work, and a fine
MS. of the gospels, presented
by Charlemagne’; a very
fine gold crozier of beautiful
workmanship. Perched on a
precipice opposite the station
and reached by a flight of 410
steps, is the little Hermitage of
Notre Dame du Sex (or of the
rock). Fineview, Ten min. from
the station, above the tunnel, is
the Grotte aux Fées, the dried up
channel of a stream leading to a
stalactite cave in which are a
lake and a cascade. Guides and
tickets at the station.

. Leaving St Maurice, the line
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approaches the river, and we
pass over the scene of a terrible
inundation. 1In 1835 a heavy
rainstorm brought down torrents
of mud, rocks, and debris from
the Dent du Midi, covering the
road, fields, orchards, and houses
for 300 yds. Fortunately the.
inhabitants had time to escape.
The little hamlet of Kwionnaz, a
little farther on, occupies the site
of the Roman Village Epaunum,
which was destroyed in a similar
manner in 563.

At Vernayaz (GranDp Hor.
DES GORGES DE TRIENT, at the
gorge, and not to be mistaken for
a little Inn in the village), tra-
vellers alight to visit the Fall of
Pissevache or Sallanche and
the Gorge of Trient.

The fall is seen as we approach
the station, from which it is dis-
tant about § mile. The Pisse-
vache, or Bridal Veil, as it is also
called by natives, is a beautiful
cascade 250 ft. in height, falling
over a perpendicular rock into
the Rhone Valley. A wooden
staircase (adm. 1 fr.) leads up to
the fall and passes behind it.

The Gorge of Triemt (3 m.
from the station to the left) is a
remarkable chasm leading 7% m.
into the heart of the mountain.

The finest and only accessible
portion of the Gorge is the first,
600 yds. from the -entrance. A
wooden gallery leads along the
face of the precipitous sides,
which are from 500 ft. to 1000 ft.
in height. The width of the
chasm in several places is only a
few feet. In a large vaulted
chamber called ‘The Church,”
the guide fires a pistol which
produces an echo like a thunder
clap. The water of the stream,
which is of a lovely transparent
green, varies in depth from a few
inches to 50 feet. Tickets of
adm. 1 fr., must be obtained at
the Hotel. There is ample time
between two trains to see the
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falls and the gorge, which are
both well werth a visit.

Vernayaz is the starting point
for the route for Chamonix over
the Salvan and Zriquent. See
Route c1v.

Martigny (HoTEL CLERC, very
. comfortable ; HoT. DE MoNT
Braxc) is the starting point for
the routes to menix over the
Tete Noire and Col de Balme (see
Routes LIIL and Lv.), also for
Aosta over the Gt. St Bernard
and Col de Fenétre (see Routes
LvIL and LIX. ), and is frequented
in summer by a large number of
teurists. On a hill to the right
is the ancient castle of La Batinz,
built in 1260, and formerly the
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residence of the bisheps of Sion.
Path in % hr., adm., 50 ¢. The
castle commands a fine view of
the Rhene Valley. The large
Convent is the headquarters of
the monks of St Bernard. (See
p- 110). Over the Stanse is an
ancient covered bridge. A
pleasant excursion (4 hrs. there
and back) from Martigny is
to the Gorges du Durunant.
(see p. 109).

The Plerre & Voir (8123 ft.)
commands a magnificent view of
the Bernese amf%l alais Alps. Tt
can bo ascended from Martigny
in 5 hrs. Descent to Saxon (see p.
120), 3 hrs., or in a sledge in 1%
hrs, Mule, 10 frs. Guide, 8 frs

Route LI

GENEVA TO ST MAURICE BY THE LAKE
OF GENEVA, SOUTH BANK.

Steamers to Bouveret thrice dally in 4}-5 hrs. Fares—6 frs. and 8 frs.

This

route should only be taken by travellers who have already seen the North

Bank.

Leaving Geneva the steamer
touches at several small villages
of little interest till we reach
Thonen (pop. 5500, Hot. de
U Europe, Balances), an old and
picturesque town from which a
railway runs to Bellegarde.

Evian (Hot. des Bains; Hot.
Evian, with garden; Hot. Fon-
bonne, formerly an eld chateau).
Above the lake in the town is
the Bath House with garden, from
which is a charming view. At
the end of the promenade is a
small casino prettily situated.
Near Tour Ronde is one of the
ancient chateaux of the Blonay
family. The shores of the lake
now become more precipitous
and picturesque. Melllerie, a
small village at which we touch,
was formerly inaccessible except
by boat, till Napoleon con-

structed the Simplon road. It
was here that the lovers St Preux
and Mme. Wolmar in Rousseau’s
“Nouvelle Helise” landed to
shelter from the storm, and
where St Preux remained to be
in sight of Heldise’s house en the
other side. Byron was nearly
lostt in a tempest opposite this
spot.

pSt Gingolph (Poste), situated
on either gide of the deep ravino
of the Morge, lies half in Franco
and half in Switzerland. A plea-
sant excursion by boat (3 hr.)
can be made to the Grotto of
Viviers. 'The Gorge of the Morge
can be followed in 1} hrs. round
te Port Valais, 1 m. from Bou-
veret (see below).

Bouveret (Hot. Tour), lying
in low marshy land, # m. from
tho entrance of the Rhone into

G
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the lake, is the landing place
for the railway. One mile distant
is Port Valais (see above), whichin
the time of the Romans was washed
by thewatersof thelake. A short
distance beyond is the pass of La
Porte du Sex, where the rock so
steeply overh: the river that
the railway has had to be carried
round by building an embank-
ment into the stream. This point
in the middle ages commanded
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the entrance to the Valais, and
was strongly fortified.

Passing Vouvry, Colombey, with
its large convent, and the sus-
pension bridge (210 ft. long) over
the Rhone, we reach MONTHEY.
Twenty mins, walk from the
station (worth seeing)- is the
Pierve  Suspendue or rocki
stone, an immense mass of roc
balanced on a base of only a
few square inches.

St Maurice, see p. 96.

Route LII.

GENEVA TO

CHAMONIX,

53} m. Diligence in 9-10 hrs. from Geneva, daily, at 7 A, same hour from
Chamonix. Banquette, 21 frs.; coupé, 25 frs.; return fare, 30 frs.and

45 frs. In fine weather the Banquette is preferable.

Fare to St Gervais,

18 frs.; return fare, 32 frs. Diligences leave from the Place du Lac, on

the south side of the town.
Ca.

rriages, 2 horses with 4 seats, 110 frs., but a bargain can often be made for

less (80 to 90 frs.), especially returning from Chamonix. Early and late
In the season thefare .from Chamonix can often be arranged for at much

less than the quoted rates,

The road to Chamonix passes
a succession , of pretty villas
and gardens, and in 4 m. crosses
the little river Forom, which di-
vides Switzerland from Savoy.

Anncmasse (4} m.) is the first
French village. No customs.
‘We then approach the Arve and
cross its tributary the JAengje
over a fine stone bridge.

At Nangy (9f§ m.) we make the
first change of horses. On the
right, after leaving Nangy, we
pass the Chateau de Pierre, the
residence of an English family.

Near Contamines (113 m.) is
the Chateau of Villy, and be-
yond to the left on the heights
are the ruins of the old castle of
Francigny.

Bonneville (17 m., Couronne),
where we again change horses,
is the capital of the province.
On crossing the bridge over the
Arve to the left is & monument,

78 ft. high, to King Carlo Felice
of Sardinia, and on the right,
is another to the memory of the
Savoyards who fell in the Franco-
German war.

Horses are again changed at
Scionzier (25 m.). 1

Cluses (26 m., National), with
a large trade in watch-making,
lies at the entrance to a deep
ravine up which we pass. About
3 m. beyond Cluses is the Chalet
de la Grotte de Balme, from which
a path leads up to the Grotte de
Ia Balme, the entrance to
which is seen on the face of the
cliff above. The Grotto is 1500
ft. deep, and 750 ft. above the
road. About three-quarters of
a mile into the cavern is a deep
pit; a small cannon fired here
produces an overpowering ocho.
(Adm., including guide, 3 frs.;
time there and back, 2 hrs.)

Beyond Maglarnd (303 m.) the
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rocks rise on the left precipi-
tously from the valley, and from
their crest falls the little Cascade
of Arpenaz. Its waters are
lost in spray before they reach
the valley. As we approach St
Martin (36 m., Hot. du Mont
Blanc) we have an imposing view
of Mont Blanc. Crossing the
Arve we reach Sallanches (36}
m., Hot. des Messageries), where
the diligence waits 1 hr. for
dinner. Fair table d’hote at the
Messageries, 4.50 c. with wine.

At the Motel dn FPont du
Bon Nant (41} m.), the diligence
stops a few minutes.

[From this point the RBaths
of St Gervais (Large HOTEL) are
reached in quarter of an bour.
The entrance gates of the
grounds are just over the bridge.
The baths, to which is attached
an immense establishment ac-
commodating 400 persons, is
beautifully situated in a deep
gorge. The village of St Gers
vais (Hotels du Mont Joli, du
Mont Blanc) is 2 m. from the
Pont de Bon Nant, and 20 min.
from the baths. It is a prettily
situated health resort.]

Leaving the hotel we cross the
little Bon Nant. The road here
divides, that to the left being the
old road, now disused except for

destrians. The new road, cut

y the Krench Government, at
enormous expense out of the face
of the mountain, passes up to the
right. Tourists who prefer walk-
ing can here alight, and reach
the Tunmuel (3 m.) fully as soon
as the diligence. At the entrance
of the tunnel is the small Hotel
dw Tunnel. 1In the excavation of

$9

the tunnel, an ancient Roman
gallery was discovered. The
gallery, portion of which remains
entire, entirely pierced the moun-
tain. Its course is seen in the
roof of the tunnel.

[Just beyond the tunnel a new
road leads to the right in three
quarters of an hour to the Gerges
of Dlosaz (adm., 1 fr.). The
Gorges of Diosaz are a succession
of deep and gloomy ravines,
through which rush seven beauti-
ful cascades. Wooden galleries
have been constructed along the
sides of the rocks, to enable visi-
tors to penetrate the recesses of
the chasms. The gorges are
well worth a visit. ]

At Le Lac (47 m., Inn de
Montet) the old road which went
by Servoz joins in. A new road
has been constructed from Le
Lac to the Gorges of Diosaz (2
m., see above). The. middle
road is the Diosaz road. On the
right, after leaving Le Lac, the
old road ascended the heights of
Le Montets. Following the new
road along the banksof the Arve,
the towering peaks of the Mont
Blanc range and the dazling
glaciers now come gradually into
view,though theirimmense height
and size can hardlyberealized. The
first glaciers we pass are those of
de Grioz and de Taconay, and then
the GLACIER DES B0sSONS whose
snow-white base descends quito
into the valley. Tourists hav-
ing only one day to spend at
Chamonix should visit the glacier
(see p. 101) before reaching Cha-

.monix, The visit to the glacier

and walk to Chamonix takes
about 2 hrs,

CHAMONIX.

Hotels. HOTEL D’ ANGLETERRE, excellent, nice garden, fine view of Mont Blanc.
HOTEL IMPERIAL, HOTEL ROYAL, both first-class. Hotel de Londres, com-
fortable sccond class, moderate charges, view of Mont Blanc. ZHotel Mont
Blane, Hotel de U Union, Hotel Couttel, Hotel des Alpes.

Guides. Guides areprovided by the Socleté des Guides de Chamonix. Guides
are employed In rotation, travellers having no choice of thefr guide, ex-
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cept with the following cxceptions:—For & course extraordinaire. When

a guide speaks the language of the tourist.

‘When the guide has been

previously employed. When the traveller 1s a member of an Alpine club
Ladies travelling alonc have also their choicc of guides.

TARIFF.
COURSES ORDINAIRES,

Glacier des Bossons and back 5 fr.
Montanvert and back . opmBiiz.
*Montanvert, Mer de Glace,
Chapeau, and back . . 9fr.
*Montanvert, Mer de Glace,
Chapean, Flégere, and back
in one day . 3 C o
Flégére and back . . 5
Pierre Pointue, 8 fr.; including
the Aiguille de la Tour or
Pierre a 1'Echelle, 9 fr.; or
with the Plan de 1'Alguille .
Col de Balme 8 fr.; back by
Téte Noire 9 fr.; or by
Barberine incl. Cascades de
Barberine, and de Bérard in
one day 9 fr., in two days

12 fr.
6 fr,

10 fr.

12 fr.

Martigny by the Col de Balme
or Téte Noire, or to Ver-
nayaz by Salvan . .

Brévent by Planpraz 8, by
the Flégere and down by

lanpraz . - .

Brévent by Plan Bel Achat
10 fr., Lac du Brévent 9 fr.,
Plan Bel Achat . . 3

Jardin, and back by the Chap-
ean same day 12 fr. With
night on Montanvert . L

Pavillon de Bellevue, Col de
Voza, or Prarion 3 .

Contamines by the Col dn
Tricot . . . .

12 fr.

10 fr.

9 fr.

16 fr.
8 fr.
15 fr.

CoURsSES EXTRAORDINAIRES,

Mont Blanc . 5 . 100 fr.
Grands Mulets and back in one
day 20 fr., in two days 30 fr.,
Grand Platean 50 fr., Dome
du Gouter 60 fr., Corridor
or Bosses dun Dromadaire .
Courmayeur by the Col de la
Brenva 80 fr.; Colsde Trala-
téte,d"Argentiere, de Pierre-
Joseph, des Hirondelles 60

70 fr.

fr.; Cols dn Géant, de Trio-
let, dn Chardonnet . i
Aiguille Verte 100 fr., Grandes
Jorasses 80fr.,, Aig.d'Argen-
tiere and du Chardonnet 65
fr., Alg. du Midi 60 fr., Aig.
du Tour . . . 8
Glacier Excursions on the
Mont Blane range, abovethe
snow line, per day 5 .

50 fr.

50 fr

10 fr.

Mules—Same prices as for the Courses Ordinaires,in additlon to the guide,
who must in all cases accompany the mule.

Beautifully situated in a val-
ley 13 miles long by 3 a mile
wide, from which rise the towering
heights and jagged peaks of the
Mont Blanc range, with its im-
mense ice fields, Chameonix is
the most convenient and inte-
resting centre for mountain and
glacier excursions in Switzerland.
Those of which we give descri
tions are unattended with the
slightest risk, even for ladies.
Several days should be spent at
Chamonix, but if the tourist can
only spend one day there, the
following is the most interesting
to make :—

To THE MONTANVERT, ACROSS
THE MER DE GLACE; DOWN TO
THE CHAPEAU. DESCEND INTO
THE VALLEY AND THEN ASCEXD
THE FLEGERE FOR VIEW OF
MoxT BLANC AND THE GLA-
CIERS.

The whole trip can be made by
destrians in about 10 to 11 hrs,
mules are taken, in 9 to 10
hrs. The portion of the way
from Montanvert across the Mer
de Glace to the Chapeau (1}
hrs.i[must be passed on foot.
To Montanvert, Mer de Glace,
and Chapeau, and return to

* When a mule 1s taken for these excurslons 2.50 fr, for boy to take the
maule down from the mountain and up to the Chapean.
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Chamonix, 6 hrs. Guides for
this excursion are quite unneces-
sary, except for the passage of
the Mer de Glace, for which they
can always be hired at Montan-
vert; charge, 3 frs.

TheMontanvert(Good HOTEL,
6300 ft., 2 to 2} hrs.), commands
a magnificent view ot the Mer de
Glace and its surrounding rugged
peaks.
monix passes the Hotel Royal,
crosses a meadow, and then turns
directly to the right up the
mountain. Passing the Chalets
des Planards we reach half way
the little auberge Le Cuillet. The
remainder of the ascent is more
gradual. When we reach the
plateau on which the hotel
stands, the whole dazzling
extent of the Mer de Glace
comes suddenly into view. Op-
posite us is the sharp isolated
peak of the Aiguille Dru (12,500
ft.); to the ﬁ%‘?lt is the Aiguille
du Moine (11,200 ft.) ; to the left
is the Aiguille Verte (18,500 ft.) ;
in the distance are the Grandes
Jorasse (18,800 ft.), Aiguille du
Géant (13,200 ft.), and Mont
Mallet (13,100 ft.).

From Montanvert we descend
the moraine to the Mer de
Glace. Here ‘it seems as if
the waves of a tempest had been
seized by the giant hand of win-
ter and fixed indelibly in the
fantastic positions they had as-
sumed. The glacier extends for
10 miles up the ravine, with a
breadth of 1 to 3 miles. The
lower portion, called the Glacier
de Bos, descending into the val-
ley, ig split and torn with im-
mense crevasses, which do not
come in sight till we reach
the other side. The glacier for-
merly filled the whole gorge,
reaching far above the mo-
raines or piles of debris on
either side, and extending into
the valley as far as the village
of Des Praz. Of late years

The path from Cha-’
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it has again commenced to
advance.”

The p: o of the Mer de
Glace takes from 20 min. to 4 an
hour. A little more than half
way we come to the Veine Noire,
where the surface of the ice is
almost hid by debris. After
crossing the ice we ascend the
moraine and reach the Maue
vais Pas, where we pass round
a precipitousslope by steps hewn
intherock. Ironrodsattached to
the rocks make the path per-
fectly safe. From the Mauvais
Pas we descend to the Chapeau,
a small platform which com-
mands the finest views of the
bottom of the glacier. Break-
fast or lunch may be had at the
hut, which is in connection with
the hotel at Montenvers. Better
and cheaper accommodation,
however, can be had lower down
at the Hotel du Mauvais Pas.
Descending into the valley and
passing through the villages of
Les Tines and Des Praz, we find
to the right the path up to the
Flégére 35925 ft.). Time for as-
cent, and return to Chamonix,
5 hrs. On the summit (5925 ft.)
is a comfortable inn. The view
from the Flégere is magnificent,
embracing the whole of the
Mont Blanc range from the
Glacier de Bossons on the right
to the Col de Blame on the left,
while directly facing us we see
the whole extent of the Mer de
Glace.

Other interesting excursions
are to the

Glacier des Bossoms, 3 hrs,
there and back. Guide unneces-
sary except for crossing the
glacier (see below). Tourists only
having one day at Chamonix
shou'ilg leave the diligence at the

lacier in coming from Geneva
(see p. 99). Quarter of an hour
after leaving Chamonix, a path
leads across the Arve over a
wooden bridge. This path leads
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to the left of the glacier.
better, however, to keep on the
main road till we come to another
yath (indicated by a flag), which
eads up the right side of the
glacier.” The path ascends’ the
moraine through the wood in
20 min. to a chalet situated on
a small platean, and commandin,

a fine view of the ice pinnacles ang
crevasses in the lower portion of
the glacier, while we see the
rugged face of the upper portion
stretching far above us. A long
ice grotto (1 fr.) has been cut
in the face of the glacier here.
The excursion should be con-
tinued by hiring a guide at the
chalet (2 frs.), and crossing the
glacier, then descending to Cha-
monix by the first mentioned
path which passes by the pretty
Cascade du Dard.

The Brévent (8274 ft., Inn),
ascent, 4 hrs.; descent, 24. Guide
unnecessary. Two paths lead to
the summit. The first (shortest
and most interesting for pedes-
trians) follows the mule path to
the Inn of Planpraz, and thence
ascends steeply up the mountain
to the left, passing over La Che-
ménée, a narrow }?t(}ll bround la.
ledge of rock, guarde a rail-
ing like the Mauvais Paaw.y Mules
can only be taken on this route
as far as Planpraz.

The second path, by which
mules can pass the whole way to
the summit, leaves Chamonix to
the W. and ses the villages
of La J[olanfa:nd Les Mossons,
and then ascends the mountain
through the wood. The VIEW
from the Brévent of Mount Blanc
is even finer than from the
Flégere. Pedestrians should
ascend by Planpraz, and descend
by this route.

e
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A magnificent view of the
upper portion of the Glacier de
Bossonsis had from the Paviilen
de la Plerre Pointue (6720 ft.),
Ascent, 3 hrs. Guide unneces-
sary. Cross the Arve by the
first route given above, then after
crossing the bridge across the
Nant de Pelerins, take the zigzag
path up the mountain to the
left. Restaurant at the sum-

mit.

A longer but most interesting
excursion is to the Jardin (9140
ft.), a small rock rising out of the
Glacier de Taléfre. A smallspring
in it gives life to a few Alpine
flowers in summer, whence its
name. The Glacier de Taléfre
is high above, and to the left of,
the Mer de Glace. As guides
must be taken, one to each pre-
son, a description of the route
is unnecessary. Time there and
return, 14 hrs. The journey,
exce?t for very good walkers,
should be broken by sleeping at
Montanvert. The Jardin com-
mands & most imposing view of
the surrounding peaks and ice
fields. :

The Glacler d’Argentlére (see

. 103), passed on the road to
gIa.rtigny) is the finest and largest
of the Mont Blanc glaciers. It
is reached from Chamonix in 4}
to 5 hrs. ; return, 3 hrs. Carriage
can be taken as far as Argentitre,
6 miles.

The different routes to the
Sumimit of Mont Blanc need
not here be given, as guides are
absolutely necessary. The ascent
costs about £10 for one person,
and £8 each, for two or, more,
The ascent in fine weather is easily
made by good pedestrians, but
should never be attempted in cloudy
or unsettled weather.
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Route LIII,

CHAMONIX TO MARTIGNY OVER THE
TETE NOIRE. .
Carriage Road from Chamonix to Martigny (23 m.), 8 hrs, Two horse

carrlage, 1 to 2 pers., 50 frs.; 3 pers,, 60 frs, : 4 pers., 70 frs. If anightis
spent on the way, 15frs. extra. Muies with attendant, 24 frs. Bargain can

often be made for earriages at less than these rates.

In spite of what is

sometimes said to the contrary, boeth this route and the following route to
Vernayez are perfectly safe for carriages.

Leaving Chamonix, the road
follows the right bank of the
Arve, passing through the vil-
lages of Les Praz and Les Tines,
and on our right the Mer de
Glace and Glacier des Bois (p. 101).
At Lavanches (5% m.) a path
branches off up the hill to the
right leading to the Chapeau
(see p. 101). At Chossallet the
path to the Argenticre Glacier
diverges (see below).

Argentié¢re (6 m., Hor. Cou-
RONNE, Hot. Bellevue). The route
over the CoL DE BALME diverges
to the riiht (see Route 55).
Opposite the village is the. im-
mense Glacler of Argentiére.

[To visit the glacler, take the bridle-
path leading up the hill to the right, at
the hamlet of CrioSALLET, § m. from
Argentiére (see above). One and
three quarter hours brings us to the
PaviLLoN DE LOGNAN (6565°ft), a
small inn where guides can be ¢b-
tained for the glacier. Ten minutes
above the inn we have a magnificent
view of the crevasses and lee-peaks in
the lower portion of the glacier. Half
an hour farther on, we reach the
Glacier itself, which is here nearly
level and free from danger. The ex-
cursion can be continued by ascending
the glacier to the Jardin, 3 hrs. far-
ther. Gulde necessary. Like the Jardin
above Chamounix (see p. 102) it Is an
isolated rock, covered in summer with
Alpine flora. The return can be made
from the Pavillon de Lognan, by
passing the chalets of Lognan and
Pendant and striking the path from the
Chapean descending to Lavanches (see
above). Guideldesirable.]

Leaving Argentidre the road
ascends rapidly, and in three
quarters of an hour gains the
Col des Montets (4740 ft.). Look-
ing back we have a fine view
(the last) of the valley and the
Mont Blanc range, and on the
right the Glacier Du Towr. The
Col divides the watersheds of the
Arve and Rhone. The road now
descends through a wild and
barren region in 20 min. to the
hamlet of Poyaz, where a finger-
post indicates a path to the left
leading to the picturesque Cas.
cade of Bérard, half an hour’s
walk up a rocky ravine. At Le
Nant we cross the Eaw Noire, and
reach Valorclne (three quarters
of an hour), with a church, pro-
tected by buttresses against the
avalanches, Tourists should here
send the carriage on to Chate-
lard, and visit the fine Cas«
cade of Barberine. Guide,
1.50 ¢. Time to sce the falls and
reach' Chatelard, 1 hr. The path
leads up to the left to a platform
built above the falls, The river
here plunges down 300 ft. in an
unbroken sheet of water. The
carriage road is rejoined at the
old Hotel Barberine (now closed),
where there is a smaller cascade
ontheBarberine, and inquarterof
an hour, passing the boun be-
tween Savoy and Switzerland, we
reach Chételard (HoT. ROYAL DU
CHATELARD, Hot, Suisse ar Chale-
lard), half way between Martigny
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and Chamonix and the junction
of the road over the Salvan to
Vernayez (see below).

Leaving Chitelard we enter a
narrow defile overhung with huge
precipices, and descend over the
MAUvVAIS Pas, once dangerous,
but now quite safe, through
a tunnel called Rocke Percée to
Téte Noire (3 hr., Hor. TRTE
NOIRE). From the hotel the
road leads through a dark forest
for a short distance, when the
valley opens out, and in half an
hour we reach Trient (4250 ft.,
gor. deI;U l(}m;cnm DU TRIENT,

ot. A . Looking up the
valley to tﬁ? right wlél%seé) the
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Glacier du Trient. The glacier
can be reached in 1 hr. Its
surface is level and easy walking.
Guide unnecessary. At Trient
the bridle-path over the Col de
Balme joins the main road (see
Route Lv.).

‘We now ascend in § hr. to the
summit of the Col de Foreclag
(5000 ft.). Descending (in half
an hour), a magnificent view of
the Rhone Valley below breaks
upon us. Two and a quarter
hours morebrings us to Martigny
(see p. 97). The old path (very
steep) saves pedestrians three
quarters of an hour.

Route LIV,

CHAMONIX TO VERNAYAZ BY THE
SALVAN.

Small Chars can only be used on’this ronte. Only return chars are obtainable
at Chamonix, otherwise one must be telegraphed for to Vernayez, which
will meet the traveller at Le Chatelard. Reverse way chars can be obtained
for the whole Journey at Vernayez. Fares,1 pers. whole distanece, 30 frs.;

2 pers., 40 frs. Le Chatelard to Vernayez, 20 frs, and 25 frs.

23 m. Time, 83 brs.

For portion of route as far as
Le Chitelard (5hrs. ), see Route
LIIL

Leaving Le Chitelard we
ascend steeply in windings for
thrse quarters of an hour, be-
yond which the road becomes
nearly level, affording fine views
to the right of Aiguille du Tour
and the Glacter du Tour, and
below us of the valleys of Eau-
Noire and Triedt. In 1% hrs.
from Chitelard we reach Fime
hant (Beloisean, Pens. Mont
Blanc). [A path from here leads
in three quarters of an hour to

Distance,

the Hotel du Trient (see above).
A boy should be engaged to show
th%asgwayng'] he hamlet of 75

the et o tquent
we reach in 1 hr. the Go:’gc of
Trlége (Izn), in which is a fine
waterfall. Adm., 1fr. In three
quarters of an hour more we ar-
rive at Salvan (HOT. DES GORGES
DU TRIEGE, Hot. Union). A path
Jeads in three quarters of an hour
to the CascaDE OF DALLEY.
From Salvan the road descends
in numerous zig-zags to Vernayaz
(see p. 96).
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Route LV.

MARTIGNY TO CHAMONIX OVER THE
COL DE BALME.

Carriage road as far as Trient, thenee Bridle-path to Tour, thence Car-
riageroad to Chamonix. Mule and attendant, 24 frs. Carriage to Trient

1-3 pers. 30 {rs.; 4 pers., 40frs.

From Tour to Chamonix, 1 horse carriage,

6 frs.; 2 horse, 10 frs, Gnuide (unnecessary), 12 frs. Time, 9 hrs. This is
the most pleturesque route from Martigny to Chamonix, but is not nearly
80 Interesting when taken in the reverse direetion.

For route as far as Trient, 3}
hrs., see Route XLIIL

From Trient the bridle-path
ascends steeply over meadows
and through a forest for 1}
hrs.,, when it becomes more
level. In } hr. we reach the
chalets of Herbageres, and in }
hr. more gain the Summit of the
Col de Balme, 5} hrs, 7225 ft.,
Hotel Suisse), where we have a
magnificent view of the whole
of the MoxT BrLANC RANGE and
the Valley of Chamoniz. The
view is still grander from the
white stone (marking the bound-
ary between Savoy and Switzer-
land), on a knoll a short distance
(1 br.) from the Inn to the right
of the road.

[From the Col a path leads in 2}

hrs. to the Horer TETE NoR (sce
page 104). Guide unnecessary in
settled weather. We ascend to the
boundary stone mentioned above, and
find there & path which we follow
for 10 min., and descend a little to the
right, passing in 10 min. several more
heaps of stone (on the right), then
crossing a brook, along the bank of
whieh we descend to some ehalets
(10 m.). In half an hour more, al-
ways Kkeeping to the right, we reach
another group of chalets, and in 20
min. a third. The path from here is
easy to follow to the hotel (1 hr.).]

From the Col we descend to
Tour in 1} hrs, (Inn du Rivage).
On our left is tho GLACIER DU
TouR. From Tour there is a
carriage road to Argentiére (1%
m.) and Chamenix (73 m.).
See Route LI

Route LVL

CHAMONIX TO SIXT OVER THE COL DU
BREVENT AND TO GENEVA BY SAMOENS.

Bridle-path in 10 brs. Mule, 18 frs. Guide, 18 frs., unnecessary in fine
weather, as the path is well marked,

The path leads past the church
at the west end of Chamonix
to the foot of the mountain,
and then ascends in zg-
through the wood for 13 hrs. to
the Clablettes (Tavern). ~Emerg-
ing from the wood we climb the

mountainside to PLAN PRAZ(Inn),
whence the ascent of the Brévent
is made (see p. 102). From Plan
Praz we reach the summit of the
Col de Brévemt (8080 ft.) in
3 hr., from which we descend into
the valley of the [iosaz, crossing
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the river in 1} hrs. by a bridge.
‘We now ascend again in 2 hrs. to
the Col d’Anterne (7425 ft.), a
gloomy pass terrific in its barren
loneliness.  Looking back we
have a magnificent view of the
Mont Blanc range and the Glacier
des Bossons. The descent leads
past the solitary Lac &’ Anterne
in 2 hrs. to the Chalet des Fonds
and ‘¢ Eagle’s Nest,” the summer
residence of an Englishman.
The path now steeply descends
to the junction of the Haut-
Giffre and Ruissean, and into the
valley of Les Fonds. Passing
to the left the cascade of Houget,
we reach in 1 hr. the village of
Salvagny. One quarter hr. mere
brings us to Sixt (Hor, ou FER A
CHEVAL). .

RoutE
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A delightful excursion is to the
Fer 4 Cheval (4 m.; carriage,
8 frs.; mule with attendant, 8
fre.), a remarkable valley, en-
closed in the form of a herse
shoe by precipices rising sheer
1000 ft., dewn which pour
numberless cascades when the
snow is melting in spring. In
the centre of the valley is a
monument to the memory of 180
persens whe were buried by a
l%laté.slip from the Téte Neire in

From Sﬁixt ;a. carriage road,
(carriage, 6 frs.) runs to Sameoéns
(4% m.,’Inn de la Poste, du
Commerce). From Samoéns an
omnibus runs daily in 7 hrs. to
Geneva. Fare, 5 frs,

LVII .

THE TOUR OF MONT BLANC.

CHAMONIX TO AOSTA OVER THE COL DU
BONHOMME AND COL DE LA SEIGNE.

Generally four days are allowed for the tour—Ist., to Contamines, 6 hrs.;

2d., to Mottet; 3d., to Courmayer, 8 hrs. Good walkers, however, can
reach Conrmayer in 2 days by sleeping at Nant Borrant, 8 hrs., or at La
Balme, 9 hrs. The best inn Is at Nant Borrant, La Balme to Courmayer,
10 hrs, The last day is spent in driving from Courmayer to Aosta, 24 m,
Bridle-path to Courmayer. Guide desirable, but not necessary, exeept
for the portion of the route from the Chalet de 1a Balme to the summit of
the Col dn Bonhomme (see below), charge, 3 frs. Guides are not always
to be had at La Balme, and 1t is therefore desirable to hire one at Con-
tamines, 6 frs. If employed 2 days, 86 frs.; 8 days, 40 frs. These rates
include the charge for his return journey. Carriage road, 2¢ m. from
Courmayer to Aosta. D ence in 5§ hrs, Fares, 5 frs.; coupé, 6 frs.
1 horse carriage, 18 frs.; 2 horse, 80 frs, Return carriages can often be
had at less than these rates,

The tour of Mont Blane is most interesting, and quite easy for fair walkers.

Mules can be ridden over the whole distance between Chamonix and
Courmayer,

Leaving Chamonix we follow
the main road to Geneva for 3}
m., and at the hamlet of La Gria
we find a path to the left which
crosses the bed of the Nant de la
Gria, and leads in § hr

to
Les OUCHES (small Inn). We

here take the path beyend the
church, indicated by a finger-
post, and ascend by the brook
in 2% hrs, to the Pavillon du
Bellevue (5950 ft.), an Inn
commanding a magnificent view
of the Chamonix valley. We

3
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now descend in 20 min. to the
hamlet of BroNNassAY (4365 ft.).
(Another path leads from Les
Ouches to Bionnassay over the
Col de Voza, but- the first named
is much the best.) From Bion-
nassay a bridle-path leads in 4
hrs., and a footpath in 2} hrs,, to
Les Contamines (see below). The
footpath leads to the left by the
church, and soon joins the bridle-
path, along which we continue
as far as the hamlet of CHAMPEL
(1 hr.), where we again diverge
from the bridle-path to the left,
at a fountain, and descend in 20
min. to La Vaillette, a short dis-
tance beyond which we join the
carriage road from St Gervais,
which we follow (turning to the
left) as far as Les Comtamines
(3855 .ft., Hot. dw DBonhowme,
best; Union, fair Inn). From
Les Contamines the peak of
Mont Joli (8375 ft.), can easily
be ascended in 3} Guide,
6 frs. Magnificent view of Mont
Blane. The carriage-road ends
? hr. from Contamines at the
ittle chapel of Notre Dame de la
Gorge. From here the path as-
cends to theleft through a wood,
crossing the ravine of the Bon
Nart in 35 min., and in 10 min.
more reaches the hamlet of Nant«
Borrant (small Inn, fairly com-
fortable). Mules can be hired
here to the Col Bonhomme, 5
frs. Leaving Nant-Borrant we
cross the pasture land, having a
view on the left of the Glacier of
Trelatéte, and reach-in 1 hr. the
Chalet & 1a Balme.

[Note. —Tourists should not at-
tempt to reach the summit of
the pass without a guide (see
directions above).]

rugged path indicated
by posts now ascends in
hr. to the PraN DES DAMES
(6043 ft.), so. called from a
lady with her attendants hav-
ing perished here in a snow-
storm. A cairn marks the spot.
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In 20 min. we reach the end of
the valley, and ascend the frst
saddle of the passin 4 hr. Two
curious rocky peaks on the right
called the Bonkomme 610,140 ft.)
and Bonnefemme (9910 ft.) give
the name to the pass, Asseveral
guides, in order to save them-
selves a long walk, have been
known to tell travellers that this
is the summit of the Pass, tourists
should note that the actval
summit is 40 min. farther on.
On reaching the summit of the
Col du Bonhommwe (8155 ft.),
we have a beautiful view towards
the valley of the Isere, and of
the peak of Mont Pourri (12,420
ft.). The Col is sometimes swept
by most violent hurricanes which
raise the dreadful eddies of snow
called “Tourmentes.” From the
Col two paths lead to Mottet.

(a) By Chapieuz, (3} hrs.), which
though the longer,is the safer and
easier. Thedescent to Chapicux
takes 1% hrs. (Inn, du Soliel).
Mules can be hired here to the
summit of the Col de la Seigne
(see below), 5 frs. From Cha-
g‘esaux we ascend to Mottet in 2

[From Chapieux a bridle-path
leads in 3 to Bourg St
Maurice, whence a road leads
over the pass of Little St Ber-
nard to Pré-St-Didier (22 m., see
p- 108). If bad weather comes
on it is desirable to take this
route instead of the following
one over the Col de Seigne. ]

(6) The second descent from
the Col is by the CoL pES FoURrs
(2} hrs.) over a steep and rugged
path (guide desirable). = This
path joins the first half hour be-
fore reaching Mottet.

Mottet (Ancien Hotel, small
but clean Inn). Before us rise
the peaks of the Aiguille du
Glacier and the Atiguille du Tre-
latéte with their glaciers,

From Mottet the path ascends
to the summit of the Col de 1a
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Selgne (8307 ft.)in 1} hrs,, where
a cross marks the boundary be-
tween Savoy and Italy. From
the Col we have a magnificent
prospect of the valley of Allée
Blanche, from which rise the
tremendous precipices and gla-
ciers of the Mont Blanc range.
There are few finer views than
this in Switzerland. From the
summit we descend, partly over
snow, in 4 hr. to the chalets of
Allée Blanche, and ( hr.) the
chalets of Venny, passing on the
left the Glacier de U Allée Blanche,
and reach (£ hr.) the little Zac
de Comlal below the immense
GLACIER OF MIAGE. Quarter hour
from the lake we cross the Doire,
and descend the moraine to an-
other bridge overthe Doire (£ hr.),
where the valley widens and be-
comes the Val Veni. In 10
min. we pass the Cantine de
U Avizaille(3hr. ), some lead-smelt-
ing works. The mines, which are
productive, are' at the head of
the Miage glacier. To the left
is the Glacier de la Brenva, which,
like most of the other Swiss
glaciers, has greatly receded in
the last 40 years. The marks
of its former bed are clearly dis-
tinguishable. We now soon reach
the pilgrimage chapel of Notre
Dame de GQuérison, and turning
the corner of a rock find the
village of Entréves beneath us.
In 4 hour we cross the Dora and
reach the BATHS OF LA SAXE,
joining a carriage-road which
leads to Courmayer in 20 min.
Courmayenr (3985 ft., Hor.
Royar, Hot. ANGELO, Hot. Mont
DBlanc, 3 m. from the village, Hot.
Union), a frequented summer
resort with mineral springs situ-
ated at the head of the Val d’
Aosta. The climate is exceed-
ingly mild. The summit of Mont
Blane is not visible from Cour-
mayeur, but a magnificent view of
the entire mountain -is had by
-ascending to the Mont de Saxe
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(7340 ft.), 2} hrs., guide, 6 frs.
A good bridle-path leads to the
summit.

The carriage road from Cour-
mayeur follows the course of the
Doire (the summit of Mont Blanc
coming in sight in about 4 m.)
to ¥ré-St-Didier, 3 m. (Hot. de
la Poste, Hot. Londres), a pretty
little village with mineral baths
frequented by Italians. The
springs are in a narrow ravine
with almost perpendicular sides.
From Pré-St-Didier the Gra-
meont (9060 ft.) can be ascended
in 4 hrs. Guide, 6 frs. The road
to the Little St Bernard is fol-
lowed for 13 m. Thence a
bridle-path ascends to the right
for 3 hrs. to the Pawllon Saus-
sure, a hut of the Italian Alpine
Club, from which the summit is
reached in 1 hr. The summit
commands the FINEST VIEW of
the southern side of Mont Blanc
and the surrounding peaks and
glaciers. The ascent is rather
fatiguing for inexperienced
climbers.

[From Pré-St-Didier a road leads
over the LITTLE ST BERNARD, 22 m.,
to - BoUrG-ST-MAURICE; thence a
bridle-path to Chapieux in 3 brs,
See p. 107.]

Leaving Pré-St-Didier we cross
the Doire and descend the valley,
which now becomes much more
fertile ; looking back we have
fine views of Mont Blanc, Mor
gex (5 m., Inn Angelo). On tho
left are the ruins of the castle of
Chalant, and beyond, the beauti-
ful pyramidal peak of Grivola
(13,030 ft.). At La Salle we pass
anotherruined castle. At Villaret
is a pretty waterfall. The valley
now narrows, and we again cross
the river (93 m.), passing through
an exceedingly picturesque ravine
to Avise, where we lose sight of*
Mont Blanc. At Avise are the
ruins of an ancient chateau and
tower. We now pass through
another gorge, and come in sight
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of the peak of Mt. Emilius
(11,680 ft.). Beyond Liverogne
(18 m.) we cross the gorge of
the Grisanche. Behind us, to
the south, is the snowy peak of
Ruitor (11,460 ft.), and high
above us to the left, on a precipi-
tousrock,is the pilgrimage church
of Nicholas, From Arvier (133
m.) the road descends steeply to
the Sawranche, which it crosses.
On the right above us is the Castle
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of Introd. Yillemeuve (163 m.)
(Inn Cesf, peor), a dirty little
village, but beautifully situated.
Above it are the ruins of the
Castle of APgent. At St Pilerre is
another very picturesque old
ruin, Four miles before reach-
ing Aosta we pass under the
Cheateaw le. Sarre, an ancient
castle restored by the late King
of TItaly. Aosta, 24 m. (see
p. 112).

Route LVIIIL

MARTIGNY TO AOSTA OVER THE
GT. ST BERNARD.

Diligence daily to Orsitres, 12} m. Ascent, 3 hrs.; descent, 2 hrs. Fare,
3.25 c. e road from Orsidres to Cantine de Proz, 24 m. from
Martigny. One horse carriage to Orsires, 15 frs.; 2 herse, 20 frs. To
Bourg-St-Pierre, 25 frs. and 40 frs. To Cantine de Proz, 30 frs. and 45
frs., or if horses are ridden afterwards to the Hospice, 10 frs. and 15 frs.
extra. These fares include the return jowrney if required, the carriages
walting at Bourg-St-Plerre or Cantine de Proz while the ascent is being
made to the Hospice. Mules are, however, cheaper than the extra fares
for riding the carriage horses,

Bridle-path from Canfine de Proz to the Hospice, 5} m., in 2} hrs. (descent, 2
hrs.). Mule from Liddes, 8 frs. From Bourg-St-Pierre, 6 frs. From Can-
tine de Proz, 5 frs. From the Hospicé to Remy, descent in 1 hr, Mule
from Liddes, 15 frs. From Bourg-St-Pierre, 13 frs. From Cantine de
Proz, 12 frs.

From Remy, carriage road to Aosta, 13 m. One horse carriage, 1 persen,
10 frs; 2 persons, 12 frs; 3 persons, 15 frs.

The Gt. St Bernard is chiefly Interesting for the sterile grandeur of its scenery,
and as being, with the exccption of the Stelvio, the highest fre-
quented pass in Switzerland, Pedestrians not wishing to preceed to Acsta
can return from the Hospice to Martigny by the Col de Fenétre (not
to be confounded with the Col de Fenétre, on the ronte from Aosta to the
Col de Bagne), and the Vail Ferret, See below.

Martigny, see p. 07. Leav- 14 beautiful cascades, Access is had
by a wooden gallery constructed for

ing Martigny we cross in 1} m.
the Dranse, the course of which
we follow to Les Vallcttes (43 m.,
Restaurant des Gorges du Dur-
nant).

{From Les Valettes we visit the
Gorges du Durnant. Carrlage
from Martigny and return, 1 horse,
7 frs.; 2 horse, 10 frs. A road (1 m.5
leadsto the entrance of theravine (adm.,
1{r.),in which the scencry is exceeding-
1y romantic and picturesque, rivalling
that in the Gorges du Trient (p. 96).
Through itthe Durnaat rushes down in

4 m. along the face of its precipitous
sides, From the end of the gorge a
path leads up to the bridle-path
through the Val Champex to Orsidres
(see below). By taking this path
Orsiéres can be reached by pedestrians
as quickly as along the carriage road,
and the scenery is even finer.]

Beyond Bouvernier (5} m.) the
valley contracts to a narrow
ravine, where we pass through
the GALLERIE DE LA MONNAIE,
a tunnel 210 ft. long As we
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emerge from it we see on the
leftaruined monastery, destroyed
in 1818 by the bursting of an ice
barrier which had dammed up
the river Dranse till it became a
large lake. The flood rushing
down the valley carried every-
thing before it, working fearful
devastation, and destroying a
large portion of the town of
Martigny (see p. 114). Sem.
branchier (8% m.) is at the
confluence of the two branches
of the Dranse, which descend
from the Val de Bagne (p. 114)

and the Val J Entremont, up
which we proceed to Orsléres
(123 m., Hot. des Alpes), at the

entrance to the Val Ferret (see
below).

[Orsiéres may also be reached
from Martigny in 53 hrs. by LEs
VALETTES, through the Gorges du
Durnant (see above), whence a bridle
path ascends to Champex (Pens. du
Lac Champez) in the Val Champex,
whence we reach the Summit of the
Pass (4903 ft.) in 2§ hrs. from Les
Vallettes. The descent to Orsiéres
past the pretty little Lac Champex
takes 1} hrs.

Leaving Orsitres we cross the
deep ravine of the Dranse and
gradually ascend, kaving before
us a d view of Mont Velan
(12,353 ft.). “Passing the little
chapel of St Laurent we arrive
at Liddes (173 m., 4390 ft., Inns,

Union, Angleterre). On the east
are the lofty of the
Meringuier (10,403 ft.) and the

Maisons Blanches (12,137 ft.).
Bourg St Pierre (21 m., 5385
ft., Inn, au Déjeuner de Napoléon),
a dirty village at the mouth of
the Valsorey. The little church
dates from the 11th century. In
the wall near the tower is a
Roman milestone. A pillar is
shown here which was formerly
set up on the summit of the Pass
to the memory of the youngér
Constantine. Beyond St Pierre
the road crosses a deep ravine, in
which the Dranse forms a prettv
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cascade. It was here that
Napoleon, when making his
famous age of the St Bernard

in1800 with an army of 30,000 men,
encountered his most serious
difficulties. The way then led
through a forest, across rocks and
the stumps of trees, so that the
French were obliged to dismount
the cannon from their carriages,
put them in the hollow trunks of
trees, and then one half the
battalions dragged them up the
mountain, while the other half
carried the arms and accoutre-
ments of their comrades. For
some distance up from St Pierre
the road lies through the forest
where Napoleon so nearly lost
his life by the slipping of his
mule on the verge of the precipice.
He was only saved from falling
into the gulf by his gwide, who
caught him by the coat.

Passing several pretty water-
falls we reach the end of the
carriage road at Camtine de
Proz (24 m., 5980 ft.), a lonely
little tavern. The view from
here of Mont Velan 12,353 ft.
and its glaciers is very imposing.

The bridle-path now ascends
over the pastures into the rocky
gorge of Marengo. In 1} hrs.
we reach the chalets of L’Hos-
pitalet, where the valley widens
a little. One of them was for-
merly used as a morgue. Cross-
ing the stream twice we ascend
the bleak and lonely Valiée des
Morts, passing a heap of stones,
under which are buried some
peasants who were killed by a
““Veurra,” a whirlwind which
suddenly raises immense drifts
of snow. A little beyond, is a
tablet to the memory of two
monks and a lay brother who lost
their lives at the same time. A
cross also marks the resting-place
of P. Cart, who was kng ere.
We now come in sight of the
lonely Hospice of St Bernard
(8120 ft.), which appears to al-
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most overhang the yawning gulfs
below. It consists of two build-
ings, one containing the dwell-
ing of the monks, the accommo-
dation for travellers, and the
church ; the other, called the
Hotel St Lowis, is a refuge in
case of fire, which has twice oc-
curred. The larger building has
shelter for 300 persons, and as
many as 500 have received hos-
fitality in one day. The monks
odge and board all travellers
free, but there is a box to receive
offerings for the support of the
hospice. One cannot help here
expressing a deep sense of shame
that so many tourists, well able
to afford to pay for the favours
they receive, do not give even as
much as they would pay at a
third class inn, and in many
cases nothing at all. Infact, the
total amount given by tourists
only covers a small fraction of
the actual cost incurred in enter-
taining them. So, to those who
come here for their pleasure and
not of necessity, we would say,
‘“As ye have freely received,
freely give,” remembering that
the revenues of the Hospice are
but limited, and that if they allow
the hospitality they have received
to go unrequited, some of the
poor and needy, among whom
the monks do so much good, must
ultimately suffer.

A visit to the Hospice is a de-
lightful and most interesting ex-
perience in this matter-of-fact
nineteenth century. On arriving,
strangers, as of old, are wel-
comed by one of the monks, who
presides at meals, which are at
noon and 6 p.m. A cheerful fire
is always kept burning in the
guest hall, and the bedrooms are
neat and comfortable. The walls
of the dining -rooms are hung
with lf)ictures, gifts of grateful
travellers who have been enter-
tained here. In the guest hall
is a grand piano presented by
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the Prince of Wales, and a har-
monium given by the composer
Blumenthal. In the libraryisa
collection of coins, alpine plants,
animals and minerals, and Ro-
man relics found in the vicinity.

The first building erected in
the pass was a Roman temple
of Jupiter, the ruins of which
were standing in the 16th cen-
tury, but no trace of it now re-
mains. Its site is the small
plateau, near the column which
marks the boundary between the
Valais and Piedmont.

The Hospiceis supposed to have
been founded by either Charle-

‘magne or his successor, Louis L,

‘¢ Le Debonnaire.” Indeed there
is good historical evidence that a
monastery existed here during
the reign of the latter. The
monastery was founded in 962
by St Dernard, who was born
in the castle of Menthon, on
the Lake of Annency. He
was abbot for 40 years. The
existing building was erected in
the 1]-(;1& century, and the church
in 1680. 1In its earlier history
the Hospice suffered much from
the outrages of the surroundin
barbarous tribes, but in the 12t
century it became exceedingly
rich and powerful. In the 16th
century it possessed no less than
98 livings. The Reformation,
however, ended this prosperity,
and since then various misfor-
tunes have carried away most of
its once large revenues. Its total
income is now only about £1500.
On this sum the monks afford
succour and accommodation to
20,000 travellers a year, besides
helping many sick and needy in
the district.  Provisions have to
be brought from Aosta, and dur-
ing the months of July, August,
and September no less than 20
horses are employed daily in
bringing up fuel alone.

The est labours of the
monks arc in Nov. and Feb,
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Mar. and April, when ever 2000
poor travellers cross the pass
menthly in search of work.
Daily the menks descend and
visit the refuges, to render as-
sistance te travellers who have
taken shelter in them. In this
good werk they are assisted by
the celebrated St Bernard degs,
which were originally a cross be-
tween Newfoundland and Py-
renean. To preserve the breed
several degs are also kept at
Martigny (p. 97) and the Sim-
plen (p. 122). The necessity ef
this is shown by the fact that in
1825 the whele of the dogs at
the St Bernard, together with
three lay brothers, perished in
an avalanche. Besides attend-
ing the menks, the dogs are cut
constantly when the snew is en
the ground searching for belated
graveléer‘si. One of the most cele-
rate: ogs was poer Barry,
who, after saving 39 lives, was
shot by a traveller he was trying
to rescue, and who mistook him
for a welf. His stuffed skin is
in the museum at Berne (p. 7).
The monks, who are recruited
from the menastery at Martigny
(p. 97), number 15, with 8 lay
brethren. The climate is so
severe, and their duties so ardu-
ous, that their censtitutions are
seen broken dewn, when they re-
turn to die, or drag out the re-
mainder of a feeble existence at
Martigny, their places being
taken by other members of the
brave and devoted brotherheod.
For nine months of the year the
Hespice is surrounded by snew,
which semetimes drifts around
the building to a depth of 40 ft.
The cold is often 20 deg. below
zero, and has been in ene in-
stance 29 deg. Even in summer
the lake behind the Hospice is
often frezen over in the morning,
and in some years the ice on its
surface has never melted. The
greatest heat registered is 68
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deg. The mean temperature in
winter is 15 deg.; in summer,

eg.

The Chapel contains the grave
of Gen. Dessaix, who fell at
Marengo. Over the tomb is a
monument erected by Napoleon.

Near the Hospice is the Morgue,
where the ies of the poor
travellers who have died in the
pass are kept till summer for
interment. "

A meost ificent view of
Ment Blanc, Meont Velan, the
Graian Alps, Mente Rosa and
the Bernese Alps, can be had
by ascending the Chenalette
(9480 ft., 1% hrs., guide neces-
sary).

[Tourists returning to Martigny
can change their route by proceeding
over the Col de Fenétre, (8856 ft.,, 1 hr.;
magnificent view; guide desirable.,
10 frs., who should be engaged at St
Pierre). Passing three small lakes to
the hamlet of Plan la Chaud, 2} hrs.,
and then to the chalets of Ferret, 8}
hrs. (5565 ft., Tavern), in the Val
Ferret, from which we descend to La
Folly, 8% hrs., with view on the left
of the Glacier de la Nueva, Passing
Seilez (Tavern) 4} hrs,, we join a car-
riageroad at PrazdeFort,53 hrs., which
leads to Orsidres, 6 hrs., see above.

COURMAYEUR can be reached in 14
hrs, over the Col de Fenétre and Col
du Ferret (8325 ft.) Guide necessary,
12 frs. The route is quite safe, but is
fatigning, and is not recommended
except to good pedestrians, who wish
to make the tour of 3ont Blanc to
Chamounix (see Route LVIL), withont
returning to Martigny.)

The path from the Hospice
descends to the Vacherie, the
pasture of the Hospice, and pass-
ing a cantine or shelter for the
read makers, it winds down to
St Remy (Inm, 1 hr.), an Italian

On the left we see the
Pain de Sucre (9600 ft.), or
““sugar loaf.” At St Remy we
reac%al;:he carriage road, which
passes through a pleasing country
to

M Aosta (13 m., Hor. pE MonT
BLANG, & short distance from the
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town on the Courmayeur road.
Couronne, comfortable inn, where
the diligence stops. Reading
room, with English newspapers,
opposite the Couronne, adm.
free. Good beer at Zimmerman's
Café).

Aosta is beautifully situated,
nestling in a lovely valley over-
shadowed by lofty snowcapped
mountains, and is interesting
as being one of the most ancient
towns in northern Italy. It
was originally a settlement of
the tribe of the Salassi, but little
of its history is known till its
capture in 28 B.C. by Augustus,
who rebuilt the city and garri-
soned it with 3000 men, giving
it the name of Auguste Pretoria
Salassorum. Many interesting
remains are left to us of this
Roman occupation.  Enclosing
the town are the ancient WALLS
guarded with strong towers.
The main street of the tewn is
entered on the east side through
a treblo gateway called by the
Romans the PorTa PRETORIA
(now the Porte de la Trinité).
To the left of the gate, up the
Rue des Prisons, are the ruins of
a Roman Theatre and Basilica
or Palace. Beyond the gate is a
TRIUMPHAL ARCH, built of huge
blocks of stone, and decorated
withten corinthian pillars,erected
in honour of Augustus. On the
other side of the river Buttier
arc tho remains of a Roman Bridge
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over a brook. A great portion
of the bridge has sunk under the
ground. Near the west gate of
the town are two medieval
towers, one called Bramafan,*or
‘‘the cry of hunger,” from the
legend that a Count René de
Chalans, jealous of his wife, im-
prisoned her here and starved her
to death ; the other is called Le
Tour de Lepreux, or ‘‘Tower of
the Leper,” and is the scene of
Maistre’s celebrated tale of *‘Le
Lepreux.” In the main street is
the CATHEDRAL, with a frescoed
Eorta,l, and a representation of the

ast Supper in painted terra-
cotta. In the choeir are seme
carved stalls of the 14th cent.,
and some curious mediceval
mosaics. In the sacristy are the
church treasures. Attached to
the CHURCH OF ST OURS are fine
Romanesque cloisters. The choir
stalls are handsomely carved.
In the Hotel de Ville the Italian
Alpine Club have a fine library
of books and maps relating to
the district, which strangers are
welcome to consult.

Calvin resided in Aosta for
several years. A monument re-
cords his flight in 1541.

For diligence to Courmayeur
(see p. 108), travellers should be -
careful to book their seats in
good time, as when the,diligence
is full no extra conveyance is
put on.

Route LIX.

FROM MARTIGNY TO

AOSTA BY THE VAL

DE BAGNE AND COL DE FENETRE.

Time required to walk the entire distance, 19 hrs.
Diligence to Sembrancher, 8 m., once daily, in 2 hrs,, Fare, 2.25 c.; road
to Champsec, 7} m. farther, but hardly fit for carriages beyond Chable, 4}
m. One horse carriage from Martigny to Chable, 15 frs,
H 3
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Bridle-path from Champsec over the Col de Fendtere to Valpellina, in 11
hrs, Guides, who should be hired at Chable, 18 frs. CARRIAGR ROAD

from Valpellina to Aosta, 9 m.

The night on the way should be passed at Mauvoisin Inn, or at Charmontane,
24 hrs, farther up. Beds in the chalets in summer,

From Martigny to Seme-
brancher (8 m.), see Route LvIIL

Here we leave the St Bernard
road, cressing the Dranse and
following its course to Chable or
Bagne (124 m., Hot. Gretroz, Hot.
du Grand-Combin), the principal
village in the valley. AtChamp-
sec (154 m., Rest. Corthey) the
road ends. The bridle-path now
ascends in half an hour to Lourtier
(Tavern). Beyond Lourtier we
Bass several cascades on the

ranse, and ascend over the
debris, brought down by a land-
slip in 1868. = To the right of the
hamlet of Granges Neuves (three
quarters of an hour) the stream
issuing from the Corbassiére
Glacier forms a fine cascade.
Passing Fronnay (Tavern, quarter
of an hour) the valley narrows to
aravine, and the scenery becomes
exceedingly wild and picturesque
as we ascend to Mauvelsin
(5640 ft., 1} hrs,, Het. dun
Gietroz), opposite the Glacier de
Glétroz, which of late years has
greatly receded.

This glacier was the cause
of the two terrible inundations
of 15695 and 1818. The first
swept away nearly all the houses
in the valley, besides drowning
140 persons. In the spring of
1818 the inhabitants were alarmed
to find that an immense accumu-
lation of ice and snow from the
glacier had dammed up the course
of the Dranse,ferming alargelake.

¢“M. Venetz, the engineer of
the Valais, was consulted, and he
immediate;g'n decidelt;lr upt})ln iﬁt-
ti a 5 thro is
b:ng'ier, 60 ft. I;;ybove thl:aglevel of
the water at the time of com-
mencing, and where the dike was
600 ft. thick. He calculated
upon making a tunnel through

this mass before the water should
have risen 60 ft. higher in the
lake. On the 10th of May the
work was begun by gangs ef 50
men, who relieved each other,
and worked, without intor-
mission, day and night, and by
the evening of the 13th the
tunnel was pierced. At first the
opening was net large enough to
carry off the supplies which the
lake received ; but this seon
enlarged, as the water melted
the floor of the gallery, and the
torrent rushed threugh. In 32
hrs. the lake sank 10 ft., and
during the following 24 hrs. 20 ft.
more ; in a few days it would
have been emptied, but the
cataract which issued from the
gallery melted and broke up a
large portion of the base of the
dike which served as its buttress,
and at 4 o’cleck in the afterncon
of the 16th of June the dike burst,

and in half an hour the lake
was empty.
‘“The atest accumulation

of water had been 800,000,000 of
cubic feet; the tunnel, before
the disruption, had carried off
nearly 330,000,000. In one hour
and a-half the water reached
Martigny, a distance of 7 leagues.
Through the first 70,000 ft. it
passed with the velocity of 33 ft.
per second—four or five times
faster than the most rapid river
known ; yet it was charged with
ice, rocks, earth, trees, houses,
cattle, and men ; 34 persons were
lost, 400 chalets swept away, and
the damage dene in the 2 hrs.
exceeded a million of Swiss livres.
All the bridges were swept away,
and among them the bridge of
Mauvoisin, which was elevated
90 feet above the erdinary height
of the Dranse.”
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A recurrenceof this catastrophe
is prevented by a series of con-
duits, which confine the river,
and give its waters sufficient force
to carry away the ice as quickly
as it is formed.

From Mauvoisin the path
descends to the river, and
traverses the former bed of the
lake, ascending in 1} hrs. to the
chalets of Petite Chermontane and
Vingt-huit. 1n § hr. we cross
the end of the Glacier du Aont
Durand, and reach Chermons
tane (7315 ft.,, beds in the
chalets). The peaks overshadow-
ing the valley looking from left
to right are the Pointe d Otemma
(11,135 ft.), Mont Gelé (11,540
ft.), Mont Avril (10,960 ft.), the
Grand Combin (14,165 ft.), the
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Tour de Boussine (12,590 ft.).
From Chermontane the Summit
of the Col. de Fenétre (9140 ft.)
is reached in 1} hrs.

““The col is enclosed by ridges
of the most fantastic and savage
grandeur, which descend from
the mountains on either side ; on
the N.E. from Mont Combin,
rising to a height of (14,165 ft.),
and on the S.E. from Mont Gelé,
(11,539 ft. high), and almost too
steep to bear snow, presenting a
perfect ridge of pyramidal
aiguilles  stretching  towards
Valpellina.”— Prof. Forbes.

The descent to Valpellina
(3100 ft., Hot. des Mines) takes
4 hrs. Good -carriage road
through a beautiful valley to
Aosta (9 m.), see p. 112

Route LX.
VISP TO ZERMATT.

Bridle path (4 hrs.) to St Niklaus.
St Niklaus, 12 frs.

Horse or mule to Stalden, 6 frs.; to

Porters to St Niklaus, 6 frs., or to Zermatt, 12 frs.

Luggage, Which fs delivered the following day, can be sent by post.
Carriage road from St Niklaus to Zermatl, 12 m. One horse earriage

for 8 persons, 15 frs.

Post-car with seats for 2 passengers runs daily,

starting from St Niklaus at 12; but if thers happens to be mueh luggage
going, passengers are not taken. Fare, 4 frs.

The bridle path follows the
course of the Visp to Stalden
(2736 ft., 6 m., Hot. Stalden), at
the Junctlon "of the Saasthal
(p. 119) and the Nickolai-Thal,
up which latter we ascend to

st Niklaus (3820 ft., GRAND
Hot. ST NICHOLAS, Hot. Lock-
matter), the principal town in the
valley.

From St Niklaus the carriage
road ascends on the right bank
of the Visp past huge blocks of
stone, which were thrown down
by the earthquake of 1855.
In 2 m. we pass a cascade
on the right, and reach the
little village of Herbrigen (2}

m.). In 2% m. more we come
in sight of tho Wedsskorn (14,800
ft.) and the Bies Glacier on the
right, and on the left the
Musabel (14,940 ft.), with the
Testi Glacier. Before us are. the
DBreithorn (13,685 ft.) and the
Kleine Matterkorn (12,752 ft.).
Between Ramda (6 m., Hot.
Weisshorn) and Tasch (8§m ), we
ga.ss through the debris brought

an ice avalanche in
1849, Though this avalanche did
not strike any of the villages in
its direct fall of 1500 ft., the wind
raised by it was so strong as to
throw down several of the houses
at Randa, some of the timbers
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being blown a distance of half a
mile. On the right we now
come in sight of the JHohklickt
Glacier, the lofty peak of the
Matterhorn (14,705 ft.), and the
immense Gorner Glacier, and
reach

Zermatt (5315 ft., HOTELS DU
MoxnT CERVIN, DU MoONT ROSE,
and ZERMATTER HOF, all most
comfortable, under the excellent
management of Herr Seiler. Hot.
de la Poste. EX6, CH. SER. in the
chapel near the Hot. Cervin).

Zermatt, one of the most fre-
quented Alpine villages in Switz-
erland, takes the first rank for
the magnificence of its glaciers,
which exceed in Jgrandcur either
those of the Bernese Oberland
or at Chamonix. Another of
its great attractions is the lofty
isolated peak of the MATTER-
HORN. Indeed, in no other ac-
cessible place in Switzerland
does the traveller find himself so
thoroughly in the heart of the
regions of eternal ice and snow,
which in their treacherous beauty
have brought death to many a
hardy mountaineer; the little
churchyards of the Parish Church
and the English Chapel bearing
witness to the number of victims
who have paid with their lives
the penalty of their hazardous
ventures. Zermatt is also, how-
ever, the centre for a number of
delightful and perfectly safe ex-
cursions, An excellent relief
map of the surrounding distriet,
which tourists should consult, is
in the Zermatter Hof.

Chief among these excursions
is that to the

Riffclberg and Gorner Grat
(excellent HOTEL on the Riffel-
Alp, and smaller hotel on the
Riffelberg (8400 ft.)., 20 min.
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higherup.) Porter,5 frs. Guide
unnece: . Ascent, 3 hrs.;
descent, 2 hrs. From the Riffel-
berg to the Gorner Grat, 1} hrs.;
descent, 1 hr.

The view, especially from the
Gorner Grat is most sublime and
magnificent ; on all sides we are
surrounded by snow and ice,
while over all tower the giant
peaks of the Matterhorn (14,705
ft.), the Weisshorn (14,803 ft.),
the Rotkkhorn (13,855 ft.), the
Gabelhorn (13,633 ft.), the Mischa-
bel (14,940 ft.), and the highest
point of Monte Rosa (15,217 ft.).
Below us is the immense ice-sea
of the Gorner Glacier.

From Zermatt we can reach
the Gorner Glacierin 1 hr. b
following the left bank of the
Visp to where the stream issues
from the ice. 'We can return to
Zermatt by crossing the wooden
bridge, and following a path
which soon joins the path to the
Riffelberg (see above).

To the Sehwarz-See (8392 ft.),
and Hérnli (9492 ft.). Mulo-pat
all the way, 3 hrs. Guide, 6
frs. An exceedingly interesting
excursion. From the Hirnli we
have a most magnificent view of
the Matterhorn.

To the Findelen Glacier, 3
hrs. Guide, 5 frs., unnecessary,
unless a walk over the glacier is
contemvlated.

To the Sl:lﬂ'clalp (7045 ft. ),
ascent, 2 ars.; descent, 13 hrs,
guide unnecess The summit
commands a fine view of the Mat-
terhorn and the Zmutt Glacier.
Most of the other excursions
and ascents from Zermatt re-
quire good guides, who will
supply all the necessary informa-
tion that our limited space pre-
vents us from givipg here.
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Route LXI.

ZERMATT TO AOSTA OVER THE.
THEODULE PASS.
Time, 13 hrs. Gnide, 20 frs. Mules can be taken for the first 3 m., 15 frs.

Also from Breuil, on the other side, 2 hrs. below the pass to Chatillon,
5 hrs., whence a DILIGENCE runs twice daily to Aosta, 15 m., in 8 hrs,

The route over the Theodule
Pass is a most interesting glacier
excursion for good pedestrians.
From Zermatt we reach the
Upper Théodule Glacier in 4} hrs.
In crossing the glacier the rope
must be used. The glacier is a
good deal crevassed, but with
this precaution is quite safe. In
1 hr. we reach the summit of
the Théodule Pass (10,900 ft.),
on which there is an inferior faz,
which is the highest habitation
in Europe. From the pass we
descend over the Tournache
Glacter in & hr., beyond which
the path leads down in 2 hrs. to
Breuil (Hot de Mont Cervin,

comfortable Inn), whence mules
can be had to Chatillon. From
Breuil the path descends through
a wild ravine past (1 hr.) t%e
GORGE DU GEANT, a rocky chasm,
in which are several fine cascades,
somewhat resembli that at
Pfiffers (p. 33). In 20 min."we
reach VAL TOURNACHE (Inn du
Mont Rose), from which we de-

scend in 4 hrs, through the
beautiful Val Tournacke to
Chitillon. About an hour

from Val Tournaches we pass
far above us the ruins of a
Roman aqueduct on the face of
the rocks to the right.

Aosta (15 m.), see p. 112.

Route LXIIL

ZERMATT ROUND MONTE ROSA TO
" MACUGNAGA.

Four days. Guldes quite neeessary, 10 frs. per day and board.

This route, for good pedestrians,
is one of the very finest and most
interesting of alpine excursions.

First day over the Theodule Pass
(see above) and Col des Cimes
Blanches (9912 ft.) to Fléry (small
Inn). Time, 9-10 hrs,

Second day, Fieryover the Furca
di Betta (8640 ft.) to Gressoney-
La-Trinité (Hot. du Lyskamm,
fawr Inn), 6 hrs. Magnificent

views of JMonte Rosqg and Lys-
kamm.

Third day, Gressonay over the
Col d’Ollen (9544 ft., Inn) to
Algana (Hot. Monte Rosa, fair
Inn), 8 hrs. This portion can be
ridden on mules.

Fourth day, Algana over the
Turlo Pass (9090 ft.) to Macuge
naga (see p. 118), 9-10 hrs,
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Roure LXIII.

PALLENZENA OR VOGOGNA TO VISP BY
MACUGNAGA, MONTE MORO, AND THE

SAAS-THAL.

Vogogna to Macugnaga, carriage road as far as Cerpo MoreLLI (12 m.);
one horse carriage, 15 to 20 frs., bargain necessary. A post conveyance
runs every morning from Vogogna to Ponte Grande (13 m.), fare 2 frs.;
and also from Domo d Ossola (p. 123) to Pi¢ di Mulera, 24 m. from
Vogogna, where connection can be made with the conveyance to Ponte

Grande.

Good BrIpLE-PATH from CEPPo MORELLI to Macugnaga, 24 hrs.

Macugnaga to Visp, 13 hrs. Footpath only, as far as Mattmark, 8 hrs.
Thence Bridle-path to Visp. Pedestrians shonld break the journey by
sleeping at Saas or Mattmark. Horses from Visp to Saas, 20 frs.; to
Mattmark, 30 frs. GUIDE (necessary) over the Monte Moro, 15 frs.

The ¥al Anzasea is one of the
finest of the Alpine valleys,
affording as it does unsur-
passed views of Italian loveli-
ness and Swiss deur. Tour-
ists who do not feel  equal to
the fatigue of walking over the
MMonte Moro into the Saas Thal
should, at least if they. have
time, proceed as far as Macug-
naga, where the surrounding
mountain and glacier scenery
hardly ranks second to that of
Chamonix, Zermatt, or the Ber-
nese Oberland.

The Simplon route can either
be left at Pallanzeno (p. 123
or Yogogma (p. 123). A goo
carriage road ascends the valley
of Anzasca along the bank of the
Anza to PIE DI MULERA (2} m.,
Inn Cavour). From here the
road ascends more steeply, and
we have lovely views before us,
with Monte Rose in the distance.
Near Calasca (63 m.) we pass on
the right a pretty cascade, an
at PONTE GRAXNDE (7} m., fair
Inn) another waterfall.” Near the
village are some small gold mines.

Mules may be had here for,

Macugnaga. Nine and a quarter
miles we reach VANZONE (Inn,
Chasseurs duv Mont Rose), the
principal village in the valley.

The little chapel, a few minutes’
walk, commands a fine view of
the valley and Monte Rosa.

At Ceppo Morclll (12 m.)
the carriage-road ends. A good
bridie-path leads in 1} hrs. to
Pestaréna (Inn), to which the
carriage road will be extended.
Approaching Borea (13 hrs{ we
pass a fine cascade on the left,
and a few yards farther on, our
first complete view of Monte Rosa
(15,217 £t.) breaks upon us.

Macugnaga, 2% hrs. (5115
ft., HoTe. MONTE Rosa, HOTEL
MoONTE MORO), is beautifully
situated at the base of Monte
Rosa, with its four peaks of
the Signal Kuppe (14,964 ft.),
Zumsten Spitze (15,006 ft.).
Héchste or Dufour Spitze (15,217
ft.), and Nordend (15,182 ft.).
On every side it is hemmed in by
snow-clad mountains and fields
of ice. The commune bearing
the name of M consists
of six small hamlets, but a few
minutes’ distance from each other.

The principal excursion from

ac , which can be made
in about 9 hrs. (Guide, 6 frs.), is
first to the Belvedere (2 hrs.),
an old moraine commanding a

-magnificent view of the Macug-

naga Glacier, which it ‘divides
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into two streams. From the
Belvedere, we cross the north
arm of the Glacler to the
chalets of Jazzt, and walk along
the moraine to the chalets of
Fillar (3 hour), from which
we again descend on to the
glacier, over which ‘we pass
to the chalets of the Pedriolo
Alp. The passage of the glacier
with a guide is perfectly safe,
and is most interesting and beau-
tiful. Immediately above us are
the towering peaks of Monte
Rosa, whose precipitous slopes
descend 8000 ft. almost sheer
down to the glacier over which
we pass. From these heights
immense avalanches often come
thundering down into the ice-
bound valley below. Near Ped-
riolo are some immense masses
of rock which have fallen from
the cliffs above. From Pedriolo
we descend again along the
course of the Anza to Macugnaga.

From Macugnaga a rather
fatiguing climb of 4 hrs. brings
us to the summit of the Pass of
Monte Moro (9390 ft.).

(The top of this pass is reached
with greater ease from the re-
verse direction, as mules can be
ridden the greater part of the
ascent. )
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The highest point of the pass
is marked by a cross, The view
is marvellously grand and beauti-
ful, and unsurpassed in Switz-
erland.  Descending past the
Thiiliboden Glacier we reach in
1% hrs. the HOTEL MATTMARK
(comfortable Inn), near the little
Mattmark-See, where pedestrians
coming from Visp and intending
to cross the Monte Moro should
spend the night. Passing the
lake we have a magnificent view
of the Allalin Glacier on the left.
As we approach Saas we see on
the right a beautiful cascade on
the Almagel. :

Saas-im-Grund (1 hr., 5125
ft., Hot. Monte Moro, moderate
Inm), is the principal village in
the Saas-Thal. The SAAs-THAL
is a beautiful and romantic valley,
and not enough known to tourists.
Indeed, but few of the valleys in

Switzerland can rival its wild and -

rocky scenery, foaming cascades,
and the sublimity of its alpine
views. [From Saasa bridle-path
leads in three quarters of an hour
to Fee (5900 ft., Hotel du Dome,
comfortable Inn), magnificently
situated in an amphitheatre of
glaciers. Visitors to Saas should
not miss ascending to Fee.] From
Saas, Stalden is reached in 1 hr.
Thence to Yisp, see p. 121.

Route LXIV,
ULRICHEN TO DOMO D’OSSOLA.

Two days’ excursion, spending the night at the Falls of Tosa.

Bridle-path to the falls of Tosa, 6 hrs., thence to Foppiano, 3 hrs.

Guide

desirable to the other side of the glacier, 6 frs. Horse tho whole distance,

20 frs,

Carriage-road from Foppiano to Domo d Ossola, 181 m., one horse carriage,
20 frs.; from the Falls of Tosa to Domo d’Ossola, 30 frs.

This is a most delightful and
interesting excursion and not
over-fatiguing.  Ulrichen, see
p. 78. Leaving Ulrichen we

cross the Rhone in a few minutes
and enter the EIGINENTHAL, cross-
ing the Eiginenbach above a fine
cascade 80 ft. high. In 1} hrs.
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we reach the Hohsand Alp (5720
ft.), frem which the ascent be-
comes steeper. Before us rises
the Nufenenstock {9390 ft.). In
half an hour we cross the stream
and see before us on the right
the G'ries Glacier. Following the
course of the brook we reach in
20 min. the chalet of Altstaffel,
the highest dwelling in the pass.
Taking the path to the right, in
1 hr. more we reach the Gries
Glacler, a level ice field, which
we cross in 20 min. The path is
marked by poles planted in the
ice. Beyond the glacier we keep
to the right, and passing a glacier
lake reach the Gries Pass (8027
ft.), which forms the boundary
between Switzerland and Italy.
The scenery around is rugged
and barren, but in clear weather
we have a magnificent and ex-
tensive view. A rather steep
descent of 2 hrs, into the upper
rtion of the Val Fermazza
rings us to the Falls of Tosa
(Hotel de la Cascade, small Inn),
one of the most picturesque of the
alpinewaterfalls, TheriverTosa,
nearly 30 yards wide, here falls
over the edge of a precipice, down
1000 ft. The upper portien of the
fall is broken by the ledges of the
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rock till it takes a final plunge of
540 ft. Above the fall, the river is
crossed by a bridge, near which is
a small chapel and the Inn. The
finest view of the falls is had by
descending to the left for 3 m.,
and climbing a rock beside the
bridle-path.

Below the falls the ¥Wal For-
mazza proper begins. Passing
several small villages we reach
in 1} hrs. Andermatten. For
route over the Albrun Pass to
Viesch, see p. 78. Below An-
dermatten we pass through the
romantic Gorge of Foppiane in
1 hr. to Feppiane, where we join
the carriage-road to Demo d’Os-
sola. Frem Foppiano the scenery
changes, and in its rich Italian
beauty forms a delightful con-
trast to the rugged mountain
wildness we left behind us.
Below Premia (65 m., Iun
Angelo) we enter the beautiful
VAL ANTIGORIO, which is unsur-
passed in loveliness among the
valleys of Piedmont. At Crede
(11 m., Jan Leone D’Oro) is the
Italian Custom House. At the
BripcE OF CREVOLA (154 m.) we
join the reute from the Simplon
(p. 123), and reach Domeo d'0s-
sola, 18 m. (p. 123).

Routre LXV.

MARTIGNY TO LAKE MAGGIORE OVER THE
SIMPLON. -

Ra.ﬂvara,y from Martigny to Brieg (48 m.), 2} to 3 hrs. Fares—11.85, 7.90,
6.30 frs.

Diligence from Brieg over the Simplon to Pallanza and Intra, twice daily, '
Ist May to 30th Sept. ; once daily, 1st Oct. to 30th April, in 13 hrs.; Fares

—Coupé and banquette, 20.30 c.; Interier, 16,80 ¢.

9 hrs., 6.30 and 10,80 frs,

Te Domo d'Ossola, in

For Steamers on Lake Magglore, see p, 145,

Saxen, 5 m. (HOTEL DES
BaAINS), is a small watering-place
frequented by sufferers from

cutaneous diseases. It has a
Kursaal, with conversation, read-
ing, and ball rooms,
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Ston (15 m., HOT. DE LA POSTE,
Hot. Lion d’Or). For route from
Thun over the Rawyl, see p. 82.
To the N. of the town, situated
on three small hills, are three
ancient castles, two of which are
in ruins, The highest, that of
Tourbillion, commands a fine
view of the valley. Built in 1492,
it was formerly the residence of
the bishops. In the Castle of
Valeria is the Old Cathedral, in
which is a votive chapel to St
Catherine, founded in the 9th
cent. ; some frescoes and a fine
rood loft of the 13th cent. In
the town is the modern Cathedral
and the old prison of Tour de la
Force, in which criminals awaited
their execution, in the mneigh-
bouring Rue de Chateau. Only
sixty years ago, two men and a
woman were beheaded here. with
the sword.

sierre (25 m., HOT. BELLEVUE,
Hot. Poste), a curious medizval
town containing little of interest.
Near the river is the old castle
of Vieux-Sierre, commanding a
fine view.

Leuk-Susten (30 m., Xot. de
la Souste). For route over the
Gemmi Pass by the Baths of Leuk,
sce Route xLIIL

Tnrtman or Tourtemagne (34
m,, Hot. Poste, Hot. Lun d Or),
so called from a curious round
tower of unknown origin, It
is now a chapel. % m. from
the town on the Turtman is a*
fine cascade.

Visp (42 m. HoT. DE LA POSTE,
Hot. SoLIEL, Mot des Alpes), is
the starting~ point for Zermatt
and Monte Rosa, see Routes LX.
and pxmi. In Visp are the old
chateaux of many rich and noble
Swiss familics, who have long
sinco passed away. Its two
churches are large and handsome.
Visp was nearly destroyed in
1853 by an earthquake, the
effects of which can still be seen.
Looking up the valley we see the
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beautiful snow peak of the Bal-
frue (12,500 ft.).

Brieg (48 m., Hot. DES COUR-
ONNES, Hot. d'Angleterre). For
routes over the Furca and by the
Dellalp, see Route xrir. Like
Visp, Brieg has many remains of
the old Swiss mansions, the most
important of which is a large
building with three cupolas, for-
merly the residence of the power-
ful Stockalper family. There is
butlittleof interest in Brieg itself,
and travellers over the Simplon
not intending to make excursions
from Brieg, should remain over
night on the Lake of Geneva or
Martigny, where the hotels are
much more comfortable. A train
leaves in the morning, in time to
catch the diligence at Brieg.

Interesting excursions can be
made from Brieg to the summit
of the Sparrenhorn (9890 ft.),
ascent easy in 3 hrs. Guide, 4
frs. ; view is magnificent.

To the Motel Belialp (see
E. 78) in 5 hrs. ; guide, 5 frs. ;

orse or mule, 15 frs, ; chairs, 6
frs, each porter.

The magnificent road over the
Stmplon was constructed by the
first Napoleon as a military road
into Italy, to save, in case of an
invasion of that country, a re-
petition of his disastrous passage
of the St Bernard. Its construc-
tion took six years, and cost over
eighteen millions of franes.

The ascent begins directly on
leaving Brieg. Ordinary walkers
can reach the Hospice as soon as
the diligence. Several short cuts
can be taken which materially
lessen the distance, but some are
difficult to follow, and on the
whole it is better to keep to the
main road.

Half a mile from the town the
old road from Gliss joins in at
the lofty covered bridge over the
Saltine. The road here turns
sharply to the L. and takes a
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long sweep to the village of
Schluck, 23 m., where is the First
Refuge (3560 ft.), and then winds
up the side of the wooded hill to
the Second Refuge (4430 ft., 5%
m., Inn). All along this portion
of the ascent we have lovely views,
looking across the Rhone valley,
of the Sparrenkorn and Grosse
Nesthorn, and the glaciers lying
below them, and high above Brieg
we see the Hot. Bellalp. As we
near the Second Refuge we see
in front of ws, far up the valley,
the Kaltwasser Glacier, and im-
mediately below it, theroad as it
approaches the summit of the
pass. The road is now level as
far as the Ganter Bridge (T m.).
This point is one of t{le wildest
in the pass, and is swept in
winter and early spring by terrific
avalanches. From the bridge the
road ascends to

Berisal (5000 ft., Third Re-
fuge, Hotel de la Poste), a beauti-
fully situated village command-
ing fine views of the Bartelhorn
(10,600 ft.) and  Wasenkorn
(10,730 ft.). The scenery in-
creases in grandeur and beauty
as we approach the Fourth Re-
Suge (11 m., 5650 ft.). Before
us we see the summit of the pass
over which towers the Fleichs-
horn and the Rauthorn with
their glaciers, and looking back
we have a magnificent panorama
of the peaks of the Aletschhorn
and Nesthorn, and portion of the
great Aletsch glacier.

‘We now pass through the first
gallery of Schalbet (95 ft. long)
and reach the Iifth Refuge (133
m., 6360 ft.). The scenery from
here to the summit is wild and
desolate in the extreme.

“The eye wanders over snow
and glacier, fractured rock and
roaring cataract, relieved only by
that stupendous monument of
human labour, the road itself,
winding along the edges of pre-
cipices, penetrating the primeval
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granite, striding over the furious
torrent, and burrowing through
dark and dripping grottoes be-
neath accumulated masses of ice
and snow.”—Johnson.

A little beyond the Fifth Re-
fuge is the Kaliwasser Glacier
Gallery, over which pours a cas-
cade formed by the glacierstream.
The falling water can be beauti-
fully seen through one of the
openings in the gallery. Passing
through two more galleries we
reach the Sizth Refvge (15 m.,
6540 ft.). The Summit of the
pass (65695 ft.), a short distance
further on, is marked with a cross.
Three quarters of a mile from the
summit, brings us to the

Hosplce, founded by Napoleon,
but not completed till it was pur-
chased by the Monks of St Ber-
nard, to whom it now belongs.
It is a large plain stone edifice,
containing a drawing-room, re-
fectory, chapel, large Kkitchen,
and a number of bedrooms. Aec-
commodation for travellers is
furnished gratis by ‘the monks,
but tourists are of course ex-
pected to leave a donation for
the Hospice in the box in the
chapel. This amount should at
least equal what would be paid
for the same accommodation at a
hotel, but we regret to have to
draw the attention of travellers
to the unpleasant fact that both
here and at the Great St Bernard
(p- -110) the total amount given is
wretchedly small, and not half
sufficient to cover the actual
expense inéurred by the Hospice.
To accept the hospitality of the
Hospice and contribute nothing
to its support must surely be the
height of meanness.

Several fine St Bernard dogs
are kept at the convent, to keep
up the breed for the St Bernard
I-E)spice.

Leaving the new Hospice we
pass on the R. the Old Hospice,
which was built by one of the
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Barons of Stockalper (sce p. 121),
and the Seventh Refuge (18% m.{;
and crossing the Iq{rummbac
reach

Simplon (21 m., 4860 ft., Hot.
de la Poste, Hot. Fletshhorn),
where the diligence stops for
dinner.

Leaving Simplon the road de-
scends along the Laquinthal, and
beyond the Gallery of Algaby
(23 m.) enters the Ravine of
Gondo, through which rushes
the impetuous Doveria. This
ravine, about 15 m. in length, is
one of the wildest and most pic-
turesque in Switzerland, its dark
and precipitous walls in many
places overhanging the road, and
the sun only shines into its
gloomy recesses for a few hours
in the day. Passing the Eighth
Refuge (24 m.) and the Nunth
Refuge (25} m.), our way is
apparently barred by an immense
rock, which is pierced by the
Gallery of Gondo, 200 yds. in
length. On the rock is an in-
scription, *“ Aere Italo, 1805,
Nap. Im{;," This tunnel was
exceedingly difficult of construc-
tion, owing to the hardness of
the rock. The workmen had to
be let down by ropes from the
cliff above to hew out places to
commence the borings, = In 1830
the Swiss put up immense gates
to guard the entrance. Emerg-
ing from the tunnel we see the
cascade of the Fressinone or
Alpjenbach, over which the road
is carried by a frail looking
bridge. This portion of the
gorge is extremely wild and ro-
mantic, its rocky sides towering
upwarfis for 2000 ft. Opposite
the cascade are seen traces of the
old road. At Gondo (26} m.,
Inn), the last Swiss village, is
the custom-house. Opposite is
& pretty cascade of Zunschbergen.
The square tower, in which is the
inn, was erected by the Stock-
alper family (see p. 121) as a
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refuge for travellers over the old
road. Good estrians can
cross from Gondo to Saas-im-
Grund (see p. 119) by the ZwiscH-
BERGEN Pass (10,735 ft.) in 12 to
15 hrs. Guide necessary, 20 frs,
Half a;mile from Gondo a granite
pillar marks the Italian frontier.
At Xselle (30 m., Inn, Posta) is
the Italian custom-house. Pass-
ing through the Gall of
Crevola we reach Crevola (38 m.),
where we finally cross the Do-
veria over a fine bridge, and
emerge into the beautiful and fer-
tile ¥al d’0ssela, which lies like
8 luxuriant garden at our feet.
A long straight stretch of road
now takes us along the valley to
Domo d’Ossola (41 m., Hor.
DE LA VILLE ET POsTE, Hot.
&’ Espagne), a quaint little Italian
town delightfully situated on the
Tosa, which is navigable for
barges from Lake Maggiore.
The diligence waits here half an
hour. Local diligences run to
Stresa, Pallanza, and Intra, twice
daily, in 4 hrs. From Calvary
Hill, half an hour’s walk to
the 8., there is a lovely view
of the valley. (For route from
Domo d’'Ossola to Ulrichen, see
p. 119.) From Domo d’Ossola
to Lake Maggiore the road, now
level, passes through a pleasing
and fertile but not particularly
interesting country.” At Villa
(44 m.) we have a glimpse to
the R. up the picturesque Val
Antrona, and farther on up the
Val & Anzasca, with the five
snowy peaks of Monte Rosa. An
arrow on a sign-post points out
the Queen of the Piedmont Alps.
From Pallanzeno a road leads
to the Val Anzasca, see p. 118.
Yogogna (48 m., [nn, Coronna).
Foﬁ1 8routo to Macugnaga, see

Near Ornavasse (56 m., Inn,
Italia) are the marble quarries
out of which were taken the
stones for the building of Milan
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Cathedral, and also the enormons
pillars in the church of St Paul
near Rome. At Gravellona (60}
m.) are large cotton mills worked
by water power from the Strona,
which here joins the Tosa. About
2 m. farther on the road divides,

RovuTe
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the left leading to Pallanza and
Intra, and the right to Baveno
and Stresa.  Lake Maggiore, with
the lovely Boromean Islands, now
comes into view, and we soon
reach Pallanza and Intra, see

p. 146

LXVI

COIRE TO COLICO OVER THE SPLUGEN
AND THE VIA MALA,
Diligence to Spligen, 32} m., thrice daily,in 7 hrs.; Fares—11.95 c. ; coupé or

banquette, 14.60c. To Colico, 74 m., twice daily, in 10 hrs. ; Fares—26 frs. ;
coupé or banquette, 32 frs. In fine weather the banquette is the most

comfortable.

Ca es without change of horses to Spliigen—2 horses, 65 frs.; 8 horses,

100 frs. ; 4 horses, 125 frs.

To Colico—160 frs., 230 frs., and 300 frs.

To Chiavenna —135 frs., 185 frs., and 240 frs,

Driver's fee is not included.

Extra Post with change of horses to Spliigen—2 horses, 87.80 c.; 3 horses,

120 frs.; 4 horses, 146 frs.
257.50 c.
include driver's fee.

Colre (pop. 9500). HOTELS—
HOTEL STEINBOCK, fine establish-
ment, most comfortable, reason-
able prices for pension. Extra

ost and railway ticket office.

OTEL LUKMANIER, near the sta-
tion, first class and comfortable.
Second class—( Weisser Kreutz,
Sonne, Rothen Lowe.) Coire, the
capital of the canton Grisons, and
the ancient Roman Curia Rfae-
torum, is delightfully situated on
the banks of the Plessur in the
Rhine Valley, and enclosed on
three sides by steep and beauti-
fully woodedslopes. The climate
is mild and equable, and is
especially delightful in autumn.
Coire is the most important start-
ing point for tours in the Enga-
dine, and presents a busy scene
in the; tourist season. It has
been a Roman Catholic bishoprie
since the 4th cent. The town
was formerly divided into Pro-
testant and Roman Catholic
quarters by a wall with gates
on either side, which were closed
at night. The finest and most
interesting portion of the

To Chiavenna—151.10 c.; 208.50 c.; and
To Colico—193.70.c.; 266.50 c.; and 328 frs.

These fares

town is the Roman Catholie,
which is still partly surrounded

by walls. In the Bisckifliche
Hof, or ¢Episcopal Court,”
which we enter through a

gateway, is the Cathedral of
St Luclus, founded in the 8th
cent. and added to and restored
at various periods, and in various
styles ranging from Byzantine
down to late Gothic. Itisnever
theless a (ﬁiﬁcturesque and in-
teresting edifice. The court sur-
rounding the building is entered
by an iron gateway supported
by curious stone figures, which
are supposed to represent the
four Evangelists. Inthe INTERIOR
of the cathedral the nave and
choir oceupy a slightly oblique
osition to each other. The
atter is raised high above the
nave by a flight of steps, and
shows the erypt beneath, which is
supported by a single pillar.
The pillars of the nave have
curiously carved bases and capi-
tals dating from the 12th cent.
No two of the pillars are alike.
Passing up the 129kt aisle we see
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the red marble sarcophagus of
Bishop Ortlieb de Brandis, who
died 1491. Over the altar of
St Lawrence is a Madonna by
Stumm, a pupil of Reubens.
Above the first altar in the right
transept is a Herodias by Cranach.
The side pictures are attributed
to the elder Holbein. On the
altar is a reliquary of the 10th
cent. Onthe second altar, which
is richly ornamented, is a re-
liquary in the shape of a church.
In the cHOIR, which has been
recently restored, is the fine kigh
altar, which is beautifully decor-
ated with richly gilt wood carv-
ings, dating from 1481. The
carvings illustrate scenes from
our Lord’s ion, and incidents
from the lives of the Saints. In
the SACRISTY are some very
valuable church treasures, among
them some exceedingly fine reli-
quaries and monstrances; a
picture by Carlo Dolce painted
on lapus lazuli ; MSS. with the
signatures of the German
Emperors from Charlemagne and
Otho ; andseveralancient priestly
garments, one of them being
made of silk, said to be of the
time of the Emperor Justinian.
In the leftaisle, over the first altar,
is a lpicture of St Aloysius, by
Angelica Kauffman, R.A., who
was a native of Coire, and one
of the few lady artists who have
been elected members of the
Royal Academy of England.
Beforo the altar is the tomb of
Colonel George Jenatsch, a pro-
minent figure in the history of
the Canton, who was assassinated
in 1637. Over the central altar
is a painting of Christ bearing
the Cross, attributed to Albert
Durer. Near by, under the floor,
18 a cistern 30 ft. deep, hewn out
of the solid rock. Itissupposed it
was made at the time Coire was
a Roman camp.

The patron Saint of the Cathe-
dral, St Luecius, was a British
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king, a great grandson of Lucius
Pugens,grthe Roman soldier
mentioned in 2 Tim. iv. 21. He
came to Coire in the 2d cent. as
a Christian missionary, and
suffered martyrdom in the chapel
of the Bishops’ Palace.

In front of the Cathedral is a
handsome jfountain of Gothic
design, with figures of SS. Lucius,
Nicholas, Francis, and Mary.
Opposite the cathedral is the
Episcopal Palace, one of the
earliest ecclesiastical buildings.
It has been several times rebuilt,
and but little remains of the
ancient structure, except the
two Roman towers. In the one
to the N. called the MARSOL is
the Bishops’ chapel (where St
Lucius is said to have suffered
martyrdom), and the episcopal
archives and library.

The only other building of
particular interest is the Rhactian
Museum, to the left of the
approach to the Cathedral
(adm., 1 fr.; Sun. 10-12 gratis),
which contains a COLLECTION OF
AnTIQUITIES; Holbein’s celebrated
DaANCE oF DEATH, which was
removed from the Bishops’ Palace;
a PORTRAIT GALLERY of cele-
brated personages in the history
of the canton; the cantonal
library, and a NATURAL HISTORY
CoLLECTION. In the first room
are some fine ancient stained
glass windows.

The other public buildings
are the St Martin’s Kirche, fine
view from the tower; the
Government Buildings, and the
Town Hall. On- the Regierungs-
platzis the VAZEROLER DENKMAL,
2 national monument erected to
commemorate the union of the
three Leagues of Rheetia in 1471,

A beautiful view of the town
may be had by ascending to the
Reosenhiigel  (Restaurant), 10
min. walk.

There are many delightful
excursions in tho neighbour-
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hood of Coire. Notably to the
Mittenburg (3628 ft.), 2 hrs.,
commanding a magnificent view
of the Rhone valley. To the
little Chapel of St Lucius, ro-
mantically situated on the. brink
of a precipice, and overhung by
projecting rocks.  This rocky
cavity is said to have been the
hermitage of St Lucius, who
preached the gospel from here
with such mighty voice, that he
was heard as far as the Oberland.

The wild and romantic Gorge of
Sealara is reached by the road
to the N.E. in 1} hrs., passing 1
m. from Coire the pretty ZLuri-
bad (three Inns). On the Pizokel
are delightful wooded paths, by
one of which we reach the
SCHENEGG, from which we have
a fine view of the Vorderhein
valley.

The ascent of the CALANDA
(9213 ft.) is very fatiguing. Guide
from Haldenstein, 3 m. from
Coire, necessary. Time of as-
cent, 8 hrs,

Leaving Coire we pass the
Orphan Asylum and the new
barracks, and have a fine view on
the right of the peak of the
Brigelser Horn (10,663 ft.)

On the opposite bank of the
Rhine is the village of FELSBURG,
which has been threatened for
some time with alandslip. Large
masses of rock have already
fallen. At Ems 54 m.) are the
ruins of the Castle of Oberemns.
The mounds of earth beyond Ems
are called Tombels da Chiavels,
from the tradition that under
them are buried an immense
number of horses which perished
by cold during the invasion by
the Romans under Constantine
in A.D, 354.

Relchenau (6 m., Jnn, Adler)
is at the confluence of the two
sources of the Rhine, the Vorder
and Hinter Rhein. The river is
crossed here by a fine new iron
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bridge 320 ft. in length. At the
junction of the rivers is the fine
CHATEAU of Dr Planta, which
has been rebuilt on the site of
an older castle erected in the
16th cent. The castle is histori-
cally interesting from the follow-
ing incident. In October 1793,
a young man, evidently of su-
perior birth and educatien, and
calling himself Chabaud, made
his appearance in the village, and
through the influence of Mons.
Jost, the village schoolmaster, to
whom he bore a letter of intro-
duction, obtained a situation as
usherin the school,which wasthen
held in the castle, and where he
taught mathematics and foreign
languages for eight months.
This youth proved to be the Duc
de Chartres, afterwards King
Louis Philippe, who had been
driven from France by the Revo-
lution. The room he occupied is
still shown. It contains various
relics of tho royal exile. Tho
castle and beautiful gardens are
open to visitors.

We next pass Boraduz (7 m.,
Inns, Degiacoms zur Post, Alte
Post) and REAZUNS (7§ m.). On
the left is the ancient Castle
of Rhiiziins, and the Chapel of
St George, which contains about
sixty rude fresco painti of
the 14th cent. Ascending the
fertile valley, and passing a
number of ruined -castles, we
reach Thusis (HOTEL Via M’ALA,
comfortable ; Post, Rhatia), beau-
tifully situated at the mouth of
the Via Mala, and a delightful
stopping-place. (Carriageto the
Via Mala and return, 7 frs., in-
cluding fee). There are many
interesting excursions in the
neighbourhood. On the left of
the entrance to the gorge is the
ruined castle of HOHEN RHATIEN,
said to have been erected in B.C.
289 by the Etruscan, Rhetius.

Crossing the impetuous torrent
of the Nolla we enter the cele-
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brated gorgo of the Via Mala.
The new road is perfectly safe,
but up to 1822 the path cut out
of the face of the rock was only
four feet wide. 'The Via Mala is
the grandest and most stupend-
ous gorge in Switzerland. The
mountain chain is here rent
asunder from top to bottom, and
the Rhine, which far below us
appears to be compressed to a
mere thread, rushes through be-
tween almost perpendicular pre-
cipices, 1600 ft. in height, and in
some places only 10 ft. apart.
One and a quarter miles from
Thusis the road passes under
overhanging rocks and then
through the tunnel of the Ver-
lores Loch or ¢ Lost Gulf,” 200
ft. long. The VIEW looking back
after leaving the tunnel is most
sublime and magnificent. Pass-
ing the Post Station the gorge
widens a little, but soon contracts
again as we reach the First Bridge
built in 1738. At the SECOND
BRIDGE, built 1739, is the finest
point in the gorge. Here the
precipices overhang us and seem
almost to meet. The river below
us is almost lost to sight in the
abyss below, and trunks of trees
falling from above have become
jammed. in the narrow chasm.

ough the stream is 250 ft.
below us, it rose in the great
floods of 1834 and 1868 to within
a few feet of this bridge, carrying
away the Zhird Bridge.

At the Third Bridge (4} m.
from Thusis) the gorge ends and
we enter the SCHAMSER THAL,
which suffered terribly from the
flood of 1834, almost the whole
valley being turned into a lake.
Pasing a small cascade on the
Rhine we reach Zillis (21} m.,
Inn, Post), with an ancient
Romanesque church. The in-
terior is decorated with fresco
paintings. On the opposite bank
of the river is the village of
DoNATH, above which is the
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-ruined castle of Fardun, former-

ly the residence of the Bailiffs,
who so tyrannized over the in-
habitants of the wvalley. In
1451 one of these bailiffs was
visiting at the cottage of a
peasant. It happened that at
the time a cauldron of soup was
boiling over the fire for dinner.
The brutal bailiff stepped forward
and spat in the broth, when the
peasant, Johann Calder by name,
seized him by the neck and
plunged his head into the scald-
ing liquid, exclaiming in the
Romanish dialect:—¢‘Malgia sez <l
pult cha ti has condut.”—* You
must eat the soup you have
seasoned,” and then strangled
him. This event led to the
general insurrection by which
the Grisons obtained their free-
dom. Passing on the left the
Baths of Pignen, and crossing the
river Pignen, we see on the left
parapet of the bridge a Latin
inscription commemorating the
opening of the road :—*‘‘ Jam via
patet hostibus et amicus. Cavete
Rhati!  Simplicitas morum et
unio servabunt avitam libertatem”
—¢Now is the way open to friends
and foes. BewareSwiss! Simpli-
city and union will preserve your
liberty.”

Andeer (24 m., Hotel Favri,
with baths, comfortable Inn) is
the principal village in the valley.
Fine view from the church. On
the left after leaving Andeer we
see the ruined castle of Barenberg,
which was the first stronghold
captured in the insurrection of
1451 (see above).

‘We now enter the romantic
wooded Rofna Ravine, through
which the Rhine descends in a
series of picturesque cascades.
Emerging from the gorge the
valley widens, and in one and a
half miles again narrows to a wild
defile, which we cnter by a rocky
gateway, in the midst of which
we cross the torrent over a lofty
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bridge. Still ascending we come
in sight of the broad Rkeinwald-
thal.  To the right isthe Kalkberg
(9763 ft.), and to the left the
Finshorn (9650 ft.), the Gugger-
nill (9470 ft.), and Zambokorn
(10,750 ft.). i

Spliigen . (4757 ft., 82% m.,
Hor. BoDENHAUS, comfortable),
the Roman Spluga, the principal
village in the Rheinwaldthal.

At Spliigen the route to Bel-
linzona over the Bernardino di-
verges (p. 129). Leaving Splugen
we cross the Rhine over a new
iron bridge, and ascend steeply,
passing through a tunnel 280 ft.
long to the Summit of the
Spligen Pass (39} m., 6946 ft.,
Tavern), the frontier between
Switzerland and Italy. The
Spliigen was one of the passes
used by the Romans. In the
winter of 1800, before the present
road was made, the French repub-
lican troops crossed this pass in a
blinding snow storm, and whole
companies were swept into the
ravine of the Cardinell below.
Commencing the descent wereach
in £ m. the Ztalian Custom House.
The weather here in winter is
sometimes frightful, the snow
almost burying the houses. Dur-
ing the snow storms the bells in
the refuges are kept constantly
ringing to guide belated travel-
lers. The road descending from
the Custom House is protected
from the avalanches by three
long galleries, 250, 230, and 550
yards long, lighted with small
windows. These are the longest
galleries on any of the Alpine
passes.

Route 66.—COIRE TO COLICO.

Beyond Planazzo (44‘—1}1 m,
Inn) we pass the beautifs -
cade of the Madesimo, which
falls 700 ft. from the brink of a
precipice. The best view is from
a platform by the road. The
diligence generally stops to allow
tourists to seo the fall. We now
pass through another tunnel and
descend in windings to Campe
Dolcino (3457 ft., 493 m., Inas,
Croce & Oro, Posta), and pass
through the rocky and deso-
late valley of SaN Glacomo to
Chiavenna (HoTEL CONRADI),
pleasantly situated amid vine-
yards. Opposite the Post Office
are the ruins of a Palace, com-
menced by the last Grisons
governor De Salis, but never fin-
ished in consequence of the an-
nexation of the canton to Italy
by Napoleon. From the hill
above the ruin called Il Para-
diso we have a charming view of
the town. The church of Saw
LoRreNzo has a fine campanile
surrounded by cloisters, and two
bone houses in which the skulls
are arranged in patterns like the
catacombs in Paris. In the Bap-
tistry is an ancient font with
curious bas-reliefs.

Now traversing the level Piano
di Chiavenna, which has been
terribly devastated by inunda-
tions, we reach

Riva (65 m.), situated on the

o0 di Riva, in a singularly wild
and desolate region surrounded
by rugged mountains. From
Riva the road leads through
several galleries hewn out of the
rock to Colice (see p. 150).
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Roure LXVII.

SPLUGEN TO BELLINZONA OVER THE
BERNARDINO.

Diligence daily, 45} m., in 8} brs. Returning, 11 hrs. Fares, 15.20 ¢.; conpé

or banquette, 18.90 e.

Extra Post, 2 horses, 104 frs.; 3 horses, 146.50 c. ; 4 horses, 162 frs.
Coire, 191.70 c., 267.50 c., 328 frs.
Carriages, 2 horses, 115 frs.; 3 horses, 160 frs.; 4 horses, 195 frs.

Coire, 180 frs., 260 frs., 320 frs.

Spliigen (see p. 128). Leav-
ing Spliigen, we ascend the Val
Rhetn to Minterrhein (/nn,
Post).

{From Hinterrhein we can make an
excursion of 7 hrs. there and baek to
the SOURCE OF Tk RnINE, which pro-
¢eeds from the REEINWALD GLACIER
(7250 ft.). Guide necessary, 6 frs.
The path is rough and fatiguing, but
the excursion is most interesting.]

Beyond Hinterrhein we cross
the ﬂhine, and ascend steeply
in zig-zags, having beautiful re-
trespective views of the valley, to
the snmmit of the Bernardino
Pass (6768 ft., 12 m., Tavern).
On the right we see the peak of
tho Marscholhorn (9520 ft.), and
on the left the Mittaghorn (8560
ft.) and Pizzo Uccello (8910 ft.).
The pass takes its name from St
Bernardino of Sienna, who built a
small chapel on the south side of
tho mountain. In the pass is
the little Lake Moésa, from which

From

From

the River Mdiese has its souree.
From thence we descend in ex-
traordinary twistings and wind-
ings to St Bermardino (17
m., 5335 ft., HOTEL Brocco,
Hor. Ravizza, Albergo de Ste-
fanis), a frequented watering-
place. A further series of zig-
zags brings us to Mesocco (255
m., Hot. de Stefanis, Hot. Tos-
cant), where the scenery becomes
entirely Italian. Passing through
the Valley of Mesocco, which
was laid waste by a flood in 1834,
destroying over 250 dwellings
we reach Soazza (27 m). Beyond
the village, on the right, is the
retty cascade of the BUFFALORA.
assing Camae (353 m.), Grono
(873 m.), Roveredo (39 m.), we
reach St Vittore, the last Swiss
village, and join the St Gothard
road at the confluence of the
Moesa and Tincio. Thence to
Bellinzona (see p. 74).

Roure LXVIIL

COIRE TO GOSCHENEN BY THE VORDER
RHEINTHAL AND THE OBERALP.

Diligence, 63 m., daily, in 14} hrs.

Also diligence later in the day to

dissentis, remaining at Dissentis overnight, and proceeding to Goschenen
next morning. Fares to Gdschenen, 24.5 c.; coupé or banguette, 27.50 ¢.

To Dissentis, 14.85 c. ;

coupé or banquette, 18 frs.

Extra Post to Dissentis, 2 horses, 101.70 e.; 3 horses, 140.50 ¢.; 4 horses,
172 frs. To Gdschenen, 165.40 c,, 227 frs., 277.50 ¢,

Ca.nl:mges. To Dissentis, 2 horscs, 80 frs. ; 3 horses, 120 frs.
To

horses, 160 frs.

gschenen, 135 frs., 185 frs., 240 frs.

The-route from Coire through
the Verder Rheinthal as far as
Dissentis is exceedingly pictur-

esque, and is particularly re-
markable for the number
ancient ruined castles that 1i
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the heights. From Dissentis to
Andermatt the scenery is much
tamer, being chiefly over Alpine
pasture lands. The descent,
however, from Andermatt to
Goschenen by the Devil’s Bridge,
is very fine (see p. 76).

For portion of route from Ceire
to Reichenan (6 m.), see p. 126.

[From Reichenau to Ilanz, a road
runs on either bank of the Rhine.
The through diligence takes that on
the left bank, which is the more pic-
turesque. A diligence from Coire to
Nanz also runs daily on the right
bank.]

Following the left bank of the
river we ascend to Tamins (63
m., Inn, Post), where we have a
fine view of the fertile valley of
Domleschg. On the right is the
little cascade of the Lavoi. At
TRINS (82 m.) is the ruined castle
of Hokentrins. At Dica (9} m.)
the road passes through a cutting
between giganticrocks, and winds
round the Seeboden, a wooded
amphitheatre at the base of the
precipitous Flimserstein (6700 ft. ).
Passing several cascades on the
right, we reach MULINS (103 m.),
with the remains of an ancient
acqueduct. Farther on to the
left is the little Cresta Lake.

Flims (13} m., 3616 ft. Inns,
Post, Brun), an ancient village
with the chateaux of the Capaul
and Salis families. In the
“‘schloss™ is a room with curious
wood carvings (adm. 50 c.). For
route to Glarus over the Segnes
Pass, see Route XxV.

At Waldhauser (14} m.) is
the large KURHAUS WALDHAUS-
FLiMs with dependence Villa
Belmont, a pleasant summer
resort delightfully situated in
beautiful grounds near the Flim-
ser-See.  Baths in the lake. In
the town is the HOTEL SEGNES,
comfortable. Skirting the deep
and picturesque ravine of the
LaaXER TOBEL, and passing
Laax (163 m., Hot. Sechof), we

Route 68.—COIRE TO GOSCHENEN.

descend into the valley of the
Rhine, and reach Ilanz (205 m.,
Hotel Oberalp, comfortable, Hotel
Lukmanier), the most ancient
village in the Upper Rhone Val-
ley, beautifully situated on both
banks of the river. Ilanz was
formerly the residence of many
noble Swiss families, whose fine
mansions are now fast falling into
decay.

The second diligence stops
here 1 hr. for dinner. For
route from Ilanz to Elm over the
Panixer Pass, see Route xxv. A
magnificent view of the Grisons
Oberland and the T6di range is
had by ascending the P1z MUN-
DAUX (6675 ft.), 33 hrs. Guide
desirable, 6 frs

[From 1lanz a diligence rnns daily
in 4} hrs., fare 3.30 e., through the
picturesque Lugnetz Valley to
Vals-Platz, 14 m. The scenery in
this valley is exceedingly fine.]

From Ilanz we still follow the
left bank of the Rhone. Beyond

Ruzs (22§ m.), on the right, are
the ruins of tke castle of Jorgen-

lerg, formerly a stronghold of
banditti. Above us, also to the
right, towers the Biigelser Horn
(10,663 ft.). Before reaching Ta-
vanase (27 m., Inn Krelats we
cross the Rhine, and passing
Zignau (30 m.), again cross the
river over the Renkenberg Bridge,
where we have a lovely wiew of
the valley. Beyond the bridge,
we pass on the right the clapel
of St Anna, which was built to
commemorate the formation of
the “Grey League” in 1424,
This league, which took its name
from the grey homespun gar-
ments of its members, was formed
by the Grisons confederacy, to
throw off the yoke of the tyran-
nous bailiffs (see p. 127). The
oath was taken on the spot where
the chapel stands. This oath has
since been renewed from time to
time, the last ceremony taking
place in 1778. In the chapel are
two frescoes representing the
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formation of the league, and the
renewal of the oath in 1778.

Just beyond the chapel we
reach Truns (32 m., Hot. Cou-

ronne, comfortable; Hot. Zum
Todi). The first diligence stops

here 1 hr. for dinner.

Passing Rabius (33} m.), we
catch a glimpse on the left, up
the wild Val Somwviz of the lofty
peak and glaciers of the Puz
Gaglianera (10,245 ft.). Beyond
Someiz (343 m. ) the route becomes
excecdingly picturesque. Pass-
ing through a dark forestand over
alofty wooden bridge 210 ft. long,
and 160 ft. above the stream, we
cross the deep ravine of the
Ruseiner Tobel, and reach

Dissentis (393 m., 3773 ft.
DISSENTISER Hor; Hot. Cond-
ran, zur IKrowe, both comfort-
able), beautifully situated at
the junction of the Vorder Rhein
and Mittel Rhein. Its ancient
Benedictine Abbey was founded
in 614 by St Siegbert, a Scottish
monk, wﬂo accompanied St Gall
on his mission (p. 80). The
abbey became very rich and
powerful in the middle ages.
The village is protected from
avalanches, which are very fre-
quent, by a dense forest on the
mountain side. Half-an-hour’s
walk from the town is the Chapel
of Acletta, from which we have a
fine view of the Medelser Qlacier.

[From Dissentis a diligence runs

daily in 8% hrs. to Biasca, 38 m. (see
p. 74).  Fares—I13,10 c¢. and 16.20.

Routke
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The road crosses the LUEMANIER Pass,
6290 ft. The first portion of the road
as far as Curaglia (3} m.) passes
through the VAL MEDEL, a wild ravine
which vies in grandenr with the Via
Mala. This route is not mmuch fre-
quented, and the Inns are poor.]

¥rom Dissentis we follow the
Vorden Rhein through the Val
Tavetsch, having beautiful retro-
spective views as we ascend to
SEDRUN (45 m., 4590 ft., Inn
Krone), the principal village in
the valley. Beyond Ruéras (46
m.) we see on the left, situate
on a rock nearly surrounded by
the Rhine, the ruins of the ancient
castle of Potaningen, once the re-
sidence of the noble Potaninger
family.

The valley here is much ex-
posed to avalanches. In 1818
one fell almost destroying the
hamlet of Selva and killing forty-
two persons. Passing the hamlet
of Chiamut (48} m.) we cross the
Gimmerkein (49 m.) and ascend
the Val Surpaliz. Onour left the
Rhine descends from its source
in the Zoma See (7690 ft.) in a
series of small cascades. The
road now ascends in windings to
the Summit of the Oberalp
Pass (52 m., 6730 ft.), the
boundary between the cantons
of Grisons and Uri. Passing the
Oberalp See, which abounds in
trout, we descend in long wind-
ings to Andermatt (59 m.).

From Andermatt to Gisch-
enen, see Route XLL

LXIX.

LANDQUART TO DAVOS BY THE PRATTIGAU,
AND DAVOS TO NAUDERS OVER THE

FLUELA PASS.

Diligence to Davos, 274 m.; twice daily, in 7 brs, Farcs—9.90 c.; conpe or

banquette, 12.65 c.

To Schuls, 58 m., daily, in 14 hrs.; Fares—22 5 fr.

and 27 frs. A diligence also runs daily from Schuls to Nauders, 16 m., in

3} hrs.; Fares—6.50 c. and 7.80 c.
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Route 69.—LANDQUART TO DAVOS.

Extra Post to Davos, 2 horses, 74.80 c.; 3 horses, 109 frs.; 4 horses,

132.50 c.
Carriages, 1 horse to Davos, 40 frs.

Davos Platz to Schuls, 70.20 c., 99.25 ¢., 124.75 c.
Davos to Sehuls, 82 frs.

This is the direct route from the north to the Lower Engadine.

Landquart (see p. 34). Two
and a quarter miles after leaving
Landquart we enter the Klus, a
narrow ravirte 3 m. long, through
which rushes the impetuous
Landquart. On the rocks to the
lJeft are the scanty ruins of the
ancient Castle of Fragstein, for-
merly a stronghold of banditti.

The pass was once fortified by
a wall which extended to the
river. Through the Klus we

enter the Pritigau, a fertile and
peaceful valley, about 20 m. long,
of rich pasture lands dotted over
with, prosperous hamlets and pic-
turesque ruined chateaux.

At Griisch (4} m., Inn Krone)
is the handsome chateau of the
Salis-Griisch family, now a school.
Shiers (7 m., Inn Post). Here
in 1622 the villagers defeated the
Austrians under the Emperor
Ferdinand, who had invaded the
Grisons for the purpose of en-
forcing the Roman Catholic re-
ligion. The victory was chiefly
due to the bravery of the women
of the village. In remembrance
of their courage they were given
the privilege of ing of the
sacrament before the men, which
customstill exists. PassingJenatz
(10 m.) we reach Fideriser-Au
(Inn Niggli). On the hill above,
1 m. distant, is the village of
FIDERIS, with a good Inn. Two
miles south of the village are the
Baths of Fideris (3464 ft.) situ-
ated in a wild and romantic glen.
The waters are efficacious for
chest complaints and low fevers.
The accommodation at the Kur-
haus is plain, but fairly comfort-
able. On the left is the ruined
castle of Caatels, which was taken
and destroyed in 1622 hy the
Grisops peasants, who were only
armed with sticks. We. now

cend a wooded and rocky ra-

vine to Aublis (14 m., Inn Krone).
Beyond Kublis the views become
finer till we reach

Kiosters (204 m., 3955 ft.,
HoterL Brosi, KurHAUS KrLos-
TERS-DORFLI, HOTEL SILVRETTA,
Hotel Florin), a scattered village
much frequented by invalids.
The road to Davos now ascends
in windings, passing the Schwarze
See and Davoser See, at the south
end of which is

Davoes-Dirfli (273 m., 5120
ft., Hotels—KURHAUS DAvOs-
DORrrLI, comfortable and first
class, fine garden, baths and
magnificent view; HOTEL FLUELA,
comfortable ; Pens DBellevue), a
health resort prettily situated at
the base of the Schiakern (8925
ft.). Looking up the Dischma
valley we have a view of the
Scaletta glacier, with the peaks of
the Piz. Vadred (10,610 ft.) and
the Schwarzhorn (10,340 ft.). One
and a half mile from Davos-Dorfliis

Davos am_Platz. (Hotels—
KURHAUS DAVOS, HOTEL BUOL,
Horter  BELVEDERE, HoOTEL
D’ANGLETERRE, HOTEL RHZATIA.
All these hotels are first class
and  xceedingly comfortable.
Hotel *chweizerhof, Hotel Strela).
Visitor’s tax, 1.50 c. per week.

Davos am Platz (5100 ft.), the

rincipal town in the district of
Bavos, is a delightful health
resort both in summer and
winter. Its climate is remark-
ably dry and bracing, and especi-
ally beneficial for pulmonary
complaints. The hotels are large
and comfortable, and well heated
in winter, and a continual
round of both indoor and out-
dooy amusements is provided for
visitors. Theye are many delight-
ful excursions ip the neighbour-
hood. For a very full descrip-
tion of Davos and its surround.
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ings, visitors should consult a
local guide published by Fussh
& Co. of Zurich, and C. Smith,
London, price 4 fr. In the
RATHAUS is a collection of curiosi-
ties, and some fine stained glass.
It is decorated with the heads of
a number of wolves killed in the
neighbourhoed.

Resuming our reute at Davos-
Dirfli we cross the Landwasser,
and ascend the Fluela valley to
the sunumit of the Fluela Pass
(88 m., [fnn Fluela Hospuce,
dirty and dear), pAssing between
two little lakes. On the left
rises the peak of the Weisskorn
(10,185 ft.), and on the right the
Schwarzhorn (10,3401t. ). Descend.-
ing to Sus we have beautiful
views of the valley with the
peaks of the Piz Vadied (10,610
1t. ), Piz Murterol (9816 ft.) and
Pz del Ras (9960 ft.) on the
right, and the triple peaks of
the £2¢z Mad: (9595 tt.) before us.

Sus' (44 m,, 4688 ft., Llotels
Schweizerhof, Rhwtia, Fluela), on
the river Znn. Above the village
are the ruins of a Roman fortress.
LAVNI (465 m., Hot, Post, Hot.
Steinbock). To the north is the
Pz Linard (11,210 ft.), and the
icy slopes of the Silvretta.
ARDET% (51} m., fotels, Sonne,
frone, Kyeuz), with the ruins of
the castle of Steinsberg. [From
Ardetz a earriage road leads to
Fettan (5404 ft.,, Hotels Victoria
des - Alpes), a health resort
situated high above the Inn
valley. Fettan can also be
reached from Sechuls (see below)
in 38 m.] Leaving Ardetz we
cross the Val T'asna and descend
the deep and wooded valley of
the Inn. On the right we pass
the pieturesque Val Plavna and
the £%iz Plavnathe Dadaint(10,416
ft.), and farther on TARASP with
its picturesque castle.

schmls (58 m., 3970 ft.,
the fine old castle of Naudersberg.
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Hotels, OLD BELVEDERE with
fine garden; NEW BELVEDERE,
both 1irst elass and comfortable ;
HoteL Post; Hot. Piz Chiam-
patsch, Hot. Helvetia) a beauti-
fully situated watering place
with saline, sulphureous and
chalybeate springs.

[One mile from Schuls are the
Baths of Tarasp (KURHAUS
TARASP, fine large Hotel and
bathing establishment. Eng.
Ch. Ser.). The springs are chaly-
beate and saline, and have mueh
the same properties as those at
Vichy, Kissingen, and St Moritz.
Overlooking the Inn is the castle
of Tarasp, the residence of the
Austrian governors down to 1803,
Half & mile above Tarasp is the
village of Vulpern(Pens. Bellevue,
Pens. Alpenrose and 1ell, Pens.
Nteiner), a prettily situated health
resort. |

Leaving Schuls we pass through
beautifulscenery to REMUS (5 m. ),
at the entrance to the deep
ravine of Wraunka-Lobel. The
village was almost entirely de-
stroyed by fire in 1880. Above
is the ancient castle of Tschanuff,
built by the Romans in the reign
of Vitellius, and burnt by tne
Austrians in 1475. Beyond
Remus the valley. narrows to
the romantic gorge of la [’latw
Mala. On the right we pass
the narrow Val d’ ‘Assa and
the pretty cascade of the Piz
Pisoc, and on the left rise the
peaks of the Muttler (10,825 ft.)
and the Stammer-Spuz (10,680
ft.). MARTINSBRUCK (113 m.,
Inn Posta) is the last Swiss
village. We now eross the Inn
into Austrian territory. Beyond
the bridge is the Austrian Custom
House, on the left are the ruins
of the castle of Serviezel. The
new road to Nauders leads to
the left, but the old road to
the right is shorter and more
picturesque. Nauders (16 m.,
4470 ft., Hotels Post, Lowe), with
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From Nanders a diligence runs
twice daily in 5} brs. to Lan-
DECK (27 m.) on the new line

Route 70.—COIRE TO DAVOS.

from Bregenz (p. 21) and Bludenz
through the ARLBERG TUNNEL
to INNSBRUCK.

Route LXX.
COIRE TO DAVOS, BY LENZ.

Diligence (36 m.)dally, in 82 hrs, to Davos in 8 hrs. Fares to Davos Platz,
13.90 c.; coupé or banquette, 16.70 ¢. To Davos Dorfli, 14.90 e., 17.40. c.
Extra Post, 2 horses, 110.10 ¢.; 3 horses, 147.50 ¢.; 4 horses, 177.0. From

Davos, 93.80 c., 127.25 ¢., 156.75 c.

Carriages, 2 horses, 100 frs.; 8 horses, 150 frs.; 4 horses, 200 frs.

Coire (sce p. 124). Leaving
Coire the road ascends in wind-
ings, affording fine retrospective
views of the Rhine Val]ey, to
Maliz (3800 ft.), with a mineral
spring and the ruined castle of
Strassberg. Churwalden (6 m.,
HoteL KRONE, KURHAUS, Pens.
Schrceizerhans), a frequented
health resort, with the ancient
monastery of Aschera. Parpan
(8 m., 4940 ft., Kurkaus Parpan,
Hot. Stanserhorn), a beautifully
situated health resort. From
Parpan the STANSERHORN (8458
ft.) can be ascended in 3% hrs
Good bridle path to the summit.
Guide unnecessary. Magnificent
view. The descent can be made
to Thusis (p. 126) in 4 hrs,

A short distance beyond
Parpan we reach the SUMMIT OF
THE Pass (5090 ft.). On the left
are the peaks of the Lenzer- Horn
(9545 ft.), the Piz St Mickel
(10,370 ft.), and the Tinzenkorn
(10,280 ft.). Passing the Lake of
Vaiz we descend over the Lenzer
Heide, an open tract of heath and
brushwood, a dreaded waste
during the winter snow storms,
to Lenz (14} m., Hotels Krone,
Post). At Lenzthe road over the
Julier Pass (p. 136) branches off.
We next pass Brienz (163 m.).
Beyond Brienz the road to
Samaden over the ALBULA Pass

branches off (see Route LXXIL).
ALVENEU (19% m., Kurhaus
Alvenen), with a sulphur spring.
To our right is the Albulakora
(10,740 ft.). Wiesen (23} m.,
4770 ft., HoTEL BELLEVUE,
HorteL PALMY, both comfortable)
is a beautifully situated health
resort. Its climate is very mild,
dry, and bracing, and particularly
suited for consumptive patients.
To our right are the green slopes
of the Stulsergrat (8390ft). From
Wiesen the road descends in
long windings throngh most
picturesque and romantic scenery
to the BARENTRITT (26} m.) or
‘“Bears’ Step,” a projecting
rock from which we have a most
striking view into the wild abyss
below us. On our right is the
pretty cascadeof the Sigetobelfall,
100 ft. in height. Passing
through several galleries cut in
the rock as a protection against
avalanches, we reach the Zuge, a
wild and "narrow gorge, with
almost perpendicular sides, which
is continually swept in winter
and spring by avalanches. The
construction of the road called
the Landwasser Strasse was one
of immense difficulty. £24,000
were expended on it. Passing
Hoffnungsar (283 m.), Glarss
(313 m.), Spinabed (32 m.),
with a sulphur bath (Fair Inn),

2)
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we reach FRAUENKIRCH (335 m., a bulwark. The Daves Valley
Inn Post, fair) at the entrance of here widens. Davos am Platz

the Serteg Thal. The village is and Davos Dorfli (see p. 132).
protected from the avalanches by

Route LXXI.
COIRE TO DAVOS BY THE STRELA.

Diligence to Laring'es. 14 m., dally, in 2} hrs. Fares, 3,75 c. Bridle-path

from Langwies to Daves, 4} hrs.

The road ascends the Schanfigg
Thal past the villages of Maladers
Calfreisen, with an ancient tower,
St Peter, with a small cascade, and
Peist (Inn), to Langwles (14 m).
The bridle-path ascends threugh
a narrow valley, with the preci-
pices of the Weissfluh and Kup-

fenfluh on the right, to the
summit of the Strela Pass
7800 ft.), between the Schiakorn
8925 ft.) and the Kupfenfluh
8670 ft.), from which we have a
magnificent view. The descent
to Daves (1 hr.) is very stcep
Davos (see p. 132).

Roure LXXII.
COIRE TO SAMADEN BY THE ALBULA.

Two routes from Coire lead to the Albula, joining at Bad-Alveneu. The dili-

gence route is by Churwalden.
the Schyn Pass.
Schyn Pass, 283 m.

The second route is by Thusis and over
Distance to Bad-Alveneu by Churwalden, 20 m. By the

Diligence by Churwalden and the Albula Pass, 45 m., dally, in 143 hrs. Fares,
18.15 c¢.; conpé€ or banquette, 21.580 c.

Extra Post,
200 frs.

via Churwalden, 2 horses, 100 frs. ; 3 horses, 150 frs,; 4 horses,
Via the Schyn Pass, 149.60 c,, 204 frs., 248.50 c.

Carriages. Vla Churwalden, 2 horses, 100 frs. ; 3 horses, 150 frs.; 4 horses,

200 frs.

carriage for four persons 1s cheaper than the diligence.

Via the Schyn Pass, 110 frs., 160 frs., 210 frs. The fare for a

Besides this, the

charge for luggage is saved, and the carriage can be ordered for any hour.
A carriage, however, cannot make the journey in one day. A night must

be spent at onc of the post stations,

From Coire by CHURWALDEN
to Brienz, see Route LXX.

Beyond Brienz the Albula read
branches off to the right, and in
3% m. reaches Bad Alvenen in
the Albula Thal (comfortable
HoTeL and KURHAUS), a water-
ing-place, with sulphur springs.

From Coire to Bad Alveneu
over the Schyn Pass, sce Route
LXXNI. This latter route though
lenger, is much the mere pictur-
esque.  Beyond Alveneu we
pass on the right a pretty cas-

cade descending from the Schaf-
tobel, and in 1 m. cross the
Landwasser.

Filisur (2} m., Hot. Schonthal).
Above, on our left, are the ruins
of the castle of Greifenstein.
Now descending to the Albula,
which we cross over a coevered
wcoden bridge, we again ascend
the densely wooded valley, pass
ing Bellaluna (4} m.), and reach
the Bergiiner Stein (53 m.), a
wild gorge through which the
road is hewn out of the face of
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the rock. The impetuous Albula,
600 ft. below us, is hardly visible.
Before us, to the right, are the
peaks of the Tinzerkorn (10,280
ft.) and the Piz d’Aela (10,985
ft.). Emerging from the gorge
we find ourselves in a beautiful
green basin, in which lies Bergiin
(4560ft., 7 m., Hotels: P1z AELA,
Krone, Kreutz). The diligence
halts here for dinner. Bergun
has a fine old Romanesque church
and a curious prison tower. Still
ascending, and passing the ham-
let of Nay (5725 ft., 10} m.),
near which is a cascade on the
Albula and the small Lake Pal-
puogna, we reach the small
Kurkaus Weissenstein (13} m.),
at the base of the Grimsels (9625
ft.), beyond which a steep ascent
brings us to the wild Teufelsthal,

Route 73.—COIRE TO SAMADEN.

!

or ¢‘Devil's Valley,” which s
strewn with rocks brought down
by the avalanches. The scenery
here is exceedingly weird and
savage. At the small Hospice
we reach the summit of the
Albula Pass (7595 ft., 16} m.),
a marshy tract situated between
the peaks of the Crasta Mora
(9636 ft.) on the right, and the
Albulakorn (10,740 ft.) on the
left.

The road now descends in long
windings. Before us is the pyra-
midal peak of the Piz Mezaun
(9730 ft.). To the right are the
Piz Lavirum (10,020 ft.), the Piz
Colschen (9986 ft.), and in the
distance the iz Languard (10,715
ft.).

Ponte (21 m., 5548 ft.). Ponte
to Samaden (25 m.), see p. 140.

Roure LXXIII

COIRE TO SAMADEN BY THE JULIER.

Two routes lead from Coire to the Julier Pass, joining at Tiefenkasten (see
below). The first leads by Churwalden (174 m.), and the second over the

Schyn Pass (25 m.).

Diligence to Samaden by CHURWALDEXN (513 m.), daily,in 13} hirs.; Fares—

20.75 c. ; coupé or banquette, 24.90 c.

By the ScHYN Pass (59 m.), in 144

hrs.; Fares—22.75 c.; coupé or banquette, 27.50 ¢,

To St Moritz by Churwalden, 18.90 c., 23.30 c.

25.25 c.

By the Sckyn Pass, 20.85 c.,

Extra Post by Churwalden, 2 horses, 145.10 c¢.; 3 herses, 196.50 c.; 4

horses, 238.50 ¢.
152 frs., 207 {rs., 252 frs.

By the Schyn Pass, 160.40 c., 219 frs., 267 frs.
Moritz by Churwalden, 136.70 c., 184.50 c., 223.50 c.

To St
By the Schyn Pass,

Carriages to Samaden by Churwalden, 2 borses, 100 frs.; 3 horses, 150 frs.,
2

00 frs. By the Schyn Pass, 110 frs., 160 frs., 210 frs.
frs., 150 frs., 200 frs. By the Schyn Pass, 110 frs., 160 frs., 210 frs.

To St Moritz, 100
The

route by the Schyn Pass, though 7§ m. the longer, 1s much the more ple-
turesque, and affords an opportunity, by staying two or three hours at
Thusis of visiting the magnificent scenery of the Via Mala (p. 127).

(a.) Route by CHURWALDEN
as far as LENzZ (14} m. ), see Route
LXX.

From Lenz the road descends
in windings to the picturesquely
situated village of Tiefen Kasten
(3 m., HoTeL JULIER, HOTEL
ALBULA, Hot. Kreuz),whichis built

on the site of the Roman camp of
Imum Castellum. The church is
built over the ruins of the ancient
castle of Ima Castra. Below the
village is the junction of the
Oberhalbstein branch of the
Rhine with the Albula.

(8.) Route by the ScHYN Pass
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as far as TuUsis (see Route LYV ).
Leaving Thusis and passing the
entrance to the Via Jl})ala,(p. 127)
we enter the magnificent gorge
of the Sehynm IPass, through
which runs the Sehym Strasse,
constructed in 1869, The road
is carried through the pass by a
series of tunnels and cuttings in
the face of the precipices. The
most picturesque peint in the
gorge is where the road erosses
the Albula over the SoLIs BRIDGE,
250 ft. above the stream. Stones
drepped into the abyss fall with
noise like a cannon shot. The
Summit of the Pass is reached
at ALVASCHEIN (74 m.), opposite
the village. On the right is a
pretty cascade. A descent of 1}
.’ brings us to Tiefen Kasten
(see above).

Frem Tiefen Kasten a steep
ascent along the edge of the
precipice of Stein (3596 ft. ) brings
us te the fertile and populous
valley of Oberkalbstetn (4% m.).
Above TINZEN (7%m., 4230 ft.,
Inn Tinzerhorn)are several pretty
cascades on the Juliz. Now
passing through several wild ra-
vines we ‘reach Molins (11} m.,
Hotel Liwe, comfortable Inn),
where the diligenee halts for
dinner.

From this }l?int to StaLra (18
m., Ian), we have a succession o;
grand landscapes. On a woeded
height, in the middle of the
valley, we see the square tower
of the castle of Spludastch, from
which there is a fine view. Three
miles from Molins are the ruins
of the eastle of Marmorera, half-
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way up the height. After pass-
ing Stalla, the road turns to the
eastward, and we begin the
ascent of the Julier in numerous
zig-zags. 'Twe heurs are occu-
pied in reaching the summit of
the Julier (7500 ft., 23} m.),
where we see twe celumns of
mica slate, 5 feet in height,
suppesed - by antiquaries to
be milestones erected by Au-
gustus during the censtruetion
of the Roman read from Chia-
venna te Coire. Roman coins
have also been found here. Near
by is a small lake. Thousands of
sheep from the ltalian side are
brought every summer te graze
on the slopes of the Julier. A
mile below the summit is the
Julier Alp. On the left are
the Piz Julier (11,106 ft.) and
the Piz &' Albana (10,170 ft.),
and on the right the Puz
Pulaschin (9900 ft.). The views
of the snow-mountains of the
Bernina which we obtain in the
descent are magnificent. Imme-
diately in the foreground are the
Piz Swrley (10,455 ft.) and
Mount Arlas, above which we see
the Piz Tschierva (11,713 ft.)
and the Pz Morteratsch (12,315
ft.), and on the right the Piz
Bernina (13,295 ft.), the highest
Feak of the range, and still
arther te the right the Pz
Corvatsch (11,345 ft.), while lower
downwesee the whole valley of the
Upper Engadine from St Moritz
to g;ls-Maria., A winding descent
of 4 m. brings us to Silvaplana
(274 m.). Silvaplana to Samas
den (34 m.), see p. 139.
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Rovute LXXIV.

CHIAVENNA TO SAMADEN, SCHULS, AND
NAUDERS.

THE ENGADINE.

The Engadine, or the Upper Valley of the Inn, watered by the little
river Inn, and surronnded by lofty mounntains, 18 56 m. in length, and
barely a mile in width. On the north-west are the Engadine Alps,
and on the south-east the Bernina chain, the glaciers of which are
among the most extensive and magnificent in’all Switzerland. The
district between Maloja and Samaden, known as the UPPER ENGADINE,
is the most attractive part of the valley, and has of late years become
one of the great pleasure and health resorts of Switzerland. The attrac-
tiveness of its scenery is greatly enhanced by its numerous and beautiful
lakes. The climate is anything but mild, and compares with that of
Sweden, and the most northerly portions of Europe. The atmosphere,
however, is remarkably dry, clear, and bracing. The highest snmmer
temperature ranges from 66° to 76°, and in winter sometimes falls to 30°
below zero. The changes of temperature are often very sndden, the mer-
cury freqnently falling 35° to 40° in the 24 hrs. Snow occasionally begins
to fall in August. The local saying is * Nine months winter, threc months
cold.” Except at Pontresina and Sils-Maria, where there are a few gardens
and cultivated fields, there is hardly any attempt at agricultnre.

Great numbers of the inhabitants migrate in early life to other parts of Enrope,
where they follow generally the trades of confectioners, restaurant
keepers, or clerks. frequently amassing, what is for them, considerable
fortunes, with which they return to their native valleys. The neat and
comfortable houses, with their picturesque decorations, seen everywhere
in the Engadine belong chiefly to persons of this class. The natives are
generally Protestants, and are remarkable for their industry and sobriety.

The Engadine is very crowded in summer, and rooms at the hotels should be
engaged beforehand.

Diligence from Chiavenna to Samaden, 34 n., twice daily, in 93 hrs. Reverse
way, 62 brs, Fares—13.65 c; coupé or banquette, 1640 c.——From
Samaden to Schuls (34m.), twice daily, in 5} hrs.; reverse way, 63 hrs.
Fares—13.55 c. and 16.25 c.——Schuls to Nauders (6 m.), once daily, in 83
hrs. Fares, 6.50 and 7.80 c.

Extra Post—Criavenna to St Moritz or Samaden, 2 horses 93.10 c., 3 horses
128.75 c.; 4 horses, 160.25 ¢. Fares descending abont 16 frs. less. Samaden
to Nanders, 112.30 ¢, 162.25 ¢, 206.75¢c. Reverse way fares are 51frs. more.

Carriages—Chiavenna to Samaden, 1 horse, 40 frs.; 2 horses, 70 frs; 3 horses,
105 frs. Samaden to Schuls, same price. C

From Chiavenna (see p. 128)
we ascend the narrow and pic-
turesque VAL BREGAGLIA, In

4 m. we pass a fine CASCADE on
the Maira, opposite the little
hamlet of San Croce, where for-
merly stood the prosperous vil-
lage of Fimro, In 1618 this
village was entirely destroyed by
a terrible landslip from the Monte
Conto, which buried the village

and all its inhabitants, number-
ing 2430, under a mass of earth
and rocks 60 ft. in thickness.
A beautiful chestnut grove now
covers this scene of destruction.
A short distance before reaching
Castasegna we cross the frontier
and enter Switzerland. Casta«
segna (6 m. Jan Swizzero) is the
first Swiss village. Opposite Spino
(8 m.) is BoxDo, with a chateau
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of the Salis family. The sun
only shines on Bondo for nine
months in the year. Passing
the KURHOTEL BURGELLER HOF,
we cross the Maire at its junc-
tion with the Bondasca, and
reach

Promontogno (83 m., Inn
Galleria), above which is the
ruin of Castelmuro, from which
two walls 10 ft. thick descend to
the river. The road now passes
through a rocky defile, which
was formerly closed by a gate.
On the left (10 m.) is the Church
of St Pietro and the modern
chatear. of Baron Castelmur.
Stampa (103 m.) and Borgonuovo
(11} m.) are the next villages,
beyond which the road passes by
the debris swept down by a great
flood in 1870. Vicosopraxo (12
m.) is the chief village in the
valley.

Beyond Casacela (16 m., 4790
ft., Inn Porta) we commence to
ascend the Majola by a series of
extraordinary windings. On the
right a path leads in 5 min. to
the beautiful cascade of the
ORDLEGNA. The falls are illu-
minated at night. Tourists can
dismount from the diligence, see
the fall, and, taking a short cut,
catch it again at the top. Three
miles from Ordegna we gain the
summit of the plateau of the
Majola (19 m.), on which is the
magnificent HOTEL KURSAAL
MAJOLA, replete with every
comfort, and one of the finest
hotels in Switzerland. The hotel
is well heated in winter, and the
air is artificially “ ozonized” by
electricity, the electric light be-
ing also used throughout the
building and in the grounds. A
small theatre is attached to the
hotel. Near the Hotel Kursaal
is the small Hotel Zum Majola
Kulm. A pleasant walk of  hr. is
to the picturesqua CAVLOCCIO
Lake, romantically situated, and
surrounded by lofty mountain
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peaks andglaciers. From thelako
anexcursion can be madein 2 hrs.,
there and back, to the FOrRNO
GLACIER. To the south is the
peak of the Monte del Forno
(10,545 ft.). A magnificent view
of the Engadine district can be
had by ascending the Piz Lung-
kino (9120 ft., 3 hrs.), not diffi-
cult, but guide desirable. At
Majola we enter the Upper
Engadine, watered by the Inn,
which we cross as it descends
from the Piz Lunghino, forming
a series of small cascades, and
reach the beautiful Lake of Sils,
4%; m. in length. On our right is
the Piz delle Margna, and its
overhanging glacier.  On the
south bank of the lake is the
little village of Isola, over which
towers the Corvaisch (11,345 ft.),
and the large Fedoz Glacier. At
the E. end of the lake is Sils
(234 m.), which is divided into the
villages of S1LS-BASEGLIA (Hof.
de la Grand Vue) on the lake,
and Sils Marla7(5895 ft., 4 m.
from the Inn Bridge, Hotels
ALPENROSE and EDELWEISS, both
comfortable).  Sils Maria is
beautifully situated, and is a
desirable stopping-place. It is
well sheltered from the wind,
and its climate is the mildest in
the valley. Beyond Sils we pass
the Lake of Silvaplana, and
reach

Stivaplana (5958 ft., 265 m.),
pleasantly situated between Lake
Silvaplana and Lake Campfér
(Hotels, R1v’ ALTA, comfortable ;
Corvatsch, Wilder Mann). One
mile from Silvaplana, on an emi-
nence between the lakes, is the
CAFE CRESTALTA (6250 ft.), which
commands a lovely view of the
lakes and surrounding moun-
tains.  Skirting the Lake of
Campfer we reach Campfer (28
m., Hotels, JULIERHOF, HOTEL
D'ANGLETERRE, Pens. Cazin).
One and a quarter mile beyond
Campfer are the J
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Baths of St Moritz (6090 ft.,
29} m., Horer KurHAUS, HOTEL
VicToria, HoTEL DU Lac, all
excellent and most comfortable ;
ENGADINERHOF, HoTEL ST Mo-
RITZ ; Pensions Beausite, Meyer,
and many others. A band plays
daily in front of the Kurhaus).

The Village of St Morltz is
1} m. beyond the baths (Hotels
ENGADINER KuLd, fine large
and comfortable Hotel ; BELVE-
DERE, Hotel BERNET, both first
class ; Hotel Suisse, Hotel Poste;
Pensions, Coviezel, Perini, Gart-
mann,and many others). A tram-
way (50 c.) connects the baths
with the village. St Moritz,
beautifully situated on the N.
shore of Lake St Moritz, is one of
the most frequented and favour-
ite resorts in the Engadine. The
spring is strongly impregnated
with ca,rbonicngc)ird, i!:'on%n and
alkaline salts, and is beneficial
in incipient consumption and
stomachic  complaints. The
spring was known to the Romans,
but has not been in general use
till of late years. There are
good boats on the pretty lake,
which is full of trout, though
they are very shy. The lake is
generally frozen over from Nov-
ember to March, when the visitors
enjoy excellent skating, The
ExcLIsH CHURCH is on the road
from the baths to the village.
From St Moritz there are delight-
ful excursions in every direction.
Carriages per day 1 horse, 15 frs. ;
2 horses, 30 frs. TRAMWAYS run
to Silvaplana, Sils, Samaden, and
Pontresing.

From St Moritz the road winds
down past the hamlets of CRESTA
(Pens. Misani) and CELERINA
(Lens. Murail, Pens. Rouzi), to

Samaden (5600 ft., 34 m.,
HoTEL BERNINA, excellent ; Kur-
HAUSSAMADEN, comfortable; Hot.
des Alpes, Hot. Krone), the largest
village in the Engadine. The
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principal building is the chateau
of the old Ei ine families of
La Planta and Salis, who have
borne a prominent part in the
history of the canton for ten
centuries, Kng. Ch. Ser. in the
English Chapel. Three and a
quarter miles from Samaden is
PONTRESINA, see Route LXXY.
Beyond Samaden we have a
magnificent panorama’ of the
valley, surrounded by snow clad
peaks. At the base of the Crasta
More, (9635 ft.) lies the little
village of Bevers (13 m.). At
Ponte (4 m., Hot. Albula) the
route over the Albule branches
off (see Route LxxIr). In 1799
the bridge at Ponte was the scene
of a desperate conflict between
the French and Austrians, who
fought for its possession for six
hours in snow six feet deep.
Above MADULEIN (4% m.) is the
ruined eastle of Quardaval, built
in 1251 by Bishop Volkard of
Coire, as a fortress. The rock
on which it stands commands a
fine view of the valley. ~ At Znz
(6 m., 5550 ft., HoTeEL CoON-
CORDIA, Schweizerbund) isa ruined
tower, the only remaining por-
tion of the original castle of the
Plantas. At Zuz the climate be-
comes milder, and the country
more fertile. On the right is the
pretty cascade of Arpiglia, and
high above, an immense bulwark,
erected as a protection against
avalanches. Passing  SCANFS
(7 m., Inns Stern, Steinbock),
Capell (8% m.), and Cinuskel,
we cross the Puat Ota over a
small brook, and enter the
Lower Engadine valley. The
beautiful snow peak of the Pz
Linard (11,207 ft.) now comes
in sight, and the valley cxpands
as we approach Zernetz (17 m.,
4900 ft., Hot Bar, fair). This
village was entirely destroyed by
fire in 1872, with the exception
of the church, which was founded
in the 6th cent. and rebuilt in



The fine mansion of the
family has been rebuilt
sing the fire.

rom Zernetz a dillgence runs
y In 6 hrs. to Munster (24 m,,
Fyre, 9.90 ¢.), through the wild ravine
La Serra and over the OFEN Pass
(7070 ft.) Into the pleturesque Munster
fhal. From Munster a narrow car-
riage road runs In 8} m. to Mals on the
Stelvio ronte (see p. ). A bridle-path
also leads in 4 hrs. from St Maria in
the Munsterthal over the Wormser
Joch (8240 ft.) to St Maria in the
Stelvio Pass (sce p. 144).]
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Leaving Zernetz wo cross the
Inn and pass through a pie-
turesque defile to Siis (20} m.,
4688 ft., Hotels Schueizerhof and
Rhatia, fair). Above the valley
are the ruins of a castle supposed
to have been built by the Romans.
On the rise the peaks of the Piz
Medi (9595 ft.), and the Piz
Linard (11,207 ft.). At Sts the
route from Davos over the Fluela
Pass joins in. For route from
Siis to Nauders (50 m.), see
p- 133,

Route LXXYV.
SAMADEN TO TIRANO OVER THE BERNINA.,

Diligence—To Poschiave (24 m.) daily in 5} hrs. Fares, 9.65 c.; coupé,
11.60 c¢. Poschiavo to Tirano (14 1n., 13 hrs.) dillgence twice daily, and
also omnibus in summer, Fares, 2.65 and 8.85 ¢. The diligences de not
connect at Poschiavo. Consult local time tables.

Extra Post, St Moritz, Samaden or Pontresina to Tirane, 2 horses, 83.80 ¢. ;

3 horses, 125 frs.; 4 horses, 187 frs.

c., 163.50 c.

Reverse directien, 95.30 c., 131.50

Carriages, 1 herse, 50 frs.; 2 herses, 90 frs.

Samaden (see page140). Leav-
ing Samaden the road crosses
the Inn and the Muraigl As
we ascend we have a fine view
on the right of the immense
Roseg Glacier, above which towers
the 1%z Roseg (12,936 ft.), and
the Piz Bernina (13,295 ft.).

Pontresinn (3} m., 5915 ft.,
Hotels, KRONENHOF, first-class
and comfortable ; ROSEG, SARATZ,
LANGUARD, Weisser Kreulz, Poste,
Steinbock. )

Pontresina, the most frequent-
ed resort in the Engadine, is
beautifully situated at the foot
of the Bernina pass, and enclosed
by the great snow and ice fields
of the Bernina range. As a
centre for mountain ascents and
glacier excursions it is only
rivalled by Zermatt and Cha-
monix. The excursions round

Pontresina can nearl{ all be
easily made even by ladics, as
the town has constructed good
roads or bridle-paths to most of
the points of interest.

Guides are under the control
of a society as at Chamonix. A
fixed tariff of charges for guides
and mules is posted in the hotels.
Zing. Ch. Ser. in the new English

chapel.
Exenrsions—
The Schafberg (1} hrs.).

Guide unnecessary. Good bridle-
path from the Hotel Roseg, past
tho old tower of La Sparola and
the hill Crest Ota, ascending
through woods to the last bench
(7300 ft.), from which we have a
magnificent view of Pontresina,
the surrounding peaks, glaciers
of the Bernina, and the lake
of St Moritz. The ascent can
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be continued in 1} hrs. more
to the summit (8965 ft.), from
which the view is still more
extensive. To return to Pont-
resina we descend on the other
side to the Alp Muraigl in the
Muraigl Valley (4 hr.), and
thence take the path down the
valley, joining carriage road to
Pontresina 1 hr. from the Alp.

The Schliicht Promenade
(3 hr.). A path descends from
the Hotel Saratz, crossing the
Bernina over the [Punt Ota,
where we turn to the left through
the wood. Ten miles from
Pontresina is the Hahle, a chasm
in which is the Café Sansouci
In 20 min. we arrive at a bridge
from which we can view the
cascade of the Languard. From
the bridge we return to Pontresina
by the road.

The Roseg Glaeier. Carriage
road, 44 m. (one horse carriage,
7 frs., to the Inn), thence path,
# hr. The road ascends the
valley of the Roseg between the
Piz Chalchagn (10,350 ft.) on the
left and the Piz Rosatsck (9825
ft.) on the right. Since 1876
shooting on these two mountains
has been prohibited, and in con-
sequence the chamois have in-
creased to over 1000 head. At
the end of the carriage road is the
small Hotel du Glacier du Roseg.
From the Inn a path leads in 2
hr. to the base of the glacier,
which has lately greatly receded.
Guide unnecessary unless an
excursion on the glacier itself is
made. The finest VIEW of the
glacier is from the ALP Ora (7385
ft.), to which a path from the Inn
leads in § hr.

The Morteratsch Glacier.
Carriage road, 3§ m. (one horse
carriage, 5 frs.), thence footpath
- in 10 min. The carriage road
ends at the ‘‘Rutscher Platz.”
A finger post here points out
the path to the glacier. In 10
min, we reach a bridge over
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the Bernina, which desceris in
a series of cascades. Beond
the bridge is the Restauran du
Glacier de Morteratsch at the ‘oot
of theglacier. A fine view of -he
glacier can be had by ascendng
the path to the right to tae
Chunetta (} hr.), a grassy plas-
form, from which we can descend
on to the glacier itself. Guide
unnecessary. Quarter of an hour
farther on is the Signal, a still
finer point of view. An extensive
view of the upper portion of the
glacier can be had by ascend-
ing a rough path over snow to
the Boval Hut (8070 ft.), 2
hrs.

A magnificent glaefer ex-
curslon can be made (guide
necessary, 12 frs., 9-10 hrs
from Pontresina, by crossing
the MORTERATSCH Glacier from
the BovanL Hur (see above) to
the ¥sla FPersa (8170 ft.), an
isolated rock in the Wers Glacier.
From the Zsla Persa we cross the
Pers Glacier, and ascending to
the Diavolezza Pass (9770 ft.),
from which we descend past the
beautiful blue DIAVOLEZZA LAKE
(8463 ft.) to the BERNINA HOUSES
on the Bernina road, 5 m. from
Pontresina. A carriage can be
ordered from Pontresina to meet
the tourist at the Bernina Houses.
This excursion can also be made
from Pontresina in the reverse
direction. One horse carriage to
the Bernina Houses, 6 frs. Time
of walking between the Bernina
Houses and the Restaurant at the
foot of the Moiteratsch Glacier,
about 63 hrs. This expedition is
quite free from danger, and is
one of the finest glacier excursions
in Switzerland. 2

The Piz Languard (10,715 ft.)
canbe ascended in4 hrs. Descent,
2} hrs. Guide, quite unnecessary,
8 frs. A bridle-path leads to
within 10 min. of the summit.
Horse or mule, 9 frs. The
panorama from the Piz Languard
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is the finest to be seen from any
easily accessible peak in Switzer-
land. The tourist should make
an early start so as to avoid the
mists that generally rise after
9 or 10 A.M. On the summit are
several seatsand a trigonometrical
signal. The view embraces the
Monte Rosa, Mont Blane,
Bernese Oberland, T6di, Sentis,
and Bernina ranges.

Leaving Pontresina, we pass (¥
n1.) the cascade of the Languurd.
Farther on (3§ m.) we pas the
road leading to the Morteratsch
Glacier (p. 142), beyond which
we begin the ascent, which
affords fine views of the glacier.
Five miles from Pontresina are
the Bernina Houses (6725 ft.), the
starting-point for the excursion
over the Diavolezza Pass (p. 142).
About 1 m. from the summit we
pass the small Lago Minore (63
m.), Lago Nero, and the Lago
Bianca, 2 m. long. The narrow
strip of land between Lago Nero
and Lago Bianca is the water-
shed between the Black Sea and
the Adriatic. These lakes are
frozen over from November to
June. The road turns to the
left by the Lago Mero, and we
soon reach the Mospice éS m.) in
the Bernina Pass (7575 ft.).
The Hospice is now a comfortable
INN. Opposite us is the Can-
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BRENA GLACIER. A few yards
beyond the Hospice is the sume
mit of the pass (7660 ft.), from
which we descend in windings to
La Rosa (13 m.), and

Poschinvo (20} m). The
Rom. Cath. Church was built in
1494. Behind it is a bone house,
in which, by an old Swiss cus-
tom, are collected a number
of skullss, An omnibus runs
several times daily (3 m.) to
Le Prese (23} m., KURHAUS),
a watering-place_on the Lago
di Poschiavo.  There is good
trout fishing in the lake. The
spring is sulphurous, and much
frequented by the nerthern
Italians. Beyond the village is
a cross marking the spot where
three brothers were killed by an
avalanche. From Le Prese we
descend through a rocky defile,
passing a series of cascades which
extend for nearly 3 m. to Brusio
(27 m.), the last Swiss village.
At Campo Cologna (28 m.) is
the Italian Custom House. One
mile farther on is Madonnn di
Tirano (Inn, St Michele), where
we reach the valley of the Adda.
Our route here joins the road over
the STELVIO (sec below).

Tirane, 31 m. from Pontresina
(Hotels : ftalia, Posta, Stelvio).
In the village are the ancient
mansions of the ‘Pallavachini,
Visconti, and Salis families.

Roure LXXVI.

TIRANO TO BORMIO AND NAUDERS OVER
THE STELVIO.

Diligence (79 m.) daily to Bormio, 25} m., in 6 ‘hrs.; Farc, 9.20 ¢. From
Bormio to Eyrs, 313 m., in 11 hrs.; Fares, 6 florins; coups, 7 fl. 35 kr.
(The diligence for Eyrs leaves the Nauders road at Speadinig, 2 m. from
Eyrs.) Eyrsto Nauders, 26 m.,:a 5 hrs,

The Stelvio Road (9045 ft.),
constructed by the Austrian
Government in 1820-25, is the

highest in Europe. The scenery
in the pass is exceedingly mag-
nificent. From Thano (sce
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above) the road ascends through
vineyards. Onthe leftis the 2z
Masuccio (9245 ft.), from which
an enormous landslip fell in 1807,
damming up the valley of the
Adda,and convertingitintoalake.

At Mazzo (5 m.) we cross
the Adda, afterwards the Ro-
asco, and again cross the Adda
beyond Grosio, soon after which
we reach Beolladore (Jun:
Posta). Five miles beyond Bolla-
dore, the defile of La Serra di
Morignone, a milein length, separ-
ates the Valteline from the terri-
tory of Bormio. At thé entrance
to the defile are the remains of
an old fort. At the Ponte-del-
Driavola, Garibaldi had a skirmish
on the 26th of June 1859 with the
Austrians. Passing a hamlet we
enter, beyond the village of Cep-
pine, the valley of Bormio, en-
closed by wooded mountains,

ially covered with snow.
Crossing the valley we soon
reach Bormio (255 m. ([fnn
Posta), a little town at the en-
trance of the Val Furve, from
which village we ascend by
the new road to the Baths of
Bormio (27} m.), a handsome
building which commands a fine
view of the valley and surround-
ing mountains. Three quarters
of a mile above the new baths
are the 01d Baths. Both estab-
lishments are well fitted up, and
contain reading, concert, and
billiard-rooms, and restaurants.
The waters are preseribed in
cases of gout, rheumatism, hy-
steria, scrofula, and cutaneous
diseases.

From the new baths the road
ascends to the old baths giving
us beautiful retrospective views
of the valley. On our right, look-
ing back, rise the Piz de Colom-
baro (9940 ft.), the Cerria di
Pigzza (11,710 ft.), and the Piz
Redasco. 'To the left are the
Cime de Gobetta and the Piz
Tresero. 'The old baths lie a little

below the road to the left. Be-
yond the old baths the road is
protected from avalanches (which
are very frequent in winter and
spring), by a succession of gal-
leries. At St Maria, 34 m. (lnn)
is the Italian custom house. On
our right are the immense Eben
and Stelvio glaciers. A short dis-
tance farther on is the swmmit
of the Stelvio Pass (9045 ft.),
which is rarely free from snow.
A column on the right marks the
boundary of Italy and Austria.
Half mile to the north is the
Swiss frontier. As we descend in
long zig-zags we have fine views
on the right of the peaks of the
Geisterspitze (11,350 ft.), and
the ZTuckettspitze (11,400 ft.).
Frankzenshohe (7160 ft., Inn
Wallnofer) is the next village.
Two m. further on, we pass the
spot where Madam de Tourville,
an English lady, was supposed to
have been murdered by her hus-
band, by throwing her over the
cliff. From the IWeisse Knott, a
small platform, a little farther on,
we have a splendid viEw. To
our right is the Madatsch Glacier,
to the left is the Trafoter Glacier,
over which rise the Pleisshorn
and the Ortler (12,815 ft.). Be-
fore us is the Madatschspitz. In
the distance to the north is the
lofty snow peak of the Weisskugel.
Passing TRAFOI, 45 m. (Jzn Post),
we follow the course of the rapid
Trafoi-Bach to Prad (53 m., fan
Neue Post), lying at tho foot of
the pass. At Spendinig (55 m.),
the road branches off to Eyrs, to
which the diligence runs. From
Spondinig the Nauders™ road
keeps to the left, passing the
castles of Lichtenburg and Chur-

burg.

Mals (613 m., Tzn Post). To
the left of Mals is G'lurns, which
we pass on the route from Zer-
netz through the Munster Thal
to Mals. (See p. 141.) The
scenery as we ascend to ST

)
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VALENTIN (4695 ft., 69 m.), Jan
Post), is exceedingly dreary and
uninteresting. Passing the MMit-
ter-See and Reschen-Sce, we have
a magnificent retrospective VIEW
of the Ortler range. Beyond
Reschen we reach the summit of
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the Reschen-Schelideck Pass
(74% m., 4900 ft.), which divides
the watersheds of the Black Sea
and the Adriatic. A descent of
4} m. brings us to Nauders (79
m.), see p. 133. '

Route LXXVII.

TIRANO TO COLICO THROUGH THE
VALTELLINA.

Diligence, 43 m., daily, in 9 hrs. Fare, 11.5 c.

The Valtelllna is justly cele-
brated for its wines, which are
largely consumed in Switzerland
under the name of Veltliner. The
scenery along the route, though
hardly grand, is pleasing and
picturesque.

Tirano (see p. 143). Sondrio
(17 m.) is the capital of the
valley, which here was frequently
devastated by floods of water and
mud. These floods have been
prevented by confining the Malero
to an artificial channel. The
ancient Nunnery is now used as
a prison. The old castle of the

former governors commands a
fine view. Looking up Val Ma-
lenco we see the lofty snow peaks
of the Bernina (13,295 ft.), and
the Monte della Disgrazia (12,075
ft.). From Sondrio, long and
rather uninteresting stretches of
road lead to MORBEGNO (32} m.,
Inn, Post fair). The road now
runs between the ranges of Monte
Spluga on the right, and Monte
Legnone on the left, and throu%h
the unhealthy marshes of the
Adda to Celico (43 m.), see
p. 50.

Route LXXVIII.
LAKE MAGGIORE.

Railway from Bellinzona (p.

) to Locarno, 14 m., in § hr.; Fares, 2.30 c.,

160 c., 1.15 ¢. Bellinzona to Novaro, E. bank, 67 m., in 4-5 hrs.; Fares,
12 frs.; 8.45 c.; 6 frs. Laveno 18 the station to alight for the steamer
crossing to Pallanza, Siresa, Baveno, and the Borromean Islands.
Steamers thrice daily between Locarno and Laveno, and seven times daily
between Laveno and Arona, stopping at Intra, Pallanza, Stresa, and

Baveno. See local time tables.

The Lago Maggiore. 37 m. long by about 3 broad, is situated almest entirely
in Italy, only 9 miles of the northern shore being In Swiss territory. Its

greatest depth is 2600 to 2800 ft.

The scenery of the upper portlon of the

lake is bold and picturesque, the mountains rising precipitously from the
water, their lower slopes clad with vincyards, and dotted with villages,
churches and villas, almost on every ledge. The finest portion of the lake

K
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is around 1he Bay of Baveno, the view from Stresa being one of exquisite
beauty. Below the Bay of Baveno the scenery gradually becomes tamer
as we approach sonthwards to the level plains beyond Arona. The net
fisheries in the lake, which are the property of the Borromeo family,
are very productive. In 1848, Garibaldi and his Volunteers seized the
steamers on the lake, and for two months cruised abont and harassed the

Austrian villages.

Loearno (pop. 2600 ; Hotels—
GRAND HOTEL LOCARNO, fine
largehotelwith beautiful grounds,
very comfortable. Enrg. Ch.
Ser.in the Hotel. Hotel CORONA,
Hotel Suisse). Locarno, beauti-
fully situated at the northern
end of the lake amid groves of
lemon and orange trees and vine-
yards, though in Switzerland, is
a typical Italian village. The
Government House in the square
is a handsome modern building.
In the Churck of S. Antonio are
some fair pictures, In Jan. 1863
portion of the roof of this church,
being overloaded with snow, fell
in during service, killing 47 of
the worshippers. On a wooded
hill 20 min. walk above the town
is the pilgrimage church of the
MADONNA DEL SAss0, which con-
tains a fine ‘“Descent from the

Cross” by Cerisi, and other
pictures.  The church porch

commands a lovely view of the
lake. Travellers over the St
Gothard, to or from Lake Mag-
giore, should by all means br
their journey at Locarno instead
of Bellinzona. Opposite Locarno
is Magadino (Hotel Bellevue).
AxscoNa,W., witharuined castle.

Brissago, W. (Albergo Antico),
beautifully situated amid groves
of oranges, pomegranates, figs,
olives, and myrtle, One mile
beyond Brissago we leave Swiss
waters and touch at

Canneobbie (pop. 2600; Hot.
Cannobbio, at the landing ; Pens
Badia, 1} m. from the town), one
of the oldest villages on the lake.
In the church of Della Piéta is a
fine altar piece by Gaudenzio
Ferrari of tﬁe ‘“Bearing of the
Cross,”

Luino, E. (Hotels, Simplon,
Posta, Victoria), a railway station,
and the point of departure for
Lugano. See Route rLxxX. In
the Piazza Garibaldi is a statue
of the General.

We now cross to Cannero, W,
On the little rocky islands in the
lake opposite Cannero are the two
curiousruined Castellz di Cannero,
which now belong to the Borromeo
family, but which were, in the
15th cent. the stronghold of the
Mazzardi, five brothers, who
were banditti and the terror of
the lake,

Laveno, E. (Ians Posta, Moro,
Stella), astation on the St Gothard
railway. A diligence runs daily
to Varese (see p. 152). Laveno
is beautifully situated at the
base of the Sasso del Torro (5920
ft.) from the summit of which
there is a magnificent view of
the lake and the Monte Rosa
range. Two hours up the moun-
tain is the little chapel of S.
Caterina in Sasso, where are two
large rocks, brought down by a
landslip 450 years ago, and which
support each other in a curious
manner.

Intra, W. (Hotel Intra,
Vitello e Leon d'Oro), the ter-
minus of the diligence over the
Simplon (p. 120). It isa thriving
manufacturing town of 5000 in-
habitants. Quarter of an hour’s
walk to the N. of the town is
the Villa Franzosini, in beautiful
gardens. Now rounding the
promontory of S. Remigo, on
which is a church built on the
site of an ancient Temple of
Venus, we reach

Pallanza, N, (GRAXD HOTEL
PALLANZA, large and most ex-
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cellent hotel, beautifully situated
on the lake in pleasant gardens.
Moderate prices and most oblig-
ing landlord. A delightful winter

residence. Eng. Ch. Ser. in the
Hotel. HoTEL GARONI on the

hill, fine view. Posta, near the
pier). Boats to Isola Madre, 1
beatman 1.50 ¢.; 2 boatmen 3
frs. To Isola Bella, 2.50 ¢. and
4.50 ¢. To both islands, 3.50
and 6 frs, To Stresa,, 2.50
and 4 frs. To Laveno, 2.50 and
4,50 c. Per hour without beat-
men, 1 fr. Pallanza, one of the
loveliest spots on the lake, is
beautifully situated opposite the
Borromean Islands amid luxuri-
ant gardens. Having the sun
all day, Pallanza is the most
delightful winter residence on
the lake. Tt derives its name
from being the site of an ancient
temple of Pallas. In the wall of
the old church of San Stefano
is a curious sculptured block
of marble, discevered in 1601,
and so set that all its faces are
seen. It formerly stood alene.
On one face is an inscription
commemerating the recovery of
the Emp. Claudius Ceesar from
sickness. For diligences to Domo
d’Ossola and the Simplon (see
p- 120). Opposite Pallanza is

Baveno (GRAND HOTEL BA-
VENO, large and comfortable.
BELLEVUE,. BEAURIVAGE, both
first class; all these hotels have
beautiful gardens. Pension Suisse).
Above the village is the handseme
Villa Clara, occupied by Queen
Victoria in 1879. Visiters are
admitted to the beautiful grounds
on presentation of card. A hand-
seme English church has been
built at Baveno.

The Borromean Islands. The
lake steamers calling at Baveno
touch at the Islands. Boat from
Baveno, 1 boatman, 2.50 c.; 2
boatmen, 5 frs.

Isola Rella (Horter, Dav-
PHLIN). This island was simply a
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barren rock without a vestige of
vegetation till the year 1671,
when ene of the Counts Borromeo
erected the . present large
chateau.

Ten terraces were cut in the
rock and planted with lemons,
oranges, oleanders, cypresses,
magnolias, palms, and other
luxuriant tropical plants. Every
bandful of earth had to be
brought from the mainland. But
with all this labour the effect is
stiff and strained. The immense
and uninteresting chateau is open
to visitors after 9 a.m.; fee to
attendant, 3-1 fr.

The Isola Madre, the largest
of the islands, is also laid eut in
terraces covered with the mest
luxurious vegetation, and being
less artificial is more beautiful
thanits sister island. ‘‘Isola Bella
is in parts as artificial as a Dutch
gardener could desire to see it.
Isola Madre, in its beautiful
naturalness, is the poet’s delight.
In the one island trees are planted
in lines, and their foliage often
carved into strange, fanciful pat-
terns. The flower-beds are laid
in rectangular or symmetrical
parterres : all is correct. In the
other, Nature seems to revel at
her own sweet will ; and Art, that
trains her, hides behind her sister.
Both islands are beautiful ; each
has its enthusiastic admirers ; but
the truer instinct and the finer
taste would assuredly turn to
Isola Madre as the spot that
nearest approaches to perfec-
tion.” Visitors are admitted to
the grounds after 9 a.m.; fee, 1 fr.
On the highest terrace is a ruined
Palazza which commands a lovely
view of the bay. The pictur-
esquelittle Isola del Pescatorl is
entirely occupied by a little fish-
ing village.

Stresa (HOTEL DES ILES BO-
ROMEES, excellent large hotel in
beautiful gardens, opposite the
Isola Bella. HoTkL MILAN, near
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thepier. Albergo Reale Bolongaro,
ltalia). From Stresa we have
the most beautiful of all the views
of the Lake, and of the Bay of
Baveno. In summer Stresa has
also the advantage of being
shaded from the sun by the hills
behind, making the climate de-
lightfully cool and pleasant.
Behind the town is the large Ros-
minian Monastery, now a school.
Facing the lake are the fine villas
of the Duchess of Genoa and the
Marquis  Pallavicino. In the
parish church is a fine picture
by Morazzone, and a monument
to Ant. Rosmini, the founder of
the monastery. b

As we round the point the
bank becomes more level, and we
catch a glimpse in the distance
of Monte Rosa. WBelgirate, W.
(GRAXD HOTEL BELGIRATE), with
the handsome villas of the
Princess Matilda, and the Kon-
tana and Pallavicini families.

Route 19.—THE LAKE OF COMO.

Aromna, W., pop. 3000 (HoOTEL
Posta, Albergo Reale, S. Gottardo,
all on the quay), is the terminus
of the steamer route. The pier
is opposite the railway station.
Through trains to Turin, Milan,
and Venice.

The church of Santa Maria
contains a fine altar-piece by
Gaudenzio Vinei, representing
the Holy Family, and some other
smaller pictures round it. About
a mile and a half before reaching
Arona we see the celebrated cOL-
0SSAL STATUE (erected in 1697) OF
St CarRLO BORROMEO, Cardinal
Archbishop of Milan, a native of
Arona. It is 66 ft. high, and is
placed on a pedestal 40 ft. high.
The head, hands, and feet are of
bronze, the rest of the figure con-
sists of sheets of copper sustained
by masonry. The statute is
hollow and can be ascended by
means of ladders. The head
holds three persons.

Route LXXIX.

THE LAKE

OF COMO.

Steamboats thrice daily between Como and Colico in 4 hrs.; Fares, 4.70 c.
2.60 c.; twice daily, between Lecco and Colico, 34 hrs.; and twice daily

between Como and Lecco, in 34 hrs.

Between Caddenabbia, Bellagio, and

Menaggio, frequently. Good restaurants on the steamers.

Boats with 1 boatman, first hr., 1.50 c¢.; each add. hr.,, 1 fr.; 2 boatmen, 3
frs. and 2 frs. Bellagio to Cadenabbia and rcturn,3 frs and 4 frs.; to
Menaggio and return, 3 frs. and 4frs. The boatmen expect a pour-boire.

The Lake of Como is generally considered the most picturesque lake in
Northern Italy, and certainly no other lake can vie with the beauty of the

gardens and villas on its banks.

Its length is 31 m., and its breadth 1 to 8

m. Its greatest depth is 1930 ft. Its scenery more rescmbles that of a river
than of alake. Throughout its whole extent the banks of the lake are formed
of precipitous mountains from 3000 to 7000 ft. in height: in some places

overhanging the water, in others partially covered with wood, and stndded
with hamlets and beautiful villas swrrounded by luxuriant gardens.

At

Bellagio the lake divides into two arms, the Lake of Como on the W., and

the Lake of Lecco to the E.

Como (HOTEL VOLTA, best;
ItaLls, Albergo di C’apello{.
Travellers wishing to remain all
night and leave by the boat in
the morning, should go on to

Cernobbio (see below), and stay
at the fine hotel Villa D’Este.
The hotel accommodation at Como
is only moderate.

Como is a place of considerable
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commercial importance. The
Duomo is a handsome building
of marble, commenced in 1396,
and completed in 1732. The
Gothic facade is richly orna-
mented with carvi and bas-
reliefs. The remainder of the
structure externally is in the
Renaissance style, except the
cupola. The nave and aisles are
Italian Gothic, the choir is circu-
lar, and is adorned with Corinth
ian pilasters, surmounted by
statues between the windows,
There are several fine paintings
in the cathedral by Luini and
Gaudenzio Ferrari.

The other public buildings
are the Town Hall, the Chuich
of St Abondio, containing the
tombs of many of the bishops
of Como; the theatre, a hand-
some building ; the Liceo Im-
periale e Reale, containing a
natural history collection, read-
ing-rooms, &ec.; the Palazo
Griovio, containing a library, and
an antiquarian collection.

From Como a diligence runs
twice daily to Varese (p. 152).

The view of the lake from
Como is confined to a small
circular basin surrounded by high
hills, but on doubling the low
headland of Cernobbio, a very
beautiful reach opens up, in which
the mountains rise on each side
boldly from the water’s edgo,
their slopes covered by plan-
tations of olives, vines, and chest-
nut trees, and dotted with hand-
some villas and luxuriant gardens.

Soon after passing the suburb
of Vico we reach Cernobhio
(GRAND HOTEL VILLA D'ESTE,
magnificent hotel, most comfort-
able, and delightully sitnated on
the lake, amid beautiful gardens,

D’ependance, HoTEL = REINE
D’ANGLETERRE. This hotel was

formerly the residence of Queen
Caroline, the unfortunafe wife of
George IV. The magnificent
reception rooms are handsomely

"dern pictures.
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decorated in various antique
styles. There are some fine
statues and pictures in the
hotel).

On the east bank, a little be-
yond the village of Blevio, is
the villa TAGLIONT, with a Swiss
cottage, formerly the property
of the celebrated danseuse. A
little beyond Zorno, on the east
bank, iS the VILLA PLINTANA,
at the end of a bay and at the
entrance of a narrow gorge. It
is a gloomy edifice, now the
property of the Princess Belgio-
joso. Behind it is the celebrated
intermittent fountain described
by the younger Pliny. At LAGLIO,
on the west bank, is a PYRAMID,
built in memory of Professor
Joseph Frank, who left money in
his will for its erection.

On the promontory of Lanedo
is the handsome ViLLa BAL-
BIANO, belonging to the Arconti
family. Just before reaching
Cadenabbia we pass, on the E.
bank, the Villa Carlotta, be-
longing to the Duke of Saxe-
Meiningen, and formerly. the
property of Count Sommariva.
The villa and gardens are open
to visitors; fee, 1 fr. In the
Marble Saloon are the celebrated
reliefs by Thorwaldsen of the
Triumpk of Alexander, which cost
Count Sommariva over £14,000.
This room also contains a Cumid
and Psyche, and several other
statues by Canova. In the Gar-
den Saloon is a collection of mo-
The GARDEXNS
are most luxuriant and beautiful.

Cadenabbia (HOTEL ,BELLE-
VUE, opposite the landing, large
and comfortable, Eng. Ch. Ser.
in the hotel ; HOTEL BRITTANIA,
% m. from the landing, first class;
Belle Isle; ALBERGO BAZZOXI, at
Tremezzo). A delightful excur-
sion from Cadenabbia is to the
summit of the Monte Crocione,
5500 ft., which commands a mag-
nificent view of the lake. There



150

is a mule path to the summit.
From Cadenabbia we cross to
Bellagio (GRAND HOTEL
BELLAGIO, magnificent esta-
blishment, very comfortable, and
beautifully situated on the lake;
HOTEL GRANDE BRETAGNE, large
fine hotel, also on the lake, with
dependance, VILLA SERBELLONI,
on the hill ; HOTEL GENAZZINL
Second class, Hotel de Flovence).
Bellagio, sitnated on the pro-
montory dividing the lakes of
Como and Lecco, is one of the
most beautiful spots on the Ita-
lian lakes. Its views extend in
every direction, while its open
and airy position makes its cli-
mate generally cool and delight-
ful. Half a mile to the S. is the
handsome ViLLa MELzI, belong-
ing to the present Duke of Melzi.
It was built for his grandfather,
Count Melzi d’Erile, who was
Vice-President of the Italian
Republic under Napoleon Buona-
parte.  Visitors are admitted
on Thurs, and Sun., 1 fr.; gar-
den, 50 ¢. The villa contains
several fine statues by Canova
and sculptures by Thorwaldsen.
The GARDENS are very beautiful.
On the hill above, is the ViLLA
SERBELLOXNI, which commands a
lovely view of the lake. 1} m.
S. of the town is the VILLA
GruLIs, belonging to Count

Route 19.—THE LAKE OF COMO.

Blome, and formerly the pro-
perty of the King of the Bel-
gians. Its beautiful garden is
open to visitors ; fee, 5§c.

From Belaggio we cross to
Menaggio (HoOTEL VICTORIA ;
GRAND HOTEL MENAGGIO; Se-
cond class, Corona). From ilrlen-
aggio a narrow gauge railway
runs to Porlezza, on Lake Lu-
gano. See Route .

Varenna, East Bank (ALBER-
G0 REALE, Hotel BMarcioni),
beautifully situated at the en-
trance to the romantic Val Esino.
A short distance N. of the vil-
lage are five remarkable galleries
cut out of the solid rock for the
passage of the Stelvio road. To
the S. (3} m.) is the cascade of
the Fuime La'te, or * milk-fall,”
1000 ft. in height. In spring
this fall is very fine, but it almost
dries up in summer. Above
GETTANA, E. Bank, is the large
Hydropathic Est. of Regoledo.
BELLANO, E. Bank (Inn Roma),
at the entrance to the Val Sas-
sino, has large iron works. Be-
yond this point the villas become
fewer and the shores less inte-
resting. At Celico (Hotels
Isola Bella, Angelo Risi) is the
terminus of the steamer route.
For diligence over the Spliigen,
see Route LxVvI, and to Tirano,
see Route LXXVII.

BAY OF LECCO.

Steamers from Como to Lecco and Colico to Lecco, see p. 148,

The scenery in the Bay of
Lecco, though pretty, cannot vie
in beauty or grandeur with that
of the lake of Como. Leeco,
Pop. 7500 (HoTEL DUE TORRI,

Croce di Malta, Italia), is a busy
manufacturing town. The scene
of Manzoni’s celebrated novel,
¢¢1 Promessi Sposi,” is laid here.
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RouTEe LXXX.

LUINO (LAKE MAGGIORE) TO LUGANO

AND MENAGGIO

Railway from Zuino to Ponte Tresa, 6% m., in } hr,
Tresa to Lugano in 1} hrs,, and Porlezza in 2§ hrs,
lezza to Menaggio, 8 ., in 20 min.

Luino (see p. 146). From
Luino the rail passes through
the fertile valley of the T'resa
to Pente Tresa, a picturesque
village on a bay of the Lake
of Lugamo, which is here so
hemmed in by beautifully wooded
hills as to appear like a separate
lake. At Ponte Tresa we em-
bark on the stcamer for Lugano,
and passing through the Strait
of Lavena, with the precipitous
Mte. Caslano (1170 ft.) on our 1.,
enter the W. arm of the lake.
Now steering southwards, having
a view to the N.E. of Monte Sal-
vatore (p. 74) and the chapel on its
summit, we touch at Brusin-
Piano and Porta. We now turn
northwards and come in sight,
on ourr., of the crest of Monte
Generoso (p. 75), and touch at
Morcote and Melide, beyond
which we pass through the em-
bankment of the St Gothard
railway. Aswe ascend the lake,
wo have fino views, on our r., of
Monte Caprino, and on our L, of
Monte Salvatore. 'We next reach
Lugano (see p. 74).

From Lugano, where the
steamers on some trips wait for
an hour or two, we steer into the
E. arm, the most picturesquo
on‘tion of the lake., The N.

ank is studded with hamlets,
and planted with vines, figs, and
olives, while the S. bank is wild,
rugged, and precipitous. We

(LAKE OF COMO).

Steamer from Ponte
Railway from Por-

first touch at Gandrio, with its
curious gardens supported by
colonades, and then passing into
Italian territory, touch at Oria,
8. Mamette, and Ostemo (S.
Bank, ZTavern on the lake). Seven
minutes from the landing-place
at Osteno is the Grotto of 0s-
teno, which is reached by a small
boat. The cave is a curious
ravine hollowed out by the action
of the brook which runs at its
bottom. This gorge somewhat
resembles that of Pféffers (see p.
83). The Tufa Grottoes can
also be visited from Osteno by
boat to Resciein } hr., and thence
walk 5 minutes. The Brottoes,
which are covered with stalac-
tites, are illuminated by torches
(% fr.), ﬁroducing a weird effect.
From the second cavern we have
a glimpse of a pretty waterfall
in the ravine beyond. Five
miles by carriage road from
Osteno is the hamlet of Lanzo at
the base of Monte Caprino, 1 m.
from which are the minera
baths of Faravise (Hot. BELVE
DERE), inacommandingsituation,
having fine views of the lake and
the Piedmontese Alps as far as
Monte Rosa. -

We next reach Porlezza (Iot,
du Lac), where we land for the
railway to Menaggio, which we
reach 1n about 20 min.

For description of Menaggio
and the Lake of Come, see p. 150.
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Route 81.—VARESE AND LAGO VARESE.

Roure LXXXI.
VARESE AND LAGO VARESE.

Varese can be reached by rail from Milan, Arona (p. 148), or from Laveno (p.

146).

Varese (pop. 6000, GRAND.

%OTEL VARESE, excellent;
uropa, Angelo) is a prosperous,
but ﬁla itseﬁ" an uni%telgesting,
little town. The environs, how-
ever, are very beautiful, and
attract tothem great numbers of
Milanese and other North Ita-
lians, who have many villas in
the neighbourhood. The ‘most
beautiful part of Varese is where
the Grand Hotel is situated
about a mile outside the town.
The hotel itself, which was
formerly the Villa Recalcate, is
in a delightful situation over-
looking the Lake of Varese, and
the little lakes of Monate and
Comabbio, but the chief glory of
Varese is the magnificent view
from the terrace and grounds of
the Grand Hotel, of the Monte
Rosa chain. ‘“On fine evenings
as the sun sinks, there is a most
glorious revelation, the whole
Alpine range stands out behind
the lake against the crimson
sky ; Monte Rosa, Mont Blanc,
Mont Cervin, and a hundred
other peaks ending with Monte
Viso.”—Hare. There is no dis-
tant view of the Alps at all com-
parable with this, except, per-
haps, the famous view of the
Bernese Oberland from the
cathedral terrace at Berne.
Amongst other excursions to be
made from the Grand Hotel at
Varese is that to the Saero
Monte, about three miles north
of the town. (Carriage from the
hotel, 850 francs.) From the foot
of the mountain a wide and well-
paved road leads up the hill

A branch line also ruuns from Como (p. 148) in 1} hrs.

(horse, 150 franc), but it is more
convenient to walk, as one must
constantly dismount to see the
chapels. This road, which is 30
feet in width for the most part,
and never less than 25, protected
by stone balustrades on either
side, winds up the side of the
mountain, in numerous zigzags,
and at each of the turns is a
chapel, all different, and often of
great architectural merit, con-
taining a group of life-sized
figures in terra-cotta, illustrative
of some event of the Sacred His-
tory, connected with the different
mysteries of the Rosary. Hare
calls it expressively—‘‘a sort of
terra - cotta Ober - Ammergau.”
The events are illustrated in the
following order :—1. The Con-
ception. 2. The Annunciation.
3. The Visitation. 4. The Natiy-
ity. 5. The Circumcision. 6.
Christ amid the Doctors. 7. The
Agony in the Garden. 8. The
Sepulchre. 9. The Flagellation.
10. The Crowning with Thorns,
11. The Bearing of the Cross, and
the Coming of Scholastica. 12.
The Crucifixion. 13. The Resur-
rection. 14. The Ascension. 15.
The Day of Pentecost. 16. The
Assumption. Atthesummitofthe
hill is the CHURCH OF MADONNA
DEL MONTE, containing terra-
cotta groups of the Adoration of
the Magi. The view from many
places in the ascent, of the Alps
on the one side, and the rich

laing of Lombardy on the other,
is exceedingly beautiful. An-
other interesting excursion from
Varese is to Castiglione-di-Olone.



Route 82.—THE LAKE OF ORTA.

(The distance is 6} miles, car-
riage 8 francs.) o Collegiate
Church and Baptistery contain
frescoes by Masoline, those in the
church representing scenes from
the lives of Mary, St Stephen,
and St Lawrence; those in the
baptistery, scenes from the life
of John the Baptist. Within
easy walking distance of the
Grand Hotel is the Colle Cam-
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iglio, a height 14 mile to the
gg{,xth on the read to Laveno.
The Lago-di-Varese is 2} miles
distant.  (Restaurant on the
shore.) Several of the villas of the
nobility in the neighbeurhood
are shown to visitors. One of
the most beautiful is that of the
Prince of Castel Barce, 2 miles
from the hotel. The view from
its terrace is very fine.

Roure LXXXII
THE LAKE OF ORTA.

The Lake of Orta can be reached from Pallanza (p. 140), or Baveno (p.147),
by carrlage road via Gravellona (p. 124), or by bridle-path across the hilis
from Baveno or Stresa (in 5-6 hrs.). The bridle-path from both places
affords an opportunity of ascending the MoNTE MOTTERONE, 4900 ft., the
summit of which commands a magnificent view of the Monte Rosa chain

. and the Piedmontese and western Tyrolese Alps.
A round trip may be made by continuing the journey by carriage road to

Arona (p. 148) on Lake Maggiore.

The Lake of Orta, 71 m. in
length and 1} m. in breadth, lies
about 8 miles due west of the
southern portien of Lake Mag-
giore, and is separated from it
by a ridge of hilly country. The
traveller will find that it will well
repay him to devete two or three
days of his tour among the
Italian lakes to visit this most
picturesque and interesting dis-
triet.

Steamers run on the lake from
Orta to Omegna.

The principal village on the
lake is Orta (Hot. S. GUILIO),
prettily situated on a promon-
tory extending into the lake from
the E. shere. Above the vil-

e is the Sacro Monte, so
called from a number of pilgrim-
age chapels, erected in the 16th
centy., which ascend the hill.
The chapels, which are dedicated
to St Francis of Assisi, have each

a terra-cotta representation of a
scene from the life of the saint.
The hill, which is prettily weeded,
has been laid out as a park. On
the summit is a tewer which
commands a fine panorama of the
lake,

A pleasant excursion from Orta
can be made by rowing across
the lake to PrLLA (boat 1 fe.),
and cressing the hills by a good
bridle-path (4 hrs., denkeys or
mules, 7 fes.) to Varello (Hotel,
Italia), which is a convenient
centre for excursions in the
Eastern Piedment district. Near
the town rises the Sacro Monte,
on which, like the hills near Orta
and Varese (p. 152), are a number
of pilgrimage chapels, forty-six in
all, wtih terra-cotta grou%)s de-
picting scenes from the life of
our Saviour, the figures being
life size. - The chapels date from
the 16th centy.
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Aarau, 28,

Aarberg, 11.

Abbey of Konigsfelden,
23

Algle, 95.

Alrolo, 73,
Albeuve, 81,
Albinen, 81.
Albisbrunn, 50.
Albrun Pass, 79.
Albrun Alagna, 117,
Allée Blanche, 108
Alpnach, 58.
Alpnach Gestad, 58.
Altorf, 71.
Altstiidten, 22.
Alvaschein, 137.
Alvenau, 134.
Ambri-Piotta, 73.
Amsteg, 72.
Andeer, 127,
Andermatt, 76.
Annemasse, 98.
Anscona, 146
Anzeindaz, 86.
Aosta, 112.
Appenzell, 23.
Arbedo, 74.
Ardetz, 133.
Argentlére, 103.
Arlberg Tunnel, 134.
Arlesheim, 4.
Arona, 148,
Arvier, 109,

Auf der Berg, 39.
Auf der Fluh, 79.
Augst, 4,
Auvernier, 14,
Avenches, 12.
Avlse, 108,

Ayent, 82,

Baar, 51.
Bad Alveneu, 135.

INDEX

Baden, 24.

Bachtel, The, 31.

Bale, 1.

Bad Pfiffers, 33.

Bagnes, 114.

Balzars, 84.

Biiregg, 63.

Basel, 1.

BATHS—
Blumenstein, 54.
Bormio, 144.
Fideris, 132.

La Saxe, 108.
Leuk, 80.
Rosenlaul, 64.
Schinznach, 29.
Stachelberg, 36.
St Gervals, 99.
St Moritz, 140.
Tarasp, 133.

Baveno, 147.

Bay of Lecco, 150.

Bay of Uri, 71.

Beatenhthle, 57.

Beckenried, 44.

Bel Rheinfelden, 16.

Belgirate, 148,

Bellagio, 150.

Bellalp, 78,

Bellano, 150.

Bellegarde, 85.

Bellinzona, 74.

Bergiin, 136,

Bergiiner Stein, 135.

Berisal, 122,

Berlingen, 19,

Bernardino Pass, 129.

Berne, 4.

Bernina Hospice, 143,

Bernlna Houses, 142.

Bernlna Pass, 143,

Betten Alp, 78.

Beull Alp, 79,

Bevaix, 14,

Bex, 95.
Blaschina, 73,
Biasca, 74.
Blberbruck, 39.
Bienne, 8,
Binn, 78.
Binnen Thal, 78.
Blonnassey, 107.
Blaue See, 80.
Blevio, 149,
Bliimlisalp, 80.

odio, 74,
Bolladore, 144.
Boltigen, 82.
Bonaduz, 126,
Bondo, 138.
Bionigen, 59,
Bonneville, 98.
Bons, 90.
Bormlo, 144.
Borromean Islands, 147,
Bise Seite, 65.
Boudry, 14.
Bourg St Maurice, 107.
Bouveret, 97.
Bouvernler, 109,
Brandli, The, 45.
Bregenz, 21.
Brelnz, 124, )
Breitlanenen Alp, 57,
Breuil, 117,
Brévent, 102.
Bridge of Crevola, 123.
Brleg, 121.
Brlenz, 59.
Brissago, 146,
Broc, 86.
Brothiisi, 81.
Brugg, 23.
Briinig, 58
Briinlgen, 58,
Brannen, 45.
Brusin Piano, 151.
Brausio, 143,
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Bulle, 84.
Bunderbach, 80.
Buochs, 44.
Burgdorf, 4.
Biirgenstock, 58.
Biirglen, 72.
Busswyl, 11.

Cadenabbia, 149.
Calasca, 118.

Cama, 129.

Campo Cologna, 143,
Campo Dolcino, 128.
Cannero, 146.
Cannobbio, 146,

Cantine de V’Avizaille,

108.
Cantine de Proz, 110.
Caronge, 90.
Casaccia, 139.
Castasegna, 138.
Castione, 74.
Castle of Chillon, 95.
Castle of Hapsburg, 29.

Castle of Unspunnen, 56.

Castle of Weissenan, 56.
Celerina, 140,
Cernobblo, 149,
Chable, 114.
Chablettes, 105.
Chalet des Fonds, 106.
Cham, 50.
Chamonix, 99.
Champel, 107.
Champsec, 114.
Chanalctte, 112,
Chapean, 101.
Chapelle St Bernard,
86.
Chapieux, 107,
Charmey, 85.
Chétean d'Oex, 83.
Chétean la Sarre, 109.
Chatelard, 103,
Chatillon, 117.
Chanx de Fonds, 7.
Chaument, 13.
Cheville, 86.
Chermontaine, 115.
Chexbres, 11.
Chiamut, 131.
Chiasso, 75.
Chiavenna, 128.
Churwalden, 134.
Clarens, 94.
Cluses, 98,
Coire, 124.
Col d’Anterne, 106,
Col de Balme, 105.
Col de Brévent, 105.
Col de Cheville, 86.
Col de Fenétre, 115.

INDEX.
Col de Pillon, 83.

Col des Cimes Blanches,

117.
Col des Montets, 103.
Col de Vanin, 79.
Col du Bonhomme, 107,
Col Forclaz, 104,
Collco, 150.
Colombey, 98.
Colombier, 14.
Como, 148,
Como, Lake of, 148.
Concise, 14.
Constance, 19,
Contamines, 98.
Coppet, 91.
Cossonay, 14.
Cossonay Junction, 16.
Courmayeur, 108.
Couthery, 86.
Cresta, 140.
Creux de Champs, 83.
Creux de Vents, 13.
Crevolo, 123.
Crodo, 120.
Cudrefin, 11.

Dachsen, 27.
Darlingen, 54.
Davoes-am-Platz, 132,
Davoes Dorfli, 132,
Dazlo, 73.

Dazio Grande, 73.
Delémeont, 7.

Des Praz, 101.
Devil's Bridge, 76.
Diessenhofen, 18,
Dletikon, 24.
Dissentis, 131.

Dole, 91.

Deomo d‘Ossola, 123.
Dornach, 4
Douanne, 12.

Effretlkon Junction, 28,

Einsledeln, 37.
Elm, 40.
Emdthal, 79.
Emmenthal, 51.
Ems, 126.
Engadine, 138.
Enge, 82.
Engelverg, 67.
Engl, 40.
Engstlen Alp, 69.
Entlebuch, 51.
Entreves, 108.
Epagny, 84.
Erstfeld, 72.
Estavayer, 15,
Evlan, 97.
Eyrs, 144,

Faido, 73.

FaLrs—
Alpbach, 64.
Arpenaz, gib

iglia, 140.

Jl;‘gb%rine. 108.
Bellegarde, 85.
Bérard, 103.
Boggera, 74.
Buffalera, 129.
Cramosina, 74.
Cribiasca, 73.
Dalley, 104.
Diesbach, 36.
Fiitschbach, 36.
Fuime Satte, 150.
Geissbach, 59.
Gentelbach, 69.
Gstiibtbach, 39.
Handeck, 65.
Languard, 143.
Leuggelbach, 36.
Ordlegna, 139.
Pisoc, 33.
Pissevache, 96.
Reichenbach, 64.
Reuss, 76.
Rbine, 17.
Sallanche, 96.
Schmadribach, 61.
Sefinen, 61.
Staubbach, 60.
Staiibibach, 37.
St Petronelia, 74.
‘Tdtschbach, 68.
Tosa, 79.
Triimmelbach, 60.
Waldnachbach, 68.
Zwischbergen, 123.

Faulensee, 54.

Fee, 119.

Felsburg, 126.

Fer a Cheval, 106.

Flderiser-Au, 132.
Flesch, 78.
Fionnay, 114,
Filisur, 135,
Fillar, 119.
Finhaut, 104.
Flégere, 101.
Fleurier, 15.
Flims, 130,
Fliielen, 46.
Fopplano, 120.
Frauenfeld, 29.
Franenkirch, 135.
Freiburg, 10.
Friedrichshaven, 21
Frutigen, 79. .



Gibris, 22.
Gadmen, 69.

Gais, 22.

Gampel, 80.
Gandrla, .
Ganter Bridge, 122.
Gasternthal, 80.
Gemmi Pass, 79.
Geneva, 86.
Gersau, 45,

Gessency, orSaarnen, 83.

Gettana, 150.
Giessbach, 59.
Giornieo, 73.
Giswyl, 35.
GLACIERS—

Aare, Ober, and Un-

ter, 66.

Aletsch, 78,

Allalin, 119.

Allée Blanche, de I,
108

Argentitre, °, 102.
Bies, 115,
Biferten, 36.
Bliimisalp, 80.
de Bossons, 101,
Brenva, 108.
Corbassitre, 114.
Du Tour, 103,
Eismeer, 63.
Fedoz, 139.
Ficseher, 78.
Findelen, 116.
Finsteraar Sehlueht,
65,

Forno, 139.
Gauit, 65.

Géant, du, 101.
Gelten, 83.
Giétroz, de, 114.
Glédrnisch, 40.
Gorner, 116.
Griez, 120.
Grindelwald, 62,
Hohlicht, 116,
Hiifi, 72.
Kaltwasser, 122,
Lémmern, 80.
Medelser, 131.
Mer de Glace, 101.
Mont Durand, du, 115.
Morteratseh, 143.
Paneyrossaz, 86,
Pers, 142,
Rhone, 77.
Roseg, 142,
Rosenlaui, 64.
Sanetsch, 83,

St Anna, 76.
Stetn, 69.
Taeonay, de, 99.
Taléfre, de, 102.

INDEX.

GLACIERS (continued)—
Testi, 115.
Thiiliboden, 119.

Theodule, Upper, 117.

Tiefen, 77.
Trelatéte of, 109.
Trient de, 104.
Zagen, 80,
Zmautt, 116.
Gldrnisch, 40.
Glaris, 134,
Glarus, 35.
Gletseh, 77.
Glion, 94.
Goldswyl, 56,
Gondo, 123.
Gorges of Diosaz, 99,
GORGES—
Dnrant, du, 109.
of Fopplano, 120.
Gasternthal, 80.
Géant, du, 117.

Grisanche, of the, 109.

La Plata Mala, 133.
Liitschin, of the, 63.
Morges, 97.
(Eschinen Thal, 80,
Pfaffers, 33.
Ralsse, 15.
Reuse, de la, 14.
Seyon, 13.
Triege, 104.
Trient de, 96.
Tzintre, 85,
(See also Ravines).
Gorner-Grat, 116.
Gosehenen, 73.
Gottlieben, 19.
Grafenort, 67.
Grandson, 14,
Granges Neuves, 114,
Grat Lucke, 34,
Gravellona, 124.
Great Sclieldeek, 64.
Greppen, 46.
Gresseney
117.
Grimsel Hospice, 66.
Grindelwald, 62.
Grono, 129,
Gros Chalet Neuf, 84,
Gros Plaine, 84.
Grotte de 1a Balme, 98,
Grotto of Osteno, 151.
Grotto of Tufa, 151.
Grotto of Viviers, 97.
Griisch, 132,
Griitll, The, 45.
Gruytre, 84,
Gryon, 86.
Gstad, 83.
Gstelg, 83.
Giimlingen, 51.

la  Trinité,

Gunten, 54.
Gurnigel, Bad, 53.
Gurtnellen, 73.
Giitseh, 43.
Gnttannen, 65.

Handeek, 65.
Hauriithi, 51.
Heiden, 22.
Herbageres, 105.
Herbrigen, 115.
Hergiswyl, 57.
Herrgottswald, 43.
Herzogenbuchsee, 4.
Heustrich-Bad, 79
Hinter Meggen, 46.
Hinterrhein, 129.
Hirzel, 51.
Hoffnungsau, 134.
Hohentwiel, 18.
Horbisthal, 68.
Horger Egg, 51.
Hospenthal, 76.

Hospice of the Bernina,
1

43,
Hospice of the Great St

Bernard, 110.

Hosplce of the Grimsel,
66.

Hospice of the Simplon,
122

Hospi.ce of the St Gott-

hard, 77.
Hiinigen, 4.

Ibach, 39.

Tlanz, 130.

Imfeld, 79.

Im-Hof, 65.

Immensee, 70.

1mmensee
71

Inden, 81.

Innere Urweld, 65.
Interlaken, 55.
Intra, 146.

1selle, 123.

Iselten Alp, 56.
Island of Mainan, 20.

Kussnacht,

Island of Reichenau, 18.

Isola Bella, 146.
Isola del Pescatori, 146
Isola Madre, 146.

Jaman Pass, 84,
Jardin, 102.
Javroz, 86,
Jazzi, 119,
Jougne, 16,

Kandersteg, 80.
Kander-Thal, 80,
Kappel, 50,
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Kleine Rngen, 55.
Kligsterli, 49

Klosters, 13.

Klus, 182.

Kgx:;igsfelden, Abbey of,

Ki;gigs[elden, Castle of,

Kublis, 132.

Kiissnacht, 46.

Kiissnacht (L. of Zurich),
31

Laax, 130.

La Batiaz, 97.

La Chaux-de-Fonds, 7.

Lachen, 31.

La Cluse, 15.

La Combaliaz, 85,

Laglio, 149.

La Jonctlon, 90.

LARES—
Auterne, d'.
Bianca, 143.
Bienne, 8.
Brienz, of, 59.
Campfer, 139.
Cavloceio, 139.
Codelago, of, 79.
Combal, de, 108.
Como, 148.
Constance, of, 20,
Cresta, 130.
Derborence, de, 86.
Diavolezza, 142.
Geneva, of, 91.
Lebendun, 79.
Liverogne, 109.
Locarno, 146.
Lucendre, 77.
Lucerne, 4.
Lugano, 74, 151.
Maggiore, 145,
Minore, 143,
Moésa, 129.
Morat, 11.
Nero, 143.
Neuchétel, 12.
Orta, 153.
Pfiiffikon, 31.
Poschiave, di, 143.
Rawyl, 29.
Riva di, 128.
Sempach, 41,
Sils, of, 139.
St Moritz, 142.
Tallieres, 15:
Thun, 54.
Varese, 152.
Vatz, of, 134,
Zeller, 18.
Zurich, 30.

La Molard, 102,

INDEX.

Landeck, 134.

Landquart, 132.

Langnan, 51.

La Porte du Sex, 98.

La Salle, 108,

La Serra di Morignone,
144,

La Tine, 85.

Lauenen, 6S.

Laufelfingen, 4.

Laufen, 7.

Laufenburg, 16.

Lausanne, 92.

Lauterbrunnen, 60.

Laveno, 146.

Lavin, 133.

Lecco, 150.

Le Chitelard, 103,
Le Montets, 99.
Lenz, 134.

Le Lac, 99,

Le Prese, 143.

Les Contamines, 107.
Les Mossons, 102.
Les Moulins, 85.
Les Ouches, 106.
Les Pians, 83,

Le Sepey, 85.

Les Tines, 101.
Les Vallettes, 109.
Les Volrons, 96.
L’Etivaz, 85.
Leuker-Bad, 81.
Leuk-Susten, 121.
L’Hospitalet, 110.
Liddes, 110,
Lindan, 21.
Linththal, 136.
Linth Canal, 81.
Little Scheideck, 62.
Locarno, 146.
Locle, 7.

Lourtier, 114.
Lower Engadine, 140,
Lucerne, 42.
Lugano, 74.
Luino, 146.
Langern, 58.

Lyss, 11.

Macugnaga, 117,
Maderaner Thal, 72.
Madesimo, 128.
Madgnna di  Tirano,

143,
Madulein, 140.
Magadino, 146.
Magland, 98.
Maienfeld, 34.
Mairengo, 73.
Mals, 144.

Majola, 139.
Malix, 134.
Malters, 51.
Mareungo, 110.
Maroggia, 75.
Martigny, 97.
Martin’a Hole, 40.
Massagno Tunnel, 74.
Mauvalis Pas, 101.
Mauvoisin, 114.
Mazza, 144.
Meien, 69.
Meillerie, 97.
Melchthal, 58.
Melide, 75.
Menaggio, 150,
Mendrisio, 75.
Menzingen, 50.
Mer de Glace, 101
Merlingen, 54.
Mesocco, 129.
Metmenstetten, 0.
Meyringen, 64.
Miflodi, 36.
Molins, 187.
Mollis, 35.
Montanvert, 101.
Montbenon, 93.
Mont Blane, 102.
Meontbovon, 84.
Mont de Saxe, 108.
Mont Mallet, 101,
Mont Pourri, 107.
Mont Velan, 110.
Monnetier, 90.
Monte Bré, 75.
Monte Caprino, 75.
Monte Cenere, 74.
Monte Cerria dl Plazza,
144

Monte del Forno, 189.

Monte della Disgrazia,
145.

Monte Generoso, 75.

Monte Legnone, 145.

Monte Rosa, 116.

Monte Sacro, 152, 153.

Monte Salvatore, 74.

Monte Sasso del Torro,

145.
Monte Spluga, 145.
Monthey, 98.
Montreux, 94.
Mont Saléve, 90.
Moos, 79.
Morat, 11.
Morcote, 151.
Morgarten, 39.
Morel, 79.
Morgex, 108,
Morgues, 92.
Motiers-Travers, 15.
Mottet, 107,



MouNTAINS—
Aesch, 37.
Alguille Du, 101.
Alguille du Géant, 101,
Aiguille du Glacler,

107.
Alguille du Moine, 101.
Aiguille Trelatéte, 107.
Aiguille Verte, 101.
Albunlahern, 136.
Altels, 80,
Argentine, 86.
Avril, 115,
Bachtel, 31.
Bartelhorn, 122.
Bernina, 137,
Bifertenstock, 36.
Blackenstock, 48.
Bliimlis Alp, 79.
Bonhomme, 107.
Bonnefemme, 107.
Braunwald Alp, 36.
Breithorn, 115.
Brigelser Horn, 126.
Bristenstock, 72.
Caianda, 120,
Caslano, 151.
Cime de Gobetta, 144,
Col de Fenétre, 115.
Col de Ferret, 112.
Col de la Seigne, 107,
Col des Cimes Blanc-

bes, 117.
ColduBonhomme, 107.
Corvatsch, 139.
Crasta Mora, 136,
Cray, 85.
Creux du Vent, 15.
Dadaint, 133.
Daubenhorn, 80.
Dent du Midi, 83.
Diablerets, 83.
Dale, 91.
Eiger, 48.
Eggischorn, 78.
Einshorn, 128.
Emilius, 108.
Engstlen Alp, 69.
Falknis, 34.
Faulhorn, 63.
Finsteraarhorn, 66.
Fisherhorn, 66.
Fldscherberg, 34.
Flimserstein, 130.
Forno, 79.
Frankenhihe, 144.

rea, 77,

Furca di Betta, 117.
Furrenalp, 68.
Gabelhorn, 116.
Gabris, 22
Gaglianera, 131.
Galenstock, 66.

INDEX.

MOUNTAINS—
Gelsterspltze, 144,
Géle, 115.

Gelllhorn, 80.
Gelmerhorner, 77.
Gerstenhorner 77.
Gitschen, 72.
Glirnische, 35.
Grammont, 108.
Grand Combin, 115.
Grande Jorasse, 101.
Grand Muveran, 86.
Grand Saltve, 90.
Grand St Bernard, 110.
Great Mythen, 71.
Great Scheldeck, 64.
Great and Little Span-
nort, 67.
Grivola, 108.
Grosse Aletschorn, 78.
Grosse Ruchen, 37.
Grossc Scheerhorn, 37.
Gumfinh, 83.
Hasenmatt, 9.
Hohsand, Alp, 120.
Herrenberg, .
Hohe Faulen, 72.
Iselten Alp, 56.
Joli, 107.
Julier Alp, 137.
Jungfrau, 55, 62.
Kindle, 82.
Kirchet, 65.
Kl]eine Matterhorn,
15.

Kleine Sidelhorn, 66.
Lenzer Horn, 134,
Little Rigi, 43.
Marscholhorn, 129.
Matten Alp, 65.
Matterhorn, 116.
Mischabel, 116.
Mittagfiuh, 82,
Mittaghorn, 129.
Moléson, 84.

Ménch, 44
Montanvert, 101.
Motterone, 153.
Miihlethal, 68,
Muttier, 133,
Niesen, §3.
Nnufenenstock, 120.
Ober Sandaip, 36.
Oberschwand, 68.
Oldenhorn, 83.
Ortler, 144.

Pain de Sucre, 112,
Periolo Alp, 119.
Pillatus, 44.

Plan des Dames, 107.
Poiix;e 4’ Otemma,

Piz Alun, 34,
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MOUNTAINS—
Piz Bernina, 137.
Piz Colombano, 144.
Pizd’ Aela, 136.
Piz d' Albana, 137.
Piz della Margna, 139
Piz del Ras, 133.
Piz Juller, 137.
Piz Languard, 136.
Piz Lavirum, 136.
Piz Linard, 133.
Piz Lunghino, 139.
Piz Madi, 133.
Piz Masuccio, 144.
Piz Mezaun, 136.
Piz Morteratsch, 137
Piz Mundaun, 230.
Piz Murterd), 133.
Piz Plavna, 133.
Piz Pleisshorn, 144,
Piz Pulaschin, 137.
Piz Redasco, 144.
Piz St Michel, 134.
Piz Surlej, 137.
Piz Tresero, 144,
Piz Tschierva, 144,
Piz Vadred, 133.
Pizzo Uccello, 129.
Pragel, 40.
Rammenrstock, 36.
Rawyl, 82,
Rhonestock, 78.
Rieder Alp, 78.
Rigi, 47.
Rinderhorn, 80,
Rossberg, 49.
Rothhorn, 116.
Rothstock, 67.
Rublihorn, 83.
Ruitor, 109.
Saanetschhorn, 83.
Sceseplana, 22,
Schiichnthaler Wind-

gelle, 87,

Schafberg, 141,
Schiahorn, 132.
Schilthorn, 61.
Scriitten Alp, 65.
Schreckhorn, 66.
Schwarzhorn, 123.
Selbsanit, 36.
Sentis, 23.
Silberhorn, 48.
Sparrenhorn, 121,
Speer, 32.
Spitzberg, 77.
Staffeln, 72.
Stammer Spitz, 133.
Stanserhorn, 134.
Stoos, 45.
Stulsergrat, 134.
St Valentine, 145.
Tambohorn, 128,
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MOUNTAINS—
Téte de Gros Jean, 86
Tinzenhorn, 134.
Titlis, 67.
Téodi, 36.
Torrenhorn, 81.

Tour de Boussine, 115.

Tschingelberg, 40.
Tschingelhorner, 40.
Tuckettspltze, 144.
Uri, Rothstock, 48.
Vasannen-Kopf, 34.
‘Wangalp, 68.
‘Wasenhorn, 122.
‘Welssenstein, 9.
Welsshorn, 115.
Weisslkugel, 144.
Wildstrubel, 82.
Wengern Alp, 62,
‘Wetterhorn, 64.

Miihlestalden, 69.

Miilinen, 79.

Mulins, 130.

Miinster, 78.

Miinster, 7.

Miinster Thal, 7.

Muottathal, 39.

Murg, 32.

Muri, 28.

Miirren, 61.

Mythenstein, 45.

Niifels, 85,

Niifels Mollis, 32.
Nangy, 98.
Nant-Borrant, 107
Naters, 79.
Nauders, 133.
Netstall, 35.
Nenchatel, 18,
Nenhausen, 17.
Neuville, 12.
Nidfurn-Haslen, 36.
Niesen, 53.
Noiraigue, 13.
Nyon, 91.

. Oberreiden, 31.
Obere Steinberg, 61.
Obergestelen, 78.
Oberhofen, 54.
Oberried, 22.
Oberwald, 78.
(Ensingen, 8.
Olten, 4.

Orbe, 16.

Oria, 151.
Ornavasso, 123.
Orsitres, 110.
Orta, 153.
Osogna, 74.
Osteno, 151.
Ouchy, 92,

INDEX.

Palézlenx, 12.
Pallanza, 140.
Panix, 41.
Paraviso, 151.
Parpan, 134,
PAssES—
Albran, 78.
Albula, 185.
Bernardino, 129,
Bernina, 141.
Briinig, 57.
Diavolezza, 142.
Flnela, 131. .
Furea, 77.
Gemmi, 79.
Griess, 120,
Great. St Bernard, 109.
Jaman, 84.
Joch, 68.
Julier, 136.
Kilchmoos, 85.
Klausen, 87.
Lotschen, 80.
Lukmanier, 131.
Luzlensteig, 34.
Monte Moro, 119.
Nufelgin, 79.
Oberalp, 131.
Ofen, 141.
Panixer, 41.
Pragel, 39.
Reschen-Scheideck,
145.

Sanetsch, 83,

Schyn, 136.

Segnes, 41.

Simplon, 120.
Spliigen, 124.

St Gothhard (by road),

75.
St Gothhard (by reil-
way), 70.
Stelvio, 143.
Strela, 135.
Susten, 69.
Surenen, 68.
Theodnle, 117.
Zwischberger, 123,
Pavillon du Bellevue,
106.
Pavillon, Sanssure, 108.
Payerne, 12.
Pazzallo, 75.
Pedriolo Alp, 119.
Pella, .
Perte du Rhone, 90.
Petlte Chermontane, 115.
Petit Saleve, 90.
Pfiffers, 53,
Pfiiffikon, 31,
Pfinder, 21.
Pianazzo, 128.
‘Pie de Mulera, 118.

Pierre-a-bot, 13.
Pierre & Voir, 97.
Plerre Suspendue, 98.
Piuro, 188.
Planpraz, 102.
Pontarlicr, 15.
Ponte, 140.
Ponte-del-Dlavolo, 144.
Ponte Grande, 118,
Pontresina, 141.
Ponte Tresa, 151.
Porlezza, 151.

Port Valais, 97.
Poschlavo, 143,
Prad, 144.

Pragel, 39.
Priitigan, 132.
Prégny, 90.
Premia, 120,

Pré St Didler, 108.
Promontogno, 189.

Quinto, 73.

Rabius, 131.
Radolfzell, 18.
Ragatz, 32.
Randa, 115.
Rapperswyl, 31.
Realp, 77.
Relchenau, 126,
Reichenbach, 7.
Remiis, 133.
Repplsch Thal, 50.
Rescia, .
Rheinfelden, 23,
Rhelneck, 21.
Richsau, 40.
Richterswyl, 81.
Ried, 39.
Rieder Alp, 78.
Rliffelberg, and Gorner

Grat, 116,
Rigi, 47.
Rigi Flrst, 49.
Rigl Kaltbad, 48.
Rigi Kulm, 48,
Rigl Scheldegg, 47.
Rigi Staffel, 48,
Rinkenberg, 56.
Riva, 128.
Rivera-Bironico, 74.
RIVERS—

Aa, 67,

Aar, 4,

Aare, 8,

Adda, 144.

Albula, 13€.

Almage._, 119,

Anza, 119.

Arve, 98.

Avancon, 86.

Biber, 39.
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PATERSON'S GUIDE BOOKS.

SCéTTISH SERIES.

28. 8d. and 1s,

L

SCOTLAND, .
EDINBURGH, . - [ . ) ed. ,, 1s.
GLASGOW, éc., ! ! . . 8d.. , Is.
TROSSACHS, &c., - ; o I ed. ,, 1Is.
LAND OF SCOTT, . ) 3 . 8d.

ORKNEY AND SHETLAND, . : 8d. , 1ls.

These GUIDES are ILLUSTRATED with MAPS, Engraved from
the Ordnance Survey, showing distinctly the ROADS and RAILWAYS.
Also, a large number of Woodeuts, giving Views of the best Scenery.

The Angler's and Sketcher’s Guide to Sutherland.
By ARCHIBALD YOUNG,
COMMISSIONER OF SCOTCH SALMON FISHERIES.,
With Map, Cloth, 2s. 84.

UNITED KINGDOM SERIES.

‘“PATERSON’S GUIDES,
Well mapped and well written, amusing, exact,
Portable, pleasant, concise and compact.”
~Punch, 2nd October 1886. f

UNITED KINGDOM, GREAT BRITAIN AND JRELAND.
60 Coloured Maps and Plans, Roan Gilt, 10s. 8d.
60 Maps and Plans, Cloth Gilt, 6s.

ENGLAND AND WALES. 45 Maps and Plans, Cloth Gilt, 4s.

LONDON AND THE S. AND E, COUNTIES. 23 Maps and
Plans, Cloth Gilt, 2s.

MIDLAND AND NORTHERN COUNTIES AND WALES.
22 Maps and Plans, Cloth Gilt, 2s.

CONTINENTAL SERIES.
SWITZERLAND. With 10 Coloured Maps and Plans, 1s.
RHINE1 Pgé)VlNCES With 10 Coloured Maps and Plans,

s.

WILLIAM PATERSON,
14 CLYDE STREET, EDINBURGH;

8 LOVELL'S COURT, PATERNOSTER ROW, LONDON:
AND ALL BOOKSELLERS.



" Univcalif-p



